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MATURITY ScHEdULE

Maturity date
(November 15)

Principal 
Amount Interest Rate Yield Price cUSIP† 

2011 $2,870,000 4.000% 2.760% 103.066 97670G AB5
2012 3,000,000 5.000 3.010 106.704 97670G AC3
2013 2,135,000 4.000 3.440 102.352 97670G AD1
2013 1,000,000 5.000 3.440 106.556 97670G AE9
2014 3,275,000 5.250 3.830 107.070 97670G AF6
2015 3,420,000 4.000 4.070   99.596 97670G AG4
2016 3,575,000 4.250 4.310   99.612 97670G AH2
2017 3,735,000 5.250 4.520 105.140 97670G AJ8
2018 3,905,000 4.500 4.720   98.316 97670G AK5
2019 2,080,000 4.750 4.920   98.606 97670G AL3
2019 2,000,000 5.000 4.920 100.625* 97670G AM1
2020 4,265,000 5.500 5.080 103.276* 97670G AN9
2021 4,455,000 5.000 5.200   98.165 97670G AP4
2022 4,655,000 5.500 5.380 100.919* 97670G AQ2
2023 4,865,000 5.250 5.460   97.902 97670G AR0
2024 5,085,000 5.250 5.560   96.792 97670G AS8

$35,680,000 5.750% Term Bond due November 15, 2030, priced at 97.462 to yield 5.960% CUSIP 97670G AT6†

The last day of the Calculation Period for the Bonds of each maturity is the day prior to the Maturity Date 
for such Bond, as shown above.

* Priced to first optional redemption date of May 15, 2019.
†  Copyright 2009, American Bankers Association.  CUSIP data herein are provided by Standard & Poor’s CUSIP Service Bureau, a division of The 

McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc.  The CUSIP numbers listed above are being provided solely for the convenience of Bondholders only at the time 
of issuance of the Bonds and the Authority does not make any representation with respect to such numbers or undertake any responsibility for 
their accuracy now or at any time in the future.  The CUSIP number for a specific maturity is subject to being changed after the issuance of the 
Bonds as a result of the procurement of secondary market portfolio insurance or other similar enhancement by investors that is applicable to 
all or a portion of certain maturities of the Bonds.
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No dealer, broker, salesman or other person has been authorized by Mayo Clinic or the 
Remarketing Agents to give any information or to make any representations with respect to this offering, 
other than those contained in this Reoffering Circular, and if given or made, such other information or 
representations must not be relied upon as having been authorized by any of the foregoing.  This 
Reoffering Circular does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy, nor shall there 
be any sale of the Bonds by any person in any state in which it is unlawful for such person to make such 
offer, solicitation or sale.  The information set forth herein has been obtained from Mayo Clinic, its 
affiliates and other sources which are believed to be reliable, but is not guaranteed as to accuracy or 
completeness, and is not to be construed as a representation by the Wisconsin Health and Educational 
Facilities Authority (the “Authority”), except for information pertaining solely to the Authority under the 
captions “THE AUTHORITY,” “AUTHORITY NOT LIABLE ON THE BONDS,” and under the last 
paragraph of the caption “LITIGATION” as it relates solely to the Authority.  The Remarketing Agents 
have reviewed the information in this Reoffering Circular but do not guarantee its accuracy or 
completeness.  The information and expressions of opinions contained herein are subject to change 
without notice and neither the delivery of this Reoffering Circular nor any sale made hereunder shall, 
under any circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change in the affairs of any of the 
Authority or Mayo Clinic (or any of its affiliates) or in any of the information set forth herein since the 
date hereof. 

IN CONNECTION WITH THIS OFFERING, THE REMARKETING AGENTS MAY 
OVERALLOT OR EFFECT TRANSACTIONS WHICH STABILIZE OR MAINTAIN THE MARKET 
PRICE OF THE BONDS AT A LEVEL ABOVE THAT WHICH MIGHT OTHERWISE PREVAIL IN 
THE OPEN MARKET.  SUCH STABILIZING, IF COMMENCED, MAY BE DISCONTINUED AT 
ANY TIME. 

The Bonds have not been registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and the 
Indenture has not been qualified under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended, in reliance 
upon certain exemptions contained in such federal laws.  In making an investment decision, 
investors must rely upon their own examination of the Bonds and the security therefor, including 
an analysis of the risks involved.  The Bonds have not been recommended by any federal or state 
securities commission or regulatory authority.  The registration, qualification or exemption of the 
Bonds in accordance with applicable provisions of securities laws of the various jurisdictions in 
which the Bonds have been registered, qualified or exempted cannot be regarded as a 
recommendation thereof.  Neither such jurisdictions nor any of their agencies have passed upon the 
merits of the Bonds or the adequacy, accuracy or completeness of this Reoffering Circular.  Any 
representation to the contrary may be criminal offense. 

____________________ 

This Reoffering Circular contains words such as “believe,” “plan,” “expect,” “anticipate” and 
similar expressions that constitute forward-looking statements.  Specifically, forward-looking statements 
herein include, without limitation, statements relating to: the outlook for patient care services at Mayo 
Clinic’s clinical sites and hospitals; Mayo Clinic’s diversification activities; its development program and 
investment programs; its plans with respect to pensions and benefits; and its other future plans and 
anticipated expenditures. 

By their nature, such forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties because they 
relate to events and depend on circumstances that will occur in the future.  These risks and uncertainties 
include, without limitation: changes in Medicare, Medicaid and other third party health care 
reimbursement programs; changes in the regulatory environment for providers of health care, research 
and education; changes in the rules and regulations governing activities of nonprofit charitable 
organizations; competition; inflation, interest rate changes or other adverse economic conditions; the 
availability of nurses and other health care, research and education employees; and changes in the 
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availability of the funding for medical research activities and medical education.  For further information, 
see “BONDHOLDERS’ RISKS.” 

Should one or more of these uncertainties or risks, among others, materialize, actual results may 
vary materially from those anticipated.  Accordingly, readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on 
forward-looking statements. 

The Remarketing Agents have provided the following sentence for inclusion in the Reoffering 
Circular:  The Remarketing Agents have reviewed the information in this Reoffering Circular in 
accordance with, and as part of, their responsibilities to investors under the federal securities law as 
applied to the facts and circumstances of this transaction, but the Remarketing Agents do not guarantee 
the accuracy or completeness of such information. 
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REOFFERING CIRCULAR 

relating to 

$90,000,000 
Wisconsin Health and Educational Facilities Authority 

Health Care Facilities Revenue Bonds 
(Luther Hospital) 

Series 2008 
 
 

 INTRODUCTORY STATEMENT 

The purpose of this Reoffering Circular, including the cover page and the appendices, is to set 
forth certain information with respect to Wisconsin Health and Educational Facilities Authority (the 
“Authority”) and $90,000,000 aggregate principal amount of its Health Care Facilities Revenue Bonds 
(Luther Hospital) Series 2008 (the “Bonds”), Luther Hospital (“the “Hospital”), and Mayo Clinic and its 
other affiliates. 

The Authority.  The Authority is a public body corporate and politic created and existing under 
the Wisconsin Statutes, Chapter 231 (as amended from time to time, the “Act”). 

The Bonds.  The Authority originally issued the Bonds on April 10, 2008 pursuant to the 
provisions of the Act and a Trust Indenture dated as of April 1, 2008 (the “Original Indenture”) between 
the Authority and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as trustee (the “Trustee”).  In connection with 
the reoffering of the Bonds, the Authority and the Trustee are entering into a First Supplemental Trust 
Indenture dated as of April 1, 2009 (the “Supplemental Indenture” and, together with the Original 
Indenture, the “Indenture”). 

The proceeds of the Bonds were loaned by the Authority to the Hospital pursuant to a Loan 
Agreement dated as of April 1, 2008 (the “Loan Agreement”).  The proceeds of the Bonds, together with 
other available moneys, financed a portion of the costs to acquire, construct and install certain facilities 
and equipment for the Hospital and certain costs of issuance of the Bonds. 

Beginning on April 16, 2009, the Bonds will bear interest at the rates and mature on the dates and 
in the principal amounts shown on the inside cover page of this Reoffering Circular.  The Bonds bear 
interest for Calculation Periods extending to but excluding the maturity dates thereof.  See “THE 
BONDS.” 

Luther Hospital.  Luther Hospital is a Wisconsin nonprofit corporation headquartered in Eau 
Claire, Wisconsin, which provides Eau Claire and the surrounding region with acute hospital care, 
ranging from comprehensive cardiac and Level II trauma care to primary care services.  Luther Hospital, 
together with adjacent Midelfort Clinic, affiliated with Mayo Clinic in 1992 to create an integrated health 
care system for the region.  The Hospital is an organization described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal 
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”) and is not a private foundation described in 
Section 509(a) of the Code.  Midelfort Clinic, Ltd. – Mayo Health System is a Wisconsin nonprofit 
corporation described in Section 501(c)3 of the Code, and operates as a multi-specialty clinic with 
approximately 198 employed physicians. 

Mayo Clinic.  Mayo Clinic is a Minnesota nonprofit corporation headquartered in Rochester, 
Minnesota which, through its affiliates and subsidiary organizations, provides comprehensive medical 
care, education in clinical medicine and the medical sciences and extensive programs in medical research.  
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Mayo Clinic is an organization described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the 
“Code”) and is not a private foundation described in Section 509(a) of the Code.  Mayo Clinic is the 
direct or indirect corporate parent of corporations that own and/or operate health care facilities in 
Minnesota, Florida, Wisconsin, Iowa and Arizona.  Information with respect to Mayo Clinic, its affiliates 
and their operations is set forth in Appendix A. 

The audited consolidated financial statements of Mayo Clinic as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, 
and for the years then ended, are set forth in Appendix B.  The entities included in Mayo Clinic’s 
consolidated financial statements include both nonprofit and for profit corporations, all of which are 
direct or indirect affiliates or subsidiaries of Mayo Clinic.  Consequently, Mayo Clinic currently has the 
ability (directly or indirectly) to appoint and dismiss a majority of the members of the governing bodies of 
each of its direct or indirect affiliates or subsidiaries, and has reserved the right to approve certain actions 
of such entities, including the incurrence of significant amounts of indebtedness, the transfer of significant 
amounts of assets, the encumbrance of property, mergers or similar types of corporate reorganizations.  
Neither the Guarantee of Mayo Clinic described below nor any other agreement executed in connection 
with the Bonds or for the benefit of the Bondholders (a) limits Mayo Clinic’s ability to permit any of its 
subsidiaries to incur debt, transfer assets or undertake a corporate reorganization such as a merger, or 
(b) requires Mayo Clinic or its subsidiaries to pass any financial tests in connection with incurring debt, 
transferring assets or undertaking a corporation reorganization such as a merger.  However, the Loan 
Agreement provides that the Hospital may not sell or convey property financed with the proceeds of the 
Bonds to another entity unless certain conditions are met.  See “SECURITY FOR THE BONDS – Loan 
Agreement”, and “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE LOAN AGREEMENT – 
Covenants – Corporate Existence; Merger; Transfer” and “– Additional Indebtedness” in Appendix C.  
See “Corporate Organization” in Appendix A for a description of Mayo Clinic and certain of its affiliates 
and subsidiaries, as well as a chart showing the current organizational relationship between Mayo Clinic 
and certain of its affiliates. 

Sources of Payment and Security.  The Loan Agreement provides that the Hospital must pay 
amounts sufficient to pay when due the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds.  By the 
Indenture and as security for the Bonds, the Authority has granted to the Trustee a security interest in all 
of its rights under the Loan Agreement, except for the rights of the Authority to receive indemnity, 
notices, reports, opinions, payment of expenses, and reimbursement of legal fees. 

As additional security for the Bonds, Mayo Clinic executed and delivered its guarantee dated as 
of April 1, 2008 (the “Guarantee”) in favor of the Trustee.  In the Guarantee, Mayo Clinic unconditionally 
guarantees to the Trustee, for the benefit of the holders from time to time of the Bonds, the full and 
prompt payment of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds when and as the same 
become due, whether at maturity, by acceleration, redemption or otherwise. 

Mayo Clinic currently is the only party to the Guarantee and consequently is the only entity 
whose financial results are included in Mayo Clinic’s consolidated financial statements that is on the 
Guarantee.  However, in the Guarantee, Mayo Clinic agrees to exercise all control or rights it may have 
with respect to its direct or indirect affiliates and subsidiaries to cause them to pay, loan or otherwise 
transfer to Mayo Clinic, such amounts (if any) as are necessary to duly and punctually pay the principal 
of, premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds when and as the same becomes due and payable, whether 
at maturity, upon redemption, by acceleration or otherwise. 

Mayo Clinic’s obligations under the Guarantee are not secured by a lien on or security interest in 
any assets, property or revenues of Mayo Clinic or any of its affiliates, including the Hospital.  However, 
Mayo Clinic agrees in the Guarantee that it will not permit any “Liens” other than “Permitted 
Encumbrances” to be placed on any of its property or on any of the property of its direct or indirect 
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affiliates and subsidiaries, unless that Lien is also granted to secure the Bonds and other revenue bonds 
issued for the benefit of Mayo Clinic and its affiliates.  See “ADDITIONAL BONDS AND 
INDEBTEDNESS.”  The obligations of the Hospital under the Loan Agreement are not secured by a lien 
on or security interest in its assets, properties or revenues.  See “SECURITY FOR THE BONDS.” 

The Guarantee is the principal security for the Bonds.  Investors in the Bonds should base 
their credit analysis on their evaluation of the financial strength of Mayo Clinic.  See “SECURITY 
FOR THE BONDS.” 

Limited Obligation of Authority.  The Bonds are a limited obligation of the Authority, payable 
solely from the revenues derived under the Loan Agreement and the Guarantee, and are not a debt or 
liability of the State of Wisconsin or any political subdivision or agency thereof other than the Authority. 
The source of payment and security for the Bonds is more fully described herein. The issuance of the 
Bonds shall not, directly or indirectly or contingently, obligate the State of Wisconsin or any political 
subdivision thereof to levy any form of taxation therefor or to make any appropriation for their payment.  
The Authority has no taxing power. 

Risks; Other Matters.  There are risks associated with a purchase of the Bonds.  See 
“BONDHOLDERS’ RISKS” for a description of certain of these risks. 

Summaries of Indenture, Loan Agreement and Guarantee.  See Appendix C for a summary 
of certain provisions of the Indenture, the Loan Agreement and the Guarantee.  Certain capitalized terms 
used in this Reoffering Circular are defined in Appendix C.  The descriptions and summaries of various 
documents set forth in this Reoffering Circular (including the appendices) do not purport to be 
comprehensive or definitive and reference is made to each such document for complete details of all 
terms and conditions.  All statements are qualified in their entirety by the terms of each such document.  
Copies of the Guarantee, the Indenture and the Loan Agreement are available for inspection at the 
corporate trust office of Wells Fargo Bank, National Association in Minneapolis, Minnesota. 

 THE BONDS 

General 

The Bonds will bear interest at the interest rates and in the principal amounts shown on the inside 
front cover page of this Reoffering Circular for Calculation Periods beginning on April 16, 2009 and 
extending to the maturity dates shown on the inside cover page, subject to the redemption of the Bonds 
prior to maturity as described below.  The Bonds are fully registered bonds without coupons in authorized 
denominations of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof.  Interest on the Bonds is payable on May 15 
and November 15 of each year commencing May 15, 2009 (each, an “Interest Payment Date”).  Interest 
accrued on the Bonds will be computed on the basis of a 360-day year, consisting of twelve 30-day 
months. 

Interest is payable on each Interest Payment Date by check mailed to the registered owner at his 
or her address as it appears on the registration books kept by the Trustee of Bonds pursuant to the 
Indenture at the close of business on the first day of the month in which the applicable Interest Payment 
Date occurs (the “Record Date”); provided, that while DTC is the registered owner of the Bonds, all 
payments of principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds will be paid to DTC or its nominee 
by wire transfer.  If and to the extent that there is a default in the payment of the interest due on any 
Interest Payment Date, such interest will cease to be payable to the person in whose name each Bond was 
registered on such applicable Record Date and will be payable, when and if paid to the person in whose 
name each Bond is registered at the close of business on the record date fixed therefor by the Trustee, 
which will be the fifth Business Day next preceding the date of the proposed payment. 
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Redemption 

Optional Redemption.  The Bonds maturing after November 15, 2018 are subject to redemption 
in whole or in part at any time on any Business Day on or after May 15, 2019 at a redemption price of 
100% of the principal amount of Bonds being redeemed, together with interest accrued and unpaid 
thereon to the redemption date. 

Any optional redemption (or purchase in lieu thereof) may be stated to be conditional, and the 
redemption itself will be conditioned upon the Trustee’s receipt sufficient to pay the redemption price of 
Bonds to be redeemed on or prior to the redemption date.  However, if the redemption is not to take place, 
the notice of redemption must be withdrawn no later than the fifth Business Day preceding the date 
selected for redemption. 

Purchase in Lieu of Redemption.  On any date on which the Bonds otherwise would be subject 
to optional redemption, at the option of Mayo Clinic, the Bonds are subject to mandatory purchase in lieu 
of optional redemption at the redemption price. 

Extraordinary Optional Redemption.  The Bonds are subject to extraordinary optional 
redemption prior to maturity in part at any time, at the option of Mayo Clinic, in the event of damage, 
destruction or condemnation (or conveyance in lieu of condemnation) of all or any part of the property of 
the Hospital, such redemption to be made with the net proceeds of hazard insurance or any award 
received as a result of such condemnation (or conveyance in lieu thereof).  The Bonds are subject to 
extraordinary optional redemption prior to maturity in whole at any time following an event of damage, 
destruction or condemnation (or conveyance in lieu of condemnation) of any part of the property of the 
Hospital, if Mayo Clinic’s Board of Governors in good faith determines that the continued operation of 
the Hospital’s facilities following such damage, destruction or condemnation is impracticable, 
uneconomical or undesirable for any reason.  Any extraordinary optional redemption of Bonds will be at a 
redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of Bonds being redeemed, without premium, plus 
interest accrued to the date fixed for redemption. 

Mandatory Sinking Fund Redemption.  The Bonds maturing on November 15, 2030 are 
subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption, in part, on November 15 in each year listed below, at a 
redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount redeemed plus accrued interest thereon to the 
redemption date, in the principal amount set forth below next to such year: 

  Year      Amount    
2025 $5,315,000 
2026 5,550,000 
2027 5,800,000 
2028 6,060,000 
2029 6,335,000 
2030* 6,620,000 

_______________________ 
* Final maturity 

 
Credits Against Scheduled Mandatory Sinking Fund Redemption Obligations.  At its option, 

to be exercised on or before the 45th day next preceding any mandatory sinking fund redemption date for 
the Bonds, the Hospital may deliver to the Trustee for cancellation Bonds of the appropriate maturity in 
any aggregate principal amount which have been purchased by the Hospital in the open market.  Each 
Bond so delivered will be credited by the Trustee at 100% of the principal amount thereof against the 
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mandatory sinking fund redemption requirement for such Bonds on such mandatory sinking fund 
redemption date; and any excess of such amount will be credited against future mandatory sinking fund 
redemption requirements in chronological order.  On or before the 45th day preceding each mandatory 
sinking fund redemption date, the Hospital will furnish the Trustee with a certificate stating the extent to 
which the provisions described in the first sentence of this paragraph are to be availed of with respect to 
such mandatory sinking fund redemption requirements for such mandatory sinking fund redemption date.  
Unless such certificate is so timely furnished to the Trustee, the mandatory sinking fund redemption 
requirements for such mandatory sinking fund redemption date will not be reduced as described in this 
paragraph. 

Partial Redemption.  If less than all of the Bonds are called for redemption, the maturity of the 
Bonds to be redeemed is to be designated by Mayo Clinic and the Bonds within a maturity to be 
redeemed are to be selected by lot or in any customary manner of selection as determined by the Trustee; 
provided that the portion of any Bond to be redeemed and the portion not to be redeemed is required to be 
in a denomination of $5,000 or a multiple thereof.  If Mayo Clinic fails to select a maturity of the Bonds 
to be redeemed, then such maturity will be selected by the Trustee by lot or in any customary manner of 
selection as determined by the Trustee. 

Notices of Redemption or Purchase.  Notice of any redemption (or purchase in lieu thereof) is 
required to be given at least 30 days prior to the date fixed for redemption by electronic means to the 
Registered Owners of the Bonds to be redeemed as provided in the Indenture. Each notice of redemption 
or purchase must specify: (a) the Bonds to be redeemed in whole or in part; (b) the redemption date; 
(c) the numbers and other distinguishing marks of the Bonds to be redeemed (except in the event that all 
of the Outstanding Bonds are to be redeemed); and (d) that such Bonds will be redeemed at the designated 
corporate trust office of the Trustee.  Such notice must further state that on the redemption date the 
redemption price thereof, together with interest accrued to such date, and that, from and after such date, in 
the case of redemption with cancellation, interest thereon will cease to accrue.  Failure to receive any 
notice given in accordance with the foregoing by any of such Bondowners or any defect in such notice, 
will not affect the redemption or the validity of the proceedings for the redemption of the Bonds. 

So long as DTC is effecting book-entry transfers of the Bonds, the Trustee is required to provide 
the redemption notices described above to DTC. It is expected that DTC in turn will notify its Direct 
Participants and that the Direct Participants, in turn, will notify or cause to be notified the Beneficial 
Owners. Any failure on the part of DTC or a Direct Participant, or failure on the part of a nominee of a 
Beneficial Owner of a Bond (having been mailed notice from the Trustee, DTC, a Direct Participant or 
otherwise) to notify the Beneficial Owner of the Bond so affected, will not affect the validity of the 
redemption of such Bond. So long as DTC is acting as securities depository for the Bonds (see “– 
Securities Depository” below), notice of any redemption of the Bonds will be sent by the Trustee only to 
DTC. 

If, in connection with a redemption or defeasance of the Bonds, monies and/or securities are 
deposited with the Trustee sufficient to pay debt service on all or a portion of the Bonds to any date after 
the first date on which those Bonds may be redeemed, Mayo Clinic expressly reserves the right to 
subsequently change the date on which any Bonds for which such an escrow has been established are to 
be redeemed to another permitted redemption date. Mayo Clinic further reserves the right to restructure 
the monies and/or securities in the escrow and to apply any of the proceeds available following such 
restructuring for any lawful corporate purpose. 

Effect of Redemption.  If on an optional redemption date sufficient moneys have been deposited 
with the Trustee to effect the redemption of the Bonds, interest will cease to accrue on such date on the 
Bonds or portions thereof called for redemption. If sufficient moneys have not been so deposited, the 
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Bonds (or portion thereof) will not be redeemed and interest will continue to accrue and be payable 
thereon at the same rate and in the same manner as if such Bonds had not been called for redemption. 
Moreover, in the event that the notice of redemption in question stated that the redemption was subject to 
the deposit of the redemption moneys with the Trustee (as described in the preceding paragraph), then the 
failure to deposit sufficient moneys to effect the redemption in question will not constitute an event of 
default. 

Mandatory Tender for Purchase 

Generally, the Indenture provides that the Bonds are subject to mandatory tender for purchase as 
described below.  The Trustee serves as Tender Agent for the Bonds. 

Upon Optional Redemption.  See “– Redemption – Purchase in Lieu of Redemption” above. 

Upon Replacement of Mayo Guarantee for Bonds.  See “SECURITY FOR THE BONDS — 
The Guarantee” for a description of the circumstances in which, as a result of a Mayo Clinic corporate 
reorganization, a replacement guarantee issued by a corporate successor to Mayo Clinic may be delivered 
in substitution for the Mayo Clinic Guarantee of the Bonds.  If, as a result of such a corporate 
reorganization, the Guarantee is to be replaced with a substitute guarantee, then the Bonds will be subject 
to mandatory purchase on the fifth Business Day preceding such replacement, at a purchase price equal to 
the principal amount of the Bonds, plus accrued interest to the purchase date.  Notice of mandatory 
purchase will be given by the Trustee at least 30 days prior to the date of the mandatory tender for 
purchase. 

Purchase of Tendered Bonds 

On each date when the Bonds are subject to mandatory tender for purchase pursuant to the 
Indenture, there will be purchased (but solely from funds received by the Tender Agent in accordance 
with the Indenture) Bonds (or portions thereof) tendered (or deemed tendered) to the Tender Agent for 
purchase in accordance with, and at the purchase price established under, the Indenture.  Funds to pay the 
purchase price of such Bonds (or portions thereof) will be paid by the Tender Agent solely from the 
following sources and in the following order of priority: 

1. proceeds of the remarketing of such Bonds (or portions thereof), if any; or 

2. monies furnished by Mayo Clinic for the purchase of Bonds under the Guarantee. 

In order for the owner to receive payment for Bonds subject to mandatory tender for purchase and 
not held in book-entry form, physical delivery of such Bonds is required.  Each such Bond must also be 
accompanied by an instrument of transfer satisfactory to the Trustee executed in blank.  The Tender 
Agent may refuse to accept delivery of any Bond for which a proper instrument of transfer has not been 
provided.  During any rate period when the Bonds are held by DTC, DTC and the Tender Agent may 
agree as to procedures in lieu of physical delivery of Bonds subject to mandatory tender and purchase. 

In order for the Bondholder to receive payment for Bonds held in book-entry form and subject to 
mandatory tender for purchase, the operational requirements followed by DTC with respect to variable 
rate demand obligations such as the Bonds must be complied with in order to process the Bonds through 
DTC.  Beneficial Owners of Bonds are advised to contact the Remarketing Agent for the appropriate 
procedure by which to effectuate the tender of their Bonds held in book-entry form. 
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No Liquidity Facility for Bonds 

In the Guarantee, Mayo Clinic has agreed to pay the purchase price of the Bonds when due.  
Payment of purchase price of the Bonds will not be supported by any other liquidity facility. 

Registration and Transfers 

In the event the book-entry system described below is discontinued, the following provisions will 
apply to the registration and transfer of any affected Bonds.  Each Bond is transferable only upon the 
books of the Authority which must be kept for that purpose at the designated corporate trust office of the 
Trustee, at the written request of the owner of a Bond or his attorney duly authorized in writing, upon 
surrender thereof at such office, together with a written instrument of transfer satisfactory to the Trustee 
and such other documents as are reasonably required by the Trustee duly executed by the owner of a 
Bond or his duly authorized attorney.  Upon the transfer of any such Bond or Bonds, the Trustee will 
issue in the name of the transferee, in authorized denominations, a new Bond or Bonds, of the same 
aggregate principal amount, maturity and interest rate as the surrendered Bond or Bonds.  In all cases in 
which the privilege of exchanging or transferring is exercised, the Trustee is required to authenticate and 
deliver Bonds in accordance with the provisions of the Indenture.  All Bonds surrendered in any such 
exchanges or transfers will be forthwith be canceled by the Trustee.  For every such exchange or transfer 
of Bonds, whether temporary or definitive, the Authority or the Trustee may make a charge sufficient to 
reimburse it for any tax, fee or other governmental charge required to be paid with respect to such 
exchange or transfer, which sum or sums will be paid by the person requesting such exchange or transfer 
as a condition precedent to the exercise of the privilege of making such exchange or transfer.  The Trustee 
is not be obliged to make any such exchange or transfer of Bonds during the period from each Record 
Date to the following Interest Payment Date or, in the case of a proposed redemption of Bonds if such 
Bonds are eligible to be selected or have been selected for redemption, during the 45 days next preceding 
the date fixed for such redemption. 

Securities Depository 

The information below concerning the Depository Trust Company (“DTC”), New York, New 
York, and DTC’s book-entry system has been obtained from sources that the Authority, the Remarketing 
Agents and Mayo Clinic believe to be reliable, but the Authority, the Remarketing Agents and Mayo 
Clinic take no responsibility for the accuracy thereof. No representation is made by any of the Authority, 
the Remarketing Agents and Mayo Clinic as to the absence of changes in such information subsequent to 
the date hereof. 

DTC acts as securities depository for the Bonds.  The Bonds are reoffered as fully-registered 
securities registered in the name of Cede & Co. (DTC’s partnership nominee) or such other name as may 
be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. One fully-registered bond certificate will be issued 
for each maturity of the Bonds, each in the aggregate principal amount of such maturity, and will be 
deposited with DTC. 

DTC, the world’s largest securities depository, is a limited-purpose trust company organized 
under the New York Banking Law, a “banking organization” within the meaning of the New York 
Banking Law, a member of the Federal Reserve System, a “clearing corporation” within the meaning of 
the New York Uniform Commercial Code, and a “clearing agency” registered pursuant to the provisions 
of section 17A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.  DTC holds and provides asset servicing for over 
3.5 million issues of U.S. and non-U.S. equity issues, corporate and municipal debt issues, and money 
market instruments (from over 100 countries) that DTC’s participants (“Direct Participants”) deposit with 
DTC.  DTC also facilitates the post-trade settlement among Direct Participants of sales and other 
securities transactions in deposited securities, through electronic computerized book-entry transfers and 
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pledges between Direct Participants’ accounts.  This eliminates the need for physical movement of 
securities certificates.  Direct Participants include both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, 
banks, trust companies, clearing corporations and certain other organizations.  DTC is a wholly owned 
subsidiary of The Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation (“DTCC”).  DTCC is the holding company 
for DTC, National Securities Clearing Corporation and Fixed Income Clearing Corporation, all of which 
are registered clearing agencies.  DTCC is owned by the users of its regulated subsidiaries.  Access to the 
DTC system is also available to others such as both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, 
banks, trust companies, and clearing corporations that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship 
with a Direct Participant, either directly or indirectly (“Indirect Participants”).  DTC has Standard & 
Poor’s highest rating:  AAA.  The DTC Rules applicable to its Participants are on file with the Securities 
and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”).  More information about DTC can be found at www.dtcc.com 
and www.dtc.org. 

Purchases of the Bonds under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct Participants, 
which will receive a credit for the Bonds on DTC’s records. The ownership interest of each actual 
purchaser of each Bond (“Beneficial Owner”) is in turn to be recorded on the Direct and Indirect 
Participants’ records. Beneficial Owners will not receive written confirmation from DTC of their 
purchase. Beneficial Owners are, however, expected to receive written confirmations providing details of 
the transaction, as well as periodic statements of their holdings, from the Direct or Indirect Participant 
through which the Beneficial Owner entered into the transaction. Transfers of ownership interests in the 
Bonds are to be accomplished by entries made on the books of Direct and Indirect Participants acting on 
behalf of Beneficial Owners. Beneficial Owners will not receive certificates representing their ownership 
interests in the Bonds, except in the event that use of the book-entry system for the Bonds is discontinued. 

So long as Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC (or such other name of nominee as may be requested 
by an authorized representative of DTC), is the Registered Owner of the Bonds, all references herein to 
the Bondholders or Registered Owners of the Bonds shall mean Cede & Co., as such nominee, and shall 
not mean the Beneficial Owners of the Bonds. The Trustee and the Authority will treat DTC (or its 
nominee) as the sole and exclusive owner of the Bonds registered in its name (or in the name of its 
nominee) for the purpose of payment of the principal or redemption price of or interest on the Bonds, 
giving any notice permitted or required to be given to the owners of the Bonds under the Indenture, 
registering the transfer of Bonds, obtaining any consent or other action to be taken by the owners of the 
Bonds and for all purposes whatsoever; none of the Trustee and the Authority shall be affected by any 
notice to the contrary. The Trustee, Mayo Clinic, the Remarketing Agents and the Authority shall 
not have any responsibility or obligation to any Direct or Indirect Participant, any person claiming 
a beneficial ownership interest in the Bonds under or through DTC or any Direct or Indirect 
Participant, or any other person which is not shown on the registration books of the Authority kept 
by the Trustee as bond registrar as being an owner of the Bonds with respect to: (a) the Bonds, (b) 
the accuracy of any records maintained by DTC, any Direct Participant or Indirect Participant, (c) 
the payment by DTC or any Direct Participant or Indirect Participant to any Beneficial Owner of 
any amount in respect of the principal or redemption price of or interest on the Bonds, (d) the 
delivery to any Direct Participant or any Indirect Participant or any Beneficial Owner of any notice 
which is required or permitted to be given to the owners of the Bonds under the Indenture, (e) the 
selection by DTC, any Direct Participant or any Indirect Participant of any person to receive 
payment in the event of any partial redemption of the Bonds, or (f) any consent or other action 
taken by DTC as the owner of the Bonds. 

To facilitate subsequent transfers, all the Bonds deposited by Direct Participants with DTC are 
registered in the name of DTC’s partnership nominee, Cede & Co., or such other name as may be 
requested by an authorized representative of DTC. The deposit of the Bonds with DTC and their 
registration in the name of Cede & Co. or such other DTC nominee do not effect any change in beneficial 
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ownership. DTC has no knowledge of the actual Beneficial Owners of the Bonds; DTC’s records reflect 
only the identity of the Direct Participants to whose accounts such Bonds are credited, which may or may 
not be the Beneficial Owners. The Direct and Indirect Participants will remain responsible for keeping 
account of their holdings on behalf of their customers. 

Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct 
Participants to Indirect Participants, and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial 
Owners will be governed by arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory 
requirements as may be in effect from time to time. Beneficial Owners of the Bonds may wish to take 
certain steps to augment the transmission to them of notices of significant events with respect to the 
Bonds, such as redemptions, tenders, defaults, and proposed amendments to the Indenture, the Loan 
Agreement and the Guarantee and requiring Bondholder consent. For example, Beneficial Owners of the 
Bonds may wish to ascertain that the nominee holding the Bonds for their benefit has agreed to obtain and 
transmit notices to Beneficial Owners. In the alternative, Beneficial Owners may wish to provide their 
names and addresses to the registrar and request that copies of notices be provided directly to them. 

Redemption notices are required to be sent to DTC. If less than all of the Bonds within a series 
are being redeemed, DTC’s practice is to determine by lot the amount of the interest of each Direct 
Participant in such issue to be redeemed. 

Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor any other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to 
the Bonds unless authorized by a Direct Participant in accordance with DTC’s Procedures. Under its usual 
procedures, DTC mails an Omnibus Proxy to the Authority as soon as possible after the record date. The 
Omnibus Proxy assigns Cede & Co.’s consenting or voting rights to those Direct Participants to whose 
accounts the Bonds are credited on the record date (identified in a listing attached to the Omnibus Proxy). 

Payments of principal and redemption price of and interest on the Bonds will be made to Cede & 
Co., or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. DTC’s practice 
is to credit Direct Participants’ accounts upon DTC’s receipt of funds and corresponding detail 
information from the Trustee, on payable date in accordance with their respective holdings shown on 
DTC’s records. Payments by Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by standing instructions 
and customary practices, as is the case with securities held for the accounts of customers in bearer form or 
registered in “street name,” and will be the responsibility of such Participant and not of DTC nor its 
nominee, the Trustee, Mayo Clinic or the Authority, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as 
may be in effect from time to time. Payments of principal and redemption price of and interest to Cede & 
Co. (or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC) is the 
responsibility of Authority or Agent, disbursement of such payments to Direct Participants will be the 
responsibility of DTC, and disbursement of such payments to the Beneficial Owners will be the 
responsibility of Direct and Indirect Participants. 

The Authority, Mayo Clinic, the Remarketing Agents and the Trustee cannot and do not 
give any assurances that DTC, the Direct Participants or the Indirect Participants will distribute to 
the Beneficial Owners of the Bonds (a) payments of principal or redemption price of or interest on 
the Bonds, (b) certificates representing an ownership interest on the Bonds, (c) certificates 
representing an ownership interest or other confirmation of Beneficial Ownership interests in 
Bonds, or (d) redemption or other notices sent to DTC or Cede & Co., its nominee, as the 
Registered Owner of the Bonds, or that they will do so on a timely basis or that DTC, Direct 
Participants or Indirect Participants will serve and act in the manner described in this Reoffering 
Circular.  The current “Rules” applicable to DTC are on file with the SEC, and the current 
“Procedures” of DTC to be followed in dealing with DTC Participants are on file with DTC. 
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DTC may discontinue providing its services as depository with respect to the Bonds at any time 
by giving reasonable notice to the Authority or the Trustee. Under such circumstances, in the event that a 
successor depository is not obtained, bond certificates are required to be printed and delivered. 

The Authority, at the direction of Mayo Clinic, may decide to discontinue use of the system of 
book-entry transfers through DTC (or a successor securities depository). In that event, bond certificates 
for the subject issue will be printed and delivered. 

 ADDITIONAL BONDS AND OTHER INDEBTEDNESS 

No additional bonds may be issued under the Indenture.  However there are no restrictions in the 
Loan Agreement on the ability of the Hospital to incur additional indebtedness. 

Mayo Clinic currently is obligated to make debt service payments on the Parity Minnesota Bonds 
(defined below) issued for its benefit and the benefit of certain of its controlled affiliates by the City of 
Rochester, Minnesota (the “City”).  The Parity Minnesota Bonds are issued under a Trust Indenture dated 
as of December 1, 1987, as amended and supplemented (the “Minnesota Indenture”).  The Minnesota 
Indenture permits the City to issue one or more series of “Additional Minnesota Bonds,” which will be 
equally and ratably secured with the Parity Minnesota Bonds.  The Parity Minnesota Bonds and any 
Additional Minnesota Bonds are collectively referred to as the “Minnesota Bonds.” 

Mayo Clinic also may incur other indebtedness, including guarantees.  In addition to the 
Guarantee, Mayo Clinic also has guaranteed the payment on debt service when due several other issues of 
revenue bonds, the proceeds of which were made available to controlled affiliates of Mayo Clinic. 

Mayo Clinic is not required to satisfy any financial or operational covenants in order to 
incur additional indebtedness, including additional indebtedness in the form of Additional 
Minnesota Bonds and in the form of guarantees.  See “SECURITY FOR THE BONDS.” 

Mayo Clinic is obligated to make debt service payments on the following issues of “Parity 
Minnesota Bonds”, which consist of: 

• Health Care Facilities Revenue Bonds (Mayo Foundation/Mayo Medical Center), 
Adjustable Tender Series 1992 A, 1992 B and 1992 C currently outstanding in the 
principal amount of $90,000,000 (the “1992 ABC Bonds”). 

• Health Care Facilities Revenue Bonds (Mayo Foundation/Mayo Medical Center), Series 
1992 D, 1992 E and 1992 F Bonds, currently outstanding in the aggregate principal 
amount of $4,500,000 (the “1992 DEF Bonds”). 

• Health Care Facilities Revenue Bonds (Mayo Foundation/Mayo Medical Center) Series 
1992 G, 1992 H and 1992 I, currently outstanding in the aggregate principal amount of 
$20,410,000 (the “1992 GHI Bonds”). 

• Health Care Facilities Revenue Bonds (Mayo Foundation), Series 2000A, Series 2000B 
and Series 2000C currently outstanding in the aggregate principal amount of 
$290,000,000 (the “2000 Bonds”). 

• Health Care Facilities Revenue Bonds (Mayo Foundation) Series 2001A, 2001B, 2001C 
and 2001D currently outstanding in the aggregate principal amount of $200,000,000 (the 
“2001 Bonds”). 
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• Health Care Facilities Revenue Bonds (Mayo Foundation) Series 2002A, 2002B and 
2002C currently outstanding in the aggregate principal amount of $200,000,000 (the 
“2002 Bonds”). 

• Health Care Facilities Revenue Bonds (Mayo Clinic) Series 2006 currently outstanding in 
the aggregate principal amount of $75,000,000 (the “2006 Bonds”). 

• Health Care Facilities Revenue Bonds (Mayo Clinic) Series 2008A, 2008B, 2008C and 
2008D currently outstanding in the aggregate principal amount of $260,000,000 (the 
“2008ABCD Bonds”). 

• Health Care Facilities Revenue Bonds (Mayo Clinic) Series 2008E currently outstanding 
in the aggregate principal amount of $70,000,000 (the “2008E Bonds and, together with 
the 2008ABCD Bonds, the “2008 Bonds”). 

Mayo Clinic Rochester entered into a Guarantee Agreement with Ambac Assurance Corporation 
(“Ambac”) under which Ambac is supplying a surety bond as a debt service reserve for the 1992 GHI 
Bonds.  This debt service reserve, which has never been drawn upon, does not secure any other series of 
Parity Minnesota Bonds. 

Mayo Clinic also has guaranteed the payment of debt service when due on several other issues of 
revenue bonds, the proceeds of which were made available to direct or indirect controlled affiliates of 
Mayo Clinic. These other revenue bonds include: 

• The Industrial Development Authority of the County of Maricopa Hospital Revenue 
Bonds, Series 1998 (Mayo Clinic Hospital) (the “1998 Mayo Clinic Hospital Arizona 
Bonds”) currently outstanding in the principal amount of $115,000,000. 

• The Industrial Development Authority of the County of Maricopa Health Care Facilities 
Revenue Bonds (Mayo Clinic) Series 2006 (the “2006 Mayo Clinic Arizona Bonds”, and 
together with the 1998 Mayo Clinic Hospital Arizona Bonds, the “Arizona Bonds”) 
currently outstanding in the principal amount of $50,000,000. 

• The Jacksonville Economic Development Commission Health Care Facilities Revenue 
Bonds (Mayo Clinic Jacksonville) Series 2001A, 2001B and 2001C (collectively, the 
“2001 Mayo Clinic Jacksonville Bonds”) currently outstanding in the principal amount of 
$100,000,000. 

• The Jacksonville Economic Development Commission Health Care Facilities Revenue 
Bonds (Mayo Clinic) Series 2006 (the “2006 Mayo Clinic Jacksonville Bonds”, and 
together with the 2001 Mayo Clinic Jacksonville Bonds, the “Jacksonville Bonds”) 
currently outstanding in the principal amount of $125,000,000. 

• The Bonds. 

Mayo Clinic has never been required to make a payment under any of its guarantees of the 
payment of debt service on the bonds described above. See “SECURITY FOR THE BONDS” and the 
notes to the audited consolidated financial statements of Mayo Clinic in Appendix B. 

Of the bond issues listed above (including issues of bonds guaranteed by Mayo Clinic) a total of 
$1,110,000,000 principal amount of bonds (excluding the Bonds) currently bear interest at variable rates 
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or term rates.  Mayo Clinic has entered into separate standby purchase and credit agreements with 
different commercial banks to provide separate liquidity in connection with any tenders for the purchase 
of several series of these variable rate bonds, the aggregate principal amount of which currently is 
$840,000,000.  Mayo Clinic currently provides self-liquidity for the remaining $270,000,000 in principal 
amount of these variable rate bonds and term rate bonds. 

Mayo Clinic is in the process of establishing a new term rate and calculation period for and 
remarketing the 2008E Bonds.  Mayo Clinic plans to remarket the 2008E Bonds with a new term rate and 
calculation period in May 2009. 

As discussed in “Management’s Discussion – Future Plans and Anticipated Expenditures” in 
Appendix A, Mayo Clinic currently anticipates that it and its affiliates will invest approximately $395 
million this year in capital expenditures in Rochester, Jacksonville, Arizona and the Mayo Health System. 
Mayo Clinic anticipates that funding for these expenditures will be provided from a variety of sources, 
including the Bonds and, if deemed appropriate, additional issues of bonds and other external borrowings. 
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 DEBT SERVICE SCHEDULE 

The following table sets forth the scheduled principal and interest requirements for the Bonds, the 
other bond issues for which Mayo Clinic has guaranteed the payment of debt service, and the Parity 
Minnesota Bonds (see “ADDITIONAL BONDS AND OTHER INDEBTEDNESS”) for each annual 
period ending November 15. 

Year Ending 
November 15 

Bonds Other Mayo 
Guaranteed 

Debt1 
Parity  

Minnesota Bonds2 
Total  

Debt Service Principal Interest 

2009 - $2,739,533 $20,287,500 $51,867,884 $74,894,917 

2010 - 4,718,813 20,287,500 51,462,934 76,469,246 

2011 $2,870,000 4,718,813 20,287,500 37,981,944 65,858,257 

2012 3,000,000 4,604,013 20,287,500 38,220,139 66,111,651 

2013 3,135,000 4,454,013 20,287,500 37,981,944 65,858,457 

2014 3,275,000 4,318,613 20,287,500 37,981,944 65,863,057 

2015 3,420,000 4,146,675 20,287,500 38,220,139 66,074,314 

2016 3,575,000 4,009,875 20,287,500 37,981,944 65,854,319 

2017 3,735,000 3,857,938 20,287,500 38,220,139 66,100,576 

2018 3,905,000 3,661,850 20,287,500 55,681,944 83,536,294 

2019 4,080,000 3,486,125 20,287,500 51,365,639 79,219,264 

2020 4,265,000 3,287,325 20,287,500 68,555,669 96,395,494 

2021 4,455,000 3,052,750 20,287,500 69,057,044 96,852,294 

2022 4,655,000 2,830,000 20,287,500 83,738,196 111,510,696 

2023 4,865,000 2,573,975 20,287,500 99,972,430 127,698,905 

2024 5,085,000 2,318,563 20,287,500 95,997,670 123,688,732 

2025 5,315,000 2,051,600 20,287,500 82,372,746 110,026,846 

2026 5,550,000 1,745,988 20,287,500 82,608,227 110,191,715 

2027 5,800,000 1,426,863 20,287,500 82,574,387 110,088,750 

2028 6,060,000 1,093,363 29,322,500 109,699,138 146,175,001 

2029 6,335,000 744,913 29,323,163 109,925,825 146,328,900 

2030 6,620,000 380,650 29,323,888 109,932,139 146,256,677 

2031 - - 71,018,363 33,428,268 104,446,630 

2032 - - 42,482,900 90,440,465 132,923,365 

2033 - - 76,783,350 59,485,654 136,269,004 

2034 - - 76,781,875 58,440,904 135,222,779 

2035 - - 76,778,713 66,721,678 143,500,390 

2036 - - 76,780,213 66,723,832 143,504,045 

2037 - - 15,077,063 98,552,553 113,629,616 

2038                    -                    -                      -     102,014,870      102,014,870 

Total $90,000,000 $66,222,245 $909,134,525 $2,047,208,292 $3,112,565,062 
___________________ 
1. Includes 100% of scheduled debt service on the Arizona Bonds and the Jacksonville Bonds. 
2. Interest payable on the 1992ABC, 2000, 2001, 2002, and 2008 Bonds is based on a variable rate.  An assumed rate of 3.5% 

was used to calculate interest payable on such bonds. 
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 USE OF BOND PROCEEDS 

A portion of the original proceeds of the Bonds, together with certain other funds, were used to 
finance a portion of the costs to acquire, construct and install certain facilities and equipment for the 
Hospital. Bond proceeds also were used to pay certain costs of issuance. 

The Hospital is building a five-story bed tower with a lower level to replace certain existing 
facilities and to accommodate program growth.  The new tower will include:  a cancer treatment center; 
an ambulatory surgical center; a new maternity and gynecology unit; a parking garage; and other 
supporting facilities.  The total cost of the project currently is estimated to be approximately 
$112,500,000.  The Hospital is using internal reserves and gifts to pay the portion of the costs of the 
capital project not being financed with Bond proceeds.  Plans call for all phases of construction to be 
completed in January 2011. 

 ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS FROM REMARKETING 

The following table sets forth the estimated sources and uses of funds in connection with the 
remarketing of the Bonds 

Estimated Sources of Funds 

Principal Amount of Bonds ....................................................................... $90,000,000.00 
Net Original Issue Discount .......................................................................  (351,533.60) 
Equity Contribution ...................................................................................     1,147,064.85 

Total .............................................................................................. $90,795,531.25 

Estimated Uses of Funds 

Purchase of Tendered Bonds ..................................................................... $90,000,000.00 
Costs of Remarketing* ...............................................................................        795,531.25 

Total ..............................................................................................  $90,795,531.25 
________________ 
* Include estimated fees and expenses of the Remarketing Agents and their counsel, bond 

counsel, the financial advisor, the Trustee, printers and rating services, and certain expenses of 
Luther Hospital and Mayo Clinic. 

 SECURITY FOR THE BONDS 

Limited Obligation 

The Bonds are a special and limited revenue obligation of the Authority, payable solely from the 
revenues derived under the Loan Agreement.  The Bonds also are payable from payments under Mayo 
Clinic’s Guarantee.  None of the Bonds are a general obligation of the Authority, and none of the Bonds 
are supported by a pledge of the taxes of the State of Wisconsin or any subdivision thereof.  See 
“AUTHORITY NOT LIABLE ON THE BONDS” below for a further description of the limited liability 
of the Authority with respect to the Bonds. 

Loan Agreement 

The Loan Agreement provides for the payment by the Hospital of amounts sufficient to pay when 
due the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds.  Although the Loan Agreement is a 
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general obligation of the Hospital, its obligations thereunder are not secured by a lien on any of the assets, 
property or revenues of the Hospital or any of its affiliates.  The Authority’s right to receive payments 
from the Hospital under the Loan Agreement has been assigned to the Trustee as security for the Bonds. 

The Loan Agreement provides that the Hospital may not merge or consolidate with any other 
entity nor allow any entity to merge or consolidate with it, unless (a) either the Hospital will be the 
continuing entity or the continuing entity after the transaction will be under the ultimate control of Mayo 
Clinic and such continuing entity executes appropriate documents and instruments to become subject to 
the Loan Agreement and the tax agreement relating to the Bonds; and (b) the Guarantee remains in full 
force and effect; and (c) after consummation of the transaction, no Event of Default, and no event which, 
with the giving of notice or passage of time or both, would become an Event of Default, exists under the 
Loan Agreement; and (d) the Trustee receives an opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that the 
transaction will not result in the interest on any of the Bonds being includable in gross income for federal 
income tax purposes.  See Appendix C “SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL LEGAL DOCUMENTS.” 

The Loan Agreement provides that the Hospital may not sell or convey property financed with 
the proceeds of the Bonds to another entity unless, after the transaction is consummated: (a) the 
Guarantee remains in place; (b) no Event of Default or event which with the giving of notice or passage 
of time would become an Event of Default under the Loan Agreement will exist; and (c) the Trustee 
receives an opinion of bond counsel to the effect that the transaction will not result in interest on any of 
the Bonds being includable in gross income for federal income tax purposes. 

The Guarantee 

Payment when due of the principal or redemption price (including premium) of and interest on 
the Bonds is unconditionally guaranteed by Mayo Clinic pursuant to the Guarantee.  The Guarantee is an 
unconditional obligation of Mayo Clinic but Mayo Clinic’s obligations under the Guarantee are not 
secured by a lien on any of the assets, property or revenues of Mayo Clinic or any of its affiliates.  
Moreover, the Guarantee does not limit the ability of Mayo Clinic or any of its affiliates, including the 
Hospital, to incur indebtedness or to transfer their assets. 

The Guarantee is the principal security for the Bonds.  Prospective investors in the Bonds 
should base their credit analysis on their evaluation of the financial strength of Mayo Clinic. 

In the event of a corporate reorganization involving a new parent corporation which holds 
(directly or indirectly) a controlling interest in Mayo Clinic, then Mayo Clinic, at its option, may be 
released from its obligations under the Guarantee by delivering to the Trustee a Substitute Guarantee of 
the new parent entity, substantially in the form of the Guarantee, together with, among other things: 

• written confirmation from each Rating Agency to the effect that such Rating Agency has 
reviewed such Substitute Guarantee and that the substitution of such Substitute Guarantee 
will not, by itself, result in a reduction or withdrawal by such Rating Agency of its ratings 
of the Bonds; 

• an opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that the substitution of the Substitute Guarantee 
will not adversely affect the exclusion from gross income of the Owners of interest on the 
Bonds for federal income tax purposes, and that the substitution has been effected in 
compliance with the provisions of this Indenture; 

• an Opinion of Counsel to the effect that the guarantee by the new guarantor and the 
release of Mayo Clinic will not cause any of the Bonds to become subject to registration 
under the Securities Act of 1933 (or that such registration, if required, has been made); 
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• evidence that the new guarantor, as the result of a corporate reorganization, is a new 
parent corporation which holds (directly or indirectly) the controlling interest in Mayo 
Clinic; and 

• a certificate of an officer of Mayo Clinic to the effect that: 

(i) after the assumption by the new parent corporation and the release of 
Mayo Clinic, no Event of Default exists under the Indenture or the Loan Agreement; 

(ii) at the time of the assumption, the new parent corporation is the 
controlling member or controlling shareholder (directly or indirectly) for Mayo Clinic 
and the same corporations for which Mayo Clinic was a controlling member or 
controlling shareholder (directly or indirectly) immediately prior to the assumption; and 

(iii) at the time of the assumption, the new parent corporation has the same 
power (directly or indirectly) as Mayo Clinic had (directly or indirectly) to appoint and 
dismiss a majority of the members of the governing bodies of such corporations. 

Mayo Affiliates Not Directly Liable 

The consolidated audited financial statements of Mayo Clinic are set forth in Appendix B.  Such 
financial statements include the assets and operations of entities such as Mayo Clinic Rochester, Saint 
Marys, Methodist, Mayo Clinic Jacksonville, Mayo Clinic Arizona and Mayo Health System which are 
required to be consolidated with the financial statements of Mayo Clinic under generally accepted 
accounting principles.  While Mayo Clinic is the direct or indirect corporate parent of such consolidated 
entities, such affiliates are not directly liable (with the exception of the Hospital) on the Bonds.  
Consequently there would be no direct recourse against the assets or income of any consolidated entity 
other than Mayo Clinic in the event a payment is required under the Guarantee.  Some of the assets of the 
consolidated entities may be or become subject to legal or contractual restrictions and may not be 
available to Mayo Clinic to satisfy its obligations. 

Mayo Clinic is the only obligor to the Guarantee and consequently is the only entity whose 
financial results are included in Mayo Clinic’s consolidated financial statements that is obligated to make 
payments on the Bonds.  However, in the Guarantee, Mayo Clinic agrees to exercise all control or rights it 
may have with respect to its direct or indirect subsidiaries to cause them to pay, loan or otherwise transfer 
to Mayo Clinic, such amounts (if any) as are necessary to duly and punctually pay the principal of, 
premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds when and as the same becomes due and payable, whether at 
maturity, upon redemption, by acceleration or otherwise. 

Although Mayo Clinic currently reserves the right to approve any significant debt issuance, asset 
transfers or corporate reorganizations of its controlled affiliates and subsidiaries, there are no provisions 
in the Guarantee or any other agreement executed in connection with the Bonds that require Mayo Clinic 
to limit the foregoing activities of its direct or indirect subsidiaries.  Similarly, there are no restrictions in 
the Loan Agreement on the ability of the Hospital to incur additional debt. 

Negative Pledge 

Mayo Clinic’s obligations under the Guarantee are not secured by a lien on the assets, property or 
revenues of Mayo Clinic or any of its affiliates.  However, in the Guarantee, Mayo Clinic agrees that it 
will not permit any Liens other than Permitted Encumbrances to be placed on any of its property or on 
any of the property of its affiliates, unless such Lien is also granted to secure the Bonds, the Minnesota 
Bonds, the Jacksonville Bonds and the Arizona Bonds.  The term “Lien” means any mortgage or pledge 
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of, security interest or lien, charge of other encumbrance on any Property which secures any obligation or 
otherwise grants a right to a person other than Mayo Clinic or any of its affiliates, and the term “Property” 
means any and all right, title and interest in and to any or all property, whether real or personal, tangible 
or intangible and wherever situated, including cash.  See Appendix C “SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL 
LEGAL DOCUMENTS” for a description of the items that are Permitted Encumbrances. 

Other Debt 

Mayo Clinic is liable for the payment of the Parity Minnesota Bonds.  Mayo Clinic is also 
directly liable on or has guaranteed other debt in addition to the Bonds.  See “ADDITIONAL BONDS 
AND OTHER INDEBTEDNESS” and Footnote 8. in Appendix B. 

 THE AUTHORITY 

Powers.  The Authority has, among other powers, the statutory power to make loans to certain 
health care or educational institutions in Wisconsin, to finance the cost of projects and refinance or refund 
outstanding indebtedness and to assign loan agreements, notes, mortgages and other securities of health 
care and educational institutions to which the Authority has made loans, and the revenues therefrom, for 
the benefit of the holders of bonds issued to finance or refinance such projects. 

Members of the Authority.  The Authority consists of seven members, all of whom must be 
Wisconsin residents, appointed by the Governor of the State of Wisconsin by and with the consent of the 
State Senate.  Members of the Authority serve staggered seven-year terms and continue to serve until 
their successors are appointed.  The members of the Authority receive no compensation for the 
performance of their duties but are paid their necessary expenses while engaged in the performance of 
such duties.  No member, officer, agent or employee of the Authority may, directly or indirectly, have any 
financial interest in any bond issue or in any loan or any property to be included in, or any contract for 
property or materials to be furnished or used in connection with, any project of the Authority, under 
penalty of law.  Members of the Authority, however, may serve as directors or officers of institutions for 
which the Authority is providing financing, but they may not vote or take part in the Authority’s 
deliberations concerning such financings. 

The present members of the Authority are: 

 Term Expires June 30, 

John A. Noreika, Chairperson 
Executive Director 
Oakwood Village 
Madison, Wisconsin 

2009 

Tim Size, Vice-Chairperson 
Executive Director 
Rural Wisconsin Health Cooperative 
Sauk City, Wisconsin 

2011 
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 Term Expires June 30, 

Richard Canter 
Senior Vice President – Strategy and Corporate 
Affairs 
Wheaton Franciscan Healthcare, Inc. 
Milwaukee, Wisconsin 

2015* 

Bruce Colburn 
Coordinator – Property Services (Central Region) 
Services Employees International Union 
Milwaukee, Wisconsin 

2014 

Kevin Flaherty 
VP/Relationship Manager 
Associated Commercial Finance, Inc. 
Milwaukee, Wisconsin 

2010* 

Beth L. Gillis, M.D. 
Physician 
ThedaCare Physicians-Shawano Family Medicine 
Shawano, Wisconsin 

2012 

Ken Thompson 
Managing Partner 
Quinn David & Associates 
Milwaukee, Wisconsin 

2013 

 
Authority Counsel 

Quarles & Brady LLP serves as general counsel to the Authority. 

______________ 
* Mr. Canter and Mr. Flaherty have been appointed by the Governor of the State of Wisconsin and serve pending 

confirmation by the Wisconsin State Senate. 
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Financing Program of the Authority.  The following summary outlines the principal amount of 
revenue bonds and notes issued during each of the Authority’s prior fiscal years.  These previous issues 
are secured by instruments separate and apart from the Indenture. 

Fiscal 
Year Ended 

June 30 

 Public Issues 
Wisconsin Private 

Placements Total 

 
Number 
of Issues  Amount 

Number
of Issues Amount 

Number 
of Issues  Amount 

1980  0  $                     0 1 $    1,300,000 1  $        1,300,000
1981  3  24,480,000 4 20,365,000 7  44,845,000
1982  3  34,100,000 4 12,575,000 7  46,675,000
1983  1  4,000,000 1 600,000 2  4,600,000
1984  4  16,375,000 3 13,225,000 7  29,600,000
1985  6  196,505,000 2 2,200,000 8  198,705,000
1986  9  213,260,000 5 17,478,000 14  230,738,000
1987  12  191,610,000 9 48,410,000 21  240,020,000
1988  14  170,890,000 14 81,589,000 28  252,479,000
1989  20  254,979,000 6 14,394,000 26  269,373,000
1990  14  277,605,000 9 45,737,000 23  323,342,000
1991  11  233,590,000 3 37,500,000 14  271,090,000
1992  15  346,160,000 5 43,500,000 20  389,660,000
1993  25  579,235,000 6 18,775,000 31  598,010,000
1994  16  434,495,000 6 46,615,000 22  481,110,000
1995  7  101,770,000 6 18,847,000 13  120,617,000
1996  14  382,905,000 2 8,800,000 16  391,705,000
1997  28  706,960,300 1 764,000 29  707,724,300
1998  25  722,050,000 1 2,700,000 26  724,750,000
1999  28  710,960,000 4 36,000,000 32  746,960,000
2000  16  415,710,450 6 17,736,000 22  433,446,450
2001  19  437,580,000 8 26,589,000 27  464,169,000
2002  18  815,100,000 2 8,000,000 20  823,100,000
2003  14  296,895,000 3 15,935,000 17  312,830,000
2004  26  912,245,000 4 25,980,000 30  938,225,000
2005  32  923,038,430 2 23,067,000 34  946,105,430
2006  25  706,235,000 2 6,570,000 27  712,805,000
2007  25  1,238,330,000 2 29,090,000 27  1,267,420,000
2008  24  1,006,255,000 4 36,500,000 28  1,042,775,000

TOTAL  454  $12,353,318,180∗ 125 $660,841,000∗∗ 579  $13,014,159,180
______________________ 
∗ Includes $3,244,851,987 which was refinanced by subsequent Authority bond issues. 
∗∗ Includes $90,948,136 which was refinanced by subsequent Authority bond issues. 
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In its fiscal year beginning July 1, 2008, the Authority has authorized the issuance of additional 
bonds.  The Authority plans to offer other obligations from time to time to finance other health and 
educational facilities.  Such other obligations will be issued pursuant to and secured by instruments 
separate and apart from the Indenture and the security for the Bonds. 

Other Bonds of the Authority.  The Authority may from time to time issue bonds for any 
corporate purpose and, pursuant to the Act, these bonds are negotiable for all purposes notwithstanding 
their payment from a limited source.  The Bonds are payable solely out of revenues of the Authority 
specified in the resolution under which they are issued and in the Indenture.  The Authority must pledge 
the revenues to be received on account of each financing as security for the bonds issued in that financing. 

Interest Not Exempt from Wisconsin Income Taxes.  Interest on the Bonds is not exempt from 
present Wisconsin income taxes. 

State of Wisconsin Not Liable on the Bonds.  The Bonds and the interest payable thereon do 
not constitute a debt or liability of the State of Wisconsin or of any political subdivision thereof other than 
the Authority.  The Bonds are a limited obligation of the Authority and are payable solely from the funds 
pledged therefor in accordance with the Indenture.  The issuance of the Bonds does not, directly, 
indirectly or contingently, obligate the State of Wisconsin or any political subdivision thereof to levy any 
form of taxation for the payment therefor or to make any appropriation for their payment.  The State of 
Wisconsin shall not in any event be liable for the payment of the principal of or interest on the Bonds or 
for the performance of any pledge, obligation or agreement of any kind whatsoever which may be 
undertaken by the Authority.  No breach by the Authority of any such pledge, obligation or agreement 
may impose any pecuniary liability upon the State of Wisconsin or any charge upon its general credit or 
against its taxing power.  The Authority has no taxing power. 

The Act provides that the State of Wisconsin pledges to, and agrees with, holders of any 
obligations issued under the Act that it will not limit or alter the rights vested in the Authority by the Act 
until such obligations, together with the interest thereon, are fully met and discharged, provided nothing 
in the Act precludes such limitation or alteration if and when adequate provision shall be made by law for 
the protection of the holders of such obligations. 

Except for the information pertaining to the Authority under this caption “AUTHORITY NOT 
LIABLE ON THE BONDS” and under the last paragraph of the caption “LITIGATION,” the Authority 
makes no representation or warranty, express or implied, and assumes no responsibility or liability 
respecting the accuracy, sufficiency or completeness of this Reoffering Circular. 

 BONDHOLDERS’ RISKS 

General; Tax Exemption 

The Bonds are a limited obligation of the Authority, do not constitute a general obligation of the 
Authority and are not payable in any manner from taxation.  See “AUTHORITY NOT LIABLE ON THE 
BONDS.” 

The Code establishes certain requirements (the “Federal Tax Requirements”) that must be met by 
Mayo Clinic, the Hospital and the Authority subsequent to the issuance of the Bonds in order that interest 
on the Bonds not be included in gross income for federal income tax purposes.  Non-compliance with the 
Federal Tax Requirements may cause interest on the Bonds to become subject to federal income tax 
retroactive to its date of issue, irrespective of the date on which such noncompliance occurs or is 
ascertained.  However, if such an event occurs, there are no provisions in the Bonds which would increase 
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the interest payable thereon, or which would cause the Bonds to become subject to redemption.  See 
“TAX EXEMPTION AND RELATED CONSIDERATIONS.” 

Factors That Could Affect the Future Financial Condition of Mayo Clinic and Affiliates 

Mayo Clinic and several of its affiliates are health care providers that derive significant portions 
of their revenues from Medicare, Medicaid, HMOs and other third party payor programs.  Mayo Clinic is 
subject to governmental regulation applicable to health care providers and the receipt of future revenues 
by Mayo Clinic is subject to, among other factors, federal and state policies affecting the health care 
industry and other conditions which are impossible to predict.  Such conditions may include limits on 
increasing charges and fees charged by Mayo Clinic, changes in federal and state laws and regulations 
affecting payments for health services, the continued increase in managed care or development of new 
third-party payment policies which reduce revenues, unanticipated competition from other health care 
providers, and changes in demand for health services. 

Mayo Clinic’s revenues and expenses may be adversely affected by the current economic crisis 
and future economic conditions, which may include an inability to control expenses in periods of 
inflation.  The receipt of future revenues by Mayo Clinic is also subject to demand for Mayo Clinic 
services, the ability to provide the services required by patients, physicians’ relationships with Mayo 
Clinic system, Mayo Clinic management capabilities, economic developments in the service areas, Mayo 
Clinic’s ability to control expenses, maintenance by Mayo Clinic of relationships with HMOs and other 
third party payor programs, competition, rates, costs, third-party reimbursement, legislation and 
governmental regulation, receipt of private contributions, general economic conditions and other 
conditions which are impossible to predict. 

No assurances can be given that patient utilization or revenues available to Mayo Clinic from its 
operations will remain stable or increase.  Mayo Clinic expects that it will experience increases in 
operating costs due to inflation and other factors.  There is no assurance that cost increases will be 
matched by increased patient revenue in amounts sufficient to generate an excess of revenues over 
expenses. 

The risk factors discussed below should be considered in evaluating the ability of Mayo Clinic to 
make payments in amounts sufficient to meet its obligations under the Guarantee.  This discussion is not, 
and is not intended to be, exhaustive of all possible risks. 

Health Care Industry Factors Affecting Mayo Clinic and Affiliates 

The health care industry is highly dependent on a number of factors that may limit the ability of 
Mayo Clinic to meet its obligations under the Guarantee and the Hospital to meet its obligations under the 
Loan Agreement, several of which are beyond their control.  Among other things, participants in the 
health care industry are subject to significant regulatory requirements of federal, state and local 
governmental agencies and independent professional organizations and accrediting bodies, technological 
advances and changes in treatment modes, various competitive factors and changes in third party 
reimbursement programs.  Discussed below are certain of these factors which could have a significant 
impact on the future operations and financial condition of Mayo Clinic and its affiliates. 

Mayo Clinic’s ability to pay its obligations under the Guarantee and the Hospital’s ability to pay 
its obligations under the Loan Agreement could be affected adversely by, among other things, legislation, 
regulatory actions, economic conditions, increased competition from other health care providers, changes 
in the demand for health care services, government and third party payor reimbursement changes, 
demographic changes and malpractice claims and other litigation.  The Remarketing Agents and the 
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Authority have not made any independent investigation of the extent to which any such factors may have 
an adverse impact on the financial condition of Mayo Clinic. 

Health care reform is an immediate and important priority of President Obama’s administration.  
In his description of health care reform, the President includes reducing the cost of health care, increasing 
access to health insurance, improving efficiencies in the health care delivery system and investing in 
health information technology and medical research.  The President’s first two major legislative 
accomplishments, the law extending the State Children’s Health Insurance Program (“SCHIP”) and the 
economic stimulus bill, the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 (“ARRA”), include 
substantial appropriations for children’s health insurance, subsidized continuation health insurance for 
newly unemployed persons and investments in health information technology and medical research.  The 
next step in health care reform, cutting the cost of health care, will address the government’s financial 
commitment to the Medicare program.  There can be no guarantee that federal programs will continue to 
be funded at their current rate.  Prospective changes in Medicare payments and payment methodologies to 
hospitals, including the potential reduction of funding levels and the transition of Medicare enrollees into 
Medicare managed care plans, could have an adverse effect on revenues of Mayo Clinic and its affiliates. 

Overview of Medicare and Medicaid Programs 

Medicare and Medicaid are the commonly used names for health care reimbursement or payment 
programs governed by certain provisions of the federal Social Security Act Amendments of 1965.  The 
federal government uses reimbursement as a key tool to implement health care policies, to allocate health 
care resources and to control utilization, facility and provider development and expansion, and technology 
use and development.  These programs reflect the national policy that persons who are aged and persons 
who are poor should be entitled to receive medical care regardless of ability to pay.  Medicare provides 
certain health care benefits to beneficiaries who are 65 years of age or older, disabled or qualify for the 
End Stage Renal Disease Program.  Medicare Part A covers inpatient hospital, home health, nursing home 
care and certain other services, and Medicare Part B covers certain physicians services, medical supplies 
and durable medical equipment.  Medicare Part C, the Medicare Advantage program (formerly known as 
the Medicare+Choice Program) enables Medicare beneficiaries who are entitled to Part A and are 
enrolled in Part B to choose to obtain their benefits through a variety of private, managed care, risk-based 
plans. 

The Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement, and Modernization Act of 2003 (“MMA”)  
created the Medicare Part D program, under which outpatient prescription drug benefits are available to 
Medicare beneficiaries.  MMA also enhanced the Medicare Part C managed care programs. 

Medicare reimbursement for outpatient prescription drug benefits provided by private plans 
became available as of January 1, 2006 through a voluntary enrollment program.  The private Medicare 
Part D plans are funded through premium payments from enrolled Medicare beneficiaries and subsidies 
from the federal government. Enrollment is available on an ongoing and intermittent basis. While 
participation in the program is voluntary, those that wait to enroll beyond their initial point of eligibility 
are penalized with additional surcharges which increase over time. 

Although Medicare Part D reimbursement will not cover inpatient prescriptions, changes in 
enrollment or program administration could affect Mayo Clinic’s revenue.  Going forward, the expansion 
of coverage for outpatient pharmaceutical therapy may reduce Mayo Clinic’s admissions or shift the 
characteristics of those patients that are admitted. 

Medicaid is designed to pay providers for care given to the indigent and other persons who 
qualify based on certain conditions.  Medicaid is funded by federal and state appropriations and is 
administered by an agency of the applicable state. 
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It is unlikely that Mayo Clinic and its affiliates could attract sufficient numbers of private pay 
patients to its facilities to become self-sufficient without reimbursement from governmental sources.  

Medicare and Medicaid Conditions of Participation.  Hospitals must comply with standards 
called “Conditions of Participation” in order to be eligible for Medicare and Medicaid reimbursement.  
The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (“CMS”) of the U.S. Department of Health and Human 
Services (“HHS”) is responsible for ensuring that hospitals meet the regulatory Conditions of 
Participation.  Under the Medicare rules, hospitals accredited by the Joint Commission are deemed to 
meet the Conditions of Participation.  However, CMS may request that the state agency responsible for 
approving hospitals on behalf of CMS conduct a “sample validation survey” of a hospital to determine 
whether it is complying with the Conditions of Participation.  Failure to maintain Joint Commission 
accreditation or to otherwise comply with the Conditions of Participation could have a materially adverse 
effect on the continued participation in the Medicare and Medicaid programs, and ultimately on the 
revenues of Mayo Clinic. 

Medicare Reimbursement 

Overview.  Medicare is administered by CMS, which delegates to the states the process for 
certifying those organizations to which CMS will make payment.  The HHS’s rule-making authority is 
substantial and the rules are extensive and complex.  Substantial deference is given by courts to rules 
promulgated by HHS. 

Medicare claims are processed by non-government organizations or agencies that contract to 
serve as the fiscal agent between providers and the federal government to locally process Medicare’s Part 
A and Part B claims.  These claims processors are known as “fiscal intermediaries” and “carriers.”  They 
apply the Medicare coverage rules to determine the appropriateness of claims.  CMS selects organizations 
(generally insurance companies) to act as fiscal intermediaries and carriers in various states or regions, 
and enters into a “prime contract” with each.  Most Medicare hospital services are provided through a 
fixed rate per case program under the reimbursement methods described below.  Some Medicare 
recipients, however, enroll in Medicare Advantage managed care plans, which reimburse providers on a 
contractually determined basis.  Health care providers that participate in the Medicare program must 
agree to be bound by the terms and conditions of the program such as meeting the quality standards for 
rendering covered services and adopting and enforcing policies to protect patients from certain 
discriminatory practices. 

MMA has authorized the replacement of fiscal intermediaries with Medicare Administrative 
Contractors (“MACs”).  MACs will handle not only hospital claims, but also Part B claims from 
physicians, laboratories and other suppliers.  This Medicare contracting reform initiative is being 
implemented on a rolling basis; MACs have been designated for all jurisdictions and will assume full 
responsibility for all claims processing as of March 2010.  It is unclear what impact, if any, the transition 
to MAC claim administration will have on Mayo Clinic’s revenues. 

Inpatient Services.  Medicare payments for operating expenses incurred in the delivery of in-
patient hospital services are based on a prospective payment system (“PPS”) which essentially pays 
hospitals a fixed amount for each Medicare in-patient discharge based upon patient diagnosis and certain 
other factors used to classify each patient into a Diagnosis Related Group (“DRG”).  Each DRG is given a 
relative value from which a fixed payment can then be established.  With limited exceptions, such 
payments are not adjusted for actual costs, variations in intensity of illness, or length of stay.  DRG rates 
are adjusted annually by the use of an “update factor” based on the projected increase in a market basket 
inflation index which measures changes in the costs of goods and services purchased by hospitals, but the 
adjustments historically have not kept pace with inflation. 
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If a hospital treats a patient and incurs less cost than the applicable DRG-based payment, the 
hospital is entitled to retain the difference.  Conversely, if a hospital’s cost for treating the patient exceeds 
the DRG-based payment, the hospital generally will not be entitled to any additional payment.  There can 
be no assurance that payments under PPS will be sufficient to cover all actual costs of providing in-
patient hospital services to Medicare patients. 

CMS has made substantial revisions to the inpatient prospective payment system (“IPPS”).  The 
changes have been implemented with the intention of more accurately accounting for severity of illness 
and more accurately reimbursing for services delivered.  Reimbursements have been realigned to better 
reflect hospital costs rather than charges.  The previous system featuring 526 DRGs has been replaced 
with 861 refined DRGs.  While reimbursement for most services have displayed marginal increases, 
reimbursement for other services, such as invasive cardiovascular procedures, have decreased from 
previous levels.  Other factors which may decrease reimbursement for services delivered in the future are 
the extent to which the revamped reimbursement levels are based on outdated cost report data and the 
extent to which those levels reflect the costs of newer technologies.  Overall, these changes to the 
inpatient prospective payment system may result in decreased reimbursement for inpatient services, 
depending on the types of services that Mayo Clinic can expect to deliver in the future. 

If a hospital serves a disproportionate share of low income patients, it receives a percentage add-
on for each case.  If the hospital is an approved teaching hospital, it also receives a percentage add-on 
based on the ratio of residents trained to Medicare patients served.  Finally, if a case is unusually complex 
or expensive, it may qualify for an “outlier” payment, which is added to the DRG-adjusted base rate 
payment. 

Inpatient psychiatric services are also reimbursed on a case-mix adjusted prospective payment 
methodology. 

Almost annually, Congress passes measures addressing the Medicare program and its cost.  These 
laws include the Deficit Reduction Act of 2005 (“DRA”), the Medicare Improvements and Extension Act, 
Division B, Title I of the Tax Relief and Health Care Act of 2006, the TMA, Abstinence Education, and 
QI Programs Extension Act of 2007, and the Medicare Improvements for Patients and Providers Act of 
2008.  In addition, CMS issues an annual IPPS rule to adjust the rates based on its continuing experience 
with hospital operating and capital costs and to implement the various quality improvement, patient safety 
and fraud and abuse provisions included in these laws. 

In addition to cutting costs, these laws and the final IPPS rules often provide for the redistribution 
of Medicare funds towards preferred services to the possible detriment of others.  For example, under the 
DRA, CMS reduced the reimbursement for nosocomial infections and increased funds for colorectal 
screenings, dialysis centers and rural hospitals.  The DRA also expanded penalties for failure to 
participate in Medicare quality initiatives.  These include a hospital data reporting program under which 
hospitals are required to report on 30 or more quality measures.  CMS reduces payments to hospitals that 
do not successfully report quality measures adopted under the program by two percent from the 
percentage increase that would otherwise apply to their payment rates.  The final IPPS rules for federal 
fiscal years 2008 and 2009 also included, and then expanded, a list of preventable conditions or 
consequences (so-called “never events”) for a patient for which Medicare would not pay the additional 
cost of treatment. 

Depending on the mix of future services delivered, the overall result of these annual, incremental 
changes to the IPPS reimbursement rules may be to reduce Medicare reimbursement to Mayo Clinic. 

Outpatient Services.  CMS utilizes PPS methodology for Medicare hospital outpatient services.  
Under outpatient PPS, procedures, evaluations, management services, drugs and devices in outpatient 
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departments are classified into one of approximately 750 groups called Ambulatory Payment 
Classifications (“APCs”).  Services provided within an APC are similar clinically and in terms of the 
resources they require.  Each APC has been assigned a weight derived from the median hospital cost of 
the services in the group relative to the median hospital cost of the services included in the APC for mid-
level clinic visits.  CMS determines the portion of the median labor related hospital costs and adjusts 
those costs for variations in hospital labor costs across geographic regions. 

Payment rates for each APC are calculated by multiplying the relative weight for an APC by a 
conversion factor to arrive at a dollar figure.  Outpatient PPS includes additional adjustments for 
transitional pass-through payments and outlier payments.  Transitional pass-through payments are costs 
associated with new technology items (drugs, biologicals and medical devices) that were not reflected in 
the data that CMS used to calculate PPS payment rates, and are intended to allow for adequate payment of 
new and innovative technology until there is enough data to incorporate the costs for these items into the 
base APC group. 

APCs include payment for related ancillary services provided in conjunction with a procedure or 
medical visit.  Although hospitals receive payment for more than one APC for an encounter, payment for 
multiple surgical APC procedures are subject to substantial discounting. 

Recently, CMS announced changes to its policies and payment structure with respect to 
outpatient services.  A market basket adjustment was made in 2007 reflecting an increase in amounts paid 
for outpatient services delivered to Medicare patients.  Rate increases are tied to additional quality 
measure reporting requirements applicable to outpatient services beginning in 2009.  CMS also has 
revised the APC structure, expanding a hospital’s ability to be reimbursed for infusion services.  In 
exchange, CMS has reduced per diem payments to hospital outpatient departments for the delivery of 
partial hospitalization services.  Additionally, CMS has adjusted the reimbursement rates for Ambulatory 
Surgery Centers to reflect the reimbursement for equivalent procedures being delivered in hospital 
outpatient departments.  Overall, these changes to the outpatient prospective payment system may result 
in decreased reimbursement for services, depending on the service mix that Mayo Clinic can expect to 
deliver in the future. 

Outpatient renal dialysis services are reimbursed on the basis of prospective reimbursement, 
though different rates are paid for hospital-based and free-standing facilities, and are adjusted for 
geographic differences in labor costs.  This composite rate is the same regardless of whether the treatment 
is furnished in the facility or in the patient’s home to incentivize home dialysis, and must be accepted by 
the facility as payment in full for covered outpatient dialysis. 

Under PPS, a hospital with costs exceeding the applicable payment rate would incur losses on 
such services provided to Medicare beneficiaries.  There can be no assurance that outpatient PPS 
payments will be sufficient to cover all of Mayo Clinic’s actual costs of providing hospital outpatient 
services to Medicare patients. 

Physician Payments.  Payment for physician fees is covered under Part B of Medicare.  Under 
Part B, physician services are reimbursed in an amount equal to the lesser of actual charges or the amount 
determined under a fee schedule known as the “resource-based relative value scale” or “RBRVS.”  
RBRVS sets a relative value for each physician service; that value is then multiplied by a geographic 
adjustment factor and a nationally-uniform conversion factor to determine the amount Medicare will pay 
for each service. 

The relative values for physician services contained in the RBRVS are based on a work 
component intended to reflect the time and intensity of effort required to provide the service; a practice 



 

26 

expense component which includes costs such as office rents, allied health support salaries, equipment 
and supplies; and a component for the cost of malpractice insurance. 

CMS uses a resource-based system of calculating practice expense relative value units (“RVUs”) 
based on actual practice expense data to replace the historical charge-based practice expense RVU system 
that was previously used.  The methodology for computing practice expense RVUs provides for higher 
practice expense RVUs for services performed in a doctor’s office, the patient’s home, or a facility or 
institution other than a hospital, skilled nursing facility (“SNF”) or ambulatory surgical center (“ASC”), 
and lower practice expense RVUs for services furnished to hospital, SNF, and ASC patients.  CMS also 
uses a resource-based system of calculating malpractice expense RVUs.  The formulae used to calculate 
physician payments under the RBRVS methodology do not necessarily reflect the actual costs of such 
services.  There can be no assurance that payments to Mayo Clinic and its affiliates under the Medicare 
program will be adequate to cover their costs of providing physician services. 

Mayo Clinic has a mix of entities that participate and do not participate under Medicare Part B.  
Providers such as Mayo Clinic Rochester, Mayo Clinic Arizona and Mayo Clinic Jacksonville that are not 
reimbursed directly by Medicare for physician services (“Non-Participating Physicians”) may charge 
Medicare patients a fee for a covered service which is greater than the amount Medicare reimburses for 
that service, subject to several limitations.  First, the patient pays the full amount of the bill, subject to the 
Medicare limiting charge requirement (see below) and is reimbursed by Medicare, but only at the fee 
scheduled amount established by Medicare for that service.  As a result, the patient is responsible for 
paying the difference between the full amount billed by the physician for the service and the amount of 
Medicare reimbursement the patient receives.  The collection of the difference is referred to as “balance 
billing.”  Second, as described in greater detail below, the fees that Non-Participating Physicians may 
charge Medicare patients are subject to certain limitations. 

Medicare limits the total amount Non-Participating Physicians may charge Medicare patients 
through the establishment of a limiting charge, which now restricts the total amount a Non-Participating 
Physician may bill and recover from a Medicare patient for a procedure to 115% of the applicable 
Medicare reimbursement levels (the applicable Medicare reimbursement level for Non-Participating 
Physicians generally is 95% of the RBRVS fee schedule amount).  Thus, the limiting charge is generally 
set at a level equal to approximately 109% of the RBRVS fee schedule amount.  This amount is further 
adjusted for Minnesota Medicare patients due to the provisions of Minnesota’s MinnesotaCare law, which 
limit the amount providers such as Mayo Clinic Rochester may bill and recover from Minnesota Medicare 
patients to 95% of the RBRVS fee schedule amount.  See “– MinnesotaCare” below. 

The 2009 Medicare Physician Fee Schedule, published in November 2008, included a number of 
reimbursement rule changes for physicians, including the final anti-markup rule, e-prescribing incentives, 
quality reporting measures and the expansion of telehealth coverage reimbursement.  The anti-markup 
rule provides that, if a physician, other supplier or related party orders a diagnostic test that is either 
purchased from an outside supplier or performed at a location other than the referring physician’s office, 
the physician or other supplier is limited to billing the lowest of the “net charge” paid for the test; the 
physician’s or other supplier’s actual charge; or the Medicare Fee Schedule amount.  The anti-markup 
rule’s adoption may negatively affect revenues or result in false claims liability for Mayo Clinic or any 
affiliated facility that bills Medicare and provides for the reading and interpretation of such diagnostic 
tests.  CMS has also adopted limits on reimbursement for multiple imaging procedures. 

Capital Expenditures.  Medicare payments for capital costs are based upon a PPS system similar 
to that applicable to operating costs.  Payment for capital related costs for all hospitals are determined 
based on a standardized amount referred to as the federal rate. 
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Under PPS, payments for capital costs are calculated by multiplying the federal rate by the DRG 
weight for each discharge and by a geographical adjustment factor.  The payments are subject to further 
adjustment by a disproportionate share hospital factor that contemplates the increased capital costs 
associated with providing care to low income patients, and an indirect medical education factor that 
contemplates the increased capital costs associated with medical education programs. 

There can be no assurance that payments under the PPS inpatient capital regulations will be 
sufficient to fully reimburse Mayo Clinic for its capital expenditures. 

Medical Education Costs.  Under PPS, teaching hospitals receive additional payments from 
Medicare for certain direct and indirect costs related to their graduate medical education (“GME”) 
programs.  Direct GME payments compensate teaching hospitals for the cost directly related to educating 
residents.  Such costs include the residents’ stipends and benefits, the salaries and benefits of supervising 
faculty, other costs directly attributable to the GME program, and allocated overhead costs.  Payment for 
direct medical education costs are calculated based upon set formulae taking into account hospital-
specific medical education costs associated with each resident, the number of full-time equivalent 
residents, and the proportion of Medicare inpatient days to non-Medicare inpatient days.  Indirect GME 
payments compensate teaching hospitals for the higher patient care costs they incur relative to non-
teaching hospitals.  Those indirect payments are issued as a percentage adjustment to the PPS payments.  
The calculation for both the direct part and the indirect part of Medicare payments for GME include 
certain limitations on the number and classification of full-time equivalent residents reimbursed by 
Medicare. 

The formulae used to determine payments for medical education do not necessarily reflect the 
actual costs of such education, and the federal government will continue to evaluate its policy on graduate 
medical education and teaching hospital payments.  There can be no assurance that payments to Mayo 
Clinic and its affiliates under the Medicare program will be adequate to cover their direct and indirect 
costs of providing medical education to interns, residents, fellows and allied health professionals. 

Outlier Payments.  As noted above, hospitals are eligible to receive additional payments under 
the inpatient PPS for individual cases incurring extraordinarily high costs.  Historically, the amount of an 
outlier payment was based, in part, on the hospital charges for a particular case as compared to that 
hospital’s cost-to-charge ratio.  As the hospital specific cost-to-charge ratio was calculated based on the 
most recently settled cost report, it was typically many months or years old and out of date. 

Following an audit of aggressive pricing strategies at one of the nation’s largest hospital chains, 
and a determination that some hospitals might be manipulating current hospital charge data to maximize 
reimbursement from Medicare under the outlier payment provisions, the Office of the Inspector General 
of HHS (“OIG”) began investigating past outlier billing practices, and CMS amended the regulations on 
how outlier payments were to be calculated in the future. 

The OIG continues to scrutinize outlier payments in an effort to determine whether outlier 
payments to the hospitals were paid in accordance with Medicare regulations or whether such payments 
were the result of potentially abusive billing practices.  While Mayo Clinic believes that it has calculated 
its outlier payments appropriately, there can be no assurance that Mayo Clinic will not become the subject 
of an investigation or audit with respect to its past outlier payments, or that such an audit would not have 
a material adverse impact on Mayo Clinic 

The methodology for calculating outlier payments is designed to prevent hospitals from 
manipulating the outlier formula to maximize reimbursement and allows for recovery of overpayments in 
certain cases.  There can be no assurance that any future revisions to the formula for calculating outlier 
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payments will not reduce the payments to Mayo Clinic, or that any such reduction will not have a material 
adverse impact on Mayo Clinic. 

Medicare Managed Care Program.  Every individual entitled to Medicare Part A benefits, and 
who is enrolled in Medicare Part B, with the exception of individuals who suffer from End Stage Renal 
Disease, may elect coverage under either the traditional Medicare fee for service program (Parts A and B) 
or a Medicare managed care (Part C) program, known as the Medicare Advantage Program.  The 
Medicare Advantage program, established under MMA, is designed to expand the number and types of 
private regional plans available to beneficiaries as an alternative to traditional Parts A and B Medicare 
coverage.  Payments for Medicare Advantage plans are based on competitive bids to the government 
rather than administered pricing. 

Public and private health maintenance organizations, preferred provider organizations, fee for 
service and medical savings account plans may qualify as authorized Medicare Advantage plans.  With 
limited exceptions, Medicare Advantage plans are risk-bearing programs that accept a fixed annual 
amount in return for providing beneficiaries with a defined level of benefits (basic or basic plus 
supplemental), either directly or through arrangements with other providers.  All Medicare Advantage 
plans are required to provide coverage, even if out of network, for emergency services, renal dialysis 
services provided while the enrollee was temporarily outside of the plan’s service area, post-stabilization 
care services (under limited circumstances) and services for which coverage was denied but, following 
appeal by the enrollee, were determined to be covered services.  Providers wishing to participate in 
Medicare Advantage plans are subject to specific requirements concerning enrollee protection and 
accountability.  The shift of Medicare eligible beneficiaries from traditional Part A and Part B coverage to 
Part C Medicare Advantage programs is intended to increase competitive pressure to improve benefits, 
reduce premiums and generate cost reductions.  These changes may result in reduced utilization of health 
care services and have a material negative impact upon the revenue of Mayo Clinic. 

Audits, Exclusions, Fines and Enforcement Actions.  Hospitals participating in Medicare are 
subject to audits and retroactive audit adjustments under the Medicare program.  From an audit, a 
Medicare contractor may conclude that a patient discharge has been claimed under an incorrect DRG, that 
services may not have been provided under the direct supervision of a physician (to the extent so 
required), that a patient should not have been characterized as an inpatient, that certain services provided 
prior to admission as an inpatient should not have been billed as outpatient services or that certain 
required procedures or processes were not satisfied.  As a consequence, payments may be retroactively 
disallowed.  Under certain circumstances, payments made may be determined to have been made as a 
consequence of improper claims subject to the federal False Claims Act or other federal statutes, 
subjecting the hospital to civil or criminal sanctions. 

The MMA authorized a three-year demonstration project known as the national recovery audit 
contractor (“RAC”) program to identify overpayments and underpayments to providers under Part A or B 
of the Medicare program.  The demonstration projects succeeded in correcting more than $1.03 billion in 
Medicare improper payments.  In 2006, Congress made the program permanent and four RACs have been 
engaged to continue the program nationally.  The RACs are compensated largely on a contingent fee 
basis.  The five-state-state pilot (which included Florida) concluded in March 2008 and nationwide rollout 
commenced in 2009.  Mayo Clinic’s experience during the pilot found far more overpayments than 
underpayments.  Medicare contractors will recoup RAC identified overpayments unless appeals are filed 
timely.  RAC assessments against Mayo Clinic are anticipated; however, the outcome of such 
assessments are unknown and cannot be reasonably estimated. 

Provider-Based Designation.  CMS regulations describe the criteria and procedures for 
determining whether a facility or organization is “provider-based” and thereby treated as part of another 
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Medicare provider (with often higher reimbursement levels for certain services), rather than as a 
freestanding entity.  In the event that a facility or department that bills for outpatient services as a 
provider-based entity is found to be out of compliance with the current provider-based regulations, Mayo 
Clinic could be liable for Medicare overpayments. 

Medicaid Reimbursement 

Medicaid is a joint federal-state reimbursement program that is administered in each state by that 
state’s health or public welfare agency.  Medicaid programs vary from state to state.  In each state’s 
program, Medicaid generally pays for covered health care services provided to certain categorically 
qualified or indigent individuals.  In many states, reimbursement for operating costs is based on the 
federal PPS and Medicaid reimburses hospitals a fixed amount based on the patient’s diagnosis regardless 
of the actual costs incurred for treatment.  The amount and method of reimbursement by Medicaid 
programs to acute care hospitals for outpatient services in states in which Mayo Clinic and its affiliates 
are located vary from state to state.  Some states reimburse based on PPS, others on a percentage of usual 
and customary charges, and still others pay the lower of usual and customary charges or a fixed rate 
amount.  Each state’s formula for reimbursement is subject to change and there can be no assurance that 
such payments will be adequate to cover the cost of care for the beneficiaries in the future.  The amount 
and method of reimbursement by Medicaid programs to acute care hospitals for the capital-related costs 
in states in which Mayo Clinic and its affiliates are located vary from state to state and there can be no 
assurance that such payments will be adequate to cover such costs in the future. 

In addition, the states in which Mayo Clinic and its affiliates are located from time to time are 
currently experiencing budget constraints that may affect the level of reimbursement paid to the health 
care providers by Medicaid programs.  The reimbursement currently paid by Medicaid programs is likely 
to be subject to restrictions in the future, and there can be no assurance that such payments will be 
adequate to cover the cost of care for Medicaid beneficiaries in the future. 

Minnesota Health Care 

MinnesotaCare.  The State of Minnesota has enacted several pieces of health reform legislation 
that are referred to collectively as “MinnesotaCare.”  MinnesotaCare established a subsidized health 
insurance program for eligible low income Minnesota residents, financed in part by a tax on health care 
provider revenues.  The tax rate currently is one and one-half percent of certain patient care revenues.  
MinnesotaCare established limits on the total amount that health care providers may charge to or collect 
for physician services from Minnesota residents who are Medicare patients.  MinnesotaCare limits the 
total amount a health care provider such as Mayo Clinic Rochester may bill to and recover from a 
Minnesota Medicare patient for physician services to 95% of the applicable Medicare reimbursement 
level for that service. 

Current Legislation.  Various proposals are currently under consideration by the Minnesota 
State Legislature to reform the delivery of health care in Minnesota by, among other things, providing 
more affordable and universally accessible coverage through expanded government health care programs, 
reforming health insurance purchasing requirements, subsidizing low income residents to purchase health 
care coverage and studying other payment system reforms.  One of the primary goals of the proposed 
reform is to reduce health care spending in Minnesota.  At this time, it is impossible to measure the 
overall financial impact that the proposed reforms, if enacted into law, will have on Mayo Clinic and its 
Minnesota affiliates. 
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State Children’s Health Insurance Program 

SCHIP is a federally funded insurance program for children whose families earn too much money 
to be eligible for Medicaid, but cannot afford commercial health insurance.  CMS administers SCHIP, but 
each state creates its own program based on minimum federal guidelines.  While generally considered to 
be beneficial for both patients and providers because it reduces the number of uninsured children, it is 
difficult to asses the fiscal impact of SCHIP payments on Mayo Clinic and its affiliates.  Moreover, states 
must periodically submit their SCHIP plans to CMS for review to determine if it meets the federal 
requirements.  If a state does not meet the federal requirements, it may lose its federal funding for its 
program.  From time to time Congress and/or the President seek to expand or contract SCHIP.  The loss 
of federal approval for a state’s program or a reduction in the amounts available under SCHIP could have 
an adverse impact on the financial condition of Mayo Clinic. 

Third-Party Reimbursement 

A significant portion of the net patient service revenue of Mayo Clinic and its affiliates is 
received from third party payors and other non-governmental agencies, which provide third-party 
reimbursement for patient care on the basis of various formulae.  Renegotiations of such formulae and 
changes in such reimbursement systems may reduce such third-party reimbursements to Mayo Clinic and 
its affiliates.  The reimbursement currently paid by third parties is likely to be subject to more restrictions 
in the future, and there can be no assurance that such payments will be adequate to cover the cost of care 
for the beneficiaries in the future. 

Certain private insurance companies contract with hospitals on an exclusive or preferred-provider 
basis, and some insurers have introduced plans known as preferred provider organizations (“PPOs”).  
Under these plans, there may be financial incentives for subscribers to use only those hospitals and 
physicians which contract with the plans.  Under an exclusive provider plan, an arrangement that includes 
most health maintenance organizations (“HMOs”), private payors limit coverage to those services 
provided by network hospitals and physicians.  With this contracting authority, private payors may direct 
patients away from hospitals not in the network by denying coverage for services provided by them. 

Most PPOs and HMOs currently pay hospitals on a discounted fee-for-service basis or on a 
discounted fixed rate per day of care.  The discounts offered to HMOs and PPOs may result in payment at 
less than actual cost, and the volume of patients directed to a hospital under an HMO or PPO contract 
may vary significantly from projections.  Therefore, the financial consequences of such arrangements 
cannot be predicted with certainty and may be different from current or prior experience.  Some HMOs 
offer or mandate a “capitation” payment method under which hospitals are paid a predetermined periodic 
rate for each enrollee in the HMO who is “assigned” to, or otherwise directed to receive care at, a 
particular hospital.  In a capitation payment system, the hospital assumes an insurance risk for the cost 
and scope of care given to such HMO’s enrollees.  If payment under an HMO or PPO contract is 
insufficient to meet the hospital’s costs of care, or if use by enrollees materially exceeds projections, the 
financial condition of Mayo Clinic and its affiliates may be adversely affected. 

Mayo Clinic and its affiliates also may be affected by the financial instability of HMOs and other 
third-party payors with which Mayo Clinic contracts and/or from which it receives reimbursement for 
furnishing health care services.  There is no assurance that contracts of Mayo Clinic, its affiliates or their 
physicians with Blue Cross, HMOs, PPOs or other third party payors will be maintained or that other 
similar contracts will be obtained in the future, or that payments from such payors will be sufficient to 
cover all of the costs Mayo Clinic, its affiliates or their physicians incur in providing services to their 
beneficiaries.  Failure to execute and maintain such contracts could have the effect of reducing the patient 
base or health care revenues of Mayo Clinic and its affiliates.  Conversely, participation may maintain or 
increase the patient base, but may result in reduced payments. 
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For example, if regulators place a financially-troubled HMO into rehabilitation under state law, or 
if a third-party payor files for protection under the federal bankruptcy laws, it is unlikely that health care 
providers will be reimbursed in full for services furnished to enrollees of the HMO or the third-party 
payor.  Health care providers also may be required by law or court order to continue furnishing health 
care services to the enrollees of an insolvent HMO or third-party payor, even though the providers may 
not be reimbursed in full for such services. 

Private employers have revised the way in which health care benefits are provided to their 
employees in order to create incentives for cost containment and to reduce their costs of providing health 
care benefits.  Traditional health insurance programs, which pay for services on a fee-for-service basis 
and allow employees to elect which hospitals they utilize, are being supplemented or replaced by a wide 
range of health insurance programs being offered with economic incentives for employees to choose those 
plans which promise to be most cost efficient.  These types of insurance programs are expected to cover 
an increasing share of health care services being provided in the future. 

HMOs and other third-party payors that contract on a discounted fee-for-service or discounted 
fixed rate-per-day basis also exert strong controls over the utilization of health care resources.  Strong 
utilization management by managed care plans has led to reduction in the number of hospitalizations and 
lengths of hospital stays, both of which may reduce patient service revenue to hospitals.  Furthermore, 
shortened hospital lengths of stay have not necessarily been accompanied with a reduced demand for 
services while a patient is hospitalized and in fact may lead to more intensive hospital visits and 
correspondingly increased costs to hospital providers. 

Per diem rates, other risk-based payment systems and discounts pose major challenges to hospital 
providers.  In order to enter into such contracts, hospitals are required not only to anticipate the cost of 
rendering specific services to patients, but also to estimate the likelihood and severity of illness or injury 
within the population which the hospital serves.  If payment under a managed care plan contract is 
insufficient to meet a hospital’s costs of caring for the needs of the population it serves, the financial 
condition of Mayo Clinic and its affiliates may erode rapidly and significantly.  Often, managed care plan 
contracts are enforceable for the stated term, regardless of provider losses.  Furthermore, managed care 
plan contracts and insurance laws may require that a hospital continue to provide care for enrollees for a 
certain period of time irrespective of whether the managed care plan has funds to make payment to the 
hospital. 

Increasingly, physician practice groups, independent practice associations and other physician 
management companies have become a part of the process of negotiating payment rates to hospitals by 
managed care plans.  This involvement has taken many forms but typically increases the competition for 
limited payment resources from managed care plans.  For example, it is increasingly common for 
managed care plans to enter into contracts with physicians that may give physicians incentives in patient 
care decisions which may result in reduced hospital admissions and procedures. 

Regulatory Environment 

Mayo Clinic, its affiliates and the health care industry in general are subject to regulation by a 
number of governmental agencies, including those that administer the Medicare and Medicaid programs, 
federal, state and local agencies responsible for administration of health care planning programs, and 
other federal, state and local governmental agencies. As a result, the health care industry is sensitive to 
legislative and regulatory changes in such programs, and is affected by reductions and limitations in 
government spending for such programs as well as changing health care policies.  Over the past several 
years, Congress has consistently attempted to curb the growth of federal spending on health care 
programs.  In addition, Congress and governmental agencies have focused on the provision of care to 
indigent and uninsured patients, the prevention of the transfer of such patients to other hospitals in order 
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to avoid the provision of uncompensated care, activities of tax-exempt institutions that are unrelated to 
their exempt purposes, and other issues.  Some of the legislation and regulations affecting the health care 
industry are discussed below. 

Additionally, laws and regulations require that hospitals meet various detailed standards relating 
to the adequacy of medical care, equipment, personnel, operating policies and procedures, maintenance of 
adequate records, utilization, rate setting, compliance with building codes and environmental protection 
laws, and numerous other matters.  Failure to comply with applicable regulations can jeopardize a 
hospital’s licenses, ability to participate in the Medicare and Medicaid programs, and ability to operate as 
a hospital.  These laws and regulations, as well as similar laws and regulations now in effect, and the 
adoption of additional laws and regulations in these and other areas could have an adverse effect on Mayo 
Clinic’s ability to generate revenues in sufficient amounts to timely pay the Bonds. 

These laws and regulations, as well as similar laws and regulations now in effect, and the 
adoption of additional laws and regulations in these and other areas, could have an adverse effect on the 
results of operations of Mayo Clinic and its affiliates. 

Federal False Claims Acts and Civil Money Penalties Law.  There are multiple federal laws 
concerning the submission of inaccurate or fraudulent claims for reimbursement and errors or 
misrepresentations on cost reports by hospitals and other health care providers.  The coding, billing and 
reporting obligations of Medicare providers are extensive, complex and highly technical.  In some cases, 
errors and omissions by billing and reporting personnel may result in liability under one of the federal 
False Claims Acts or similar laws, exposing a health care provider to civil and criminal monetary 
penalties, as well as exclusion from participation in the Medicare and Medicaid programs. 

The federal Civil False Claims Act prohibits knowingly submitting a false or fraudulent claim for 
payment to the United States.  This statute is violated if a person acts with actual knowledge, or in 
deliberate ignorance or reckless disregard of the falsity of the claim.  Penalties under the Civil False 
Claims Act include fines of up to $11,000 per claim, plus treble damages, potentially resulting in 
penalties for ongoing claims submission errors in the range of millions of dollars.  Under the federal 
Criminal False Claims Act, anyone who knowingly makes a false statement or representation in any claim 
to the Medicare or Medicaid programs is subject as well to fines and imprisonment. 

In addition, the Civil Money Penalties Law under the Social Security Act (“CMP Law”) provides 
for the imposition of civil money penalties against any person who submits a claim to Medicare, 
Medicaid or any other federal health care program that the person knows or should know is for items or 
services not provided as claimed, is false or fraudulent, is for services provided by an unlicensed or 
uncertified physician or by an excluded person, or represents a pattern of claims that are based on a 
billing code higher than the level of service provided or are for services that are not medically necessary.  
Penalties under the CMP Law include up to $50,000 for each item or service claimed, and damages of up 
to three times the amount claimed for each item or service, and exclusion from participation in the federal 
health care programs. 

The Civil False Claims Act includes “whistleblower” provisions under which anyone who 
believes that a person is violating the Civil False Claims Act can file a sealed complaint against that 
person in the name of the United States government.  The nature of the allegations is not revealed to the 
target during the time the Justice Department investigates the complaint and determines whether to join in 
the suit.  If the Justice Department decides not to join in the suit, the original complainant can nonetheless 
proceed.  In either event, if the case is successful, the whistleblower is entitled to between 15 and 30% of 
the proceeds of any fines or damages paid.  Although the Civil False Claims Act has been in effect for 
many years, in recent years there has been a significant increase in the number of whistleblower 
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allegations filed under the Civil False Claims Act, a large number of which involve the healthcare and 
pharmaceutical industries. 

The threats of large monetary penalties and exclusion from participation in Medicare, Medicaid 
and other federal health care programs, and the significant costs of mounting a defense, create serious 
pressures on providers who are targets of false claims actions or investigations to settle.  Therefore, an 
action under the Civil or Criminal False Claims Acts or CMP Law could have an adverse financial impact 
on Mayo Clinic and its affiliates, regardless of the merits of the case. 

“Fraud and Abuse” Laws and Regulations.  Federal law (known as the “Anti-Kickback Law”) 
prohibits the knowing and willful offer, solicitation, payment or receipt of remuneration in exchange for 
or as an inducement to make or influence a referral of a patient for goods or services, or the purchase, 
lease, order or arrangement for the provision of goods or services, that may be reimbursed under 
Medicare, Medicaid or other health benefit programs funded by the federal government.  The scope of the 
Anti-Kickback Law is very broad, and it potentially implicates many practices and arrangements common 
in the health care industry, including space and equipment leases, personal services contracts, purchase of 
physician practices, joint ventures, and relationships with vendors.  Penalties for violation of the Anti-
Kickback Law include criminal prosecution, criminal fines of up to $25,000, civil penalties of up to 
$50,000 per violation, as well as exclusion from the federal health care programs. 

Federal “safe harbor” regulations describe certain arrangements that will not be deemed to 
constitute violations of the Anti-Kickback Law.  The safe harbors, however, are narrow and do not cover 
a wide range of economic relationships that many hospitals, physicians and other health care providers 
have historically considered to be legitimate business arrangements not prohibited by the Anti-Kickback 
Law.  Because the safe harbor regulations do not purport to describe comprehensively all lawful or 
unlawful economic arrangements or other relationships between health care providers and referral 
sources, it is uncertain whether hospitals, physicians and other health care providers that have these 
arrangements or relationships may need to alter them in order to ensure compliance with the Anti-
Kickback Law.  Failure to comply with a safe harbor, however, does not mean an arrangement necessarily 
violates the Anti-Kickback Law. 

The most recent safe harbors to the existing anti-kickback regulations include one protecting 
certain arrangements involving the distribution of electronic prescribing technology to physicians and 
another protecting the provision of information technology necessary to create electronic health records.  
The safe harbor pertaining to prescribing technology classifies technology necessary and used solely to 
receive and transmit any prescription information as protected non-monetary remuneration.  The safe 
harbor involving electronic health records software protects arrangements that provide physicians with 
information technology and training services necessary and used predominantly to create, maintain, 
transmit, or receive electronic health records. 

Although the Anti-Kickback Law applies only to health benefit programs funded by the federal 
government, a number of states have passed similar laws pursuant to which similar types of prohibitions 
are made applicable to other health plans or third party payors. 

Because the safe harbor exceptions are narrowly drawn and the scarcity of case law interpreting 
the Anti-Kickback Law, there can be no assurances that Mayo Clinic or its affiliates will not be found to 
be in violation of the Anti-Kickback Law.  If such a violation were found, any sanctions imposed could 
have a material adverse effect upon the future operations and financial condition of Mayo Clinic and its 
affiliates. 

Restrictions on Self-Referrals.  Current federal law (the “Stark Law”) prohibits a physician who 
has a financial relationship with an entity that provides certain designated health services from referring 
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Medicare patients to that entity for the provision of such designated health services, with limited 
exceptions.  The Stark Law designated health services include physical therapy services, occupational 
therapy services, radiology or other diagnostic services (including MRIs, CT scans and ultrasound 
procedures), durable medical equipment, radiation therapy services, parenteral and enteral nutrients, 
equipment and supplies, prosthetics, orthotics and prosthetic devices, home health services, outpatient 
prescription drugs, and inpatient, outpatient hospital services., clinical laboratory services and diagnostic 
and therapeutic nuclear medicine services.  The Stark Law also prohibits an entity that receives a 
prohibited referral from filing a claim or billing for the services arising out of that prohibited referral. 

Unlike the Anti-Kickback Law, which is an intent-based statute, the Stark Law absolutely 
prohibits specific referral arrangements and the accompanying claims for payment from Medicare or 
Medicaid by the provider unless an exception applies.  Sanctions for violations of the Stark Law include 
refunds of the amounts collected for services rendered pursuant to a prohibited referral, civil money 
penalties of up to $15,000 for each claim arising out of such referral, plus up to three times the 
reimbursement claimed, and exclusion from the Medicare and Medicaid programs.  The Stark Law also 
provides for a civil penalty of up to $100,000 for entering into an arrangement with the intent of 
circumventing its provisions.  In addition, knowing violation of the Stark Law may also serve as the basis 
for liability under the False Claims Act.  The types of financial arrangements between a physician and an 
entity that trigger the self-referral prohibitions of the Stark Law are broad, and include ownership ad 
investment interests and compensation arrangements. 

The December 2007 implementation of Part II, Phase III of the Stark Law (“Phase III”) placed 
greater restriction on financial relationships between physicians and entities providing designated health 
services.  Phase III greatly reduced the ability for a physician to seek the protection of the indirect 
compensation exception to the Stark Law.  Rather, physicians and providers of designated health services 
will be deemed to transact directly.  Any Phase III compliant relationship between the two must meet a 
separate exception. Independent contracting physicians, likewise, must become party to transactions.  
Restrictions on physician recruitment have been tightened and the fair market value standard for 
transactions with academic medical centers have been clarified. 

On August 19, 2008, Phase IV of the Stark Law regulations (“Phase IV”) was published, which 
modified and set forth further requirements for compliance with the Stark Law, including among other 
matters, indirect ownership interests of physicians, arrangements that hospitals maintain with physicians 
for services and percentage-based compensation agreements.  Phase IV was based on various proposed 
rules first published in the 2008 Medicare Physician Fee Schedule and the 2009 IPPS proposed rules.   
Some provisions of Phase IV became effective on October 1, 2008, while others will become effective on 
October 1, 2009 in order to allow sufficient time to restructure certain relationships to comply with the 
new requirements.  The Start III and the Phase IV rules will have a significant effect on Mayo Clinic and 
its affiliates and may require that various business models be modified to comply with the new 
requirements. 

Although the Stark Law only applies to Medicare, a number of states (including Minnesota) have 
passed similar statutes pursuant to which similar types of prohibitions are made applicable to all other 
health plans or third-party payors.  Minnesota law provides that the Commissioner on Health may audit 
the referral patterns of providers that qualify for Stark Law exceptions and that the Commissioner shall 
report to the state legislature any audit results that reveal a pattern of referrals by a provider for the 
furnishing of health services to ay entity with which the provider has a direct or indirect financial 
relationship.  This audit authority extends to all health care services rather than just Stark Law designated 
health services.  In 2004, the Minnesota Legislature enacted a statute requiring patients be informed in 
writing prior to receiving a referral to a hospital, outpatient surgical center, diagnostic imaging facility or 
any affiliates thereof, if the referring provider has an economic interest or an employment or contractual 
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arrangement with such facility.  In addition, a written notice of the relationship must be posted in the 
patient reception area, waiting room, or other conspicuous public location within the provider’s facility. 

Because of the complexity of the Stark Law, including Phase III and Phase IV, and the evolving 
nature of quality improvement and cost-reduction efforts, there can be no assurances that Mayo Clinic and 
its affiliates will not be found to have violated the Stark Law.  If such violation were found to have 
occurred, any sanctions imposed could have a material adverse effect upon the future operations and 
financial condition of Mayo Clinic and its affiliates. 

Expanded Enforcement Activity.  Congress enacted The Health Insurance Portability and 
Accountability Act of 1996 (“HIPAA”) as part of a broad health care reform effort.  Among other things, 
HIPAA established a program administered jointly by the Secretary of HHS and the United States 
Attorney General designed to coordinate federal, state and local law enforcement programs to control 
fraud and abuse in connection with the federal health care programs.  In addition, Congress greatly 
increased funding for health care fraud enforcement activity, enabling the OIG to substantially expand its 
investigative staff and the Federal Bureau of Investigation to plan to quadruple the number of agents 
assigned to health care fraud.  The result has been a dramatic increase in the number of civil, criminal and 
administrative prosecutions for alleged violations of the laws relating to payment under the federal health 
care programs, including the Anti-Kickback Law and the Civil and Criminal False Claims Acts.  This 
expanded enforcement activity, together with the whistleblower provisions of the Civil False Claims Act, 
have significantly increased the likelihood that all health care providers, including Mayo Clinic and its 
affiliates, could face inquiries or investigations concerning compliance with the many laws governing 
claims for payment and cost reporting under the federal health care programs. 

The HITECH Act.  ARRA included the Health Information Technology for Economic and 
Clinical Health Act (“HITECH Act”), which contains a number of provisions which affect the HIPAA 
privacy regulations.  The HITECH Act establishes a temporary safe harbor for the amount of information 
that can be disclosed to third parties for non-treatment purposes to meet the “minimum necessary” 
standard, which is a requirement that the covered entity disclose only the amount of information 
necessary to accomplish the intended purpose of the disclosure.  The safe harbor will limit the 
information disclosed to the “limited data set” as defined under existing HIPAA regulations, which is 
information that excludes names, postal addresses, telephone and fax numbers, e-mail addresses, social 
security and medical record numbers, and nine other identifiers.  The Secretary of HHS is directed to 
publish guidance to covered entities on what constitutes “minimum necessary”, and when such guidance 
is published, the safe harbor described above will no longer be applicable. 

Covered entities that use an “electronic health record” will also be required to account for 
disclosures of information that are currently not subject to the accounting requirements, including 
disclosures for treatment, payment and health care operations, beginning as early as January 1, 2011, 
depending on when the covered entity acquired the electronic health record technology.  The covered 
entity will have the option of accounting for all disclosures, including disclosures made by its business 
associates and itself, or providing an accounting of only the covered entity’s disclosures, with a list of the 
names and contact information of its business associates, so that a patient may request the information 
directly from each business associate.  In addition, if a covered entity maintains an electronic health 
record, individuals have a right to receive a copy of the protected health information maintained in the 
record in an electronic format.  Again, the Secretary of HHS is charged with developing guidance and 
implementing regulations for these requirements. 

The HITECH Act also includes provisions requiring covered entities to agree to a patient request 
to restrict disclosure of information to a health plan for the purposes of carrying out payment or health 
care operations, if the information pertains solely to an item or service for which the provider was paid 
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out of pocket in full; a prohibition on the direct or indirect payment or receipt of remuneration in 
exchange for protected health information without specific patient authorization, except in limited 
circumstances, such as the sale of a business; and additional restrictions on the use and disclosures of 
protected health information for marketing communications and fundraising communications made on or 
after February 17, 2010. 

The HITECH Act provides that all of the HIPAA security administrative, physical and technical 
safeguards, as well as security policies, procedures and documentation requirements will now apply 
directly to all business associates.  In addition, the HITECH Act makes certain privacy provisions directly 
applicable to business associates.  These changes are significant because business associates will now be 
directly regulated by HHS for those requirements, and as a result, will be subject to penalties imposed by 
HHS and/or state attorney general. 

The HITECH Act revises the civil monetary penalties associated with violations of HIPAA, as 
well as provides state attorneys general with authority to enforce the HIPAA privacy and security 
regulations in some cases, through a damages assessment of $100 per violation or an injunction against 
the violator.  The revised civil monetary penalty provisions establish a tiered system, ranging from a 
minimum of $100 per violation for an unknowing violation to $1,000 per violation for a violation due to 
reasonable cause, but not willful neglect.  For a violation due to willful neglect, the penalty is a minimum 
of $10,000 or $50,000 per violation, depending on whether the violation was corrected within 30 days of 
the date the violator knew or should have known of the violation.  The new levels of civil monetary 
penalties apply immediately.  Further, the HITECH Act requires HHS to promulgate a regulation to 
distribute a portion of civil monetary penalty proceeds directly to harmed individuals which may serve as 
an incentive for individuals to file complaints. 

In addition, if through preliminary information HHS determines that a violation was likely due to 
willful neglect, it must conduct an investigation.  If founded, HHS is then required to impose a penalty on 
the violator.  The willful neglect provisions will become effective for penalties imposed on or after 
February 17, 2011, after HHS has had an opportunity to promulgate implementing regulations. 

Emergency Medical Treatment and Active Labor Act.  Congress enacted the Emergency 
Medical Treatment and Active Labor Act (“EMTALA”), in response to allegations of inappropriate 
hospital transfers of indigent and uninsured emergency patients.  EMTALA imposes strict requirements 
on hospitals in the treatment and transfer of patients with emergency medical conditions. 

EMTALA requires hospitals to provide a medical screening examination to any individual who 
comes to the hospital’s emergency department for treatment, without regard to ability to pay, to determine 
whether the individual suffers from an emergency medical condition within the meaning of EMTALA.  A 
participating hospital may not delay providing a medical screening examination in order to inquire about 
method of payment or insurance status.  If an emergency medical condition is present, the hospital must 
provide such additional medical examination and treatment as may be required to stabilize the emergency 
medical condition.  If the hospital deems it in the best interest of the individual to transfer the individual 
to another medical facility, the treating physician must execute a transfer certificate complying with the 
standards of EMTALA and must provide a medically appropriate transfer. 

In regulations, CMS has extended the application of EMTALA beyond the hospital emergency 
department to any individual who is on hospital property and requests an examination or treatment, 
including individuals who are anywhere on the hospital’s main campus, in a hospital owned ambulance, 
or in a facility off the main campus that has been determined by CMS to be a department of the hospital.  
Off-campus departments might include, for example, urgent care centers, primary care clinics and 
physical therapy and radiology facilities.  These regulations have been narrowed somewhat to clarify that 
while off-campus departments are obligated to comply with EMTALA, hospitals are not required to 
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locate additional personnel to off-campus departments to be on standby for possible emergencies.  Rather, 
in those cases where the necessary emergency personnel are not routinely present on-site, appropriate 
protocols for the handling of emergency cases (for example, contact with the main hospital campus for 
direction, or transfer to an appropriate facility), must be established. 

EMTALA imposes significant costs on hospitals, including the costs of treatment of individuals 
who may not be able to pay for such services, costs of development and implementation of protocols 
concerning medical screening examinations and stabilization and appropriate transfers and, in some cases, 
costs associated with assuring on-call availability of specialty physicians.  In addition, the expansion of 
the requirements of EMTALA to off-campus departments may result in significant costs in the training of 
personnel and the development of protocols for screening, stabilization and transportation of patients. 

If a hospital violates EMTALA, whether knowingly and willfully or negligently, it is subject to a 
civil money penalty of up to $50,000 per violation.  Failure to satisfy the requirements of EMTALA may 
also result in termination of the hospital’s provider agreement with Medicare.  In addition, EMTALA 
creates a private cause of action for individuals who suffer personal harm as a result of an EMTALA 
violation, and for any hospital that suffers financial loss as a result of another hospital’s violation of 
EMTALA.  Enforcement activity with respect to EMTALA violations has increased dramatically in 
recent years, and because of the broad interpretation of the reach of EMTALA, there can be no assurance 
that Mayo Clinic will not have been found to have violated EMTALA, and if such a violation were found, 
that any sanctions imposed would not have a material adverse effect upon the future operations and 
financial condition of Mayo Clinic and its affiliates. 

Quality Reporting Requirements.  The DRA introduced significant new quality reporting 
initiatives for hospitals.  Under the DRA, Mayo Clinic and its affiliates would be required to submit 
quality performance measures; the penalty for hospitals not reporting quality measures is a reduction in 
federal funding totaling market basket minus 0.4 percent.  Going forward, hospitals that continue to not 
report quality data will experience a two percent subtraction from market basket. 

DRA Compliance Policy and Employee Training Requirements.  The DRA also established 
requirements for states participating in the Medicaid program to impose obligations on health care 
providers and others that receive at least $5 million annually in Medicaid payments to establish written 
policies and procedures to educate their employees (and certain contractors and agents) and to provide 
detailed information about the federal False Claims Act, the federal Program Fraud Civil Remedies Act, 
various other federal and state laws pertaining to civil or criminal penalties for false claims and 
statements, any whistleblower protections provided under such laws, the role of such laws in preventing 
and detecting fraud, waste and abuse, and the provider (or other party’s) policies and procedures that are 
in place for the prevention and detection of fraud, waste and abuse.  Additionally, as of January 1, 2007, 
covered health care providers and other applicable parties were required to make specific revisions to 
their existing employee handbooks to incorporate the above items, and to specifically disseminate 
pertinent information regarding these items to all employees and certain categories of contractors and 
agents making sure that covered contractors and agents agree to the adoption of certain policies and 
procedures.  Because compliance with these DRA requirements is a condition of payment under 
Medicaid, providers and other covered parties that do not adequately update their compliance policies, 
handbooks and other training materials or otherwise abide by these requirements run the risk of losing 
their entitlement to receive Medicaid reimbursements to which they otherwise would be entitled and/or 
risk potential liability under the False Claims Act and other federal and state fraud and abuse authorities. 

HIPAA’s Administrative Simplification Provisions, Electronic Healthcare Records and 
Confidentiality.  In addition to the expanded enforcement activity noted above, the “Administrative 
Simplification” provisions of HIPAA mandate the use of uniform standard electronic formats for certain 
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administrative and financial health care transactions, the adoption of minimum security standards for 
individually identifiable health information maintained or transmitted electronically, and compliance with 
privacy standards adopted to protect the confidentiality of personal health information.  The 
Administrative Simplification provisions apply to health care providers, health plans, and healthcare 
clearinghouses (collectively “Covered Entities”). 

ARRA appropriated about $20 billion for the development and implementation of health 
information technology standards and the adoption of electronic healthcare records.  The law also 
significantly expanded the HIPAA privacy and security provisions applicable to Covered Entities and 
their business associates.  The law included a notice requirement when there is a breach of unsecured 
electronic personal health information, increased the civil monetary and criminal penalties for HIPAA 
violations, and authorized the State Attorneys General to enforce its provisions.  The financial costs of 
continuing compliance with HIPAA and the Administrative Simplification regulations are substantial and 
will increase as a result of the ARRA amendments. 

HIPAA imposes civil monetary penalties for violations and criminal penalties for knowingly 
obtaining or using individually identifiable health information.  The penalties range from $50,000 to 
$250,000 and/or imprisonment if the information was obtained or used with the intent to sell, transfer or 
use the information for commercial advantage, personal gain or malicious harm. 

Mayo Clinic is actively engaged in continuing compliance efforts with HIPAA regulations.  
However, no guarantee can be made that Mayo Clinic will remain HIPAA compliant in the future. 

Environmental Laws Affecting Health Care Facilities.  Hospitals are subject to a wide variety 
of federal, state and local environmental and occupational health and safety laws and regulations that 
address, among other things, hospital operations or facilities and properties owned or operated by 
hospitals.  In their role as owners and/or operators of properties or facilities, hospitals may be subject to 
liability for investigating and remedying any hazardous substances that have come to be located on the 
property, including any such substances that may have migrated off the property.  Typical hospital 
operations include the handling, use, storage, transportation, disposal and/or discharge of hazardous, 
infectious, toxic, radioactive, flammable and other hazardous materials, wastes, pollutants, or 
contaminants.  For these reasons, hospital operations are particularly susceptible to the practical, 
financial, and legal risks associated with compliance with such laws and regulations.  Such risks may 
result in damage to individuals, property, or the environment; may interrupt operations and/or increase 
their cost; may result in legal liability, damages, injunctions or fines; or may trigger investigations, 
administrative proceedings, penalties or other governmental agency actions.  There can be no assurance 
that Mayo Clinic and its affiliates will not encounter such risks in the future, and such risks may result in 
material adverse consequences to the operations or financial condition of Mayo Clinic and its affiliates. 

Transparency in Pricing.  Recent federal legislation has been introduced that would require 
states to publicly report hospital charges for inpatient and outpatient services.  A 2006 executive order 
was issued requiring the same public reporting of cost and quality data at four federal agencies.  CMS, per 
the DRA, has made outcomes reporting a condition of Medicare participation going forward.  These 
examples illustrate a trend in which hospitals will be required to divulge proprietary information to the 
general public in order to participate in federal programs.  The disclosure of proprietary information may 
have a negative impact on Mayo Clinic’s ability to gain advantages in negotiations with payors.  This, in 
turn, could negatively influence Mayo Clinic’s revenues. 

Several bills are currently pending in the U.S. Congress and in various states requiring the public 
disclosure of all financial arrangements between hospitals, physicians and pharmaceutical and medical 
device manufacturers. 
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Due to the relative novelty of these various disclosure requirements, it is impossible to predict the 
effect, if any, that cost and outcomes reporting will have on Mayo Clinic’s finances. 

Future Federal Legislation.  Mayo Clinic anticipates that the federal government’s health care 
reform initiatives will result in substantial new legislation, regulation, and other actions that will continue 
the trend toward reduced reimbursement for hospital services and more pervasive regulation of 
operations.  At present, no determination can be made concerning whether, or in what form, such 
legislation could be introduced and enacted into law.  Similarly, the impact of future cost control 
programs and future regulations upon the forecasted financial performance of Mayo Clinic and its 
affiliates cannot be determined at this time. 

Any future changes to the Medicare and Medicaid programs could result in substantial reductions 
in the amounts of Medicare and Medicaid payments to hospital providers in the future, which could 
substantially reduce the revenues available to Mayo Clinic and its affiliates, and any reduction in the 
levels of payment in these government payment programs could substantially adversely affect Mayo 
Clinic’s financial condition and its ability to fulfill its obligations. 

Regulatory Inquiries 

The laws and regulations governing federal reimbursement programs and the laws governing the 
healthcare industry generally (such as the Civil and Criminal False Claims Acts, the Civil Money 
Penalties Law, the Anti-Kickback Law and the Stark Law) are complex and subject to varying 
interpretations, and Mayo Clinic and its affiliates are subject to contractual reviews and program audits in 
the normal course of business.  Penalties for violations of federal regulations governing healthcare 
providers can be severe, including treble damages, fines, and suspension from federal reimbursement 
programs such as Medicare and Medicaid.  Federal agencies have initiated nationwide investigations into 
several areas of concern, including, among others:  (a) teaching hospitals, (b) home healthcare services, 
(c) investigational devices, (d) laboratory billing, and (e) cost reporting.  Mayo Clinic expects that the 
level of review and audit to which it and other healthcare providers are subject will increase. 

In contrast to a government-imposed corporate compliance plan that may be instituted pursuant to 
the federal government’s investigation of a health care provider, a voluntary corporate compliance plan is 
instituted by a health care provider to, among other things, put into place effective internal controls that 
promote adherence to various federal and state laws regulating the health care industry.  The Office of 
Inspector General’s Compliance Program Guidance for Hospitals was released in February 1998 and 
supplemented in January 2005.  The OIG believes that the adoption and implementation of voluntary 
compliance programs by hospitals significantly advances the prevention of fraud, abuse and waste in 
federal, state and private health plans.  In fact, the OIG may consider the existence of an effective 
compliance plan, that is instituted before a governmental investigation, when negotiating a settlement 
with a health care provider.  Mayo Clinic has compliance programs that are designed to detect and correct 
potential violations of laws and regulations applicable to its programs. 

Regulatory authorities have discretion to assert claims for noncompliance with applicable 
requirements based upon their interpretation of those requirements.  Because these complex program 
requirements are subject to varying interpretations and because, in some instances (e.g., the Anti-
Kickback Law and the Stark Law), there is little clear regulatory or judicial guidance, there can be no 
assurance that regulatory authorities will not challenge Mayo Clinic’s compliance with these requirements 
and assert claims or penalties, and it is not possible to determine the impact (if any) any such claims or 
penalties would have upon Mayo Clinic and its affiliates. 

Like other healthcare, educational and research institutions that have contracts with the federal 
government, Mayo Clinic and its affiliates may be subject from time to time to other regulatory inquiries, 
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whistleblower complaints under the Civil False Claims Act and other similar investigations.  It is not 
possible to assess the merits of any such inquiries or investigations, complaints or inquiries at this point 
and, in any event, no assurances can be given as to what the impact of any such investigations, complaints 
or inquiries would have upon the operations or consolidated financial position of Mayo Clinic and its 
affiliates. 

Tax Exemption for Nonprofit Corporations 

Loss of tax-exempt status by the Hospital or by Mayo Clinic could result in loss of tax exemption 
of interest on the Bonds and of other tax-exempt debt issued for the benefit of Mayo Clinic and its 
affiliates, and defaults in covenants regarding the Bonds and other related tax-exempt debt could be 
triggered.  Such an event would have material adverse consequences on the financial condition of Mayo 
Clinic. 

The maintenance by the Hospital and by Mayo Clinic of their respective tax-exempt status 
depends, in part, upon maintaining their status as an organization described in Section 501(c)(3) of the 
Code.  Maintaining that status is contingent upon compliance with general rules promulgated in the Code 
and related regulations regarding the organization and operation of tax-exempt entities, including their 
operation for charitable and educational purposes and their avoidance of transactions that would cause 
their assets to inure to the benefit of private persons.  The Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) indicated that 
it intends to issue “compliance checks” relating to post-issuance compliance of tax exempt bonds issued 
for exempt organizations. 

The IRS has also has announced that it intends to closely scrutinize transactions between 
nonprofit organizations and for-profit entities, and in particular has issued audit guidelines for tax-exempt 
hospitals.  Although specific activities of hospitals, such as medical office building leases and 
compensation arrangements and other contracts with physicians, have been the subject of interpretations 
by the IRS in the form of private letter rulings, many activities have not been addressed in any official 
opinion, interpretation or policy of the IRS.  Because Mayo Clinic and its affiliates conduct large scale 
and diverse operations involving private parties, there can be no assurances that certain of their 
transactions would not be challenged by the IRS. 

The IRS has taken the position that hospitals that are in violation of the Anti-Kickback Law also 
may be subject to revocation of their federal tax-exempt status.  As a result, tax-exempt entities such as 
Mayo Clinic and its nonprofit affiliates that have, and will continue to have, extensive transactions with 
physicians are subject to an increased degree of scrutiny and perhaps enforcement by the IRS. 

The Taxpayer Bill of Rights 2 (the “Intermediate Sanctions Law”) allows the IRS to impose 
“intermediate sanctions” against certain individuals in circumstances involving the violation by tax-
exempt organizations of the prohibition against private inurement.  Prior to the enactment of the 
Intermediate Sanctions Law, the only sanction available to the IRS was revocation of an organization’s 
tax-exempt status. 

Intermediate sanctions may be imposed in situations in which a “disqualified person” (such as an 
“insider”) (a) engages in a transaction with a tax-exempt organization on other than a fair market value 
basis, (b) receives unreasonable compensation from a tax-exempt organization, or (c) receives payment in 
an arrangement that violates the prohibition against private inurement.  These transactions are referred to 
as “excess benefit transactions.” 

A disqualified person who benefits from an excess benefit transaction will be subject to an excise 
tax equal to 25% of the amount of the excess benefit.  Organizational managers who participate in the 
excess benefit transaction knowing it to be improper are subject to an excise tax equal to 10% of the 
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amount of the excess benefit, subject to a maximum penalty of $10,000.  A second penalty, in the amount 
of 200% of the excess benefit, may be imposed on the disqualified person (but not on the organizational 
manager) if the excess benefit is not corrected within a specified period of time. 

In March 1998, the IRS issued a revenue ruling providing guidance on joint ventures between 
nonprofit and for-profit health care entities.  The revenue ruling provides generally that a nonprofit 
hospital must retain control over certain of the key aspects of such a joint venture (e.g., control of the 
governing body of the joint venture, change in types of services offered, etc.) in order to assure that the 
joint venture’s activities are treated as primarily furthering the exempt purposes of the nonprofit, 
charitable organization.  It is not possible at this point to determine whether the IRS guidelines for joint 
ventures will restrict the ability of Mayo Clinic to enter into joint ventures with for-profit entities. 

The tax-exempt status of nonprofit corporations, and the exclusion of income earned by them 
from taxation, has been the subject of review by various federal, state and local legislative, regulatory and 
judicial bodies.  This review has included proposals to broaden and strengthen existing federal tax law 
with respect to unrelated business income of nonprofit corporations. 

Bills have been introduced in Congress that would require a tax exempt hospital to provide a 
certain amount of charity care and care to Medicare and Medicaid patients in order to maintain its tax-
exempt status and avoid the imposition of an excise tax.  Other proposed legislation would condition a 
hospital’s tax-exempt status on the delivery of adequate levels of charity care.  Such bills have not been 
enacted.  However, there can be no assurance that similar legislative proposals or judicial actions will not 
be adopted in the future. 

The Subcommittee on Oversight of the United States House of Representatives Ways and Means 
Committee has considered options and recommendations in the area of taxation of unrelated business 
income of nonprofit organizations.  Hearings have been held on these options and recommendations and 
legislation may be drafted to clarify and strengthen existing law with respect to the unrelated business 
income tax.  The scope and effect of legislation, if any, that may be adopted at the federal and state levels 
with respect to unrelated business income cannot be predicted.  Any such legislation could have the effect 
of subjecting a portion of a hospital’s income to federal or state income taxes. 

It is not possible to predict the scope or effect of future legislative or regulatory actions with 
respect to federal, state or local taxation of nonprofit corporations.  There can be no assurance that future 
changes in the laws and regulations of the federal, state or local governments or audits or examinations of 
the activities of Mayo Clinic and its affiliates by one or more taxing authorities will not materially and 
adversely affect the future operations and revenues of Mayo Clinic and its affiliates by requiring them to 
pay income, sales or real estate taxes or to make payments in lieu of such taxes. 

The IRS is conducting an examination of Mayo Clinic and certain of its affiliates pursuant to the 
IRS’s Exempt Organizations Team Examination Program.  The examination is currently ongoing and 
Mayo Clinic is cooperating with IRS representatives.  Although Mayo Clinic believes the examination 
will not have a material adverse effect on the financial condition of Mayo Clinic, no such assurances can 
be given until the examination itself is complete. 

The loss by Mayo Clinic and/or its nonprofit affiliates or by the Hospital of federal tax exemption 
could also result in a challenge to the state tax exemption of these organizations.  A loss of state nonprofit 
status could impose additional costs, possibly material, on the affected affiliates and could result in the 
loss of real estate and other state tax exemptions for Mayo Clinic and its nonprofit affiliates. 
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Other Legislative and Regulatory Actions 

Mayo Clinic and its affiliates are subject to regulation, certification and accreditation by various 
federal, state and local government agencies and by certain nongovernmental agencies such as the Joint 
Commission and the American Medical Association.  No assurance can be given as to the effect on future 
hospital operations of existing laws, regulations and standards for certification or accreditation or of any 
future changes in such laws, regulations and standards. 

Legislative proposals which could have an adverse effect on Mayo Clinic and its affiliates 
include:  (a) any change in the taxation of not for profit corporations or in the scope of their exemption 
from income or property taxes; (b) limitations on the amount or availability of tax-exempt financing for 
charitable organizations described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Code; (c) regulatory limitations affecting 
the ability of Mayo Clinic and its affiliates to undertake capital projects or develop new services; and (d) a 
requirement that nonprofit health care institutions pay real estate property tax and sales tax on the same 
basis as for-profit entities.  Mayo Clinic currently pays real estate taxes on those of its clinic facilities (or 
portions of facilities) in Rochester, Minnesota which are not used for its educational or research activities.  
The Hospital claims an exemption for local and real estate taxes on hospital property, but is not permitted 
under Wisconsin law to claim an exemption on clinical space. 

State Tax Exemptions for Nonprofit Corporations 

Challenges to Real Property Tax Exemptions.  The real property tax exemptions afforded to 
certain nonprofit healthcare providers by state and local taxing authorities have been challenged on the 
theory that the healthcare providers were not engaged in charitable activities.  These challenges have been 
based on a variety of grounds, including allegations of aggressive billing and collection practices and 
excessive financial margins.  While Mayo Clinic is not aware of any current challenge to the tax 
exemption afforded to any material real property of any of its nonprofit affiliates, there can be no 
assurance that these types of challenges will not occur in the future. 

State and Local Tax Exemption.  Until recently, states have not been as active as the IRS in 
scrutinizing the income tax exemption of health care organizations.  Legislation that would result in 
further regulation and supervision of nonprofit corporations generally are from time to time in state 
legislatures.  The loss by Mayo Clinic or one of its nonprofit affiliates of federal tax exemption could very 
well trigger a challenge to its state tax exemption.  Depending on the circumstances, such a challenge, if 
successful, could be material and adverse. 

State and local taxing authorities undertake audits and reviews of the operations of tax-exempt 
health care providers with respect to their real property tax exemptions.  In some cases, particularly where 
authorities are dissatisfied with the amount of services provided to indigents, the real property tax exempt 
status of the health care providers has been questioned.  The majority of the real property of Mayo Clinic 
and its nonprofit affiliates is currently treated as exempt from real property taxation.  Although the real 
property tax exemption with respect to its core facilities has not, to the knowledge of management, been 
under challenge or investigation, an audit could lead to a challenge that could adversely affect the real 
property tax exemption of Mayo Clinic and its nonprofit affiliates. 

It is not possible to predict the scope or effect of future legislative or regulatory actions with 
respect to taxation of nonprofit corporations.  There can be no assurance that future changes in the laws 
and regulations of state or local governments will not materially adversely affect the consolidated 
financial condition of Mayo Clinic and its affiliates by requiring payment of income, local property or 
other taxes. 
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Antitrust 

Mayo Clinic and its affiliates, like other providers of health care services, are subject to antitrust 
laws.  Those laws generally prohibit agreements that restrain trade and prohibit the acquisition or 
maintenance of a monopoly through anticompetitive practices.  The legality of particular conduct under 
the antitrust laws generally depends on the specific facts and circumstances and, in some circumstances, 
cannot be predicted in advance.  Antitrust actions against health care providers have become increasingly 
common in recent years.  Antitrust liability can arise in a number of different contexts, including medical 
staff privilege disputes, third-party payor contracting, joint ventures and affiliations between health care 
providers, and mergers and acquisitions by health care providers.  Actions can be brought by federal and 
state enforcement agencies seeking criminal and civil penalties and, in some instances, by private 
plaintiffs seeking damages for harm from allegedly anticompetitive behavior. 

Recent judicial decisions have permitted physicians who are subject to disciplinary or other 
adverse actions by a hospital at which they practice, including denial or revocation of medical staff 
privileges, to seek treble damages from the hospital under the federal antitrust laws.  The Federal Health 
Care Quality Improvement Act of 1986 provides immunity from liability for discipline of physicians by 
hospitals under certain circumstances, but courts have differed over the nature and scope of this 
immunity.  In addition, hospitals occasionally indemnify medical staff members who incur costs as 
defendants in lawsuits involving medical staff privilege decisions.  Recent court decisions have also 
permitted recovery by competitors claiming harm from a hospital’s use of its market power to obtain 
unfair competitive advantage in expanding into ancillary health care businesses.  Antitrust liability in any 
of these contexts can be substantial, depending upon the facts and circumstances involved. 

In 1993, the United States Department of Justice and the Federal Trade Commission issued 
“Statements of Antitrust Enforcement Policy in the Health Care Area.”  These statements were revised in 
1994, and again in 1996.  The statements generally describe certain analytical principles which the 
agencies will apply to certain factual situations and also establish certain “antitrust safety zones.”  
Conduct within the safety zones will not be challenged by the agencies, absent extraordinary 
circumstances.  Many activities frequently engaged in by health care providers fall outside of the zones 
but are not challenged, and failure to fall within a safety zone does not mean that a participant will be 
investigated or prosecuted, or even that the activity violated the antitrust laws.  There cannot be any 
assurances that enforcement authorities or private parties will not assert that Mayo Clinic or its affiliates, 
or any transaction in which they are involved, are in violation of the antitrust laws. 

Licensing, Surveys and Accreditations 

Health care facilities, including the Hospital, Mayo Clinic and Mayo Clinic’s other affiliates, are 
subject to numerous legal, regulatory, professional and private licensing, certification and accreditation 
requirements.  Those requirements include, but are not limited to, requirements relating to Medicare and 
Medicaid participation and payment, state licensing agencies, private payors, the Joint Commission, the 
National Labor Relations Board and other federal, state and local government agencies.  Renewal and 
continuance of certain of these licenses, certifications and accreditations is based on inspections, surveys, 
audits, investigations or other reviews.  These activities are generally conducted in the normal course of 
business of health care facilities.  Nevertheless, an adverse result could be the cause of loss or reduction in 
a facility’s scope of licensure, certification or accreditation or reduce payments received.  Mayo Clinic 
currently expects to renew or maintain all currently held licenses, certifications and accreditations.  
However, there can be no assurance that the requirements of present or future laws, regulations, 
certifications, and licenses will not materially and adversely affect the operations of Mayo Clinic. 



 

44 

Medical Professional Liability Insurance Market 

Deteriorating underwriting results have generated substantial premium increases and coverage 
reductions in the medical professional liability insurance marketplace in recent years.  A rise in claim 
severity nationwide coupled with the lower investment returns available to insurers have resulted in 
substantial reductions in medical professional liability insurance capacity.  Several major medical 
professional liability insurance carriers have been forced into rehabilitation and/or liquidation, or have 
voluntarily withdrawn from this line of business.  The insurance carriers who are still writing medical 
professional liability coverage are requiring substantial premium increases, reductions in the breadth of 
coverage afforded by the policy(ies), more stringently enforced policy terms, and increases in required 
deductibles or self-insured retentions.  Health care entities that have self-funded programs are also 
experiencing similar difficulties with respect to fronting carriers, reinsurance on their captive insurance 
companies and/or with respect to insurance placements excess of the primary coverage layers.  
Furthermore, insurance carrier insolvencies are forcing health care providers to either repurchase 
insurance coverage from new carriers at substantially higher rates, or self insure exposures for which they 
had previously purchased insurance. 

Mayo Clinic maintains a formal program of self-insurance for the financial risk of professional 
liability at Mayo’s clinical and hospital sites.  Some of Mayo Clinic’s affiliates obtain professional 
liability coverage through Mayo Insurance Company Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of Mayo Clinic.  
There can be no assurance that the unpredictability and increasing severity of jury awards and claims 
payouts will not adversely affect the operations or financial condition of Mayo Clinic.  See Appendix A. 

Nationwide Nursing Shortage 

The health care industry is facing a nationwide shortage of nursing professionals, including 
registered nurses.  A shortage of nursing staff could result in escalating labor costs, delays in providing 
care, and patient care management issues, among other adverse effects.  Although legislation has been 
introduced at both the state and federal level to mitigate the impact of the existing and projected nursing 
shortages, there can be no assurance that a nursing shortage will not adversely affect the operations or 
financial condition of Mayo Clinic. 

The Employee Free Choice Act 

The Employee Free Choice Act (“EFCA”) was re-introduced in the House and Senate in March 
2009. If passed in its current form, EFCA amends the National Labor Relations Act (“NLRA”) and 
authorizes the National Labor Relations Board (“NLRB”) to certify a union as the exclusive bargaining 
representative of employees based on valid authorization cards signed by a majority of employees in the 
proposed bargaining unit alone (known as the “card check” process). The card check provisions mandate 
recognition of the union if more than 50 percent of the workers in the bargaining unit sign authorization 
cards. Secret ballot elections, now used to determine a union’s majority status, would become largely 
obsolete. 

EFCA also would change the process of how the parties’ negotiate their first contract. The bill 
establishes a 120-day period for the parties to reach an initial agreement. If unsuccessful after 90 days, 
either party may notify the Federal Mediation and Conciliation Service and request mediation. If 
mediation is unsuccessful after 30 days, the dispute will be referred to binding interest arbitration. The 
arbitration board will determine the terms of the collective bargaining agreement, which will be binding 
on the parties for two years. 

EFCA provides increased penalties for violations of the NLRA committed by employers during 
any period when employees are attempting to organize a union or negotiate a first contract with the 
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employer. EFCA requires the NLRB to seek a federal court injunction against an employer for unfair 
labor practices and provides damages of back pay plus two times that amount as liquidated damages to an 
employee who is discharged or discriminated against during these periods. It also provides for civil fines 
up to $20,000 per violation against employers found to have willfully or repeatedly violated employees’ 
rights. 

If EFCA becomes law in its current form, nurses and other healthcare workers may be 
encouraged to organize and seek a collective bargaining agreement.  These activities may result in 
substantial increases over the current labor costs of Mayo Clinic and its affiliates. 

Competition 

Mayo Clinic may experience increased competition from physician-owned specialty hospitals and 
from physicians who provide outpatient services that are ancillary to their day-to-day practices.  While 
attempts to permanently enforce a ban on physician referrals and to restrict development of specialty 
hospitals have failed to this point, ongoing legislative efforts continue.  There can be no guarantee that 
such legislation will not be enacted, either temporarily or permanently, in the future.  Accordingly, while 
specialty hospitals represent a competitive threat to general acute care hospitals, the exact nature of this 
competitive threat is not entirely clear at this time, and depends largely upon future legislative and 
regulatory action. 

Physicians increasingly offer outpatient ancillary services that compete with certain services 
offered by hospitals.  Further, Mayo Clinic competes for patient volume with an increasing number of for-
profit hospitals. 

Considerations Relating to Additional Debt 

The Guarantee permits Mayo Clinic or its subsidiaries to incur additional indebtedness or to 
guarantee debt without satisfying any financial tests.  Any such indebtedness would increase Mayo 
Clinic’s debt service and repayment requirements and may adversely affect debt service coverage on the 
Bonds.  See “ADDITIONAL BONDS AND OTHER INDEBTEDNESS” and “SECURITY FOR THE 
BONDS.” 

Impact of Disruptions in the Credit Markets and General Economic Factors 

General.  The impact of the current economic crisis, including its impact on the availability of 
credit, personal, corporate and governmental revenues and the market for and interest payable on variable 
rate debt of or guaranteed by Mayo Clinic, may adversely affect Mayo Clinic’s expenses and, 
consequently, its ability pay debt service on its variable rate debt.  The current domestic and international 
financial crisis has had, and is expected to continue to have, negative repercussions upon the national and 
global economies, including a scarcity of credit, lack of confidence in the financial sector, extreme 
volatility in the financial markets, increase in interest rates, reduced business activity, increased consumer 
bankruptcies and increased business failures and bankruptcies. 

In response to the economic crisis, Congress passed, and former President George W. Bush 
signed on October 3, 2008, the Emergency Economic Stabilization Act of 2008, which authorizes the U.S. 
Treasury to purchase up to $700 billion of mortgage–debt and other securities from financial institutions 
and take other actions for the purpose of stabilizing the financial markets.  On February 17, 2009, 
President Barack Obama, signed the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009, which provides 
approximately $787 billion in federal spending and tax initiatives.  Congress, the Federal Reserve Board 
and other agencies of the federal government and foreign governments have taken various actions 
designed to enhance liquidity, improve the performance and efficiency of credit markets and generally 
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stabilize securities markets and stimulate spending.  There can be no assurance these actions will be 
effective. 

The financial crisis has had a particularly acute impact upon the financial sector in recent months, 
and has caused many banks and other financial institutions to seek additional capital, to merge, and in 
some cases, to fail.  Additionally, substantial amounts have been withdrawn from tax-exempt money 
market funds, one of the largest purchasers of variable rate tax-exempt bonds. 

The current conditions in credit markets may cause Mayo Clinic’s ability to borrow to fund 
capital expenditures to be more limited and more expensive. 

The credit market situation has also caused a number of financial institutions to restrict lending, 
including extending the term of liquidity and credit facilities.  No assurance can be given that any of the 
financial institutions currently providing liquidity facilities or credit facilities for Mayo Clinic debt will 
renew or extend those facilities or that Mayo Clinic will be able to obtain alternate liquidity for certain of 
its variable rate bonds on comparable terms. 

The recent departure of certain investment banking firms from the securities market and the 
bankruptcy of others has reduced the number of firms willing to serve as remarketing agents.  Without a 
remarketing agent, it will not be possible to remarket tendered variable rate bonds.  Withdrawal of funds 
from tax-exempt money market funds in particular has weakened demand for variable rate bonds by both 
reducing the number of buyers for such bonds while increasing the market supply of such bonds as money 
market funds liquidate their holdings to fund withdrawals. 

See APPENDIX A and in particular “Management’s Discussion” therein for specific information 
about the effects of these factors upon Mayo Clinic’s recent financial performance and financial 
condition. 

Market Value of Investments.  Earnings on investments have historically provided Mayo Clinic 
an important source of cash flow and capital appreciation to support its programs and services, to finance 
its capital expenditure investments and to build its cash reserves.  As of December 31, 2008 the market 
value of Mayo Clinic’s investments, which include cash, short term securities, fixed income securities, 
common stock, preferred stock, mutual funds and other investment assets totaled $2,779.9 million.  See 
“Management’s Discussion – Investment Program” in Appendix A for a description of Mayo Clinic’s 
investment program.  Historically, the value of both debt and equity securities has fluctuated and, during 
some periods, the fluctuations have been quite significant.  The market disruption has exacerbated the 
market fluctuations and has negatively affected the investment performance of securities in Mayo Clinic’s 
portfolio.  In 2008, Mayo Clinic experienced an investment loss of $627.7 million on its $2,660.2 million 
in investment assets.  No assurances can be given that the market value of Mayo Clinic’s investments will 
not continue to fluctuate. 

Pension Funding Impact.  Changes in market interest rates and debt and equity market 
fluctuations also potentially could have an impact on Mayo Clinic’s pension fund liabilities and its 
requirements for funding its related pension expenses (See “Management’s Discussion – Pension Fund” 
in Appendix A).  Like any other entity with pension fund liabilities, Mayo Clinic finds that increases or 
decreases in interest rates have an impact on the assumed earnings rates on pension assets needed to 
match pension fund liabilities, which accordingly affects the levels of actuarial pension investment assets 
required to meet future pension obligations.  Consequently, any substantial and sustained decline in long-
term interest rates could have the effect of increasing Mayo Clinic’s current pension funding 
requirements.  No assurance can be given that Mayo Clinic will not be required to make increased 
pension funding payments in this or other circumstances. 
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Banking Industry Risk.  Recent declines and disruption in the financial markets have affected 
and continue to affect the municipal bond market and the commercial banks, including the liquidity 
enhancers of certain of Mayo Clinic’s currently outstanding variable rate bonds (the “Existing Liquidity 
Providers”).  These developments have had a serious adverse effect on the financial condition of a 
number of financial institutions, weakening their credit status as reflected in their credit ratings.  Future 
deterioration of the financial condition of the Existing Liquidity Providers may lead to rating downgrades 
or adverse rating actions for certain of Mayo Clinic’s outstanding bonds and may result in higher interest 
rates paid by Mayo Clinic on such bonds and, therefore, have an adverse financial impact on Mayo Clinic. 

Contributions.  The economic crisis may have an adverse impact on Mayo Clinic’s total receipts 
of charitable contributions, which have historically served as a material source of support for Mayo 
Clinic’s programs and services.  Over the last three years, Mayo Clinic’s total receipts from charitable 
contributions totaled $723.2 million or an average of $241.0 million annually.  In 2008, Mayo Clinic 
received over 130,000 contributions totaling $148.8 million.  No assurances can be given that the 
economic crisis will not have a material adverse effect on Mayo Clinic’s ability to receive contributions at 
historical levels. 

Potential Effects of Bankruptcy 

If Mayo Clinic were to file a petition for relief under the federal Bankruptcy Code, the filing 
would act as an automatic stay against the commencement or continuation of judicial or other proceedings 
against the petitioner and its property. 

Any petitioner for relief may file a plan for the adjustment of its debts in a proceeding under the 
federal Bankruptcy Code which could include provisions modifying or altering the rights of creditors 
generally, or any class of them, secured or unsecured.  The plan, when confirmed by the court, would 
bind all creditors who had notice or knowledge of the plan and discharge all claims against the petitioner 
provided for in the plan.  No plan may be confirmed unless certain conditions are met, including that the 
plan is in the best interests of creditors, is feasible and has been accepted by each class of claims impaired 
thereunder.  Each class of claims will be deemed to have accepted the plan if at least two-thirds in dollar 
amount and more than one-half in number of the allowed claims of the class that are voted with respect to 
the plan are cast in its favor.  Even if the plan is not so accepted, it may be confirmed if the court finds 
that the plan is fair and equitable with respect to each class of non-accepting creditors impaired 
thereunder and does not discriminate unfairly. 

Enforceability of Certain Covenants 

The Guarantee obligates Mayo Clinic to exercise all control it may have over its subsidiaries to 
cause them to pay, loan or otherwise transfer to Mayo Clinic amounts necessary to pay debt service on the 
Bonds as the same becomes due and payable.  The agreement by Mayo Clinic may not be enforceable to 
the extent such funds (a) are requested to make payments on any Bonds issued for a purpose not 
consistent with the charitable purposes of the affiliate from which such payment is required or which are 
issued for the benefit of any entity other than a tax-exempt organization; (b) are requested to be made 
from any property which is donor restricted or which is subject to a direct or express trust which does not 
permit the use of such property of such payments; or (c) would result in the cessation or discontinuation 
of any material portion of the health-care or related services previously provided by the affiliate from 
which such payment is required.  Due to the absence of clear legal precedent in this area, the extent to 
which the property of any affiliates of Mayo Clinic currently falls within the categories referred to above 
cannot be determined and could be substantial. 

There is no clear precedent in the law as to whether transfers from an affiliate in order to pay debt 
service on bonds issued for the benefit of another affiliate may be voided by a trustee in bankruptcy in the 
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event of a bankruptcy of the transferring affiliate or pursuant to state fraudulent conveyances statutes.  
Under the United States Bankruptcy Code, a trustee in bankruptcy and, under certain state fraudulent 
conveyances statutes, a creditor of a related guarantor may avoid any obligation incurred by a related 
guarantor, if, among other factors, (a) the guarantor has not received fair consideration or reasonably 
equivalent value in exchange for the guaranty, and (b) the guaranty renders the guarantor insolvent, as 
defined in the United States Bankruptcy Code or certain state fraudulent conveyances statutes, or the 
guarantor is undercapitalized. 

Application by courts of the tests of “insolvency,” “reasonably equivalent value” and “fair 
consideration” has resulted in a conflicting body of case law.  It is possible that, in an action to force one 
Mayo affiliate to pay debt service on bonds issued for the benefit of another Mayo affiliate, a court might 
not enforce such a payment in the event it is determined that the affiliate is analogous to a guarantor, that 
fair consideration or reasonably equivalent value of such guarantee was not received and that the 
incurrence of such obligation has rendered and will render the transferring affiliate insolvent or the 
transferring affiliate is or will thereby become undercapitalized. 

There exists common law authority and authority under state statutes for the ability of the courts 
to terminate the existence of a nonprofit corporation or undertake supervision of its affairs on various 
grounds, including a finding that such corporation has insufficient assets to carry out its stated charitable 
purposes.  Such a court action may arise on the court’s own motion or pursuant to a petition of a state 
attorney general or such other persons who have interests different from those of the general public, 
pursuant to the common law and statutory power to enforce charitable trusts and to see to the application 
of their funds to their intended charitable uses. 

Other Factors 

The following, among others, may adversely affect future operations of health care, educational 
and research institutions, including Mayo Clinic and its affiliates, to an extent that cannot be determined 
at this time: 

(1) Adoption of health care reform legislation which would establish a national 
health program; 

(2) Continued availability of governmental and private funding for medical research 
activities conducted by Mayo Clinic or its affiliates; 

(3) Increased medical malpractice claims (affecting Mayo Clinic and its affiliates or 
in general) which affect the cost and availability of professional liability 
insurance, and sufficiency of self-insurance reserves; 

(4) Employee strikes and other adverse labor actions that could result in a substantial 
reduction in revenues without corresponding decreases in costs; 

(5) Reduced need for hospitalization or other medical services arising from future 
medical and scientific advances; 

(6) Increased unemployment or other adverse economic conditions which would 
increase the proportion of patients who are unable to pay fully for the cost of 
their care; 
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(7) Increased competition from other hospitals and other health care providers that 
offer health care services to the populations which Mayo Clinic and its affiliates 
serve; 

(8) Efforts by insurers and governmental agencies to limit the cost of hospital 
services and to reduce the utilization of health care facilities by such means as 
preventive medicine, improved occupational health and safety and outpatient 
care; 

(9) Acts of terrorism; 

(10) Any inability to obtain any required governmental approvals for necessary capital 
expenditures; and 

(11) The occurrence of natural disasters, including floods, tornados and hurricanes, 
which might damage the facilities of Mayo Clinic and/or its affiliates. 

 CONTINUING DISCLOSURE 

In a Continuing Disclosure Agreement dated as of April 1, 2008 with the Trustee (the 
“Continuing Disclosure Agreement”), Mayo Clinic agrees to provide certain continuing disclosure for the 
benefit of the holders of the Bonds.  Mayo Clinic agrees to file with each nationally recognized municipal 
securities information repository (“NRMSIR”), recognized by the Securities and Exchange Commission 
(the “SEC”) pursuant to SEC Rule 15c2-12 (the “Rule”) and the state information depository, if any, of 
the State of Wisconsin (“SID”), recognized by the SEC pursuant to the Rule, within 120 days after the 
end of each fiscal year, a copy of its audited financial statements, prepared in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States, and an annual updating of the information in Appendix 
A of the type appearing in the charts entitled “Measures of Clinical Service,” “Payor Mix” and “Patient 
Origin” under “Description of Clinic Activities – Clinical Practice Activities” and in the chart entitled 
“Measures of Hospital Service” under “Description of Clinic Activities – Mayo Clinic Affiliated 
Hospitals.” 

Mayo Clinic agrees to file in a timely manner, with each NRMSIR and the SID, notice of the 
occurrence of any of the following events (if material) with respect to the Bonds:  (a) principal and 
interest payment delinquencies; (b) non-payment related defaults; (c) unscheduled draws on any debt 
service reserve reflecting financial difficulties; (d) unscheduled draws on any credit enhancement 
reflecting financial difficulties; (e) substitution of any credit or liquidity provider, or their failure to 
perform; (f) adverse tax opinions or events affecting the tax-exempt status of the Bonds; (g) modifications 
to rights of holders of the Bonds; (h) bond calls; (i) defeasances; (j) release, substitution or sale of 
property securing the Bonds; and (k) rating changes. 

Mayo Clinic also agrees to file, in a timely matter with the Trustee, each NRMSIR, and to the 
SID, notice of a failure by Mayo Clinic to provide the required annual information described in the first 
paragraph of this heading within the time limit specified in such paragraph. 

Mayo Clinic may modify from time to time the specific types of information provided to the 
extent necessary as a result of a change in legal requirements or change in the nature of Mayo Clinic, 
provided that any such modification will be done in a manner consistent with the Rule and will not, in the 
opinion of the Trustee (who may rely on an opinion of counsel) materially impair the interests of the 
holders or Beneficial Owners of the Bonds.  Mayo Clinic acknowledges that its undertaking pursuant to 
the Rule described under this heading is intended to be for the benefit for the holders of the Bonds.  Any 
Bondholder or Beneficial Owner may enforce a breach by Mayo Clinic of its continuing disclosure 
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obligations under the Continuing Disclosure Agreement.  However, a breach of the undertaking in the 
Continuing Disclosure Agreement will not constitute a default or an event of default under the Indenture, 
the Loan Agreement or the Guarantee, and the sole remedy of the Bondholder or Beneficial Owner will 
be to compel specific performance of Mayo Clinic’s continuing disclosure obligations in the Continuing 
Disclosure Agreement. 

The Authority is not an “obligated person” under the Rule in respect of the Bonds, is not party to 
the Continuing Disclosure Agreement, and has not nor will it assume any responsibility or liability for 
continuing disclosure relating to the Bonds. 

Mayo Clinic previously has undertaken continuing disclosure obligations pursuant to other 
continuing disclosure agreements, and in the last five years Mayo Clinic has made all filings required 
thereunder in a timely manner. 

Currently, Mayo Clinic files quarterly unaudited financial statements with each NRMSIR on a 
voluntary basis. 

Commencing July 1, 2009, filings pursuant to continuing disclosure agreements entered into 
pursuant to the Rule, such as the Continuing Disclosure Agreement, will only be required to be sent to the 
Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board’s Electronic Municipal Market Access system (“EMMA”).  
After July 1, 2009, Mayo Clinic currently intends to voluntarily file quarterly unaudited financial 
statements through EMMA. 

 TAX EXEMPTION AND RELATED CONSIDERATIONS 

The following discussion is not intended to be an exhaustive discussion of collateral tax 
consequences arising from ownership or disposition of the Bonds or receipt of interest on the Bonds. 
Prospective purchasers or Bondholders should consult their tax advisors with respect to collateral tax 
consequences, including without limitation the determination of gain or loss on the sale of a Bond, the 
calculation of alternative minimum tax liability, the inclusion of Social Security or other retirement 
payments in taxable income, the disallowance of deductions for certain expenses attributable to the 
Bonds, and applicable state and local tax rules in states other than Wisconsin. 

The form of the approving opinion of Dorsey & Whitney LLP, Bond Counsel, is attached as 
Appendix D hereto.  Bond Counsel has not undertaken to update the approving opinion delivered on 
April 10, 2008. 

Tax Exemption 

On April 10, 2008, Dorsey & Whitney LLP, Minneapolis, Minnesota, Bond Counsel, delivered 
its opinion based on then current laws, regulations, rulings and decisions and on certifications furnished at 
closing, and assuming compliance by the Authority, the Hospital, Mayo Clinic and the Trustee with 
certain covenants contained in the Loan Agreement and the Indenture (the “Tax Covenants”), that 
(i) interest to be paid on the Bonds is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes and is 
not an item of tax preference for federal alternative minimum tax purposes, but is included in adjusted 
current earnings of computations for federal alternative minimum tax purposes and (ii) interest on the 
Bonds is not excluded from State of Wisconsin income. 

The Code establishes certain requirements that must be met after the issuance of the Bonds in 
order that interest on the Bonds be and remain excludable from federal gross income. These requirements 
include, but are not limited to, provisions regarding the use of Bond proceeds and the facilities financed 
with such proceeds; restrictions on the investment of Bond proceeds and other amounts; and provisions 
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requiring that certain investment earnings be rebated periodically to the federal government.  
Noncompliance with such requirements may cause interest on the Bonds to become includable in federal 
gross income retroactively to their date of issue.  Compliance with the Tax Covenants will satisfy the 
current requirements of the Code with respect to exemption of interest on the Bonds.  No provision has 
been made for redemption of or for an increase in the interest rate on the Bonds in the event that interest 
on the Bonds becomes includable in federal gross income. 

Original Issue Discount 

The Bonds maturing on November 15 in the years 2015, 2016, 2018, 2021, 2023, 2024 and 2030, 
and the Bonds maturing on November 15, 2019 and bearing interest at a rate of 4.750% per annum 
(collectively, the “Discount Bonds”) are being sold at a discount from the principal amount payable on 
such Bonds at maturity.  The difference between the price at which a substantial amount of the Discount 
Bonds of a given maturity is first sold to the public (the “Issue Price”) and the principal amount payable 
at maturity constitutes “original issue discount” under the Code.  The amount of original issue discount 
that accrues to a holder of a Discount Bond under section 1288 of the Code is excluded from federal gross 
income to the same extent that stated interest on such Discount Bond would be so excluded.  The amount 
of the original issue discount that accrues with respect to a Discount Bond under section 1288 is added to 
the owner’s federal tax basis in determining gain or loss upon disposition of such Discount Bond 
(whether by sale, exchange, redemption or payment at maturity). 

Interest in the form of original issue discount accrues under section 1288 pursuant to a constant 
yield method that reflects semiannual compounding on dates that are determined by reference to the 
maturity date of the Discount Bond.  The amount of original issue discount that accrues for any particular 
semiannual accrual period generally is equal to the excess of (1) the product of (a) one-half of the yield on 
such Bonds (adjusted as necessary for an initial short period) and (b) the adjusted issue price of such 
Bonds, over (2) the amount of stated interest actually payable.  For purposes of the preceding sentence, 
the adjusted issue price is determined by adding to the Issue Price for such Bonds the original issue 
discount that is treated as having accrued during all prior semiannual accrual periods.  If a Discount Bond 
is sold or otherwise disposed of between semiannual compounding dates, then the original issue discount 
that would have accrued for that semiannual accrual period for federal income tax purposes is allocated 
ratably to the days in such accrual period. 

If a Discount Bond is purchased for a cost that exceeds the sum of the Issue Price plus accrued 
interest and accrued original issue discount, the amount of original issue discount that is deemed to accrue 
thereafter to the purchaser is reduced by an amount that reflects amortization of such excess over the 
remaining term of such Bond. 

No opinion is expressed as to state and local income tax treatment of original issue discount.  It is 
possible under certain state and local income tax laws that original issue discount on a Discount Bond 
may be taxable in the year of accrual, and may be deemed to accrue differently than under federal law. 

Holders of Discount Bonds should consult their tax advisors with respect to computation and 
accrual of original issue discount and with respect to the state and local tax consequences of owning 
Discount Bonds. 

Bond Premium 

The Bonds maturing on November 15 in the years 2011, 2012, 2013, 2014, 2017, 2020 and 2022, 
and the Bonds maturing on November 15, 2019 bearing interest at a rate of 5.00% per annum are being 
sold at a premium to the principal amount payable at maturity.  Except in the case of dealers, which are 
subject to special rules, Bondholders who acquire Bonds at a premium must, from time to time, reduce 
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their federal tax bases for the Bonds for purposes of determining gain or loss on the sale or payment of 
such Bonds.  Premium generally is amortized for federal tax purposes on the basis of a bondholder’s 
constant yield to maturity or to certain call dates with semiannual compounding.  Bondholders who 
acquire Bonds at a premium might recognize taxable gain upon sale of the Bonds, even if such Bonds are 
sold for an amount equal to or less than their original cost.  Amortized premium is not deductible for 
federal income tax purposes.  Bondholders who acquire Bonds at a premium should consult their tax 
advisors concerning the calculation of bond premium and the timing and rate of premium amortization, as 
well as the state and local tax consequences of owning and selling Bonds acquired at a premium. 

Related Federal Tax Considerations 

Interest on the Bonds is not an item of tax preference for federal alternative minimum tax 
purposes, but it is included in adjusted current earnings of corporations for purposes of the federal 
alternative minimum tax. Section 86 of the Code require recipients of certain social security and railroad 
retirement benefits to take interest on the Bonds into account in determining the taxability of such 
benefits.  Passive investment income, including interest on the Bonds, may be subject to taxation under 
section 1375 of the Code for an S corporation that has accumulated earnings and profits at the close of the 
taxable year, if more than 25 percent of its gross receipts is passive investment income. Section 265 of the 
Code denies a deduction for interest on indebtedness incurred or continued to purchase or carry the 
Bonds.  Indebtedness may be allocated to the Bonds for this purpose even though not directly traceable to 
the purchase of the Bonds.  Federal laws also restrict the deductibility of other expenses allocable to the 
Bonds.  In the case of a financial institution, no deduction is allowed under the Code for that portion of 
the holder’s interest expense which is allocable to interest on the Bonds within the meaning of section 
265(b) of the Code.  In the case of an insurance company subject to the tax imposed by section 831 of the 
Code, the amount which otherwise would be taken into account as losses incurred under section 832(b)(5) 
of the Code must be reduced by an amount equal to 15 percent of the interest on the Bonds that is 
received or accrued during the taxable year.  Interest on the Bonds may be included in the income of a 
foreign corporation for purposes of the branch profits tax imposed by section 884 of the Code, and is 
included in net investment income of foreign insurance companies under section 842(b) of the Code. 

The market value and marketability of the Bonds may be adversely affected by future changes in 
federal or Wisconsin tax treatment of interest on the Bonds or by future reductions in income tax rates. 

THE FOREGOING IS NOT INTENDED TO BE AN EXHAUSTIVE DISCUSSION OF 
COLLATERAL TAX CONSEQUENCES ARISING FROM OWNERSHIP OR DISPOSITION OF THE 
BONDS OR RECEIPT OF INTEREST ON THE BONDS. PROSPECTIVE PURCHASERS OR 
BONDHOLDERS SHOULD CONSULT THEIR TAX ADVISORS WITH RESPECT TO 
COLLATERAL TAX CONSEQUENCES AND APPLICABLE STATE AND LOCAL TAX RULES IN 
STATES OTHER THAN WISCONSIN. 

 AUTHORITY NOT LIABLE ON THE BONDS 

The Bonds are a limited obligation of the Authority, do not constitute a general obligation of the 
Authority and are not payable in any manner from taxation. “SECURITY FOR THE BONDS – Limited 
Obligation.”  The Bonds and the interest payable thereon do not constitute a debt or liability of the State 
of Wisconsin or of any political subdivision thereof other than the Authority.  The Bonds are a limited 
obligation of the Authority and are payable solely from the funds pledged therefor in accordance with the 
Indenture.  The issuance of the Bonds does not, directly, indirectly or contingently, obligate the State of 
Wisconsin or any political subdivision thereof to levy any form of taxation for the payment therefor or to 
make any appropriation for their payment.  The State of Wisconsin shall not in any event be liable for the 
payment of the principal of or interest on the Bonds or for the performance of any pledge, obligation or 
agreement of any kind whatsoever which may be undertaken by the Authority.  No breach by the 
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Authority of any such pledge, obligation or agreement may impose any pecuniary liability upon the State 
of Wisconsin or any charge upon its general credit or against its taxing power.  The Authority has no 
taxing power. 

The Act provides that the State of Wisconsin pledges to, and agrees with, holders of any 
obligations issued under the Act that it will not limit or alter the rights vested in the Authority by the Act 
until such obligations, together with the interest thereon, are fully met and discharged, provided nothing 
in the Act precludes such limitation or alteration if and when adequate provision shall be made by law for 
the protection of the holders of such obligations. 

 LITIGATION 

There is no litigation pending or, to the knowledge of Mayo Clinic, threatened which could have 
a material adverse effect upon the operations or consolidated financial position of Mayo Clinic and its 
affiliates. 

There is no pending or, to the actual knowledge of the officers of the Authority, threatened 
litigation to which the Authority is a party seeking to restrain or enjoin the issuance, sale, execution or 
delivery of the Authority’s issue of the Bonds, or in any way questioning the validity of the Authority’s 
issue of the Bonds or any proceedings of the Authority taken with respect to the issuance or sale thereof 
or in any way questioning the validity of the pledge or application of any monies, revenues or security 
provided for the payment of the Authority’s issue of the Bonds, the use of the Authority’s issue of the 
Bond proceeds, or the existence or powers of the Authority. 

 LEGAL MATTERS 

Legal matters incident to the authorization and validity of the Bonds were passed upon by Dorsey 
& Whitney LLP, Minneapolis, Minnesota, Bond Counsel at the time of original delivery of the Bonds. 
Such opinion has not been updated and the form of such opinion is set forth in Appendix D hereto.  
Dorsey & Whitney LLP also serves as counsel to Mayo Clinic and certain of its affiliates on certain 
matters. 

Certain legal matters in connection with the reoffering of the Bonds will be passed on for the 
Hospital and for Mayo Clinic by the Legal Department of Mayo Clinic, and for the Remarketing Agents 
by Ballard Spahr Andrews & Ingersoll, LLP, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania. 

 CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS 

Bank of America, N.A., which is an affiliate of Banc of America Securities LLC, a Remarketing 
Agent for the Bonds, has current lending relationships with Mayo Clinic, which include standby bond 
purchase agreements supporting $200,000,000 aggregate principal amount of City of Rochester, 
Minnesota, Health Care Facilities Revenue Bonds (Mayo Foundation) Series 2002A, 2002B and 2002C. 

Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, which is the Trustee for the Bonds and an affiliate of 
Wells Fargo Brokerage Services, LLC, a Remarketing Agent for the Bonds, has current lending 
relationships with Mayo Clinic, which include standby bond purchase agreements supporting 
$50,000,000 aggregate principal amount of City of Rochester, Minnesota, Health Care Facilities Revenue 
Bonds (Mayo Foundation) Series 2000C, $50,000,000 aggregate principal amount of City of Rochester, 
Minnesota, Health Care Facilities Revenue Bonds (Mayo Foundation) Series 2001D and $100,000,000 
aggregate principal amount of City of Rochester, Minnesota, Health Care Facilities Revenue Bonds 
(Mayo Clinic) Series 2008A, and standby letters of credit totaling approximately $861,000 in aggregate 
amount.  Wachovia Bank, N.A., a subsidiary of Wells Fargo & Co., and Mayo Clinic have entered into a 
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standby bond purchase agreement supporting $50,000,000 aggregate principal amount of City of 
Rochester, Minnesota, Health Care Facilities Revenue Bonds (Mayo Foundation) Series 2001A. 

 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The audited consolidated financial statements of Mayo Clinic as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, 
and for the fiscal years then ended, are included in Appendix B to this Reoffering Circular.  The auditors 
have not participated in the preparation of this Reoffering Circular. 

 FINANCIAL ADVISOR 

Mayo Clinic has retained Shattuck Hammond Partners, a division of Morgan Keegan & 
Company, Inc., New York, New York, to act as financial advisor to Mayo Clinic in connection with the 
reoffering of the Bonds. 

 REMARKETING 

The Bonds are being remarketed by Banc of America Securities LLC and Wells Fargo Brokerage 
Services, LLC, as remarketing agents for the Bonds (together, the “Remarketing Agents”) pursuant to a 
remarketing agreement among the Remarketing Agents and Mayo Clinic.  Pursuant to the Remarketing 
Agreement, Mayo Clinic will pay the Remarketing Agents a fee of $640,531.25 for their services and will 
pay all reasonable expenses of the Remarketing Agents in connection with the reoffering of the Bonds. 

WFBS is a registered broker/dealer and a member of the FINRA and SIPC.  WFBS is a brokerage 
affiliate of Wells Fargo & Company.  WFBS is solely responsible for its contractual obligations and 
commitments.  Nondeposit investment products offered by WFBS are not FDIC insured, are subject to 
investment risk, including loss of principal, and are not guaranteed by a bank unless otherwise specified. 

From time to time, Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. and other banks and companies affiliated with WFBS 
may lend money to an issuer or obligor of securities or debt that are underwritten or dealt in by WFBS.  
Within the prospectus or other documentation provided with each such underwriting or placement there 
will be a disclosure of any material lending relationship by an affiliate of WFBS with such an issuer or 
obligor and whether the proceeds of such an issuance of such debt securities will be used by the issuer or 
obligor to repay any outstanding indebtedness of any WFBS affiliate. See “CERTAIN 
RELATIONSHIPS” herein. 

From time to time, WFBS may participate in a primary or secondary distribution of securities 
bought or sold by a purchase of bonds.  WFBS and its affiliates may also act as an investment advisor to 
issuers whose securities may be sold to a purchaser of those bonds. 

 RATINGS 

Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services, a division of The McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc. (“Standard 
& Poor’s”), and Moody’s Investors Service (“Moody’s”) have given the Bonds long term ratings of 
“AA-” and “Aa2”, respectively.  These ratings address the likelihood of repayment of principal and 
interest when due. 

Such ratings reflect only the views of Standard & Poor’s and Moody’s, and an explanation of the 
significance of such ratings may be obtained only from Standard & Poor’s and Moody’s.  Generally, 
rating agencies base their ratings on the information and materials furnished to them and on investigation, 
studies and assumptions by the rating agencies.  A securities rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell 
or hold securities.  The ratings of the Bonds represent a judgment as to the likelihood of timely payment 
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of the Bonds according to their terms, but does not address the likelihood of redemption prior to maturity.  
There is no assurance that such ratings will remain in effect for any given period of time or that any of 
them may not be lowered, suspended or withdrawn entirely if, in the judgment of the rating agency, 
circumstances so warrant.  Any such downward change in or suspension or withdrawal of such ratings 
may have an adverse effect on the market price and marketability of the Bonds.  None of Mayo Clinic or 
its affiliates, the Authority and the Remarketing Agents have undertaken any responsibility to maintain 
such ratings. 

 MISCELLANEOUS 

The references in this Reoffering Circular to the Act, the Bonds and the Indenture, the Loan 
Agreement and the Guarantee entered into in connection with the Bonds are brief outlines of certain 
provisions thereof.  Such outlines do not purport to be complete and for full and complete statements of 
such provisions, reference is made to such instruments, documents and other materials.  Copies of the 
foregoing documents for the Bonds are on file at the trust office of Wells Fargo Bank, National 
Association in Minneapolis, Minnesota. 

The information contained in this Reoffering Circular has been compiled or prepared from 
information obtained from Mayo Clinic and its affiliates and other sources deemed to be reliable and, 
while not guaranteed as to completeness or accuracy, is believed to be correct as of this date.  Any 
statements involving matters of opinion, whether or not expressly so stated, are intended as such and not 
as representations of fact.  The Authority assumes no responsibility for the accuracy or completeness of 
any representation or statement herein except for material with respect to the Authority included under the 
caption “THE AUTHORITY,” “AUTHORITY NOT LIABLE ON THE BONDS,” and in the last 
paragraph under “LITIGATION.” 

Mayo Clinic has reviewed the information contained herein and the appendices hereto and has 
approved this Reoffering Circular. 
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MAYO CLINIC AND AFFILIATES 

Introduction 

Mayo Clinic is a charitable, nonprofit corporation headquartered in Rochester, Minnesota.  Through 
Mayo Clinic related group practices, Mayo Medical School, Mayo Graduate School, Mayo School of 
Graduate Medical Education, Mayo School of Health Sciences and Mayo School of Continuing Medical 
Education and its other divisions and affiliates, Mayo Clinic provides comprehensive medical care, 
education in clinical medicine and the medical sciences, and extensive programs in medical research.  
Mayo Clinic and its affiliated corporations (described below) comprise one of the largest medical 
institutions in the world. 

Mayo Clinic developed from the medical practice of a pioneer physician, Dr. William Worrall Mayo.  
Born in 1819 near Manchester, England, Dr. Mayo came to America at the age of 25.  Following a series 
of westward moves, Dr. Mayo was appointed in 1863 as examining surgeon for the Union Army 
Enrollment Board in Rochester, Minnesota.  A tornado devastated Rochester in 1883.  During the 
emergency, the Sisters of Saint Francis provided nursing care at the request of Dr. Mayo.  The disaster 
produced a working relationship that led to the construction of Saint Marys Hospital in 1889.  Dr. Mayo, 
with his sons, William James Mayo and Charles Horace Mayo, comprised the medical staff of the new 27 
bed hospital.  As the number of patients increased, more physicians joined the practice that eventually 
assumed the name Mayo Clinic.  In 1919, the Mayo brothers founded the Mayo Properties Association, 
transferred to it all properties and facilities, the name Mayo Clinic, and the right to receive all future 
earnings of Mayo Clinic.  In May 1986, the corporate predecessor to Mayo Clinic formalized its 
affiliation with Mayo Clinic-Saint Marys Hospital (“Saint Marys” or “Saint Marys Hospital”) and Mayo 
Clinic-Methodist Hospital (“Methodist” or “Methodist Hospital”) with the signing of an integration 
agreement.  Both institutions are now subsidiaries of Mayo Clinic Rochester, which itself is a subsidiary 
of Mayo Clinic.  Mayo Clinic Rochester, Saint Marys and Methodist together comprise one of the world’s 
largest private medical complexes. 

In addition to their clinical medical practice, the Doctors Mayo established a center for medical education 
and research.  In 1915, with an initial gift of $1,500,000, the Mayo brothers established the Mayo 
Graduate School of Medicine (now known as Mayo School of Graduate Medical Education), which offers 
graduate residency training for physicians and scientists working toward certification as specialists of 
medicine and surgery, as well as fellowships for those planning research and teaching careers in the 
medical sciences.  Approximately 17,400 physicians, practicing throughout the United States and 75 
foreign countries, are members of the alumni association of the Mayo School of Graduate Medical 
Education. 

Mayo Clinic is also the sole member or shareholder of separately incorporated entities which, as 
described below, offer products and services related to, derived from, or in support of, Mayo Clinic’s 
medical practice, education and research missions. 

Mayo Clinic Principles 

Mayo Clinic has developed a set of principles to guide its activities. 

Mission 

Mayo will provide the best care to every patient every day through integrated clinical practice, education 
and research. 
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Vision 

Mayo Clinic will be the premier patient-centered academic medical organization. 

Primary Value 

The needs of the patient come first. 

Core Principles 

• Practice – Practice medicine as an integrated team of compassionate, multi-disciplinary 
physicians, scientists and allied-health professionals who are focused on the needs of patients 
from our communities, regions, the nation and the world. 

• Education – Educate physicians, scientists and allied-health professionals and be a dependable 
source of health information for our patients and the public. 

• Research – Conduct basic and clinical research programs to improve patient care and to benefit 
society. 

• Mutual Respect – Treat everyone in our diverse community with respect and dignity. 

• Commitment to Quality – Continuously improve all processes that support patient care, education 
and research. 

• Work Atmosphere – Foster teamwork, personal responsibility, integrity, innovation, trust and 
communication within the context of a physician-led institution. 

• Societal Commitment – Benefit humanity through patient care, education and research.  Support 
the communities in which we live and work.  Serve appropriately patients in difficult financial 
circumstances. 

• Finances – Allocate resources within the context of a system rather than its individual entities.  
Operate in a manner intended not to create wealth but to provide a financial return sufficient for 
present and future needs. 

Corporate Organization 

Mayo Clinic 

Mayo Clinic is a Minnesota nonprofit corporation and an organization described in Section 501(c)(3) of 
the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), that is not a private foundation under 
Section 509(a) of the Code. 

Mayo Clinic’s educational activities – collectively known as the College of Medicine of Mayo Clinic – 
are conducted by Mayo Graduate School, Mayo School of Graduate Medical Education, Mayo Medical 
School, Mayo School of Health Sciences and Mayo School of Continuous Professional Development, all 
of which operate as divisions of Mayo Clinic itself.   Mayo Graduate School offers training leading to the 
granting of M.S. and Ph.D. degrees in biomedical sciences for students planning research careers.  Mayo 
School of Graduate Medical Education provides residency training for physicians pursuing specialist 
certification.  Mayo Medical School offers a four year program leading to an M.D. degree.  Mayo School 
of Health Sciences conducts training programs for physical therapists, nurse anesthetists, occupational 
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therapists, medical laboratory technicians, diagnostic and therapeutic radiology technicians and other 
allied health personnel.  Mayo School of Continuing Medical Education provides ongoing education for 
physicians and other health care professionals through conferences and visits to Mayo facilities. 

Mayo Clinic also holds certain non-operating assets (i.e., cash and liquid investments). 

An abbreviated organizational chart showing the current relationship between Mayo Clinic and certain 
affiliated corporations is set forth on the following page. 
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Affiliated Corporations 

Mayo Clinic is the direct or indirect corporate parent of several corporations, including those described 
below. 

Mayo Clinic Rochester.  Mayo Clinic Rochester is a Minnesota nonprofit corporation and an organization 
described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Code.  Mayo Clinic Rochester operates a coordinated and integrated 
medical group practice in Rochester, Minnesota.  Mayo Clinic Rochester, Saint Marys Hospital and 
Methodist Hospital together comprise one of the world’s largest private medical complexes.  As of 
December 31, 2008, Mayo Clinic Rochester had 2,029 staff physicians and scientists.  Mayo Clinic 
Rochester also conducts extensive programs in medical research and education.  Mayo Clinic Rochester is 
the corporate parent of several entities, including two corporations that own and operate hospitals in 
Rochester, Minnesota. 

• Mayo Clinic-Saint Marys Hospital.  Saint Marys Hospital, formerly known as Saint Marys 
Hospital of Rochester, Minnesota, owns and operates a tertiary care hospital with a licensed 
capacity of 1,265 beds staffed by Mayo Clinic physicians.  Saint Marys is a Minnesota 
nonprofit corporation and an organization described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Code.  The 
Sisters of Saint Francis sponsor Saint Marys Hospital. 

• Mayo Clinic-Methodist Hospital.  Methodist Hospital, formerly known as Rochester 
Methodist Hospital, owns and operates a tertiary care hospital with a licensed capacity of 794 
beds staffed by Mayo Clinic physicians.  Methodist is a Minnesota nonprofit corporation and 
an organization described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Code. 

Mayo Clinic Jacksonville.  Mayo Clinic Jacksonville is a Florida nonprofit corporation and an 
organization described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Code.  Mayo Clinic Jacksonville is located in 
Jacksonville, Florida, where it operates a multispecialty, integrated medical group practice and conducts 
extensive programs in medical education and research.  Mayo Clinic Jacksonville owns and operates a 
214 bed teaching and research hospital on its campus staffed by Mayo physicians that opened in 2008.  
As of December 31, 2008, Mayo Clinic Jacksonville had 368 staff physicians.  Mayo Clinic Jacksonville 
also operates two family medicine and primary care clinics, one in the Jacksonville area and the other in 
St. Augustine, Florida. 

Mayo Clinic Arizona.  Mayo Clinic Arizona is an Arizona nonprofit corporation and an organization 
described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Code.  Mayo Clinic Arizona conducts extensive programs in 
medical education and research, operates a multi-specialty, integrated medical group practice in 
Scottsdale, Arizona, and owns and operates a hospital in Phoenix, Arizona.  As of December 31, 2008, 
Mayo Clinic Arizona had 365 staff physicians.  The hospital is a 244 bed acute care hospital staffed by 
Mayo Clinic physicians. 

Mayo Foundation for Medical Education and Research (“MFMER”).  Mayo Foundation for Medical 
Education and Research is a Minnesota nonprofit corporation and an organization described in Section 
501(c)(3) of the Code. 

MFMER has operating divisions involved in the following activities: publication of medical information; 
development and licensing of medically-related products; emergency helicopter service; fixed-wing 
medical air transportation service; pharmacy operations; hospice activities; support services including 
supply chain, revenue cycle and information technology services; and equipment and facility leasing 
services for Mayo-affiliated clinics. 
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MFMER undertakes extensive education programs through Mayo Clinic Health Solutions (“MCHS”) and 
Mayo Clinic Global Products and Services (“MCGPS”), both divisions within MFMER.  MCHS’s 
mission is to convert Mayo ideas, ingenuity and expertise into healthcare products and services which 
further Mayo Clinic’s mission to heal the sick and advance medical science, and which generate 
significant income to support this mission.  MCHS activities include: 

• Medical Products, which provides medical supplies and pharmaceutical services to Mayo 
patients, employees, dependents and retirees via outpatient pharmacies, specialty and 
mail order pharmacy, three medical supply stores and a gift shop, all located in 
Rochester, Minnesota. 

• Mayo Clinic Office of Intellectual Property, which works with inventors and industry to 
move innovations from bench to bedside by creating new licensing opportunities, new 
companies and new products.  Mayo Clinic’s Office of Intellectual Property has filed 
more than 2,800 patent applications resulting in more than 500 active license agreements 
with companies in the biomedical and manufacturing industries. 

The MCGPS mission is to seek innovative ways to reach health care consumers throughout the nation and 
the world by bringing together Mayo’s internet resources, telephone services and health information 
products.  Its health and wellness division creates tools for healthier lives using multiple programs and 
media, supplying products and services to the public and corporate employees.  Its internet services 
division manages Mayo’s internet properties MayoClinic.org and MayoClinic.edu for prospective and 
current patients, physicians, researchers and students with an emphasis on facilitating new models of 
patient care.  Notable MCGPS products include MayoClinic.com, an online health web site receiving over 
15 million visits a month, newsletters such as the Mayo Clinic Health Letter, Mayo Clinic Women’s 
HealthSource, and Mayo Clinic EmbodyHealth Newsletter, and numerous book titles including the Mayo 
Clinic Family Health Book. 

MFMER is the sole corporate member of Gold Cross Ambulance Service, a Minnesota nonprofit 
corporation that, together with its related entities, provides ground ambulance services to 18 Minnesota 
counties and three Wisconsin counties. 

Mayo Holding Company (“MHC”).  MHC is a taxable nonprofit Minnesota corporation that serves as the 
parent holding company for the majority of Mayo Clinic’s taxable subsidiaries.  MHC is the sole 
shareholder or sole member of Mayo Collaborative Services, Inc. (MCSI), d/b/a Mayo Medical 
Laboratories and Mayo Clinical Trial Services, provides extensive laboratory services, specialty outreach 
services and clinical trial support services to physicians, hospitals, and healthcare companies throughout 
the United States and abroad. 

MHC is also the corporate parent of certain other corporations providing healthcare services in support of 
other entities affiliated with Mayo Clinic. 

Mayo Health System.  Mayo Clinic or one of its affiliates is the corporate parent of 13 nonprofit 
corporations that operate primary and secondary care clinics located in 70 communities in southern 
Minnesota, northern Iowa and western Wisconsin.  As of December 31, 2008, these regional clinics 
employed 761 predominantly primary care physicians.  Mayo Clinic or one of its affiliates also is the 
corporate parent of 17 hospitals in the same region with a total of 1,429 licensed beds.  The network is 
known as the Mayo Health System.  The local board of directors of each regional practice within Mayo 
Health System has substantial authority to make operational decisions.  However, Mayo Clinic and 
affiliates guide the overall direction and assist with the integration of various components of Mayo Health 
System, and Mayo Clinic or one of its affiliates has the right to appoint and remove a majority of the local 
directors and to approve such actions as the incurrence of significant amounts of debt. 
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Mayo Clinic may add other affiliated clinics and hospitals in the future as part of its regional strategy to 
develop an integrated, geographically distributed provider network in an approximately 120-mile radius 
of Rochester, Minnesota.  In connection with affiliating with other clinics and hospitals, Mayo Clinic may 
from time to time assume or guarantee indebtedness of the entities with which it affiliates. 

Other Relationships.  Mayo Clinic or Mayo Clinic Rochester is also the corporate parent of a number of 
separately incorporated entities which offer products and services related to, derived from, or in support 
of Mayo Clinic’s medical practice, education, and research missions.  These include: 

• Mayo Insurance Company Limited, a captive offshore insurance company that provides 
general and professional liability insurance for affiliated physicians and hospitals. 

• Charterhouse Inc., which operates Charter House, a continuing care retirement center 
located in Rochester, Minnesota that offers a total of 318 apartment and assisted living 
units and 32 skilled nursing beds.  As of December 31, 2008, the apartment units, assisted 
living units and the skilled nursing facility beds were approximately 94% occupied. 

Governance 

Mayo Clinic is governed by a Board of Trustees consisting of public members with a broad range of 
backgrounds and interests, Mayo physicians (designated as “Consultants”) and administrators.  In its role 
as direct or indirect corporate parent, Mayo Clinic has the power to appoint and remove a majority of the 
members of the governing boards of its subsidiaries and, as a matter of current corporate policy, also must 
approve certain activities of its subsidiaries such as incurring significant amounts of debt, transferring 
significant assets, encumbering property or undertaking mergers or similar types of reorganizations.  The 
Mayo Clinic Board of Governors is the executive committee of the Board of Trustees.  The Board of 
Governors is currently composed of 11 Consultants and two administrators and is responsible for the day-
to-day management and operations of Mayo Clinic.  Mayo Clinic’s Board of Trustees meets quarterly and 
is comprised of the individuals shown below. 

Name 

Past/Present 

Business Affiliation or Occupation 
Date on 
 Board  

Expiration 
of Current 

  Term   

Public Trustees    

Bradbury H. (Brad) Anderson Vice Chairman and CEO 
Best Buy Co., Inc. 
Richfield, Minnesota 

2009 2013 

James L. Barksdale 
Chair, Board of Trustees 

Partner 
Barksdale Management Corp. 
Ridgeland, MS 

2001 2010 

Thomas J. Brokaw Special Correspondent 
NBC News 
New York, NY 

2008 2011 

France Córdova, Ph.D. President 
Purdue University 
West Lafayette, Indiana 

2008 2012 
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Name 

Past/Present 

Business Affiliation or Occupation 
Date on 
 Board  

Expiration 
of Current 

  Term   
A. Dano Davis Former Chair, Board of Directors 

Winn-Dixie Stores, Inc. 
Jacksonville, FL 

2001 2013 

Louis L. Gonda President 
Lexington Commercial Holdings 
Beverly Hills, CA 

2001 2013 

Roy A. Herberger, Jr., Ph.D. President Emeritus 
Thunderbird School of Global Management 
Phoenix, AZ 

2006 2010 

Patricia E. Mitchell President and CEO 
The Paley Center for Media 
New York, NY 

2002 2012 

Marilyn Carlson Nelson Chairman 
Carlson Companies, Inc. 
Minneapolis, MN 

2001 2013 

Ronald L. Olson Partner 
Munger, Tolles & Olson, LLP 
Los Angeles, CA 

2004 2012 

Aulana L. Peters Retired Patner 
Gibson, Dunn & Crutcher, LLP 
Los Angeles, CA 

2007 2010 

Hugh B. Price John L. Weinberg/Goldman Sachs Visiting 
Professor 
Princeton University 
Princeton, NJ 

2000 2011 

Lee R. Raymond, Ph.D. Retired Chair of the Board 
ExxonMobil Corporation 
Irving, TX 

2006 2010 

Anne M. Tatlock Director, Retired Chair and CEO 
Fiduciary Trust Company International 
New York, NY 

2002 2010 

Internal Trustees 
   

Denis A. Cortese, M.D.* President and Chief Executive Officer, 
Mayo Clinic 
Consultant, Pulmonary & Critical Care 

1997 2010 

Richard L. Ehman, M.D.* Consultant, Radiology 
Mayo Clinic Rochester 

2007 2011 

Glenn Forbes, M.D.* CEO, Mayo Clinic Rochester 
Consultant, Radiology 

2006 2010 
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Name 

Past/Present 

Business Affiliation or Occupation 
Date on 
 Board  

Expiration 
of Current 

  Term   
R. Scott Gorman, M.D.* Consultant, Internal Medicine 

Mayo Clinic Arizona 
2009 2013 

Jeffrey Korsmo Executive Director, Mayo Clinic Health 
Policy Center 
Mayo Clinic  

2004 2010 

Jack P. Leventhal. M.D.* Consultant, Pulmonary Medicine 
Mayo Clinic Jacksonville 

2004 2010 

Dawn S. Milliner, M.D.* Consultant, Nephrology 
Mayo Clinic Rochester 

2009 2010 

Robert E. Nesse, M.D.* President/CEO 
Franciscan Skemp Healthcare 

2004 2010 

Kerry D. Olsen, M.D.* Consultant, Otolaryngology 
Mayo Clinic Rochester 

2007 2011 

William C. Rupp, M.D.* Vice President and CEO 
Mayo Clinic Florida 

2009 2013 

Nina M. Schwenk, M.D.* Vice President, Mayo Clinic 
Consultant, Internal Medicine 
Mayo Clinic Rochester 

2003 2011 

Craig A. Smoldt* Chair, Department of Facilities 
Mayo Clinic 

2003 2010 

Victor F. Trastek, M.D.* CEO, Mayo Clinic Arizona 
Consultant, Surgery 
Mayo Clinic Arizona 

2002 2010 

Shirley Weis* Vice President 
Chief Administrative Officer 
Mayo Clinic 

2004 2011 

  
* Member of the Mayo Clinic Board of Governors. 
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Emeritus Public Trustees (Non-Voting) 

Lilyan H. Affinito Richard L. Knowlton 
Robert E. Allen Philip R. Lee, M.D. 
H. Brewster Atwater, Jr. Whitney MacMillan 
Hon. Howard H. Baker, Jr.  Amb. Charles T. Manatt 
Barbara M. Barrett Joan D. Manley 
Barbara P. Bush J. Willard Marriott, Jr. 
Catherine B. Cleary Amb. Donald F. McHenry 
Allen R. DeBoer Newton N. Minow 
John H. Dasburg Hon. Walter F. Mondale 
Sen. Thomas A. Daschle Luis G. Nogales 
George C. Dillon Frederick W. Smith 
Frances D. Fergusson, Ph.D. Edson W. Spencer 
Bert A. Getz Donald M. Stewart, D.P.A. 
Hanna H. Gray, Ph.D. Paul A. Volcker 
Robert A. Hanson Rawleigh Warner, Jr. 
W. Thomas Johnson, Jr. Robert C. Winters 
Sister June Kaiser  

 

Management 

The principal officers of Mayo Clinic and certain biographical information regarding these individuals are 
set forth below: 

Denis A. Cortese, M.D.  (Age 65), President and Chief Executive Officer 

Experience.  Lieutenant Commander, Medical Corps, U.S. Navy, 1974-76; Consultant in Thoracic 
Diseases and Internal Medicine, 1976-93, Mayo Clinic Rochester; Professor of Medicine, Mayo Clinic 
College of Medicine, 1987-present; Board of Governors, Mayo Clinic Rochester, 1987-93; Consultant in 
Pulmonary Diseases and Internal Medicine, Mayo Clinic Jacksonville, 1993-2002; Mayo Clinic 
Jacksonville Board of Governors, 1996-2002; Chair, 1999-2002; St. Luke’s Hospital Board of Directors, 
Chair 1999-2002; Mayo Health Plan, Inc., Chair, Board of Directors, 1996-2002; Medical Director, 1996-
99; Mayo Clinic Board of Trustees, 1989-93, 1997-present; Mayo Clinic Board of Governors, 1990-93, 
1997-present; President and Chief Executive Officer, Mayo Clinic, 2003-present. 

Education.  Franklin and Marshall College, Lancaster, Pennsylvania, A.B., 1966; Temple University, 
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, M.D., 1970; Mayo Graduate School of Medicine, Rochester, Minn., Medical 
Internship, 1970-71; Residency in Internal Medicine, 1971-72; Fellowship in Thoracic Diseases, 1972-74; 
Special Clinical Fellowship in Bronchoscopy, September-December 1976. 

Professional Organizations and Other Activities.  The Institute of Medicine of the National Academy of 
Sciences and currently chairs the IOM Roundtable on Evidence Based Medicine; Healthcare Leadership 
Council, chair for 2007-2009; Harvard/Kennedy Healthcare Policy Group; FRESH-Thinking (Focused 
Research on Efficient, Secure Healthcare); Advisory Board, World Community Grid; 
Chairs/Presidents/CEOs Council, American Medical Group Association; Division on Engineering and 
Physical Science (DEPS), National Research Council; Academia Nacional de Medicina (Mexico); the 
Royal College of Physicians (London). 2007 Ellis Island Award recipient and the Medal of Merit Award 
in 2008. 
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Retirement Announcement.  Dr. Cortese has announced his planned retirement as President and Chief 
Executive Officer of Mayo Clinic, effective November 2009.  A successor is expected to be named in 
May 2009.  Mayo Clinic’s bylaws currently provide that the President and Chief Executive Officer must 
be a physician who has been a member of the medical staff at a Mayo Clinic facility for at least five years. 

Shirley A. Weis (Age 55), Vice President and Chief Administrative Officer 

Experience.  Midland (MI) Hospital Center, Emergency Department, Staff Nurse, 1974-77; Ingham 
Medical Center, Emergency Department, Shift Coordinator, 1977-79; Lansing General Hospital, 
Emergency Department and Outpatient Services, Manager, 1979-85; Blue Care Network-Health Central, 
Medical Administrator, 1995-91; Director of Operations, 1992-94, Chief Operating Officer, 1994-95; 
Mayo Clinic Rochester:  MMSI, Executive Director, 1995-99; Department of Managed Care, Vice Chair, 
1997-99; System-Wide Department of Managed Care, chair, 1999-2001; Mayo Clinic Arizona: Division 
of Managed Care, Chair, 1999-2000; Administration, Vice Chair, 2001-05; Administrative Services, 
Chair, 2005-07;  Board of Trustees, 2004-present; Vice President and Chief Administrative Officer Mayo 
Clinic, 2007-present. 

Education.  Michigan State University, B.S., 1975; Aquinas College, M.A., 1984. 

Professional Organizations and Other Activities.  Michigan State University Board of Visitors, Chair, 
1999-2007; Mayo Management Services, Inc. Board, Secretary, 1999-2001; Greater LaCrosse Health 
Plans, Inc. Board, Secretary, 1999-2001; Mayo Health Plan Arizona Board, Treasurer, 1999-2003; 
Winona State University Foundation Board of Trustees, 2005-present; Medical Group Management 
Association (MGMA). 

Nina Schwenk, M.D. (Age 54), Vice President 

Experience.  Associate Consultant, Division of Area General Internal Medicine, Department of Internal 
Medicine, Mayo Clinic Rochester, 1983-1984; Senior Associate Consultant, Division of Area General 
Internal Medicine, Department of Internal Medicine, Mayo Clinic Rochester, 1984-1987; Consultant, 
Division of Area General Internal Medicine, Department of Internal Medicine, Mayo Clinic Rochester, 
1987-present; Chair, Division of Area General Internal Medicine, Department of Internal Medicine, Mayo 
Clinic Rochester, 1992-1998; Assistant Professor of Medicine, Mayo Clinic College of Medicine, 1995-
present; Mayo Health Plan Inc., Chair, 1999-2000; Board of Governors, Mayo Clinic Rochester, 1998-
2005; Vice Chair, 2003-2005; Mayo Medical Services, Inc., Vice Chair, 2004-2007; Mayo Medical 
Services, Inc., Chair, 2007-present; Mayo Clinic Board of Trustees, 2003–present; Mayo Clinic Board of 
Governors, 2003-present; Vice Chair, 2006-present;Vice President, Mayo Clinic, 2006-present. 

Education.  Massachusetts Institute of Technology, B.S., 1975; McGill University, M.D., G.M., 1979; 
Mayo Graduate School of Medicine, Residency, Internal Medicine, 1979-1982; Mayo Graduate School of 
Medicine, Fellowship, Senior Clinical Fellow – Internal Medicine, 1982-1983. 

Professional Organizations and Other Activities.  Fellow of the American College of Physicians, Sigma 
Xi, The Scientific Research Society, Society of General Internal Medicine, Zumbro Valley Medical 
Society. 

William C. Rupp, M.D. (Age 62), Chief Executive Officer, Mayo Clinic Jacksonville 

Experience.  Consultant in Medical Oncology, Midelfort Clinic – Mayo Health System, 1982 – 2003; 
President and CEO, Luther Hospital/Midelfort Clinic – Mayo Health System, 1993-2001; Vice Chair, 
Mayo Health System, 1997–2007; Consultant in Medical Oncology, Immanuel St. Joseph’s – Mayo 
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Health System, 2003 – 2007; President and CEO, Immanuel St. Joseph’s – Mayo Health System, 2002-
2007; Mayo Clinic Board of Trustees, 2009 – present. 

Education.  Dartmouth College, B.A., 1968; University of Minnesota Medical School, M.D., 1976; 
University of Cincinnati Medical Center, Medicine Residency, 1976-1979; University of Cincinnati 
Medical Center, Fellowship in Hematology - Oncology 1979-1981; University of Cincinnati Medical 
Center, Chief Medical Resident, 1982. 

Professional Organizations and Other Activities.  Consultant, Institute for Health Care Improvement; 
Member, American College of Physicians; Member, American Society of Clinical Oncology; Member, 
American College of Physician Executives; Board of Directors, Ayres Associates. 

Glenn S. Forbes, M.D.  (Age 61), Vice President, Mayo Clinic and Chief Executive Officer, Mayo 
Clinic Rochester 

Experience.  Consultant, Department of Radiology, Mayo Clinic, Rochester, Minnesota, 1977-present; 
Professor of Radiology, Mayo Clinic College of Medicine, Rochester, Minnesota, 1990-present;  Chair, 
Department of Radiology, Mayo Clinic, Rochester, Minnesota, 1992-1998; President and CEO, 
Franciscan Skemp Healthcare, Mayo Health System, Mayo Group Practices, La Crosse, Wisconsin, 1998-
2003; Mayo Clinic Board of Governors, 2004-present; chair, Mayo Clinic Rochester Executive Board, 
2004-present; Mayo Clinic Board of Trustees, 2004-present; Chief Executive Officer, Mayo Clinic 
Rochester, Minnesota, 2004-present; Vice President, Mayo Clinic, 2007-present. 

Education.  University of Notre Dame, B.S., 1965-1969; University of Notre Dame Fellowship, NIH 
Special Fellow-Biochemistry (Summer) C. Bramble, Professor of Chemistry, 1967; Yale University 
School of Medicine, M.D., 1969-1973; Yale University School of Medicine, Fellowship, USPHS 
Fellowship (Summer), Navajo Reservation, Gallup, New Mexico; C. Kimble, 1971; Mayo Graduate 
School of Medicine Internship, 1973-1974; Mayo Graduate School of Medicine, Fellowship, Diagnostic 
Radiology, 1974-1976; Mayo Graduate School of Medicine Fellowship, Neuroradiology Special Fellow, 
1976-1977. 

Professional Organizations and Other Activities:  Trustee of the American Board of Radiology; Fellow of 
the American College of Radiology; Member of the American Medical Association, American Society of 
Neuroradiology and Radiological Society of North America. 

Victor F. Trastek, M.D. (Age 59), Vice President, Mayo Clinic and Chief Executive Officer, Mayo 
Clinic Arizona 

Experience.  Associate Consultant, Division of Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgery, Department of 
Surgery, Mayo Clinic, Rochester, Minnesota 1984; Senior Associate Consultant, Division of Thoracic 
and Cardiovascular Surgery, Department of Surgery, Mayo Clinic, Rochester, Minnesota 1985-1986; 
Consultant, Division of General Thoracic Surgery, Department of Surgery, Mayo Clinic, Rochester, 
Minnesota 1986-1999; Chair, Division of Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgery, Department of Surgery, 
Mayo Clinic, Rochester, Minnesota 1996-1998; Chair, Division of General Thoracic Surgery, Department 
of Surgery, Mayo Clinic, Rochester, Minnesota 1999; Chair, Department of Surgery, Mayo Clinic, 
Scottsdale, Arizona 1999-2000; Chair, Department of Surgery, Mayo Clinic Arizona 1999-2000; Chief 
Executive Officer, Mayo Clinic Arizona 2002-present. 

Education.  Northwestern University, B.S., 1968-1972; University of Wisconsin, Madison, M.D., 1972-
1976; Northwestern University Hospital, Northwestern University Internship, Straight Surgical, 1976-
1977;  Mayo Clinic, Residency, General Surgery, 1977-1981; Mayo Clinic, Research Fellowship, 
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Cardiovascular Laboratory, 1981–1982; Mayo Clinic Residency, Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgery 
1982-1984; Toronto General Hospital, University of Toronto, Mayo Foundation Scholar, 1985. 

Professional Organizations and Other Activities.  American Association for Thoracic Surgery; Society of 
Thoracic Surgeons; American College of Physician Executives; American College of Surgeons; 
American Medical Association; Arizona State University Center for Services Leadership; General 
Thoracic Surgical Club; Greater Phoenix Leadership Board of Directors. 

Jeffrey W. Bolton (Age 53), Chief Financial Officer 

Experience.  City of Pittsburgh, Contract Administrator, 1979-1981; University of Pittsburgh, Planning 
and Financial Analyst, 1981-1984; Carnegie Mellon University, Assistant Director for Institutional 
Research, 1984-1988; Director of University Planning, 1988-1991; Assistant Vice President for Planning 
and Budget, 1991-1995; Vice President for Planning and Budget 1995-1998; Vice President for Business 
and Planning and CFO, 1998-2002; Mayo Clinic, Chief Financial Officer, 2002-present. 

Education.  Pennsylvania State University, 1977, B.A.; University of Pittsburgh, M.B.A., 1987. 

Jonathan J. Oviatt, J.D. (Age 54), General Counsel 

Experience.  Congressional Staff, District Staff Manager, and Campaign Manager for U.S. Senator Larry 
Pressler, 1976-1978; Moss & Barnett, a Professional Association, Attorney, 1982-1991; Legal Counsel, 
Mayo Foundation, 1991-2001; Chief Legal Officer and Corporate Secretary, Mayo Clinic, 2002 – present. 

Education.  American University Augustana College, B.A., 1976; University of Minnesota, J.D., 1982, 
Minnesota Law Review Staff, 1981-82. 

Professional Organizations and Other Activities.  Vice Chair of the In-house Practice Group of the 
American Health Lawyers Association; Director of the Association of Corporate Counsel; Past Director 
and Secretary of Integrative Therapies Foundation; Past Chair of the Council of Attorneys of the 
American Medical Group Association; Past Director and Officer of the Minnesota State Bar Association 
Section on Health Law; Past Director of Legal Advice Clinics, Ltd.; Past President of Olmsted County 
Legal Assistance; and former Chancellor of the United Methodist Church–Minnesota Conference 

Harry N. Hoffman, (Age 53), Treasurer and Chief Investment Officer 

Experience.  Office of Congressman Bruce F. Vento, Washington, D.C., Legislative Aide, 1980-1982; 
Group Health Inc., Minneapolis, Minnesota, Financial Analyst, 1984-1985; Dain Bosworth, Inc., 
Associate – Public Finance Department, 1985-1987; Springsted Incorporated, St. Paul, Minnesota, Public 
Finance Project Manager, 1987-1990; Mayo Clinic, Department of Finance, 1990-present; Analyst, 
Financial Planning and Analysis, 1990-1993; Treasury Services, Section Head 1993-present; Mayo 
Clinic, Assistant Treasurer, 1996-2003; Chief Investment Officer, 2001- present; Treasurer, 2003- 
present. 

Education.  University of Minnesota, B.A., 1978; Yale School of Management, M.B.A., 1984. 

Professional Organizations and Other Activities.  Trustee, Endowment Fund of the American Red Cross, 
2002- present and chair, 2006 – present; Emeritus Trustee, The Investment Fund for Foundations (TIFF), 
2001 – 2007; Emeritus Trustee, Ronald McDonald House of Rochester, Minnesota, 1999 -2005. 
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Description of Clinic Activities 

Clinical Practice Activities 

Mayo Clinic Rochester, Mayo Clinic Arizona and Mayo Clinic Florida operate coordinated and integrated 
group practices in three sites:  Rochester, Minnesota; Scottsdale, Arizona; and Jacksonville, Florida.  All 
employees of these three entities, including staff physicians and scientists (designated as “Consultants” 
below) receive compensation in the form of salaries.  The following tables provide summaries of 
information concerning Mayo’s practice activities in Rochester, Jacksonville and Arizona.  Information 
on affiliated regional practices can be found below under “–Rochester Regional Activities.” 

Consulting Staff as of December 31, 2008 
Mayo Clinic Rochester, Florida and Arizona 

Department/Division* Rochester Florida Arizona Total 

Internal Medicine     
Allergic Diseases 9 2 2 13 
Cardiovascular Diseases  158 17 21 196 
Emergency Room  34 11 15 60 
Endocrinology  50 5 4 59 
Gastroenterology  79 16 15 110 
Hematology  44 12 12 68 
Hypertension  – 2 – 2 
Infectious Diseases  26 5 3 34 
Nephrology  40 – 2 42 
Rheumatology  16 5 4 25 
Thoracic Diseases  50 5 5 60 
General Internal Medicine 263  29   42 334 
Sub-Total  769 109 125 1,003 

     

Medical Specialties     
Dermatology 26 6 8 40 
Diagnostic Radiology 164 34 33 231 
Family Medicine 53 19 17 89 
Medical Genetics 6 – – 6 
Neurology  93 20 16 129 
Oncology  76 7 6 89  
Pediatrics  65 – – 65 
Physical Medicine and Rehab. 43 3 5 51 
Psychiatry & Psychology    75    13    7   95 
Sub-Total 601 102 92 795 

     

Surgery     
General Surgery 28 5 4 37 
Plastic Surgery 12 3 3 18 
Pediatric Surgery 4 – – 4 
Colon and Rectal Surgery 8 2 3 13 
Thoracic & Cardiovascular 19 3 4 26 
Transplant Surgery 7 22 4 33 
Vascular Surgery 6 2 2 10 
Research     10     –     0     10 
Sub-Total 94 37 20 151 
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Department/Division* Rochester Florida Arizona Total 

Surgical Specialties     
Anesthesiology 113 24 20 157 
Dentistry 9 – – 9 
Neurologic Surgery 13 5 3 21 
Obstetrics and Gynecology 40 5 6 51 
Ophthalmology 32 12 6 50 
Orthopedics 52 11 8 71 
Otorhinolaryngology 24 6 7 37 
Urology 25 6 6 37 
Audiology & Critical Care     –     7     5     12 
Sub-Total 308 76 61 445 

     
Clinical & Research Laboratories     

Biochemisty 21 – – 21 
Immunology 8 – – 8 
Pathology 121 14 14 149 
Pharmacology 10 – – 10 
Physiology 25 – – 25 
Research and Other    72    30    53   155 
Sub-Total 257 44 67 368 

     
TOTAL  2,029   368   365  2,762 
     

  
 *

  Jacksonville Hematology includes Oncology and Hypertension includes Nephrology. 
 

The following table summarizes measures of service for Mayo Clinic’s clinical practice for the three 
years ended December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008.  The measures of clinical service do not include the 
affiliated regional practices of the Mayo Health System.  “Core procedures” are surgical, anesthesia, 
radiology, diagnostic and therapeutic procedures so categorized by the American Medical Association, 
and include procedures such as cardiac catheterization, echocardiograms, ablation procedures, endoscopic 
procedures, dialysis and gastrointestinal procedures. 

Measures of Clinical Service 
Rochester, Florida, Arizona 

 Year Ended December 31, 

 2006 2007 2008 
    

Outpatient Visits 2,301,094 2,337,097 2,367,770 
Surgical Patients 74,470 76,258 77,411 
Core Procedures NA 3,717,466 3,657,239 
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The following table summarizes the gross payor mix for Mayo Clinic Rochester, Mayo Clinic Florida and 
Mayo Clinic Arizona for the three years ended December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008. 

Payor Mix 
Percentage of Gross Revenue 
Rochester, Florida, Arizona 

 2006 2007 2008 
    

Medicare 35.7% 34.0% 33.3% 
Medicaid 4.0 4.0 4.3 
Contract 33.1 34.6 36.4 
Other/Self Pay    27.2        27.4       26.0    
Total  100.0%  100.0%  100.0% 

 

Patients come to Mayo from all over the world.  However, at each of the three Mayo Clinic locations, the 
highest percentage of patients registering come from that Clinic’s home state and region.  For 2008 in 
Rochester, approximately 65% of patients came from the state of Minnesota and an additional 26% came 
from states in the upper Midwest.  In Jacksonville, approximately 80% of the patients registering in 2008 
came from Florida and an additional 12% from other states in the Southeast.  In Arizona, approximately 
75% of patients registering in 2008 came from Arizona and an additional 9% came from neighboring 
Southwest states.  The tables below summarize patient origin at all three Mayo Clinic locations. 

Patient Origin 
2006-2008 

Mayo Clinic Rochester 

 2006 2007 2008 
    

Minnesota 63.9% 64.1% 64.9% 
Iowa 8.8 8.7 8.5 
Wisconsin 6.1 6.0 5.8 
South Dakota 1.5 1.5 1.5 
North Dakota 1.7 1.7 1.7 
Nebraska 0.8 0.8 0.7 
Missouri 0.9 0.8 0.8 
Illinois 4.3 4.2 3.9 
Indiana 1.0 1.0 0.9 
Michigan    2.2    2.2    2.1 
 Subtotal 91.2% 91.0% 90.8% 
    
    
Other U.S. 7.3 7.5 7.6 
Canada 0.4 0.4 0.4 
Other Foreign    1.1    1.1    1.2 
 Total 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 
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Mayo Clinic Florida 

    
 2006 2007 2008 
    

Florida 81.5% 81.4% 80.0% 
Georgia 6.9 7.0 7.9 
Alabama 0.8 0.8 0.9 
North Carolina 0.8 0.9 0.9 
South Carolina 1.6 1.7 1.7 
Tennessee    0.8    0.8    0.8 
 Subtotal 92.4 92.6% 92.2% 

    
Other U.S.  6.1 6.0 6.6 
Foreign     1.5    1.4    1.2  
 Total  100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 

 

Mayo Clinic Arizona 

 2006 2007 2008 
    

Arizona 73.1% 74.0% 75.1% 
California 2.7 2.6 2.6 
Colorado 1.8 1.7 1.6 
New Mexico 2.0 2.0 2.3 
Nevada 2.0 2.0 1.9 
Utah    0.3    0.4    0.4 
 Subtotal 

 
81.9% 82.7% 83.9% 

    
Other U.S.  16.6 15.7 14.5 
Foreign     1.5     1.6     1.6  
 Total  100.0% 

 
100.0% 

 
100.0% 

 

Mayo Health System.  Mayo Clinic Rochester maintains a regional affiliate network of physician clinics 
and local community hospitals in southern Minnesota, northern Iowa and western Wisconsin.  Through 
this network, Mayo Clinic Rochester expects to preserve patient choice within the region and maintain its 
overall market position.  Since 1992, Mayo Clinic and its subsidiaries have affiliated with 13 clinics, 
staffed predominantly with primary care physicians, shown in the table below.  Collectively, this network 
of clinics (and the 17 affiliated hospitals described below under “– Mayo Health System Hospitals”) is 
known as Mayo Health System and employs (as of December 31, 2008) 761 physicians.  Mayo Clinic 
Rochester may add more clinics and hospitals to the Mayo Health System in the future as part of its 
regional strategy to develop an integrated, geographically distributed provider network. 
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Mayo Health System 
Regional Practice Physician Summary 

As of December 31, 2008 

 Primary Location Physicians 
   
Midelfort Clinic Eau Claire, WI 198 
Wabasha Clinic Wabasha, MN 8 
Fairmont Medical Center Fairmont, MN 37 
Austin Medical Center Austin, MN 55 
Albert Lea Medical Center Albert Lea, MN 45 
Cannon Falls Medical Center Cannon Falls, MN 5 
Red Cedar Medical Center Menomonie, WI 31 
Franciscan Skemp Healthcare La Crosse, WI 165 
Cannon Valley Clinic Faribault, MN 44 
Lake City Clinic Lake City, MN 6 
Decorah Clinic Decorah, IA 18 
Owatonna Clinic Owatonna, MN  51 
Immanuel - St. Joseph’s  Mankato, MN    98 
 Total Physicians  761 

 

Mayo Clinic Affiliated Hospitals 

Mayo Clinic Rochester physicians admit all patients requiring hospitalization to Methodist or Saint Marys 
Hospital and Mayo Clinic Rochester physicians comprise the entire medical staff of both hospitals.  
Following the integration of the two hospitals with Mayo Clinic in 1986, Mayo Clinic assumed 
management of the two hospitals with a view towards reducing duplication of patient care services, 
consolidating administration and support services, and achieving economies of scale.  Management of 
both hospitals is now consolidated with Mayo Clinic Rochester as part of an integrated practice model.  
As of December 31, 2008, the combined Rochester hospitals had 2,059 licensed beds, of which 1,284 
were staffed. 

Mayo Clinic - Methodist Hospital is a tertiary care facility located in Rochester, Minnesota with 794 
licensed beds, 340 of which are staffed, and 41 surgical suites.  Physicians in Mayo Clinic Rochester’s 
Departments of Orthopedic Surgery, Obstetrics and Gynecology, and Community Medicine admit the 
majority of their patients requiring hospitalization to Methodist.  Mayo Clinic Rochester’s liver, pancreas, 
and bone marrow transplant programs are also based at Methodist. 

Mayo Clinic - Saint Marys Hospital is a tertiary care facility sponsored by the Sisters of Saint Francis.  It 
is one of the largest hospitals in the world, with a total of 1,265 licensed beds, 944 which are staffed, and 
55 surgical suites.  Saint Marys is located on a 44-acre site one-half mile west of the Mayo Medical 
Center campus.  Some of the state of the art services provided at Saint Marys include computer-assisted 
laser neurosurgery, cardiac and lung transplantation, and a stroke and epilepsy unit. Saint Marys is a 
Level One Trauma Center, providing emergency services for the southeastern Minnesota region.  The 
Generose building, located on the southwest corner of the Saint Marys campus and part of Saint Marys 
Hospital, is Mayo Clinic Rochester’s specially designed psychiatric inpatient facility which contains 108 
licensed beds, 71 of which are staffed. 

Mayo Clinic Jacksonville is the sole member of Mayo Clinic Florida, formerly St. Luke’s Hospital 
Association.  Mayo Clinic Florida operates a 214 bed, 14 surgical suite teaching and research hospital on 
Mayo Clinic Jacksonville’s campus staffed exclusively by Mayo physicians. 
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Mayo Clinic Hospital.  Mayo Clinic Hospital, a division of Mayo Clinic Arizona located in Phoenix, 
Arizona, is a 244 bed acute care hospital containing approximately 237 medical and surgical beds, 18 
operating rooms for inpatient and outpatient surgery, a rehabilitation unit containing 7 beds and related 
facilities.  All of the beds at Mayo Clinic Hospital currently are staffed.  It provides a full range of 
medical and surgical services, including liver and kidney transplantation, to meet the demands of Mayo 
Clinic Arizona’s multispecialty group practice.  Mayo Clinic Arizona physicians comprise the entire 
medical staff of Mayo Clinic Hospital and admit virtually all their patients that require hospitalization to 
Mayo Clinic Hospital. 

Mayo Health System Hospitals.  The following table lists the regional practice hospitals which have 
become affiliated with Mayo Clinic since 1992.  In most cases, these hospitals became affiliated with 
Mayo following its acquisition of a local clinic or provider group.  The regional hospitals provide mostly 
primary and secondary care services.  Many patients requiring specialized, acute care treatment are 
referred to the Rochester hospitals. 

Mayo Health System Hospital Summary 
As of December 31, 2008 

  
 

Location 

 
 

Affiliated Clinic 

Licensed  
Bed  

Capacity 

 
Staffed 
 Beds   

     
Austin Medical Center Austin, MN Austin 82 44 
Cannon Falls Medical Center Cannon Falls, MN Cannon Falls 21 8 
Luther Hospital Eau Claire, WI Midelfort 304 176 
Franciscan Skemp Medical Center LaCrosse, WI Skemp 381 81 
Saint Marys Hospital Sparta, WI Skemp 25 3 
St. Joseph’s Hospital Arcadia, WI Skemp 25 2 
Albert Lea Medical Center Albert Lea, MN Albert Lea 77 74 
Immanuel St. Joseph’s Hospital Mankato, MN — 272 178 
Myrtle Werth Hospital Menomonie, WI Red Cedar 25 25 
Springfield Medical Center Springfield, MN Springfield 24 12 
Waseca Medical Center Waseca, MN Waseca 25 12 
St. James Medical Center St. James, MN St. James 25 8 
Lake City Medical Center Lake City, MN Lake City 18 10 
Luther Midelfort Northland Barron, WI Midelfort 25 15 
Luther Midelfort Chippewa Valley Bloomer, WI Midelfort 25 18 
Luther Midelfort Oakridge Osseo, WI Midelfort 18 10 
Fairmont Medical Center Fairmont, MN Fairmont    57    25 
     
    Total Beds   1,429 701 
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The following table sets out certain measures of service at Mayo hospitals for the three years ended 
December 31, 2008 

Measures of Hospital Service 
Rochester, Florida, Arizona, Mayo Health System Hospitals 

Year Ended December 31, 
 2006 2007 2008 
    
Admissions 135,300 134,354 131,814 
Patient Days 619,402 629,352 626,901 
Average Length of Stay  4.58  4.68  4.76 

 

Educational Activities 

Mayo Clinic’s educational activities are conducted by the College of Medicine, a division of Mayo Clinic 
which includes Mayo Graduate School, Mayo School of Graduate Medical Education, Mayo Medical 
School, Mayo School of Health Sciences and Mayo School of Continuing Medical Education.  In 2008, 
Mayo Clinic’s commitment to education, including stipends for medical residents and trainees, totaled 
$224.8 million, with Mayo Clinic funds and gifts to Mayo Clinic accounting for $180.0 million of this 
amount. 

Mayo Graduate School was established in 1989 and has a current enrollment of approximately 250 Ph.D. 
and M.S. students.  It offers advanced training for students interested in research careers and grants the 
Ph.D. degree in biomedical sciences in seven areas of specialization.  Mayo Graduate School also grants 
the M.S. degree in biomedical sciences to physicians and dentists in certain clinical residency training 
programs and to research fellows and to Mayo employees. 

Mayo School of Graduate Medical Education, established in 1915, is one of the nation’s largest centers 
for graduate medical education, with approximately 1,737 physicians (which includes approximately 289 
physicians with research appointments) in training.  The faculty is composed of Mayo Clinic staff 
members in clinical (patient care) medicine and the basic medical sciences.  Residency training in internal 
medicine, surgery, or the medical and laboratory specialties generally requires three years or longer.  
During their training, physicians may earn advanced academic degrees conferred by Mayo Graduate 
School.  Mayo Clinic and its three group practice affiliates provide most of the funds for its residency 
programs, with additional support from governmental sources.  More than 15,100 alumni of the Mayo 
School of Graduate Medical Education have completed more than 19,200 training programs and engage 
in medical practice, teaching, and research throughout the United States and 70 foreign countries.  Most 
physicians enrolled in residency or fellowship training are based in Rochester, but educational programs 
also exist at Mayo Clinic Jacksonville and Mayo Clinic Arizona. 

Mayo Medical School opened in 1972 and its faculty consists of physicians and scientists of Mayo Clinic 
Rochester, Mayo Clinic Jacksonville and Mayo Clinic Arizona.  Enrollment in the four year program 
leading to the M.D. degree is 178.  Six of the students who matriculate to the Medical School this 
academic year are also currently enrolled in a joint program with the Mayo Graduate School to obtain an 
M.D./Ph.D. degree.  Mayo Medical School received approximately 3,700 applications for the 2008-2009 
academic year.  In addition to the four year curriculum, a visiting student clerkship program affords 
intensive short-term training each year for over 450 students visiting from other medical schools 
throughout the world. 
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Mayo School of Health Sciences (MSHS) provides education for over 40 professions and in more than 
100 programs of allied-health education programs ranging from certificate to post-doctoral levels.  About 
1,400 students were enrolled in the school during 2008.  MSHS celebrated its 35th anniversary in 2008; 
however, many of the individual programs began in the early part of the 20th century.  The larger 
programs offered include post-graduate programs in Pharmacy, Dietetics and Clinical Pastoral Care; 
graduate programs in Physical Therapy and Nurse Anesthesia; and undergraduate programs in 
Radiography, Sonography, Clinical Lab Scientist, and Respiratory Care; and clinical rotations in Medical 
Social Services, Physician’s Assistant, Nurse Practitioner, and Occupational Therapy.  Many MSHS 
programs are offered in collaboration with other higher education providers in and near the three Mayo 
Clinic practice sites.  Approximately 62% of 2008 MSHS graduates were hired by a Mayo facility. 

Mayo School of Continuous Professional Development (MSCPD) has been involved in continuing 
medical education since the Mayo brothers’ involvement in the Southern Minnesota Medical Association 
in the early 1890’s.  This history of active participation in education has expanded to include creating 
opportunities for other U.S. and international physicians to visit Mayo to observe and learn new 
techniques.  This year, MSCPD will educate nearly 113,000 physicians and other health care 
professionals at Mayo continuing medical education courses and conferences, and nearly 100 physicians 
will visit Mayo facilities to learn through observation of the Mayo practice.  MSCPD is also engaged in 
supporting physicians for their maintenance of certification requirements, in using distance learning 
technologies to provide continuing medical education for physicians throughout the world, and in 
ensuring that competency-based education leads to competency-based behavior. 

Research Activities 

Research has been an integral component of Mayo Clinic’s activities since its formation in the early 
1900’s.  Today, more than 900 members of Mayo’s consulting staff in Rochester, Jacksonville and 
Arizona are involved in some form of research on either a full or part-time basis.  Mayo Clinic 
expenditures for research totaled $538.3 million in 2008, with approximately $327.5 million, or 61%, of 
those funds coming from outside sources and $210.8 million, or 39%, coming from gifts or from Mayo 
Clinic itself. 

Mayo Clinic’s research activities range from projects carried out by a single scientist to interdisciplinary 
programs through which investigators representing a number of fields join forces to attack diseases.  One 
such program is the Mayo Comprehensive Cancer Center, part of a nationwide system established by the 
National Cancer Institute to further prevention, diagnosis and treatment of cancer.  Other interdisciplinary 
ventures include structured activities in genomics/proteomics/bioinformatics, molecular medicine, 
transplantation biology including xenographic transplantations and the investigation of diseases of the 
nervous, cardiovascular and immune systems.  In these programs, research scientists, clinical physicians 
and clinical investigators cooperate to investigate diseases.  Mayo Clinic believes that laboratory research 
experiences form an essential part of a physician’s training and are necessary to maintain an intellectually 
progressive staff.  In 2008, 368 research physician and scientist full-time equivalents (“FTEs”) were 
involved in research activities. 

Mayo Clinic Jacksonville and Mayo Clinic Arizona continue to develop their research activities through 
personnel and facilities growth.  In 2008, 44 research consultant FTEs conducted research at Mayo Clinic 
Jacksonville, focusing primarily on Alzheimer’s research, other areas of the neurosciences and cancer-
related research.  At Mayo Clinic Arizona, 21 research consultant FTEs were dedicated to the 
investigation of molecular and cellular biology, and cancer-related research is underway.  Both clinics 
have buildings devoted exclusively to research. 
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Financial Information 

The following selected financial data for the three years ended December 31, 2008, are derived from the 
audited consolidated financial statements of Mayo Clinic.  The data should be read in conjunction with 
the audited consolidated financial statements and related notes of Mayo Clinic set forth in Appendix B to 
this Reoffering Circular.  The summary set out below includes changes in temporarily and permanently 
restricted net assets (such as restricted contributions and investment returns), whose use is limited by 
donor stipulations and may not be available to meet debt service requirements until they are released from 
such restrictions.  See the footnote below the following table. 
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Mayo Clinic 
Summary of Consolidated Statements of Activities 

(In Millions of Dollars) 

 
Year Ended 

December 31, 
 2006 2007 2008 
    
Revenue, gains, and other support:    

Net medical service revenue $5,300.5 $5,741.2 $6,143.5 
Grants and contracts 270.5 310.2 328.7 
Investment return allocated to current 
activities* 93.1 111.9 117.2 
Contributions available for current 
activities* 130.8 211.9 114.3 
Premium revenue 82.0 87.3 92.8 
Other    414.7    446.4    425.3 
Total revenue, gains, and other support 6,291.6 6,908.9 7,221.8 

    
Expenses:    

Salaries and benefits 4,051.4 4,370.8 4,627.7 
Supplies and services 1,481.9 1,633.2 1,783.3 
Facilities 479.0 513.2 590.6 
Provision for uncollectible accounts 102.0 132.1 160.5 
Finance and investment      59.9      62.5      59.7 
Total expenses 6,174.2 6,711.8 7,221.8 

    
Income from current activities 117.4 197.1 0.0 
    
Non-current and other items:    

Contributions not available for current 
activities, net* 84.9 146.8 34.5 
Unallocated investment return, net* 335.4 286.0 (744.9) 
Asset Retirement Obligation (25.7)   

Change in net deferred tax asset 2.8 (3.8) 37.6 
Other    (2.3)    (3.4)    (3.8) 
Total non-current and other items 395.2 425.6 (676.6) 

    
Increase (Decrease) in net assets before 
extraordinary item and other changes in net 
assets 512.6 622.7 (676.6) 
    
Change in minimum pension liability 12.0 6.2 0.0 
Pension and other Post-retirement changes 0.0 0.0 (1,235.3) 
Increase in net assets before effect of 
adoption of FASB Statement Nos. 48 and 158 524.6 628.9 (1,911.9) 

Cumulative Effect of adoption of the 
provisions of FASB Statement No. 48 0.0 (2.2)   0.0 
Effect of adoption of recognition 
provisions of FASB Statement No. 158 0.0 (394.3) (74.8) 
Increase in net assets    524.6    232.4    (1,986.7) 
Net assets at beginning of period 3,555.4 4,080.0 4,312.4 
Net assets at end of period 4,080.0  4,312.4  2,325.7 

____________________________ 
* Restricted activity of $308.8 million, $470.6 million and $266.0 million for the years 2006, 2007 and 2008, respectively, 

is included in investment return allocated to current activities, Contributions available for current activities, Contributions 
not available for current activities, net and Unallocated investment return, net.  Assets released from restriction were 
$146.7 million, $188.0 million and $201.6 million for the years 2006, 2007 and 2008, respectively. 
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Management’s Discussion 

Review of 2006-2008 Activities 

Over the three year period ended December 31, 2008, annual patient volumes at Mayo Clinic, as 
measured by outpatient visits at the Rochester, Florida and Arizona sites, increased from 2.30 million in 
2006 to 2.37 million in 2008. At Mayo Clinic’s hospitals (including those in the Mayo Health System), 
patient days increased from 619,402 in 2006 to 626,901 in 2008, while admissions decreased from 
135,300 to 131,814 over the same period.  As Mayo Clinic had anticipated, the April 2008 opening of 
Mayo Clinic Florida’s new 214 bed hospital, which is staffed exclusively by Mayo Clinic physicians, 
resulted in a decrease in admissions.  The new hospital replaced St. Luke’s Hospital, a 313 bed hospital 
staffed by Mayo Clinic physicians, as well as by 300 non-Mayo Clinic community physicians. 

Mayo Clinic’s consolidated revenue, gains and other support for 2008 was $7.2 billion, up 4.5% from 
$6.9 billion in 2007 and 14.8% from $6.3 billion in 2006.  Net medical service revenue generated from 
patient care activities, which comprised approximately 85.1% of total revenue, gains and other support in 
2008, was $6.1 billion, up 7.0% from $5.7 billion in 2007 and 15.9% from $5.3 billion in 2006.  Revenue, 
gains and other support from grants, contracts, allocated investment income, premium revenue, 
diversification and other non-medical services was $1.1 billion in 2008 (14.9% of total revenue, gains and 
other support), down 7.7% from $1.2 billion in 2007 but up 8.8% from $991.1 million in 2006. 

Mayo Clinic’s consolidated expenses were $7.2 billion in 2008, up 7.6% from $6.7 billion in 2007 and 
17.0% from $6.2 billion in 2006. Salaries, benefits, supplies and services, which together totaled $6.4 
billion or 88.8% of consolidated expenses in 2008, grew 6.8% from 2007 to 2008 and are up 15.9% since 
2006.  These expenses are directly related to the volumes and acuity of patients seen at Mayo Clinic. 
Patient care expense was $5.6 billion in 2008, up 8.6% from 2007 and 17.1% from 2006.  Depreciation 
and amortization, both of which are non-cash items, totaled $370.0 million in 2008, $328.9 million in 
2007, and $303.3 million in 2006. 

Income from current activities (“ICA”), which Mayo Clinic considers to be the best indicator of the 
financial performance of its continuing operations, was $0.0 million for 2008, down from $197.1 million 
in 2007 and $117.4 million in 2006. These amounts, when calculated as a percentage of total revenue, 
gains and other support, translate into ICA margins of 0% for 2008, 2.9% for 2007, and 1.9% for 2006.  
In fiscal year 2008, Mayo Clinic recorded as other revenue a gain of $38.8 million arising from the sale-
leaseback arrangement that Mayo Clinic Jacksonville (formerly St. Luke’s Hospital Association) entered 
into with St. Vincent’s Medical Center in 2006. 

Mayo Clinic records gains and losses from non-operational activities as “non-current and other items” on 
its consolidated statements of activities.  In the years 2006, 2007 and 2008, these items resulted in net 
gains of $395.2 million, $425.6 million and a net loss of $676.6 million, respectively.  Charitable 
contributions not available to support current activities and investment returns over and above the amount 
recorded in revenue, gains and other support are the most significant components of Mayo Clinic’s net 
gains/(losses) from non-current and other items. 

Mayo Clinic’s net assets increased by $524.6 million from January 1, 2006 to December 31, 2006; 
increased by $232.4 million from January 1, 2007 to December 31, 2007 (after reflecting extraordinary 
items totaling $396.5 million to effect provisions of FASB Statement Nos. 48 and 158); and decreased by 
$2.0 billion from January 1, 2008 to December 31, 2008 (after reflecting extraordinary items totaling 
$74.8 million to effect provisions of FASB Statement No. 158).  As a result, net assets decreased from 
$3.6 billion on January 1, 2006 to $2.3 billion on December 31, 2008, a cumulative decrease of $1.2 
billion or 34.5% over the three year period. 
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Outlook for Patient Care Operations  

Mayo Clinic is committed to providing its patients with the safest, highest quality and most advanced 
medical care available. As a result, it plans to increase the size of the consulting physician staff modestly 
in 2009 in response to increased patient demand in certain specialty areas and make investments in select 
operations and capital projects to support strategic priorities in four key areas: 

• Quality - continued improvements in the safety, service, and outcomes for patients. 

• Integration – common processes, organization, infrastructure, and sharing of information 
to provide the best patient experience. 

• Individualized Medicine – utilizing advances in biomedical technologies, molecular 
medicine, and disease prediction to provide personalized health care solutions. 

• Science of Health Care Delivery – scientific study and application of innovative 
processes to improve the value of health care delivery. 

Research and Education Funding 

Medical research and education are essential components of Mayo Clinic’s mission. Overall funding for 
research and education has grown from $634.3 million in 2006 to $762.7 million in 2008.  In 2008, Mayo 
Clinic’s commitment to education, including stipends for medical residents and trainees, totaled $224.5 
million, with Mayo Clinic funds accounting for $180.0 million, or 80.2%, of this amount.  In 2008, Mayo 
Clinic expenditures for research totaled $538.2 million, with $210.8 million, or 39.2%, provided by Mayo 
Clinic funds. Government, foundations and industry sources helped fund a large portion of these 
important activities with Mayo Clinic funds, including benefactor gifts, funding the remaining amounts.  
Mayo Clinic funding for research and education over the 2006-2008 period averaged approximately $350 
million per year.  Mayo Clinic continues to pursue innovative partnerships with academic institutions, 
philanthropists, government and industry to further its research and education efforts. 

Diversification Activities 

Diversification efforts continue to provide an important source of revenue for Mayo Clinic.  In 2008, 
Mayo Clinic generated $670.9 million of revenue, gains and other support from diversification activities, 
a 27.5% increase from the $526.1 million generated in 2006. On a combined basis, Mayo Collaborative 
Services Incorporated and Mayo Clinic Health Solutions are responsible for approximately 92% of 
revenues from diversification activities.  Mayo Clinic believes diversification activities will be an 
important source of income to support research and education in the future and is actively studying new 
opportunities that are consistent with its mission and principles. In 2008, Mayo Clinic created Mayo 
Clinic Global Products and Services, whose mission is to seek innovative ways to reach health care 
consumers throughout the nation and the world by bringing together Mayo’s internet resources, telephone 
services and health information products. 

Development Program 

Mayo Clinic’s development program continues to serve as an important source of support for Mayo 
Clinic’s programs and activities. In 2005, Mayo Clinic launched a capital campaign to raise $1.25 billion 
over five years. As of December 31, 2008 Mayo Clinic had raised $1.1 billion toward the campaign goal. 
In 2008, Mayo Clinic received over 130,000 contributions totaling $232.3 million with changes in 
pledges, losses on internal and externally managed trusts and expenses totaling a negative $83.5 million 
for a net $148.8 million. Contributions available for current activities totaled $114.3 million. Gifts not 
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available for current activities (such as contributions for endowment or for capital) net of losses and 
expenses totaled $34.5 million. Contributions remained strong for the first three quarters of 2008, but fell 
below plan during the fourth quarter.  Over the past three years, total contributions, net of changes in 
pledges, gains/losses on internal and externally managed trusts and expenses, were $723.2 million or an 
average of $241.0 million annually, and the cost of raising these funds averaged about 13%. 

Investment Program 

Mayo Clinic has had an active investment program for many years, using investment returns to support 
Mayo Clinic programs and activities.  As of December 31, 2008, the market value of Mayo Clinic’s cash 
and investments was $2.8 billion.  Of this total, approximately $2.1 billion was invested in the Long Term 
Fund, Mayo’s primary commingled investment pool. The Long Term Fund, which is comprised of a mix 
of donor-restricted and board-designated endowment funds as well as various long term reserves, follows 
a total return investment strategy with the objective of generating a “real” (inflation-adjusted) return of at 
least five percent per annum over a market cycle.  By policy, approximately 85% of Long Term Fund 
assets are invested in equities and equity-related strategies such as absolute return, private equity, and real 
asset funds. The remaining approximately 15% of Long Term Fund assets are invested in bonds and/or 
cash. Approximately 52% of the Long Term Fund was invested in “alternative investments” as of 
December 31, 2008 and, based on outstanding partnership commitments, an additional $517.4 million is 
expected to be drawn down and invested over the next three to five years. For the year ended 
December 31, 2008, the Long Term Fund had a return of -17.9% and had annualized investment returns 
of 3.7%, 7.8% and 7.7% for the trailing three-year, five-year and ten-year periods respectively  

Mayo Clinic also maintains a second investment pool called the Short Term Fund that serves as a 
liquidity reserve on which it can draw for unforeseen needs. It follows a stable fixed income strategy and 
is invested solely in high quality, short-duration bonds. As of December 31, 2008 the Short Term Fund 
had a fair market value of $177.2 million. For the year ended December 31, 2008, the Short Term Fund 
earned a -0.7% return and had an annualized investment return of 3.8% for the trailing three-year period 
and 3.4% for the trailing five-year period.    

As of December 31, 2008, Mayo Clinic’s investments other than the Short Term and Long Term Funds 
consisted of $141.2 million in project funds left over from the Clinic’s 2008 bond issues, $39.0 million in 
working capital, and $316.4 million of segregated reserves, the largest components of which are deferred 
compensation assets of $135.3 million and Mayo Insurance Company Limited, with assets of $87.0 
million.  

Mayo Clinic allocates an amount equal to approximately five percent of the fair market value of its 
endowment-related investments for support of programs and activities each year.  This amount, plus an 
amount determined with reference to current year interest expense on certain Mayo Clinic debt, is 
reported as “investment return allocated to current activities” in the revenue, gains and other support 
section of its Consolidated Statements of Activities.  The balance between Mayo Clinic’s total investment 
return and the amount allocated to current activities is reported as “unallocated investment return, net” in 
the non-current and other items section of Mayo Clinic’s Consolidated Statements of Activities. Given 
Mayo Clinic’s long term investment objectives and its policy for reporting investment earnings as 
described above, “unallocated investment return, net” is subject to significant year-to-year fluctuations.  
The portion of Mayo Clinic’s investment return allocated to the revenue, gains and other support section 
of Mayo Clinic’s Consolidated Statements of Activities was $93.1 million in 2006, $111.9 million in 
2007 and $117.2 million in 2008 and the portion allocated to the non-current and other portions section of 
Mayo Clinic’s Consolidated Statements of Activities was $335.4 million in 2006, $286.0 million in 2007 
and -$744.9 million in 2008. 
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Mayo Clinic’s Treasury Services staff manages Mayo Clinic’s investment funds in consultation with a 
variety of external professional investment managers. Mayo Clinic’s Investment Committee, which is a 
standing committee of Mayo Clinic’s Board of Trustees, approves all investment policies and provides 
oversight of investment operations and performance.   

Pension Fund 

Mayo Clinic has a number of non-contributory defined benefit pension plans covering most employees.  
The plan that covers most non-union employees provides pension benefits based on years of service and 
the employee’s highest compensation during three of his or her last ten consecutive years of employment.  
Plans covering union members generally provide benefits of stated amounts for each year of service. 

During 2008, Mayo Clinic changed the measurement date used in calculating the benefit obligation 
related to pension and other benefits from September 30 of each year to December 31 of each year. As of 
December 31, 2008, the present value of the qualified projected pension benefits exceeded the fair value 
of the pension trusts assets by $1.2 billion. Mayo Clinic contributed $188.6 million to qualified pension 
trusts between October 1, 2007 and December 31, 2008, as compared to contributions to the qualified 
pension trusts of $252.6 million for pension year ending 2007 and $232.5 for pension year ending 2006.  
Mayo Clinic anticipates making regular contributions to the qualified pension trusts in the future.  Over 
the 2009-2013 period, the combined service cost for the qualified pension plans sponsored by Mayo are 
expected to be between $200 and $300 million annually. The costs of pensions, including service costs, 
interest costs, and amortization of actuarial gains and losses, are reported as an operating expense on 
Mayo Clinic’s Consolidated Statements of Activities. Mayo Clinic sponsored a non-qualified 
supplemental retirement plan which covers certain highly-compensated employees, which it restructured 
as of December 31, 2007. The present value of projected benefit obligations due under the plan was 
approximately $600 million as of December 31, 2008. Mayo Clinic anticipates annual payments of 
approximately $43 million in non-qualified pension benefits over the 2009-2018 period.  

Mayo Clinic also sponsors various defined contribution plans in which substantially all of its employees 
are eligible to participate.  Mayo Clinic contributes to certain of these plans based on predetermined 
criteria. 

Post-Retirement Healthcare Benefits 

Mayo Clinic sponsors post-retirement benefit plans that cover both salaried and non-salaried employees. 
The plans currently provide medical, dental and life insurance and are contributory for retirees below age 
65 and non-contributory for retirees age 65 and older.  The post-retirement plan is unfunded.  

In 2007 and 2008, Mayo Clinic recognized $88.8 million and $85.1 million respectively as an expense for 
post-retirement benefits under “Salaries and benefits”. The actual current service cost of post-retirement 
benefits was $40.9 million in 2007 and $37.9 million in 2008. 

In June 2001, Mayo Clinic announced changes in the post-retirement healthcare benefit program. 
Effective January 1, 2002, all new employees are now required to pay the full premium for their 
postretirement health care coverage and all current employees who retire before age 62 and with less than 
30 years of service will be required to pay a larger share of the premium. These changes are expected to 
continue to lower Mayo Clinic post-retirement healthcare benefit costs and slow the growth of the balance 
sheet liability. 
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Future Plans and Anticipated Expenditures 

In 2006, 2007 and 2008, Mayo Clinic spent $566.2 million, $696.4 million and $466.7 million net on 
purchases of property, plant and equipment in Rochester, Florida, Arizona and Mayo Health System, 
underscoring its commitment to make the capital investments that it believes are necessary to sustain and 
enhance its patient care service, research and education activities. These capital expenditures included the 
costs of building a new hospital on the campus of Mayo Clinic Florida, opening additional floors of the 
Gonda building in Rochester and an expansion to the hospital facilities by Mayo Clinic Arizona.  Mayo 
Clinic’s Board of Trustees approves Mayo Clinic’s annual capital budgets and also approves capital 
expenditures for major new projects.  For 2009, Mayo Clinic estimates its capital expenditures are 
expected to total $395 million as new major projects and base capital is reduced.  

Mayo Clinic expects to fund future capital expenditures from a variety of sources including: (1) cash flow 
from operations; (2) earnings on Mayo Clinic’s investment portfolio; (3) grants and contributions; (4) the 
proceeds of the Bonds, other issuances of bonds and other indebtedness, if determined appropriate by 
Mayo Clinic; and (5) other available funds. 

Employees 

The following table summarizes the employees of Mayo Clinic and its affiliated regional practices.  The 
numbers provided are average full time equivalent positions for 2008 and include the affiliated regional 
practices.  

Mayo Clinic and Affiliates 
2008 Average Full Time Equivalent Employees 

Staff physicians and medical scientists  3,261 

Allied health  44,344 

Residents, fellows and students      2,868 

TOTAL   50,473 

 
Approximately 1,600 employees are covered by union contracts.  The majority of the union employees 
work at Saint Marys Hospital and Methodist Hospital.  One of the collective bargaining agreements, 
which covers approximately 1,300 employees at St. Marys Hospital, is currently scheduled to expire on 
April 22, 2009 and management is in ongoing discussions with the union representing such employees.  
While it is not possible at this time to predict the outcome of these negotiations, management believes that 
a failure by the parties to reach an agreement would not have a material adverse effect on the operations 
or financial condition of Mayo Clinic and its affiliates.  Management of Mayo Clinic characterizes 
relations between itself and its affiliates and their respective employees as good. 

Professional Liability; Litigation and Regulatory Inquiries 

The practice of medicine at all Mayo entities is subjected to peer review to ensure high quality medical 
and surgical care.  Several internal attorneys work with the medical staff, respond to the patient 
complications and complaints, and mitigate the exposure to financial loss. 

Mayo Clinic maintains a formal insurance program for the financial risk of professional liability at 
Mayo’s clinical and hospital sites through Mayo Insurance Company Limited, a wholly owned captive 
insurance company. 
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The IRS is conducting an examination of Mayo Clinic and certain of its affiliates pursuant to the IRS’s 
Exempt Organizations Team Examination Program.  The examination is currently ongoing and Mayo 
Clinic is cooperating with IRS representatives.  Although Mayo Clinic believes the examination will not 
have a material adverse effect on the financial condition of Mayo Clinic, no such assurances can be given 
until the examination itself is complete. 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS 
 
 
Board of Trustees 
Mayo Clinic 
Rochester, Minnesota 
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of financial position of Mayo Clinic 
(Clinic) as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the related consolidated statements of activities 
and cash flows for the years then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the 
Clinic’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements 
based on our audits. 
 
We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. We were not 
engaged to perform an audit of the Clinic’s internal control over financial reporting. Our audits 
included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Clinic’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, 
we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence 
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting 
principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall 
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our 
opinion. 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, 
the consolidated financial position of the Clinic as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the 
consolidated changes in its net assets and its cash flows for the years then ended in conformity 
with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. 
 
As discussed in Notes 7 and 13 to the consolidated financial statements, in 2007, the Clinic 
adopted the provisions of FASB Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income 
Taxes, an Interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109, and the recognition provisions of 
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 158, Employers’ Accounting for Defined 
Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans, an Amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 
88, 106, and 132(R) (SFAS 158). In 2008, the Clinic adopted the measurement date 
provisions of SFAS 158. 

�� 
February 6, 2009 



 2

MAYO CLINIC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
DECEMBER 31, 2008 AND 2007 (In Millions)

2008 2007
ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 42.3$                  51.7$                  
Accounts receivable for medical services, less

allowances for uncollectible accounts of $385.0
in 2008 and $334.3 in 2007 1,116.7               1,101.2               

Securities lending collateral (Note 5) 79.1                    98.3                    
Other receivables (Note 15) 224.9                  277.5                  
Other current assets (Note 15) 125.3                  112.1                  

Total current assets 1,588.3               1,640.8               

Investments (Note 4) 2,660.2               3,177.0               

Investments under securities lending agreement (Note 5) 77.4                    100.9                  

Other long-term assets (Note 15) 453.4                  538.7                  

Property, plant, and equipment, net (Note 6) 3,553.6               3,533.1               
Total assets 8,332.9$             8,990.5$             

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable 229.8$                244.5$                
Accrued payroll 340.0                  334.4                  
Deferred revenue 42.5                    57.4                    
Long-term variable rate debt (Note 8) 360.0                  90.0                    
Securities lending payable (Note 5) 79.1                    98.3                    
Other current liabilities (Note 15) 340.9                  293.4                  

Total current liabilities 1,392.3               1,118.0               

Long-term debt (Note 8) 1,359.9               1,450.2               

Accrued pension and postretirement benefits (Note 13) 2,709.0               1,438.1               

Other long-term liabilities (Notes 9 and 15) 546.0                  671.8                  
Total liabilities 6,007.2               4,678.1               

Net assets (Notes 10 and 11) :
Unrestricted 970.2                  2,681.4               
Temporarily restricted 724.4                  1,033.5               
Permanently restricted 631.1                  597.5                  

Total net assets 2,325.7               4,312.4               
Total liabilities and net assets 8,332.9$             8,990.5$             

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
 



 MAYO CLINIC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF ACTIVITIES
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER  31, 2008 AND 2007 (In Millions)

2008 2007
Temporarily Permanently  Temporarily Permanently

Revenue, gains, and other support: Unrestricted Restricted Restricted Unrestricted Restricted Restricted
Net medical service revenue $ 6,143.5   $ -          $ -          $ 6,143.5   $ 5,741.2   $ -          $ -          $ 5,741.2
Grants and contracts 328.7      -          -          328.7       310.2      -          -          310.2
Investment return allocated to current activities (Note 4) 98.6        18.6        -          117.2       98.7        13.2        -          111.9
Contributions available for current activities 36.8        77.5        -          114.3       23.7        188.2      -          211.9
Premium revenue 92.8        -          -          92.8         87.3        -          -          87.3
Other (Note 16) 425.3      -          -          425.3       446.4      -          -          446.4
Net assets released from restrictions (Note 10) 201.6      (201.6)     -          -           188.0      (188.0)     -          -

Total revenue, gains, and other support 7,327.3   (105.5)     -          7,221.8   6,895.5   13.4        -          6,908.9

Expenses:
Salaries and benefits 4,627.7   -          -          4,627.7   4,370.8   -          -          4,370.8
Supplies and services 1,783.3   -          -          1,783.3   1,633.2   -          -          1,633.2
Facilities 590.6      -          -          590.6       513.2      -          -          513.2
Provision for uncollectible accounts 160.5      -          -          160.5       132.1      -          -          132.1
Finance and investment 59.7        -          -          59.7         62.5        -          -          62.5

Total expenses 7,221.8   -          -          7,221.8   6,711.8   -          -          6,711.8

Income (loss) from current activities 105.5      (105.5)     -          -           183.7      13.4        -          197.1

Noncurrent and other items:
Contributions not available for current activities, net (10.6)       11.5        33.6        34.5         (14.3)       10.8        150.3      146.8
Unallocated investment return, net (Note 4) (529.8)     (215.1)     -          (744.9)      180.3      105.7      -          286.0
Change in net deferred tax asset (Note 7) 37.6        -          -          37.6         (3.8)         -          -          (3.8)
Other (3.8)         -          -          (3.8)          (3.4)         -          -          (3.4)

Total noncurrent and other items (506.6)     (203.6)     33.6        (676.6)      158.8      116.5      150.3      425.6

(Decrease) increase in net assets before other changes in net assets (401.1)     (309.1)     33.6        (676.6)      342.5      129.9      150.3      622.7

Change in minimum pension liability (Note 13) -          -          -          -           6.2          -          -          6.2

Pension and other postretirement benefit adjustments (1,235.3)  -          -          (1,235.3)  -          -          -          -

(Decrease) increase in net assets before effect of adoption of
FASB Statement Nos. 48 and 158 (1,636.4)  (309.1)     33.6        (1,911.9)  348.7      129.9      150.3      628.9

Cumulative effect of adoption of the provisions of
     FASB Statement No. 48 (Note 7) -          -          -          -           (2.2)         -          -          (2.2)

Effect of adoption of provisions of FASB
     Statement No. 158 (Note 13) (74.8)       -          -          (74.8)        (394.3)     -          -          (394.3)

(Decrease) increase in net assets (1,711.2)  (309.1)     33.6        (1,986.7)  (47.8)       129.9      150.3      232.4

Net assets at beginning of year 2,681.4   1,033.5   597.5      4,312.4   2,729.2   903.6      447.2      4,080.0
Net assets at end of year $ 970.2      $ 724.4      $ 631.1      $ 2,325.7   $ 2,681.4   $ 1,033.5   $ 597.5      $ 4,312.4

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

 Total  Total
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MAYO CLINIC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2008 AND 2007 (In Millions)

2008 2007
Cash flows from current activities:

(Decrease) increase in net assets (1,986.7)$        232.4$            
Adjustments to reconcile changes in net assets

to net cash provided by current activities:
Depreciation and amortization 370.0              328.9              
Provision for uncollectible accounts 160.5              132.1              
Gain on sale of St. Luke’s Hospital (38.8)               -                  
Net realized and unrealized loss (gain) on investments 866.6              (295.3)             
Restricted contributions (122.6)             (349.3)             
Change in accrued pension liability as a result of

the adoption of FASB Statement No. 158 74.8                394.3              
Net change in accounts receivable

and other current assets and liabilities (156.2)             (283.4)             
Change in accrued tax liability as a result of the initial

adoption of FASB Interpretation No. 48 -                  2.2                  
Change in deferred tax asset (52.7)               3.8                  
Pension and other postretirement benefits adjustments 1,295.7           -                  
Net change in other long-term assets and liabilities 56.3                (73.1)               

Net cash provided by current activities 466.9              92.6                

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of property, plant, and equipment (466.7)             (696.4)             
Deposit on sale of St. Lukes Hospital 14.2                16.5                
Purchases of investments (2,150.8)          (1,453.3)          
Sales and maturities of investments 1,824.5           1,700.8           

Net cash used in investing activities (778.8)             (432.4)             

Cash flows from financing activities:
Restricted contributions 122.6              349.3              
Borrowings on long-term debt 420.0              3.4                  
Payment of long-term debt (240.1)             (15.4)               

Net cash provided by financing activities 302.5              337.3              

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (9.4)                 (2.5)                 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 51.7                54.2                

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 42.3$              51.7$             
See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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MAYO CLINIC 
 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2008 AND 2007 (In Millions) 
 
1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
 Organization – Mayo Clinic (Clinic) and its Arizona, Florida, Iowa, Minnesota, and 

Wisconsin affiliates provide comprehensive medical care and education in clinical medicine 
and medical sciences and conduct extensive programs in medical research. The Clinic and 
its affiliates also provide hospital and outpatient services, and at each major location, the 
clinical practice is closely integrated with advanced education and research programs. The 
Clinic and most of its subsidiaries have been determined to qualify as a tax-exempt 
organization under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code (Code) and as a non-
private foundation under Section 509(a) of the Code. 

 
 Basis of Presentation – Included in the Clinic’s consolidated financial statements are 

all of its wholly owned or wholly controlled subsidiaries, which include both tax-exempt 
and taxable entities. All significant intercompany transactions have been eliminated in 
consolidation. In addition, these statements follow generally accepted accounting principles 
applicable to the not-for-profit industry, which are included in the American Institute of 
Certified Public Accountants’ Audit and Accounting Guide, Not-for-Profit Organizations. 

 
 On January 1, 2008, the Clinic entered into a new affiliation agreement with another 

organization in St. James, Minnesota. The operations of St. James have been included in the 
consolidated financial statements as if the transaction had taken place on January 1, 2007, 
consistent with the pooling method. This transaction resulted in an increase of total assets of 
$26.1, total liabilities of $22.5, and total net assets of $3.6 for the year ended 
December 31, 2007. Also, total revenues and total expenses increased by $11.2 and $12.0, 
respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2007. 

 
 Use of Estimates – The preparation of financial statements in conformity with 

generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the 
financial statements. Estimates also affect the reported amounts of revenue and expenses 
during the reporting period. Although estimates are considered to be fairly stated at the time 
the estimates are made, actual results could differ from those estimates. 

  
 Cash and Cash Equivalents – Cash and cash equivalents include currency on hand, 

demand deposits with banks or other financial institutions, and short-term investments with 
maturities of 90 days or less from the date of purchase, which are not managed by the 
Clinic’s investment managers. 

 
 Accounts Receivable for Medical Services – Accounts receivable for medical 

services are stated at net realizable value. The Clinic estimates the allowances for 
uncollectible accounts based on historic write-offs and the aging of the accounts. Accounts 
are written off when collection efforts have been exhausted. 
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 Investments – Investments in equity, debt securities, and alternative investments are 
recorded at fair value (Note 3). Realized gains and losses are calculated based on the 
average cost method. Realized and unrealized gains and losses on investments are included 
in the consolidated statements of activities. 

  
The investments in alternative investments may individually expose the Clinic to securities 
lending, short sales, and trading in futures and forward contract options and other derivative 
products. The Clinic’s risk is limited to the investment’s carrying value. 
 
From time to time, the Clinic invests directly in certain derivative contracts that do not 
qualify for hedge accounting and are recorded at fair value in investments. Changes in fair 
value are reported as a component of net realized gains in the investment returns (Note 4). 
These contracts are used in the Clinic’s investment management program to minimize 
certain investment risks. At December 31, 2008 and 2007, the Clinic did not hold any 
derivative contracts in investments. 

 
 It is the Clinic’s intent to maintain a long-term investment portfolio to support research, 

education, and other activities. Accordingly, the total investment return is shown in the 
consolidated statements of activities in two segments. The investment return allocated to 
current activities is determined by a formula, which involves allocating 5% of a three-year 
moving average of investment returns related to endowments and additionally entails the 
matching of financing costs for the assets required for operations. Management believes this 
return is approximately equal to the real return that the Clinic expects to earn on its 
investments over the long term. The unallocated investment return, included in noncurrent 
and other items in the consolidated statements of activities, represents the difference 
between the total investment return and the amount allocated to current activities. 

  
 Property, Plant, and Equipment – Property, plant, and equipment are carried at 

cost less accumulated depreciation. Plant and equipment are depreciated over estimated 
useful lives ranging from 3 to 50 years using the straight-line method. Depreciation expense 
is reflected in facilities expense and was $369.9 and $327.6 in 2008 and 2007, respectively, 
and includes amortization of assets recorded under capital leases. 

 
Costs associated with the development and installation of internal use software are 
accounted for in accordance with Statement of Position No. 98-1, Accounting for Costs of 
Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use (SOP 98-1). Accordingly, 
internal use software costs are expensed or capitalized according to the provisions of 
SOP 98-1. 
 
Asset Retirement Obligations – The Clinic accounts for the fair value of legal 
obligations associated with long-lived asset retirements in accordance with Statement of 
Financial Accounting Standards No. 143, Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations 
(SFAS 143) and Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Interpretation No. 47, 
Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations (FIN 47). The asset retirement 
liability, recorded in other long-term liabilities, is accreted to the present value at the end of 
each period.  

 



 7

 Net Assets – Resources are classified for reporting purposes into three net asset 
categories (unrestricted, temporarily restricted, and permanently restricted) according to the 
absence or existence of donor-imposed restrictions. Temporarily restricted net assets are 
those assets, including contributions and accumulated investment returns, whose use has 
been limited by donors to specific purposes or time periods. Permanently restricted net 
assets are those for which donors require the principal of the gifts to be maintained in 
perpetuity and provide a permanent source of income. 

 
 Net Medical Service Revenue – The Clinic has agreements with third-party payors 

that provide for payments to the Clinic at amounts different from its established rates. 
Payment arrangements include prospectively determined rates per discharge, reimbursed 
costs, discounted charges, and per diem rates. Net medical service revenue is reported at the 
estimated net amounts due from patients and third-party payors for services rendered. 

  
 Grants and Contracts – Grants and contracts revenue is recognized when the 

expenses have been incurred for the purpose specified by the grantor or in accordance with 
the contract. Payments received in advance are deferred until the expenditures have been 
incurred and are reflected as deferred revenue in the consolidated statements of financial 
position. Grants and contracts expenditures that are paid on a reimbursement basis are 
included in other receivables in the consolidated statements of financial position as 
expenses are incurred. 

 
 Premium Revenue – Premium revenue represents capitated health premiums received 

by a managed care subsidiary and is recognized as revenue in the period in which enrollees 
are entitled to healthcare services. 

 
 Charity and Uncompensated Care – The Clinic provides healthcare services to 

patients who meet certain criteria under its Charity Care Policy without charge or at 
amounts less than established rates. Since the Clinic does not pursue collection of these 
amounts, they are not reported as revenue. Charges identified as foregone under this policy 
amounted to $132.0 and $104.9 in 2008 and 2007, respectively. The estimated cost of 
providing these services was $69.8 and $55.6 in 2008 and 2007, respectively. In addition to 
the charges related to the direct patient care provided under the Clinic’s Charity Care 
Policy, the Clinic has programs offered to benefit the broader community and other 
governmental reimbursement programs. In addition, the Clinic participates in various state 
Medicaid programs for indigent patients. Discounts from established charges related to 
Medicaid programs totaled $343.9 and $302.1 in 2008 and 2007, respectively. 

  
 Contributions – The Clinic classifies unrestricted contributions and temporarily 

restricted contributions that are available for current activities as revenue, based on the lack 
of specific donor restriction or the presence of donor restrictions and the ability of the Clinic 
to meet those restrictions within one year. Permanently restricted contributions and 
temporarily restricted contributions that are not available for current activities are classified 
in noncurrent and other items in the consolidated statements of activities. Development 
expenses of $36.8 and $34.6 are allocated between current ($26.2 and $19.7) and 
noncurrent ($10.6 and $14.9) in 2008 and 2007, respectively. The noncurrent portion is 
netted against unrestricted contributions in the consolidated statements of activities. 
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Unconditional promises to give are reported at fair value at the time of the pledge. An 
allowance for uncollectible pledges receivable is estimated based on a combination of 
historical experience and specific identification. Conditional promises to give are reported 
at fair value when the conditions on which they depend are substantially met or the 
probability that the condition will not be met is remote. 

  
 The Clinic periodically receives works of art from various benefactors. These items are 

unique in nature and are held on display for the benefit and enjoyment of the Clinic’s 
patients. It is the Clinic’s policy to neither capitalize contributed works of art nor record the 
related contribution revenue. 

 
 Income From Current Activities – The Clinic’s policy is to include in income from 

current activities all net medical service and other revenue, grants and contracts, investment 
return allocated to current activities, contributions available for current activities, premium 
revenue, net assets released from restrictions, and substantially all expenses. Contributions 
not available for current activities, unallocated investment return, and those items not 
expected to recur on a regular basis are included in noncurrent and other items in the 
consolidated statements of activities. 

 
 Reclassifications – Reclassifications were made to the 2007 consolidated statement of 

cash flows to conform to the classifications used in 2008. The deposit on the sale of St. 
Luke’s Hospital was reclassified from net cash flows from current activities to cash flows 
from investing activities. In addition, a reclassification was made between restricted 
contributions under cash flows from operating activities and restricted contributions under 
cash flows from financing activities. 

 
Recent Accounting Pronouncement – In March, 2008, the FASB issued Statement 
of Financial Accounting Standards No. 161, Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and 
Hedging Activities, an amendment of FASB Statement No. 133 (SFAS 161). The new 
standard requires enhanced disclosures about an entity’s derivative and hedging activities 
and thereby improves the transparency of financial reporting. SFAS 161 is effective for the 
Clinic’s financial statements beginning January 1, 2009. The Clinic is currently evaluating 
the potential impact that the adoption of this statement will have on its financial reporting. 

 
2. NET MEDICAL SERVICE REVENUE AND CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS 

WITH THIRD-PARTY PAYORS 
 
 The Clinic provides care to patients under the Medicare program and contractual 

arrangements with other third-party payors. The Medicare program pays for inpatient and 
most outpatient services at predetermined rates. Certain hospital services are reimbursed 
based on allowable costs as reported in cost reports, which are subject to retroactive audit 
and adjustment. Future changes in the Medicare program and reduction of funding levels 
could have an adverse effect on the Clinic. 

 
 Adjustments arising from reimbursement arrangements with third-party payors are accrued 

on an estimated basis in the period in which the services are rendered. Estimates for cost 
report settlements and contractual allowances can differ from actual reimbursement based 
on the results of subsequent reviews and cost report audits. The impact to net medical 
service revenue of such items was an increase of $16.7 and $10.0 in 2008 and 2007, 
respectively.  
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 Net medical service revenue under the Medicare program represented approximately 25% 
and 26% of total net medical service revenue for 2008 and 2007. At December 31, 2008 and 
2007, approximately 13% and 15%, respectively, of accounts receivable for medical 
services were due from the Medicare program. 

 
3. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 
 
  Effective January 1, 2008, the Clinic adopted the provisions of FASB Statement No. 157, 

Fair Value Measurements (SFAS 157), which defines fair value as the price that would be 
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 
market participants at the measurement date and establishes a framework for measuring fair 
value. SFAS 157 establishes a three-level hierarchy for fair value measurements based upon 
the transparency of inputs to the valuation of an asset or liability as of the measurement date. 
SFAS 157 expands disclosures about instruments measured at fair value. SFAS 157 applies 
to other accounting pronouncements that require or permit fair value measurements and, 
accordingly, SFAS 157 does not require any new fair value measurements. Adopting SFAS 
157 did not have a material impact on the Clinic’s financial position and results of 
operations.  

 
In February 2007, the FASB issued FASB Statement No. 159, The Fair Value Option for 
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities, including an amendment of FASB Statement No. 
115 (SFAS 159), which, among other things, provides an option to elect fair value as an 
alternative measurement for selected financial assets and liabilities not previously recorded 
at fair value. The Clinic did not elect fair value accounting for any assets or liabilities that 
are not currently required to be measured at fair value.  
 
As noted above, SFAS 157 establishes a three-level valuation hierarchy for disclosure of fair 
value measurements. The valuation hierarchy is based upon the transparency of inputs to the 
valuation of an asset or liability as of the measurement date. The three levels are defined as 
follows: 
 
Level 1 –  inputs to the valuation methodology are quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical 

assets or liabilities in active markets. 
Level 2 –  inputs to the valuation methodology include quoted prices for similar assets or 

liabilities in active markets, and inputs that are observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly or indirectly, for substantially the same term of the 
financial instrument. 

Level 3 –  inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable and significant to the fair 
value measurement. 

 
A financial instrument’s categorization within the valuation hierarchy is based upon the 
lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. 
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 The following table presents the financial instruments carried at fair value as of 
December 31, 2008, by caption on the statement of financial position by the SFAS 157 
valuation hierarchy defined above: 

Total
Fair

Assets Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Value

Securities lending collateral 79.1$       -$       -$         79.1$       
Investments:

Cash and cash equivalents 291.0       -         -           291.0       
Fixed income securities -           323.5      2.6           326.1       
Common and preferred stocks 420.7       -         -           420.7       
Mutual funds 405.1       56.3        -           461.4       
Alternative investments -           -         1,235.4    1,235.4    
Other 3.0           -         -           3.0           
Less securities under lending

agreement (77.4)        -         -           (77.4)        
Total investments 1,042.4    379.8      1,238.0    2,660.2    

Investments under securities lending
agreement 77.4         -         -           77.4         

Other long-term assets 114.0       -         8.3           122.3       
Total assets at fair value 1,312.9$  379.8$    1,246.3$  2,939.0$  

Liabilities

Securities lending collateral 79.1$       -$       -$         79.1$       
Total liablities at fair value 79.1$       -$       -$         79.1$       

Following is a description of the Clinic’s valuation methodologies for assets and liabilities 
measured at fair value. Fair value for Level 1 is based upon quoted market prices. Fair value 
for Level 2 is based on quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets, quoted prices 
for identical or similar instruments in markets that are not active, and model-based valuation 
techniques for which all significant assumptions are observable in the market or can be 
corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets. Inputs 
are obtained from various sources including market participants, dealers, and brokers. 
Level 3, which primarily consists of alternative investments (principally limited partnership 
interests in absolute return, hedge, private equity, real estate, and natural resources funds), 
represents the Clinic’s ownership interest in the net asset value (NAV) of the respective 
partnership. Investments held by the partnerships consist of marketable securities as well as 
securities that do not have readily determinable fair values. The fair values of the securities 
held by limited partnerships that do not have readily determinable fair values are determined 
by the general partner and are based on historical cost, appraisals, or other estimates that 
require varying degrees of judgment. If no public market exists for the investment securities, 
the fair value is determined by the general partner taking into consideration, among other 
things, the cost of the securities, prices of recent significant placements of securities of the 
same issuer, and subsequent developments concerning the companies to which the securities 
relate. 
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The methods described above may produce a fair value calculation that may not be 
indicative of net realizable value or reflective of future fair values. Furthermore, while the 
Clinic believes its valuation methods are appropriate and consistent with other market 
participants, the use of different methodologies or assumptions to determine the fair value of 
certain financial instruments could result in a different estimate of fair value at the reporting 
date. 
 

 The following table is a rollforward of the statement of financial position amounts for 
financial instruments classified by the Clinic within Level 3 of the valuation hierarchy 
defined above: 

Other Long-
Investments Term Assets Total

Fair value January 1, 2008 1,282.9$       10.6$           1,293.5$    
Realized and unrealized (losses) gains (143.5)           2.1               (141.4)        
Purchases, issuances, and settlements, net 98.6              3.0               101.6         
Transfers out -                (7.4)              (7.4)            

Fair value December 31, 2008 1,238.0$      8.3$            1,246.3$   

Amount of unrealized gains (losses) related to
financial instruments held at December 31, 2008,
included in the statement of activities (204.5)$        2.1$            (202.4)$     

The estimated fair value of long-term debt, based on quoted market prices for the same or 
similar issues, was approximately $89.0 less than its carrying value at December 31, 2008, 
and $4.7 more than its carrying value (Note 8) at December 31, 2007. 
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4. INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 
 At December 31, investments consisted of the following: 

 

Cost
Carrying 

Value Cost
Carrying 

Value
Cash, cash equivalents,

and short-term
investments 298.0$      291.0$      190.3$      189.1$      

Fixed income securities:
U.S. government 145.4        146.0        86.5          91.1          
U.S. government agencies 63.0          64.1          88.0          88.2          
U.S. corporate 141.4        116.0        114.9        113.5        

Common and preferred stocks:
U.S. 262.7        204.4        285.9        325.2        
Foreign 265.1        216.3        321.9        392.9        

Mutual funds 561.6        461.4        614.2        790.9        
Alternative investments:

Absolute return and hedge funds 557.9        655.0        507.3        747.9        
Private equity, real

estate, and natural
resources funds 679.7        580.4        551.9        532.4        

Other investments 3.0            3.0            6.5            6.7            

Total investments 2,977.8$  2,737.6   2,767.4$   3,277.9   

Securities under lending agreement (Note 5) (77.4)         (100.9)       

Investments, net 2,660.2$  3,177.0$  

2008 2007

The Clinic uses various external investment managers to diversify the investments in 
alternative assets. The largest allocation to any alternative investment strategy manager as 
of December 31, 2008 and 2007 is $144.2 and $95.3, respectively. At December 31, 2008, 
based on partnership agreements, the Clinic is committed to invest an additional $517.4 in 
alternative investments, which is expected to occur over the next five years. Alternative 
investments have liquidity restrictions. Amounts can be divested only at specified times 
based on terms in the partnership agreements. The financial statements of the limited 
partnerships are audited annually, generally as of December 31. 

 
 Investments in U.S. corporate fixed income securities included asset-backed securities of 

$27.0 and $33.5 at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. 
 
 The Clinic is required to maintain funds held by trustees under bond indentures and other 

arrangements. Cost and fair value of the trustee-held investments, which primarily consist 
of mutual funds, were $400.9 and $324.6, respectively, at December 31, 2008, and $255.3 
and $288.8, respectively, at December 31, 2007. 
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 The carrying value of mutual funds included segregated investments for deferred 
compensation plans of $135.3 and $168.5 at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. 

 
 At December 31, 2008 and 2007, cash and mutual funds included segregated investments 

owned by Mayo Foundation for Medical Education and Research, a wholly owned 
subsidiary of Mayo Clinic, for gift annuity reserves of $66.6 and $81.2, respectively. 

 
 The Clinic has designated investment balances of $807.5 and $862.0 at December 31, 2008 

and 2007, respectively, for research, education, and capital replacement and expansion. 
  
 Investment return (loss) consisted of the following for the year ended December 31: 

 
2008 2007

Dividends and interest 102.4$      97.4$        
Net realized (losses) gains (33.7)         170.5        
Net change in unrealized gains and losses (696.4)       130.0        

(627.7)$     397.9$     

Investment return (loss) (see Note 1) is reported in the consolidated statements of 
activities as follows for the year ended December 31: 

 
2008 2007

Investment return allocated to current activities 117.2$      111.9$      
Unallocated investment (losses) return, net (744.9)       286.0        

(627.7)$     397.9$     

 
5. SECURITIES LENDING 
  
 The Clinic has an arrangement with its investment custodian to lend Clinic securities to 

approved brokers in exchange for a fee. Among other provisions that limit the Clinic’s risk, 
the securities lending agreement specifies that the custodian is responsible for lending 
securities and obtaining adequate collateral from the borrower. Collateral is limited to cash, 
government securities, and irrevocable letters of credit. At December 31, 2008 and 2007, 
investment securities with an aggregate market value of $77.4 and $100.9, respectively, 
were loaned to various brokers and are returnable on demand. In exchange, the Clinic 
received cash collateral of $79.1 and $98.3, respectively. In accordance with FASB 
Statement No. 140, Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and 
Extinguishments of Liabilities, the cash collateral is shown as both an asset and a liability on 
the consolidated statements of financial position. 
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6. PROPERTY, PLANT, AND EQUIPMENT, NET 
 
 Property, plant, and equipment, net at December 31 consisted of: 

 
2008 2007

Land 184.5$        182.2$        
Buildings and improvements 3,895.2       3,507.6       
Furniture and equipment 2,320.9       2,269.0       

6,400.6       5,958.8       
Accumulated depreciation (2,939.3)      (2,855.4)      

3,461.3       3,103.4       
Construction-in-progress 92.3            429.7          

3,553.6$    3,533.1$     

The above costs and accumulated depreciation include costs for capitalized software, 
including costs capitalized in accordance with SOP 98-1. The total cost for capitalized 
software was $350.0 and $326.0 and the total accumulated amortization was $230.4 and 
$189.2 at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. Amortization expense for capitalized 
software was $46.4 and $38.6 for 2008 and 2007, respectively. 
 

7. INCOME TAXES 
 

Most of the income received by the Clinic and its subsidiaries is exempt from taxation 
under Section 501(a) of the Internal Revenue Code. Some of its subsidiaries are taxable 
entities and some of the income received by otherwise exempt entities is subject to taxation 
as unrelated business income. The Clinic or its subsidiaries files income tax returns in the 
U.S. federal, various states, and a few foreign jurisdictions. The statute of limitations for tax 
years 2005 through 2007 remains open in the major U.S. taxing jurisdictions in which the 
Clinic and subsidiaries are subject to taxation. In addition, for all tax years prior to 2005 
generating or utilizing a net operating loss (NOL), tax authorities can adjust the amount of 
NOL carryforward to subsequent years.  

 
Effective January 1, 2007 the Clinic adopted FASB Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for 
Uncertainty in Income Taxes, an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109 (FIN 48). FIN 
48 clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in a company’s 
financial statements and prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for 
the financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to 
be taken in a tax return. FIN 48 also provides guidance on description, classification, 
interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure and transition.  

 
Pursuant to FIN 48, and as a result of the implementation of FIN 48, the Clinic recognized 
an increase in the liability for unrecognized income tax benefits of approximately $4.6, of 
which $2.2 was recognized as a cumulative effect of change in accounting principle and 
reported as a change in unrestricted net assets as of January 1, 2007, and $2.4 was 
recognized as a deferred tax asset for tax assets related to net operating losses. 
 



 15

Due to expiring statute of limitations, the FIN 48 liability was decreased by $0.3 and $1.0 
in 2008 and 2007, respectively. The 2008 and 2007 increase was $0.2 related to interest and 
penalties. It is reasonably possible that unrecognized benefits will decrease by 
approximately $1.8 in the next 12 months due to expiring statutes of limitations. At 
December 31, 2008 and 2007, the FIN 48 liability was $3.8 and $3.9, respectively. 

 
The Clinic’s practice is to recognize interest and/or penalties related to income tax matters in 
income tax expense.  

 
The Clinic records deferred income taxes due to temporary differences between financial reporting 
and tax reporting for certain assets and liabilities of its taxable activities. Following is a summary of 
the components of deferred taxes as of December 31:  

 
2008 2007

Bad debt reserve 5.7$          4.5$          
Postretirement benefits 7.2            5.6            
Deferred compensation 13.4          16.1          
Net operating loss carryforwards 30.7          34.3          
Alternative minimum tax credit 2.6            4.1            
Pension benefits 16.1          1.0            
Other 6.1            3.9            
Subtotal 81.8          69.5          
Valuation allowance -            (40.4)         
Net deferred tax asset 81.8$        29.1$        

Current 8.5$          7.8$          
Noncurrent 73.3          21.3          

81.8$        29.1$        

At December 31, 2008, the Clinic has net operating loss carryforwards of $87.8 for federal income tax 
purposes, which begin to expire in 2010. 
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8. FINANCING 
 

 Long-term debt at December 31 consisted of: 
2008 2007

City of Rochester, Minnesota Revenue Bonds issued in
various series, subject to variable interest rates to a 
maximum rate of 15% (the average rate was 1.83% in
2008 and 3.69 % in 2007), principal due in varying
amounts from 2018 through 2038 1,110.0$   780.0$      

City of Rochester, Minnesota Revenue Bonds issued in 
various series with fixed rates of interest ranging from 5.0% to 
6.15%, principal due in varying amounts from 2009
through 2036, net of unamortized discount of $(0.4) and
unamortized premium of $1.4 at December 31, 2008 and
net of unamortized discount of $(1.3) and unamortized 
premium of $1.5 at December 31, 2007 100.9        338.0        

Industrial Development Authority of the County of 
Maricopa Hospital Revenue Bonds issued in various 
series, with fixed interest rates ranging from 5.0% to 5.25%,
principal due in varying amounts from 2031 through 2036,
net of unamortized premium of $1.0 at December 31, 2008
and 2007 166.0        166.0        

Jacksonville Economic Development Commission Health
Care Facilities Revenue Bonds issued in various series, 
with fixed interest rates ranging from 5.0% to 5.5%,
principal due in varying amounts from 2031 to 2036, net of
unamortized premium of $2.3 at December 31, 2008
and 2007 227.3        227.3        

Wisconsin Health and Educational Facilities Authority Revenue
Bonds, Series 2008, subject to variable interest rates
adjusted annually (the average rate was 1.62% in
2008), principal due in varying amounts from 2011
through 2030 90.0          -            

Other notes payable 40.7          44.6          
1,734.9     1,555.9     

Long-term variable rate debt classified as current (360.0)       (90.0)         
Current maturites included in other current liabilities (15.0)         (15.7)         

1,359.9$   1,450.2$  

The Clinic’s outstanding revenue bond issues are limited obligations of various issuing 
authorities payable solely by the Clinic pursuant to loan agreements between the borrowing 
entities and the issuing authorities. Under various financing agreements, the Clinic must 
meet certain operating and financial performance covenants. 
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At December 31, 2008, the $1,110.0 of City of Rochester, Minnesota variable rate bonds 
and $90.0 of Wisconsin Health and Educational Facilities Authority variable rate bonds 
included $220.0 of term rate revenue bonds and $980.0 of variable rate demand revenue 
bonds. In conjunction with the issuance of certain variable rate demand revenue bonds, the 
Clinic has entered into various bank standby purchase and credit agreements in the amount 
of $840.0 that expire at various dates commencing January 2010. Under the terms of these 
agreements, the bank will make liquidity loans to the Clinic in the amount necessary to 
purchase a portion of the variable rate demand revenue bonds if not remarketed. The 
liquidity loans would be payable over a three- to five-year period, with the first payment due 
after December 31, 2010. The Clinic has provided self-liquidity for the remaining $360.0 
variable rate demand revenue bonds, which have been classified as current in the 
accompanying consolidated statements of financial position. 
 
In April 2008, the City of Rochester, Minnesota, and Wisconsin Health and Educational 
Facilities Authority, on behalf of Mayo Clinic, issued variable rate bonds in the aggregate 
principal amount of $420.0. These bonds were issued for the payment of certain costs of 
constructing, renovating and equipping certain healthcare facilities, including a new bed 
tower in Eau Claire, Wisconsin; and the refunding of the fixed rate City of Rochester, 
Minnesota Revenue Bonds in the amount of $227.1, which were paid off in May 2008. The 
loss on extinguishment of the fixed rate bonds was not significant. 
 
All fixed rate interest revenue bonds are callable after May 15, 2008, at redemption prices 
ranging from 101% to 102% of the principal amount.    

 
 The following are scheduled maturities of long-term debt for each of the next five years, 

assuming the variable rate demand revenue bonds are remarketed: 
 

2009 15.0$        
2010 15.2          
2011 5.7            
2012 6.0            
2013 6.3            

 
 Interest payments on long-term debt, net of amounts capitalized for 2008 and 2007, totaled 

$51.0 and $54.1, respectively. The amount of interest capitalized, net of related interest 
income was $5.0 and $15.8 during 2008 and 2007, respectively. Interest expense totaled 
$53.7 and $58.5 for 2008 and 2007, respectively. 

 
 At December 31, 2008 and 2007, the Clinic had unsecured lines of credit available with 

banks totaling $125.0, with varying renewable terms and interest up to 0.25% over various 
published rates. There were no amounts drawn at December 31, 2008 and 2007. 

 
 Irrevocable letters of credit exist to support the Clinic’s self-insured workers’ compensation 

plan in the amount of $28.9 as of December 31, 2008 and 2007. 
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9. LEASE COMMITMENTS 
 
 Certain leases are classified as capital leases. The leased assets are included as part of 

property, plant, and equipment (Note 6) and the capital lease obligations of $36.6 and $31.9 
as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively, are recorded in other current and long-term 
liabilities. Other leases are classified as operating and are not capitalized. The payments on 
such leases are recorded as expense. Details of the capitalized leased assets are as follows at 
December 31: 

 
2008 2007

Buildings and equipment 34.2$        32.1$        
Furniture and equipment 9.6            4.8            

43.8          36.9          
Accumulated amortization (6.8)           (4.3)           

37.0$        32.6$       

Rental expense incurred for operating leases was $21.1 and $16.3 for years ended 
December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. 

  
 At December 31, 2008, the estimated future minimum lease payments under noncancellable 

operating leases and capital leases were as follows: 
 

Operating Capital

2009 17.0$        4.1$          
2010 15.9          2.8            
2011 9.9            2.3            
2012 8.2            2.2            
2013 5.9            1.6            
Thereafter 32.1          33.6          

89.0$        46.6         
Less amount representing interest (10.0)         
Net minimum lease payments under capital leases 36.6$       
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10. CONTRIBUTIONS AND RESTRICTED EXPENDITURES 
 
 The Clinic receives unrestricted, temporarily restricted, and permanently restricted 

contributions in support of research, education, and clinical activities. 
 
Temporarily restricted net assets were available for the following purposes or periods at 
December 31: 

 
2008 2007

Research 210.5$      290.0$      
Education 157.7        217.6        
Buildings and equipment 18.4          102.6        
Charity 27.5          33.9          
Clinical 42.2          51.3          
Other 40.1          43.0          
Pledges and trusts, subject to time restrictions 228.0        295.1        

724.4$      1,033.5$  

Permanently restricted net assets at December 31 are summarized below, the income from 
which is expendable to support: 

 
2008 2007

Research 315.0$      248.9$      
Education 99.9          94.9          
Buildings and equipment 0.1            0.7            
Charity care 8.1            7.8            
Clinical 32.4          25.3          
Other 20.9          24.4          
Pledges and trusts, subject to time restrictions 154.7        195.5        

631.1$      597.5$     

Net assets were released from donor restrictions as expenditures were made, net of transfer 
from unrestricted net asset for deficiencies in donor-restricted endowment funds (Note 11), 
which satisfied the following restricted purposes for the years ended December 31:
 

2008 2007

Research 77.4$        100.1$      
Education 17.3          14.7          
Buildings and equipment 104.0        63.2          
Other 2.9            10.0          

201.6$      188.0$     
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 At December 31, outstanding pledges from various corporations, foundations, and 
individuals, included in other current receivables and other long-term assets, were as 
follows: 

 
2008 2007

Pledges due:
In less than one year 94.2$          100.3$        
In one to five years 188.1          198.5          
In more than five years 28.1            31.8            

310.4          330.6          
Allowance for uncollectible pledges

and discounts (31.5)           (29.3)           
278.9$        301.3$       

Estimated cash flows from pledge receivables due after one year are discounted using 
published treasury bond and note yields, ranging from 0.78% to 5.11%, that are 
commensurate with the pledges’ due dates. 

  
 The Clinic has received interests in various split interest, perpetual, and charitable 

remainder trusts from donors which are included in other long-term assets. The trusts, 
which are recorded at fair value based on the underlying value of the assets in the trust or 
discounted cash flow of the expected payment streams, were $114.0 and $164.9 at 
December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. 

 
 In response to the global financial and economic crisis, the Clinic reviewed the pledges and 

trust receivables for impairment during the fourth quarter of 2008. This resulted in a $6.7 
write-down of the pledges receivable and a $19.9 write-down of the trust receivables. 

 
11. ENDOWMENT 
 
 In August 2008, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position No. 117-1, Endowments of Not-for-

Profit Organizations: Net Asset Classification of Funds Subject to an Enacted Version of 
the Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional Funds Act, and Enhanced Disclosures for 
All Endowment Funds (FSP FAS 117-1), which, among other things, provides guidance on 
the net asset classification of donor-restricted endowment funds for a not-for-profit 
organization that is subject to an enacted version of the Uniform Prudent Management of 
Institutional Act of 2006 (UPMIFA) and additional disclosures about an organization’s 
endowment funds. In 2008, the State of Minnesota adopted UPMIFA. The adoption of 
UPMIFA had no effect on accounting for the Clinic’s endowment. The following 
disclosures are made as required by FSP FAS 117-1. 

 
 The Clinic’s endowment consists of approximately 900 individual funds established for a 

variety of purposes. The endowment includes both donor-restricted endowment funds and 
funds designated by the Board of Trustees to function as endowments. Net assets associated 
with endowment funds, including funds designated by the Board of Trustees to function as 
endowments, are classified and reported based on the existence or absence of donor-
imposed restrictions. 
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 The Board of Trustees of the Clinic has interpreted the Minnesota State Prudent 
Management of Institutional Funds Act (SPMIFA) as requiring the preservation of the fair 
value of the original gift as of the gift date of the donor-restricted endowment funds absent 
explicit donor stipulations to the contrary. As a result of this interpretation, the Clinic 
classifies as permanently net restricted assets (a) the original value of gifts donated to the 
permanent endowment, (b) the original value of subsequent gifts to the permanent 
endowment, and (c) accumulations to the permanent endowment made in accordance with 
the direction of the applicable donor gift instrument at the time the accumulation is added to 
the fund. The remaining portion of the donor-restricted endowment fund that is not 
classified in permanently restricted net assets is classified as temporarily restricted net 
assets until those amounts are appropriated for expenditure by the organization in a manner 
consistent with the standard of prudence prescribed by SPMIFA. In accordance with 
SPMIFA, the Clinic considers the following factors in making a determination to 
appropriate or accumulate donor-restricted funds: 

 
(1) The duration and preservation of the fund 
(2) The purposes of the Clinic and the donor-restricted endowment fund 
(3) General economic conditions 
(4) The possible effect of inflation and deflation 
(5) The expected total return from income and the appreciation of investments 
(6) Other resources of the Clinic 
(7) The investment policies of the Clinic 

  
 The Clinic has adopted investment and spending policies for endowment assets that attempt 

to provide a predictable stream of funding to programs supported by its endowment while 
seeking to maintain purchasing power of the endowment assets. Endowment assets include 
those assets of donor-restricted funds that the Clinic must hold in perpetuity or for a donor-
specific period(s) as well as board-designated funds. Under this policy, as approved by the 
Board of Trustees, the endowment assets are invested in a manner that is intended to 
produce a real return, net of inflation and investment management costs, of at least 5% over 
the long term. Actual returns in any given year may vary from this amount. 

 
 To satisfy its long-term rate-of-return objectives, the Clinic relies on a total return strategy 

in which investment returns are achieved through both capital appreciation (realized and 
unrealized) and current yield (interest and dividends). The Clinic targets a diversified asset 
allocation that places a greater emphasis on equity-based and alternative investments to 
achieve its long-term objective within prudent risk constraints.  

 
The Clinic has a policy of appropriating for distribution each year 5% of its endowment 
fund’s moving average fair value over the prior 36 months as of September 30 of the 
preceding fiscal year in which the distribution is planned. In establishing this policy, the 
Clinic considered the long-term expected return on its endowment. Accordingly, over the 
long term, the Clinic expects the current spending policy to allow its endowment to grow at 
an average of the long-term rate of inflation. This is consistent with the Clinic’s objective to 
maintain the purchasing power of the endowment assets held in perpetuity or for a specific 
term as well as to provide additional real growth through new gifts and investment return. 
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At December 31, 2008, the endowment net asset composition by type of fund consisted
of the following:

Unrestricted
Temporarily 
Restricted

Permanently 
Restricted Total

Donor-restricted funds (29.2)$           308.1$          631.1$          910.0$      
Board-designated funds 632.3            -                -                632.3        

Total funds 603.1$         308.1$         631.1$          1,542.3$  

Changes in endowment net assets for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008, consisted
of the following:

Unrestricted
Temporarily 
Restricted

Permanently 
Restricted Total

Endowment net assets,
beginning of year 698.0$          476.6$          597.5$          1,772.1$   

Investment return:
Investment income 22.2              26.3              -                48.5          
Net depreciation

(realized and unrealized) (182.3)           (161.6)           -                (343.9)       
Total investment loss (160.1)           (135.3)           -                (295.4)       

Contributions 38.1              -                33.6              71.7          

Appropriation of endowment
assets for expenditure (48.9)             (33.2)             -                (82.1)         

Other changes:
Transfers to create board-

designated endowment
funds 76.0              -                -                76.0          

Endowment net assets,
end of year 603.1$         308.1$         631.1$          1,542.3$  

At December 31, 2007, the endowment net asset composition by type of fund consisted
of the following:

Unrestricted
Temporarily 
Restricted

Permanently 
Restricted Total

Donor-restricted funds -$              476.6$          597.5$          1,074.1$   
Board-designated funds 698.0            -                -                698.0        

Total funds 698.0$         476.6$         597.5$          1,772.1$  
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Changes in endowment net assets for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007, consisted
of the following:

Unrestricted
Temporarily 
Restricted

Permanently 
Restricted Total

Endowment net assets,
beginning of year 562.0$          413.2$          447.2$          1,422.4$   

Investment return:
Investment income 17.8              22.2              -                40.0          
Net appreciation

(realized and unrealized) 64.8              81.6              -                146.4        
Total investment return 82.6              103.8            -                186.4        

Contributions 16.6              -                150.3            166.9        

Appropriation of endowment
assets for expenditure (24.9)             (40.4)             -                (65.3)         

Other changes:
Transfers to create board-

designated endowment
funds 61.7              -                -                61.7          

Endowment net assets,
end of year 698.0$         476.6$         597.5$          1,772.1$  

From time to time, the fair value of assets associated with individual donor-restricted 
endowment funds may fall below the level that the donor or SPMIFA requires the Clinic to 
retain as a fund of perpetual duration. Deficiencies of this nature, which are reported in 
unrestricted net assets, were $29.2 as of December 31, 2008. These deficiencies resulted 
from unfavorable market fluctuations that occurred shortly after the investment of new 
permanently restricted contributions and continued appropriation for certain programs that 
was deemed prudent by the Board of Trustees. There were no such deficiencies as of 
December 31, 2007. 
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12. FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES 
 
 The expenses reported in the consolidated statements of activities were incurred for the 

following: 
 

2008 2007

Patient care 5,629.6$   5,183.3$   
Research 538.2        495.2        
Graduate and other education 224.5        215.3        
Lab and technology ventures 589.3        507.9        
Other activities 97.2          138.8        
General and administrative 143.0        171.3        

7,221.8$   6,711.8$  

 
13. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PROGRAMS 
 
 The Clinic serves as plan sponsor for several defined-benefit pension funds and other 

postretirement benefits. 
  
 On December 31, 2007, the Clinic adopted the recognition and disclosure provisions of 

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 158, Employers Accounting for Defined 
Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans, an amendment of FASB Statements 
No. 87, 88, 106, and 132(R) (SFAS 158). SFAS 158 required the Clinic to recognize the 
funded status (i.e., the difference between the fair value of plan assets and the benefit 
obligation) of its pension and other postretirement plans in the December 31, 2007, 
consolidated statement of financial position, with a corresponding adjustment to unrestricted 
net assets. The adjustment to unrestricted net assets at adoption represents the net 
unrecognized actuarial losses and unrecognized prior service benefit, all of which were 
previously netted against the plans’ funded status in the Clinic’s consolidated statement of 
financial position pursuant to the provisions of FASB Statement No. 87, Employers’ 
Accounting for Pensions. These amounts will be subsequently recognized as net periodic 
cost pursuant to the Clinic’s historical accounting policy for amortizing such amounts. 
Further, actuarial gains and losses that arise in subsequent periods and are not recognized as 
net periodic cost in the same periods will be recognized as other changes in unrestricted net 
assets. Those amounts will be subsequently recognized as a component of net periodic 
cost on the same basis as the amounts recognized in unrestricted net assets at adoption of 
SFAS 158.  
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 The incremental effects of adopting the provisions of SFAS 158 on the Clinic’s statement of 
financial position at December 31, 2007, are presented in the following table. The adoption 
of SFAS 158 had no effect on the Clinic’s changes in net assets from operating activities for 
the year ended December 31, 2007, or for any prior period presented, and it will not affect 
the Clinic’s operating results in future periods. 

 
Prior to Adopting Effect of Adopting As Reported at

SFAS 158 SFAS 158 December 31, 2007

Prepaid pension asset -$                  58.1$                  58.1$                      
Accrued pension liablility (228.5)               (322.5)                (551.0)                     
Accrued other postretirement liability (797.5)               (129.9)                (927.4)                     
Other changes in net assets 80.1                  394.3                  474.4                      

 
 The provision of SFAS 158 that required the Clinic to measure plan assets and benefit 

obligations as of the date of the employer’s fiscal year-end in the statement of financial 
position was adopted in 2008. The effect of moving the measurement date from September 
30 to December 31 of $74.8 on the Clinic’s statement of consolidated financial position has 
been recognized as an adjustment to unrestricted net assets in the consolidated statement of 
activities. This represents the service cost, interest cost, and expected return on plan assets 
for October 1, 2007 through December 31, 2007.  

 
 Included in other changes in unrestricted net assets at December 31, 2008 and 2007, are the 

following amounts, respectively, that have not yet been recognized in net periodic cost: 
unrecognized actuarial losses of $1,903.2 and $651.9 and unrecognized prior service benefit 
of $177.2 and $177.5. Actuarial losses are amortized as a component of net periodic pension 
cost, only if the losses exceed 10% of the greater of the projected benefit obligation or the 
fair value of plan assets. Unrecognized prior service benefits are amortized on a straight-line 
basis over the estimated life of plan participants. The unrecognized actuarial losses and prior 
service benefit included in net assets are expected to be recognized in net periodic pension 
cost during the year ending December 31, 2009, in the amount of $51.3 and $28.4, 
respectively.  
 
Changes in plan assets and benefit obligations recognized in unrestricted net assets during 
2008 included: 

2008

Current year actuarial loss 1,277.2$   
Amortization of actuarial loss (42.5)        
Current year prior service cost (25.1)        
Amortization of prior service credit 25.7          

1,235.3$   
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Following is a summary of the changes in the benefit obligation and plan assets, the 
resulting funded status of the qualified and nonqualified pension plans, and accumulated 
benefit obligation: 
 

Qualified Nonqualified Qualified Nonqualified

Change in projected benefit obligation
Benefit obligation at beginning

of year 3,729.7$        554.5$         3,520.2$      498.6$         
Service cost 188.4             (1.8)              176.7           (8.3)              
Interest cost 233.1             34.7             207.0           29.5             
Actuarial loss (gain) 139.4             35.0             (19.1)            60.2             
Plan change (10.6)              -               -               -               
Adjustment for change

in measurement date 67.7               4.6               -               -               
Settlements -                 (0.9)              -               -               
Benefits paid (147.2)            (29.6)            (155.1)          (25.5)            

Estimated benefit obligation
at end of year 4,200.5$       596.5$        3,729.7$      554.5$        

Change in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets at

beginning of year 3,787.8$        -$             3,078.6$      -$             
Actual return on plan assets (848.9)            -               611.7           -               
Employer contributions 188.6             30.5             252.6           25.5             
Adjustment for change

in measurement date 29.4               -               -               -               
Settlements -                 (0.9)              
Benefits paid (147.2)            (29.6)            (155.1)          (25.5)            

Fair value of plan assets at
end of year 3,009.7$       -$            3,787.8$      -$            

Funded status of the plan (1,190.8)$       (596.5)$        58.1$           (554.5)$        
Contributions made after

measurement date -                 -               -               3.5               
Net amount recognized (1,190.8)$      (596.5)$       58.1$           (551.0)$       

Pension Benefits
2008 2007

 

Qualified Nonqualified Qualified Nonqualified
Accumulated benefit obligation 3,248.8$    394.9$       2,883.8$   366.0$        

2008 2007
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 Amounts recognized in the consolidated statements of financial position consist of: 
   

Qualified Nonqualified Qualified Nonqualified

Noncurrent asset -$          -$            58.1$         -$            
Current liabilities -            (54.8)           -            (18.8)           
Noncurrent liabilities (1,190.8)    (541.7)         -            (532.2)         
Net amount recognized (1,190.8)$ (596.5)$      58.1$         (551.0)$      

2008 2007

In 2008, one the Clinic’s pension plans had a plan change where the multiple of salary 
portion of the preretirement death benefit was removed. 
 
Components of net periodic benefit cost are as follows: 
 

Qualified Nonqualified Qualified Nonqualified

Service cost 188.4$         (1.8)$             176.7$        (8.3)$             
Interest cost 233.1           34.7              207.0          29.5              
Expected return on plan assets (276.7)         -                (226.2)         -                
Amortization of unrecognized:

Prior service benefit (5.3)             (0.9)               (5.3)             (0.9)               
Net actuarial loss 18.7             16.1              36.8            13.3              
Change in measurement date 41.6             12.0              -              -                

Net periodic benefit cost 199.8$        60.1$           189.0$        33.6$           

2008 2007

The Clinic expects to contribute $508.1 to its pension plans in 2009. 
 
The largest of the pension funds is the Mayo Clinic Master Retirement Trust Plan, which 
holds $2,967.6 of the $3,009.7 in combined plan assets at December 31, 2008. The 
investment policies described below apply to the Mayo Clinic Master Retirement Trust. 
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The Mayo Clinic Master Retirement Trust Plan’s weighted-average asset allocations, by 
category, are as follows at December 31: 
 

Asset Category

Asset 
Allocation 

Target 2008 2007

Equity securities 35-55% 27.9% 40.6%
Debt securities 15-30% 20.6% 21.2%
Alternative investments:

Private equity and real asset investments 5-15% 25.2% 13.3%
Absolute return funds 5-30% 26.3% 24.5%

Other 0.0% 0.4%
100.0% 100.0%

 
The Clinic employs a global, multi-asset approach in managing its retirement plan assets. 
This approach is designed to maximize risk-adjusted returns over a long-term investment 
horizon, consistent with the nature of the pension liabilities being funded. The plan asset 
portfolio’s target allocation for total return investment strategies, which include public 
equities, private equities, absolute return, and real assets, is 82%. The portfolio’s target 
fixed income exposure is 18%. The fixed income exposure may include the use of long-
term interest rate swap contracts structured to increase the portfolio’s interest rate sensitivity 
and thereby provide a hedge of the plan liabilities resulting from falling long-term interest 
rates. Investments in private equities, real assets, and absolute return strategies are held to 
improve diversification and thereby enhance long-term, risk-adjusted returns. However, 
recognizing that these investments are not as liquid as publicly traded stocks and bonds, 
portfolio investment policies limit overall exposure to these assets. The portfolio’s 
allocation to private equities and real assets is limited to a maximum of 25% (with a target 
allocation of 18%) and exposure to absolute return strategies is limited to a maximum of 
30% (with a target of 20%). The Clinic reviews performance, asset allocation, and risk 
management reports for plan asset portfolios on a monthly basis. 

 
 No plan assets are expected to be returned to the employer during 2009. 
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The Clinic also serves as plan sponsor for other postretirement benefits. A summary of the 
changes in the benefit obligation and plan assets and the resulting funded status of the 
postretirement plans is as follows: 
 

2008 2007
Change in projected benefit obligation
Benefit obligation at the beginning of year 933.9$      926.1$      

Service cost 37.9          40.9          
Interest cost 58.9          55.0          
Plan participants’ contributions 4.6            4.5            
Medicare subsidy 3.9            0.6            
Actuarial loss (gain) 14.0          (63.1)         
Curtailment (12.6)         -            
Plan change (21.1)         -            
Adjustment for change in measurement date 17.7          -            
Benefits paid (33.7)         (30.1)         

Estimated benefit obligation at end of year 1,003.5$  933.9$     

Change in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year -$          -$          

Employer contributions 25.2          25.0          
Plan participants’ contributions 4.6            4.5            
Medicare subsidy 3.9            0.6            
Benefits paid (33.7)         (30.1)         

Fair value of plan assets at end of year -$          -$         

Funded status of the plan (1,003.5)$  (933.9)$     
Contributions made after measurement date -            6.5            

Net amount recognized (1,003.5)$ (927.4)$    

 
Amounts recognized in the consolidated statements of financial position for postretirement 
benefits consist of: 

2008 2007

Current liabilities (27.0)$       (21.5)$       
Noncurrent liabilities (976.5)       (905.9)       
Net amount recognized (1,003.5)$  (927.4)$    

The postretirement plans were changed in 2008 whereas the Clinic began offering common 
medical plan design offerings to employees at all three main Mayo locations (Rochester, 
Florida, and Arizona). In addition, the postretirement life insurance benefit was changed 
from one times final salary grading down 10% each year after retirement with a minimum 
amount to a flat benefit. The change in postretirement life insurance benefits resulted in the 
recognition of a curtailment gain of $3.2 after netting existing losses. 
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Components of net periodic benefit cost for postretirement benefits are as follows: 

2008 2007

Service cost 37.9$        40.9$        
Interest cost 58.9          55.0          
Amortization of:

Unrecognized prior service benefit (19.5)         (19.5)         
Unrecognized net actuarial loss 7.8            12.4          

Net periodic benefit cost for postretirement benefits 85.1$        88.8$       

The Clinic has concluded that the prescription drug benefits under its defined-benefit 
postretirement plan are actuarially equivalent to Medicare Part D under the Medicare 
Modernization Act (the Act) and that the Clinic will receive the subsidy available under the 
Act. 
 

 The following reflects the expected future Medicare Part D subsidy receipts: 
 

 

2009 2.8$          
2010 3.1            
2011 3.5            
2012 3.9            
2013 4.4            
Years 2014-2018 31.4           

  
The 2008 annual healthcare cost trend rate of 8.3% is assumed to decline to the ultimate 
trend rate of 5.0% by 2011. This assumption has a significant effect on the amounts 
reported. 
 
A one-percentage-point change in the assumed healthcare cost trend rate would have the 
following effects: 

One-
Percentage-

Point 
Increase

One-
Percentage-

Point 
Decrease

Effect on total service and interest cost components in 2008 18.0$        (14.1)$       
Effect on postretirement benefit obligation at December 31, 2008 158.1        (127.8)       
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Weighted-average assumptions used to determine pension and postretirement benefit 
obligations at the measurement date are as follows: 

 

2008 2007 2008 2007

Discount rate 6.32% 6.37% 6.16% 6.38%
Rate of compensation increase 4.41% 4.42% N/A N/A

Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits

 
Weighted-average assumptions used to determine net periodic pension and post 
retirement benefit cost are as follows:  
 

2008 2007 2008 2007

Discount rate 6.37% 6.00% 6.38% 6.00%
Expected long-term return on

plan assets 8.25% 8.00% N/A N/A
Rate of compensation increase 4.42% 3.90% N/A N/A

Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits

 
The Clinic utilizes a building block approach in determining the expected long-term rate of 
return for its plan assets. First, historical data on individual asset class returns are studied. 
Next, the historical correlation among and between asset class returns is studied under both 
normal conditions and in times of market turbulence. Then, various mixes of asset classes 
are considered under multiple long-term investment scenarios. Finally, after considering 
liquidity concerns related to the use of certain alternative asset classes, the plan sponsor 
selects the portfolio blend that it believes will produce the highest expected long-term return 
on a risk-adjusted basis.   
 
The following benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are 
expected to be paid: 
 

Qualified Nonqualified

2009 155.5$      56.4$            27.8$        
2010 161.2        47.0              30.9          
2011 167.6        35.0              34.5          
2012 192.8        31.0              38.2          
2013 212.2        37.4              42.5          
Years 2014-2018 1,459.3     218.2            287.8        

Pension Benefits
Post-

retirement 
Benefits

In addition to the defined benefit plans, the Clinic sponsors various defined-contribution 
benefit plans. Expense recognized by the Clinic for those plans was $26.4 and $23.0 for 
2008 and 2007, respectively. 
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14. GENERAL AND PROFESSIONAL LIABILITY INSURANCE 
 

The Clinic insures substantially all general and professional liability risks through a 
combination of a wholly owned captive insurance company and self-insurance. The 
insurance program combines various levels of self-insured retention with excess 
commercial insurance coverage. Actuarial consultants have been retained to assist in the 
estimation of outstanding general and professional liability risks.  
 
The Clinic’s general and professional liability is reported in the accompanying consolidated 
statements of financial position at present value based on a 5.0% discount rate for 2008 and 
2007. The discounted liability was $122.4 and $109.9 at December 31, 2008 and 2007, 
respectively. Provisions for the general and professional liability risks are based on an 
actuarial estimate of losses using the Clinic’s actual loss data adjusted for industry trends 
and current conditions and considering an evaluation of claims by the Clinic’s legal counsel. 
The provision includes estimates of ultimate costs for both reported claims and claims 
incurred but not reported. 
 
Activity in the discounted liability is summarized as follows: 
 

2008 2007

Balance, beginning of year 109.9$   108.9$   

Incurred related to captive insurance
company liability:

Current year 22.7       18.5       
Prior years 2.0         9.1         

Total incurred 24.7       27.6       

Paid related to captive insurance
company liability:

Current year (0.1)        -         
Prior years (6.8)        (29.3)      

Total paid (6.9)        (29.3)      

Net change in self insurance liability (5.3)        2.7         

Balance, end of year 122.4$  109.9$   
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15. OTHER RECEIVABLES, OTHER CURRENT AND LONG-TERM ASSETS, AND 
OTHER CURRENT AND LONG-TERM LIABILITIES 

 
 At December 31, other receivables consisted of the following: 
 

2008 2007

Pledges receivable 94.2$        100.3$      
Grants receivable 48.3          65.1          
Estates receivable 6.8            35.3          
Other 75.6          76.8          

224.9$      277.5$     

 At December 31, other current assets consisted of the following: 
 

2008 2007

Inventories 83.7$        76.1$        
Prepaid expenses 33.1          28.2          
Current portion of deferred tax asset 8.5            7.8            

125.3$      112.1$     

 
At December 31, other long-term assets consisted of the following: 
 

2008 2007

Trust receivables 114.0$      164.9$      
Pledges receivable 184.7        201.0        
Noncurrent pension asset -            58.1          
Long-term portion of deferred tax asset 73.3          21.2          
Other 81.4          93.5          

453.4$      538.7$     
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At December 31, other current liabilities consisted of the following: 
  

2008 2007

Accrued employee benefits 79.2$        68.6$        
Other taxes 19.8          17.1          
Other accruals 4.2            19.4          
Real estate tax accrual 13.5          12.4          
Short-term disability 16.6          16.8          
Current maturities of long-term debt 15.0          15.7          
Current portion of long-term disability 13.4          11.2          
Current portion of professional and general liability 26.1          24.1          
Current portion of workers’ compensation liability 9.8            8.1            
Current pension and post retirement benefit 81.8          40.3          
Other 61.5          59.7          

340.9$      293.4$     

 At December 31, other long-term liabilities consisted of the following: 
  

2008 2007

Deferred compensation 136.3$      169.5$      
Professional and general liability 96.3          85.8          
St. Luke’s Hospital Association deposit (Note 18) -            105.0        
Trust obligations 34.1          49.3          
Long-term disability 65.7          50.7          
Gift annuities 48.9          44.9          
Lease agreement liability 33.6          30.7          
Retirement community obligations 29.6          28.6          
Asset retirement obligation 24.0          21.4          
Contract deposit 22.0          22.0          
Workers’ compensation liability 14.0          12.8          
Other 41.5          51.1          

546.0$      671.8$     
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16. OTHER REVENUE 
 

For the year ended December 31, other revenue consisted of the following: 
 

2008 2007

Retail pharmacy sales 123.7$      116.2$      
Technology commercialization, health information,

and medical products 53.9          58.1          
Graduate medical and other education revenue 46.2          57.7          
Net gain on sale of assets 33.3          4.1            
Royalties 25.6          27.9          
Cafeteria revenue 28.8          27.4          
Third-party administrative revenue 31.0          25.0          
Other 82.8          130.0        

425.3$      446.4$     

17. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
 
 The Clinic has various construction projects in progress related to patient care, research, and 

educational facilities. The estimated costs committed to complete the various projects at 
December 31, 2008, approximated $296.0, all of which is expected to be expended over the 
next two years. 

 
 One of the Clinic’s affiliation agreements limits the involvement of a third party in 

operations of a consolidated affiliate. A process exists to resolve disputes; however, in the 
event of an irreconcilable dispute between the parties, the agreement further provides for a 
one-time payment of approximately $76.6 by the consolidated affiliate to release the third 
party from the affiliation. Such payment would be subordinate to other debtors of the 
consolidated affiliated entity. No amount has been accrued in the consolidated financial 
statements for this contingency. 

 
 While the Clinic is self-insured for a substantial portion of its general and workers’ 

compensation liabilities, the Clinic maintains commercial insurance coverage against 
catastrophic loss. Additionally, the Clinic maintains a self-insurance program for its long-
term disability coverage. The provision for estimated self-insured claims includes estimates 
of the ultimate costs for both reported claims and claims incurred but not reported.  

  
Laws and regulations concerning government programs, including Medicare, Medicaid, and 
various research grant programs, are complex and subject to varying interpretation. As a 
result, there is at least a reasonable possibility that recorded estimates will change by a 
material amount in the near term. As a result of nationwide investigations by governmental 
agencies, various healthcare organizations have received requests for information and 
notices regarding alleged noncompliance with those laws and regulations, which, in some 
instances, have resulted in organizations entering into significant settlement agreements. 
Compliance with such laws and regulations may also be subject to future government 
review and interpretation as well as significant regulatory action, including fines, penalties, 
and potential exclusion from the related programs. The Clinic expects that the level of 
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review and audit to which it and other healthcare providers are subject will increase. There 
can be no assurance that regulatory authorities will not challenge the Clinic’s compliance 
with these laws and regulations, and it is not possible to determine the impact (if any) such 
claims or penalties would have upon the Clinic. 
 
In 2005, the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) implemented a new 
demonstration project using recovery audit contractors (RACs) as part of CMS’s further 
efforts to assure accurate payments. The project uses the RACs to search for potentially 
inaccurate Medicare payments that may have been made to healthcare providers and that 
were not detected through existing CMS program integrity efforts. Once a RAC identifies a 
claim it believes is inaccurate, it makes a deduction from or addition to the provider’s 
Medicare reimbursement in an amount estimated to equal the overpayment or 
underpayment. The five-state pilot (including Florida) concluded in March 2008 with a 
nationwide rollout in phases beginning in 2009. The experience during the pilot found far 
more overpayments than underpayments. The Clinic will deduct from revenue amounts 
assessed under the RAC audits at the time a notice is received until such time that estimates 
of net amounts due can be reasonably estimated. RAC assessments against the Clinic are 
anticipated; however, the outcome of such assessments are unknown and cannot be 
reasonably estimated. 
 
The Clinic is a defendant in various lawsuits arising in the ordinary course of business. 
Although the outcome of these lawsuits cannot be predicted with certainty, management 
believes the ultimate disposition of such matters will not have a material effect on the 
Clinic’s consolidated financial position or statement of activities. 

18. ST. LUKE’S HOSPITAL ASSOCIATION SALE-LEASEBACK  
 

On July 1, 2005, St. Luke’s Hospital Association (St. Luke’s), a consolidated affiliate of the 
Clinic, executed an asset purchase agreement (APA) with St. Vincent’s Medical Center for 
the sale of real estate, equipment, and certain other tangible assets of the current St. Luke’s 
Jacksonville, Florida facility. Under this agreement, St. Luke’s continued to operate the 
existing St. Luke’s Hospital and leased the purchased assets from St. Vincent’s for use 
during the construction of a replacement hospital. This transaction has been accounted for in 
accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 66, Accounting for Sales 
of Real Estate (SFAS 66) and Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 98, 
Accounting for Leases (SFAS 98) as a sale-leaseback using the deposit method of 
accounting whereby the gain on the sale was deferred. In April 2008, the gain on the sale 
was recorded when the Clinic began occupancy of the new hospital located on the Mayo 
Clinic Jacksonville campus. The net book value of the assets sold was $78.4. The sale 
resulted in a gain of $38.8 recorded in other revenue. 
 
A final adjustment to the purchase price is scheduled for 2011, calculated as an amount 
equal to the annual net patient service revenue of the new St. Vincent’s Hospital less the 
sum of the payments made under the lease agreement, the total amount of capital funds 
reimbursed to St. Luke’s during the lease period, and the actual inventory value on hand at 
the date of the sale. The aforementioned sum totals $141.3. The final adjustment is not 
expected to be significant. 
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CERTAIN DEFINITIONS 

In addition to the terms defined elsewhere in this Reoffering Circular, the following terms shall have the 
following meanings unless the context clearly requires otherwise: 

Definitions  

“Act” means Wisconsin Statutes, Chapter 231, as amended from time to time. 

“Affiliate” means any entity which is a member of the same controlled group (within the meaning of 
Section 1.150-1(e) of the Treasury Regulations) as the Clinic. 

“Alternate Liquidity Facility” means a Liquidity Facility issued to replace a Liquidity Facility to purchase 
Bonds other than ARS tendered for purchase as provided in the Indenture. 

“Arbitrage Rebate Consultant” shall mean an accounting firm or a law firm or another person or firm with 
knowledge of or experience in advising bond trustees with respect to the provisions of Code Section 148(f) 
appointed by the Borrower.  The initial Arbitrage Rebate Consultant is Dorsey & Whitney LLP. 

“ARS Bonds” means, on any date, all Bonds which on such date bear interest as auction rate securities as 
provided in the Indenture. 

“ARS Period Record Date” means, with respect to ARS Bonds during an ARS Rate Period, the Business 
Day immediately preceding an Interest Payment Date. 

“Auction Agent” has the meaning given in the Auction Procedures. 

“Auction Period” has the meaning given in the Auction Procedures. 

“Auction Procedures” means, with respect to each series of ARS, the provisions set forth in the auction 
agent agreement relating to such series of ARS. 

“Auction Rate” has the meaning given in the Auction Procedures. 

 “Authority” means the Wisconsin Health and Educational Facilities Authority, a body corporate and politic 
of the State of Wisconsin. 

“Authority’s Annual Fee” means the fee which the Authority is authorized by the Act to charge and 
apportion among participating health institutions (as that terms is defined in the Act) to cover the Authority’s costs 
and expenses incurred in the exercise of the powers and duties conferred on it by the Act.  For purposes of the Loan 
Agreement and the Indenture, Authority’s Annual Fee means one-tenth of one percent of the average principal 
amount of the Bonds outstanding during the period beginning on April 10 of each year and ending on the 
immediately succeeding April 9.  The Authority’s Annual Fee may be increased or decreased from time to time by 
the Authority but for purposes of the Loan Agreement cannot exceed the amount described above. 

“Authority’s Expenses” means, in addition to the Authority’s Annual Fee, the reasonable and necessary fees 
and expenses incurred by the Authority with respect to the Loan Agreement, the Indenture, the Bonds, the Bond 
Purchase Agreement for the Bonds and the Project, including any advances made by the Authority plus interest, if 
any, on those advances as provided by the Loan Agreement and those for any legal, accounting, financial or other 
experts reasonably retained by the Authority. 

“Authority Unassigned Rights” means those rights of the Authority under the Loan Agreement, including 
with respect to indemnification and payment of expenses, which are not assigned to the Trustee under the Indenture. 
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“Authorized Denomination” means (a) with respect to Bonds which bear interest at a Fixed Rate or a Term 
Rate for a Calculation Period ending on or immediately prior to the maturity date of such Bond, $5,000 or any 
integral multiple thereof, (b) with respect to Bonds which are ARS, $25,000 or any integral multiple thereof while 
the ARS are in any Auction Period and (c) with respect to Bonds which are not described in the preceding clause (a) 
or (b), $100,000 or any integral multiple of $5,000 in excess thereof. 

“Authorized Officer” means:  (i) in the case of the Authority, the Executive Director, the Associate 
Executive Director or any other duly authorized officer of the Authority, and when used with reference to any act or 
document also means any other person authorized by resolution of the Authority to perform such act or execute such 
document; (ii) in the case of the Clinic, the Treasurer and Chief Investment Officer, the Chief Financial Officer and 
each individual at the time designated to act on behalf of the Clinic by written certificate furnished to the Trustee 
containing the specimen signature of such individual and signed on behalf of the Clinic by an officer thereof; (iii) in 
the case of the Borrower, the Chief Executive Officer and each individual at the time designated to act on behalf of 
the Borrower by written certificate furnished to the Trustee containing the specimen signature of such individual and 
signed on behalf of the Borrower by an officer thereof and (iv) in the case of the Trustee, means any officer in its 
corporate trust administration, and when used with reference to any act or document also means any other person 
authorized to perform any act or sign any document by or pursuant to a resolution of the governing body of the 
Trustee.

“Bank Bonds” means Bonds purchased by the Liquidity Facility Provider or its assignee pursuant to a 
Liquidity Facility. 

“Bank Bond Rate” means the rate set forth in the applicable Liquidity Facility for Bank Bonds purchased 
by the related Liquidity Facility Provider. 

“Bond Counsel” means an attorney or firm of attorneys designated by the Authority and having a national 
reputation in the field of municipal finance whose opinions are generally accepted by purchasers of municipal 
bonds. 

“Bond Fund” means the Bond Fund created under the Indenture. 

“Bondowner,” “Owner” or “Holder” or any similar term means, when used with reference to a Bond or 
Bonds, any person who shall be the registered owner of any Bond. 

“Bond Purchase Account” means the Bond Purchase Account established pursuant to the Indenture. 

“Bond Purchase Agreement” means the agreement pursuant to which Bonds were originally sold. 

“Bonds” means the Authority’s Health Care Facilities Revenue Bonds (Luther Hospital), Series 2008. 

“Borrower” means Luther Hospital, a Wisconsin nonprofit corporation, including any surviving, resulting 
or transferee entity in a transaction in compliance with the provisions of the Loan Agreement.  

“Borrower Documents” means the Loan Agreement and the Tax Certificate with respect to the Bonds. 

“Business Day” means any day other than a Saturday, Sunday or day on which the New York Stock 
Exchange or banking institutions, including any Liquidity Facility with respect to the Bonds, are authorized or 
required by law or executive order to be closed for commercial banking purposes in Wisconsin, New York or 
Minnesota, or in any city in which is located the designated corporate trust office of the Trustee. 

“Calculation Agent” means Banc of America Securities LLC, Wells Fargo Brokerage Services, LLC or 
such other Calculation Agent as may be selected by the Borrower, and its successors or assigns. 

“Calculation Period” means (a) during any Money Market Municipal Rate Period, the period from and 
including the first day of the Money Market Municipal Rate Period to and including the day not more than 270 days 



C-3

thereafter which is a day immediately preceding a Business Day established by the Market Agent pursuant to the 
Indenture; (b) during any LIBOR-Based Rate Period, the LIBOR-Based Accrual Period; (c) during any Daily Rate 
Period, the period from and including a Business Day to but not including the next succeeding Business Day; 
(d) during any Weekly Rate Period, the period from and including the Wednesday of each week to and including the 
following Tuesday and with respect to a Change in the Interest Rate Mode to a Weekly Rate, the period from and 
including the effective date of the Change in the Interest Rate Mode to and including the following Tuesday, and, 
thereafter, the period from and including Wednesday of each week to and including the following Tuesday; 
provided, however, in each case if such Wednesday is not a Business Day, such next succeeding Calculation Period 
shall begin on the Business Day next succeeding such Wednesday and such Calculation Period shall end on the day 
before such next succeeding Calculation Period; (e) during any Monthly Rate Period, the period from and including 
the effective date of the Change in the Interest Rate Mode to but excluding the first Business Day of the following 
month, and, thereafter each period from and including the first Business Day of the month to but excluding the first 
Business Day of the following month; (f) during any Quarterly Rate Period, the period from and including the 
effective date of the Change in the Interest Rate Mode to but excluding the first Business Day of the following 
month, and, thereafter each period from and including the first Business Day of the quarter to but excluding the first 
Business Day of the following quarter; (g) during any Semiannual Rate Period, the period from and including the 
effective date of the Change in the Interest Rate Mode to but excluding the next succeeding Interest Payment Date 
and, thereafter, each period from and including the day following the end of the last Calculation Period to but 
excluding the next succeeding Interest Payment Date; and (h) during any Term Rate Period, any period of not less 
than 271 days from and including a Business Day to and including any day (established by the Market Agent 
pursuant to the Indenture) not later than the maturity date of the Bonds in such Calculation Period. 

“Change in the Interest Rate Mode” means any change in the type of interest rate borne by the Bonds 
pursuant to the Indenture. 

“Clinic” means Mayo Clinic, a Minnesota nonprofit corporation, its successors and assigns. 

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the regulations promulgated 
thereunder. 

“Construction Fund” means the fund so designated created under the Indenture. 

“Controlled Affiliate” means any Affiliate which is controlled, directly or indirectly, by the Clinic by 
reason of the Clinic’s status as the controlling member (in the case of nonprofit Affiliates) or controlling shareholder 
(in the case of for profit Affiliates) of such Affiliate. 

“Cost” or “Costs” means all costs authorized by the Act and the Code paid or incurred by the Borrower to 
acquire, construct and install the Project. 

“Costs of Issuance” means all costs incurred in connection with the authorization, issuance, reissuance, 
reoffering, sale and delivery of the Bonds including, but not limited to, all legal, financial and printing costs 
associated therewith, any underwriter’s fee or discount, any rating agency fees, any financial advisory fees and any 
fees of counsel. 

“Cost of Issuance Account” means the account so designated, created and established pursuant to the 
Indenture. 

“Current Adjustable Rate” means the interest rate borne by Bonds immediately prior to a Change in the 
Interest Rate Mode or the establishment of a Fixed Rate. 

“Daily Period Record Date” means, with respect to each Interest Payment Date during a Daily Rate Period, 
the Business Day next preceding such Interest Payment Date. 

“Daily Rate” means with respect to the first day of each Calculation Period during a Daily Rate Period, a 
rate of interest equal to the rate of interest per annum established and certified to the Trustee (with a copy to the 
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Authority and the Borrower) by the Market Agent no later than 10:00 a.m. (New York City time) on and as of such 
day (i.e., the Determination Date) as the minimum rate of interest per annum which, in the opinion of the Market 
Agent, would be necessary on and as of such day to remarket Bonds in a secondary market transaction at a price 
equal to the principal amount thereof plus accrued interest thereon. 

“Daily Rate Period” means any period during which the Bonds bear interest at a Daily Rate which period 
shall commence on the effective date of the Change in the Interest Rate Mode to a Daily Rate and extend through 
the day immediately preceding the earlier of (a) the effective date of another Change in the Interest Rate Mode or 
(b) the Fixed Rate Conversion Date. 

“Defeasance Obligations” means:  (i) non-callable direct obligations of, or obligations the timely payment 
of principal of and interest on which are unconditionally guaranteed by, the United States of America; and (ii) any 
bonds or other obligations of any state of the United States of America or of any agency, instrumentality or local 
government unit of any such state (a) which are not callable prior to maturity or as to which irrevocable instructions 
have been given to the trustee of such bonds or other obligations by the obligor to give due notice of redemption and 
to call such bonds for redemption on the date or dates specified in such instructions, (b) which are secured as to 
principal and interest and redemption premium by a fund consisting only of cash or bonds or other obligations of the 
character described in clause (i) hereof which fund may be applied only to the payment of such principal of and 
interest and redemption premium, if any, on such bonds or other obligations on the maturity date or dates thereof or 
the redemption date or dates specified in the irrevocable instructions referred to in subclause (a) of this clause (ii), as 
appropriate, (c) as to which the principal of and interest on the bonds and obligations of the character described in 
clause (i) hereof which have been deposited in such fund along with any cash on deposit in such fund are sufficient 
to pay principal of and interest and redemption premium, if any, on the bonds or other obligations described in this 
clause (ii) on the maturity date or dates thereof or on the redemption date or dates specified in the irrevocable 
instructions referred to in subclause (a) of this clause (ii) as appropriate, and (d) which are rated AAA by Standard & 
Poor’s or Aaa by Moody’s. 

“Determination Date” means, for any Calculation Period, with respect to the Daily Rate and the Money 
Market Municipal Rate, the first Business Day occurring during such Calculation Period, with respect to the 
LIBOR-Based Rate, each LIBOR-Based Rate Determination Date, and, with respect to the Weekly Rate, Monthly 
Rate, Quarterly Rate, Semiannual Rate or Term Rate, the Business Day immediately preceding the first Business 
Day occurring during such Calculation Period. 

“DTC” means The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York, a New York State limited purpose 
trust company, subject to regulation by the Securities and Exchange Commission, the Board of Governors of the 
Federal Reserve System and the New York State Banking Department, or its successors appointed under the 
Indenture. 

“Electronic Means” means telecopy, telegraph, facsimile transmission, email, or other similar electronic 
means of communication, including a telephonic communication confirmed in writing or written transmission. 

“Expiration Date” means the termination date of the Liquidity Facility or an Alternate Liquidity Facility, as 
extended from time to time. 

“Event of Default” shall mean any of the events described as such in the Loan Agreement or the Indenture, 
as applicable. 

“Fiscal Year” means the fiscal year of the Borrower, currently from January 1 to December 31. 

“Fitch” means Fitch, Inc., a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of New York, its 
successors and assigns, and, if such corporation shall be dissolved or liquidated or shall no longer perform the 
functions of a securities rating agency, “Fitch” shall be deemed to refer to any other nationally recognized securities 
rating agency designated by the Authority, by notice to the Trustee. 
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“Fixed Rate” means, with respect to the Fixed Rate Conversion Date, the rate of interest per annum 
established and certified to the Trustee (with a copy to the Authority and the Borrower) by the Market Agent no later 
than 4:00 p.m. (New York City time) no later than the Business Day immediately preceding the Fixed Rate 
Conversion Date as the minimum rate of interest per annum which, in the opinion of the Market Agent, would be 
necessary on and as of such date to remarket the Bonds in a secondary market transaction. 

“Fixed Rate Commitment” means a written agreement entered into by the Borrower and a firm or firms of 
investment bankers to remarket the Bonds on the Fixed Rate Conversion Date, which written agreement (i) may be 
subject to reasonable terms and conditions which in the judgment of the Borrower reflect current market standards 
regarding investment banking risk and (ii) must include a provision requiring payment of the purchase price in 
same-day funds for any ARS Bond during an ARS Rate Period tendered or deemed tendered and a determination of 
the Fixed Rate no later than 11:00 A.M. on the second Business Day prior to the Fixed Rate Conversion Date. 

“Fixed Rate Conversion Date” means the date on which the Fixed Rate for any Bonds takes effect in 
accordance with the Indenture. 

“Fixed Rate Period” means the period, if any, during which the Bonds bear interest at a Fixed Rate which 
period shall commence on the Fixed Rate Conversion Date and extend through the maturity date of the Bonds. 

“Fixed Rate Record Date” means, with respect to each Interest Payment Date during the Fixed Rate Period, 
the first day of the month in which such Interest Payment Date occurs, or, if such day shall not be a Business Day, 
the next preceding Business Day. 

“Government Obligations” means: 

(a) direct obligations of the United States of America for the payment of which the full faith and 
credit of the United States of America is pledged (including such securities issued or held in book-entry form on the 
books of the Department of Treasury of the United States of America) and which are not subject to redemption prior 
to maturity at less than par at the option of any person other than the holder thereof; 

(b) obligations issued by a person controlled or supervised by and acting as an instrumentality of the 
United States of America, the payment of which is fully guaranteed as a full faith and credit obligation of the United 
States of America (including such securities issued or held in book-entry form on the books of the Department of 
Treasury of the United States of America) and which are not subject to redemption prior to maturity at less than par 
at the option of any person other than the holder thereof; 

(c) certificates evidencing beneficial ownership of any security described in (a) or (b) above. 

“Guarantee” means the Guarantee dated as of April 1, 2008, of the Clinic in favor of the Trustee, as 
amended, and any Substitute Guarantee delivered in accordance with the Indenture. 

“Indenture” means the Trust Indenture dated as of April 1, 2008, between the Authority and the Trustee, as 
amended by the First Supplemental Trust Indenture dated as of April 1, 2009. 

“Interest Account” shall mean the account of that name created pursuant to the Indenture. 

“Interest Payment Date” means: 

(a) during each Money Market Municipal Rate Period, the Business Day immediately 
succeeding any Calculation Period; 

(b) during an ARS Rate Period, the date determined pursuant to Auction Procedures; 

(c) during each LIBOR-Based Rate Period, each February 15, May 15, August 15 and 
November 15; 
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(d) during each Daily Rate Period, the first Business Day of each month thereof; 

(e) during each Weekly Rate Period, the first Wednesday of each month thereof; 

(f) during each Monthly Rate Period, the first Business Day of each month thereof; 

(g) during each Quarterly Rate Period, the first Business Day of each month thereof; 

(h) during each Semiannual Rate Period, (i) the first Business Day of the sixth calendar 
month following the month in which the first day of such Semiannual Rate Period occurred, (ii) each 
anniversary of the date so determined, and (iii) each anniversary of the first day of the first month of such 
Semiannual Rate Period; 

(i) Reserved; 

(j) during any Term Rate Period, (i) the May 15 or November 15 next succeeding the first 
day of any Calculation Period for Bonds bearing interest at a Term Rate and each May 15 and 
November 15 thereafter; provided, however, that if the first May 15 or November 15 occurs less than 
twenty-one (21) days after the first day of any such Calculation Period, the first Interest Payment Date shall 
be the second such May 15 or November 15, and (ii) the Business Day immediately succeeding such Term 
Rate Period, unless the Term Rate Period ends on the final maturity date of the Bonds; 

(k) the May 15 or November 15 next succeeding the Fixed Rate Conversion Date and each 
May 15 and November 15 thereafter; provided, however, that if the May 15 or November 15 next 
succeeding the Fixed Rate Conversion Date occurs less than twenty-one (21) days after the Fixed Rate 
Conversion Date, the first Interest Payment Date shall be the second such date following the Fixed Rate 
Conversion Date; 

(l) the Fixed Rate Conversion Date; 

(m) any day on a Bond is subject to mandatory tender for purchase pursuant to the Indenture 
or optional redemption or purchase in lieu of redemption pursuant to the Indenture;  

(n) for Bank Bonds, the first Business Day of each month, and on any day on which Bank 
Bonds are remarketed or redeemed; and 

(o) the final maturity date of the Bonds. 

provided, however, that if any such date determined in any of the foregoing clauses is not a Business Day, the 
Interest Payment Date shall be the next succeeding day which is a Business Day. 

“LIBOR-Based Accrual Period” means the period from and including the date of conversion to a LIBOR-
Based Rate, or any Interest Payment Date to but excluding the next Interest Payment Date. 

“LIBOR-Based Bonds” or “LIBOR Bonds” means any Bonds bearing interest at a LIBOR-Based Rate. 

“LIBOR-Based Rate” means a rate of interest per annum equal to such percentage as is determined by the 
Calculation Agent pursuant to the Indenture at the time the Bonds are converted to bear interest at a LIBOR-Based 
Rate of the Three-Month LIBOR Rate plus the rate or spread determined pursuant to the Indenture at the time the 
Bonds are converted to bear interest at a LIBOR-Based Rate. 

“LIBOR-Based Rate Determination Date” means the date that is two London Banking Days preceding the 
first day of each LIBOR-Based Accrual Period. 
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“LIBOR-Based Rate Period” means any period during which the Bonds bear interest at a LIBOR-Based 
Rate which period shall commence on the date of conversion of the Bonds to a LIBOR-Based Rate and shall extend 
through the day immediately preceding the earlier of (a) the effective date of a Change in the Interest Rate Mode or 
(b) the Fixed Rate Conversion Date. 

“LIBOR-Based Rate Period Record Date” means, with respect to each Interest Payment Date during a 
LIBOR-Based Rate Period, the Business Day next preceding such Interest Payment Date. 

“Liquidity Facility” means the Initial Liquidity Facility, as applicable, and any letter of credit, standby bond 
purchase agreement, line of credit, loan, guaranty or similar agreement by a Liquidity Facility Provider to provide 
liquidity support to pay the Tender Price of the Bonds (other than ARS Bonds) tendered for purchase in accordance 
with the provisions of the Indenture and any Alternate Liquidity Facility delivered pursuant to the Indenture and 
with terms that are not inconsistent with the terms thereof.  

“Liquidity Facility Provider” means the Initial Liquidity Facility Provider, as applicable, and the provider 
of any Alternate Liquidity Facility with respect to the Bonds in accordance with the Indenture. 

“Loan Agreement” means the Loan Agreement dated as of April 1, 2008, between the Authority and the 
Borrower. 

“Mandatory Standby Tender” means the mandatory tender of Bonds upon receipt by the Trustee of written 
notice from the Liquidity Facility Provider that an event with respect to the Liquidity Facility securing such Bonds 
has occurred which requires or gives the Liquidity Facility Provider the option to terminate such Liquidity Facility 
upon prior notice as specified in the Liquidity Facility. 

“Market Agent” means any remarketing agent or agents or any market agent or market agents appointed 
pursuant to the Indenture, its or their successors or assigns. 

“Maximum Rate” means (a) with respect to Bonds other than ARS Bonds, 15%, or such lesser amount as is 
the maximum permitted by law, (b) with respect to ARS Bonds, the maximum rate as set forth in the Auction 
Procedures. 

“Money Market Municipal Period Record Date” means, with respect to each Interest Payment Date during 
a Money Market Municipal Rate Period, the Business Day next preceding such Interest Payment Date. 

“Money Market Municipal Rate” means with respect to the first day of each Calculation Period during a 
Money Market Municipal Rate Period, a rate or rates of interest equal to the rate or rates of interest per annum 
established and certified to the Trustee (with a copy to the Authority and the Borrower) by the Market Agent no later 
than 11:00 a.m. (New York City time) on and as of such day (i.e., the Determination Date) as the minimum rate or 
rates of interest per annum which, in the opinion of the Market Agent, taking into account the Calculation Period or 
Calculation Periods for the Bonds, would be necessary on and as of such day to remarket Bonds in a secondary 
market transaction at a price equal to the principal amount thereof. 

“Money Market Municipal Rate Period” means any period during which the Bonds bear interest at a 
Money Market Municipal Rate or Rates, which period shall commence on the effective date of a Change in the 
Interest Rate Mode to a Money Market Municipal Rate or Rates, as the case may be, and extend through the day 
immediately preceding the earlier of (a) the effective date of another Change in the Interest Rate Mode, (b) the Fixed 
Rate Conversion Date or (c) the maturity date of the Bonds. 

“Monthly Period Record Date” means, with respect to each Interest Payment Date during a Monthly 
Period, the Business Day next preceding such Interest Payment Date. 

“Monthly Rate” means with respect to the first day of each Calculation Period during a Monthly Rate 
Period, a rate of interest equal to the rate of interest per annum established and certified to the Trustee (with a copy 
to the Authority and the Borrower) by the Market Agent no later than 4:00 p.m. (New York City time) on and as of 
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the Determination Date as the minimum rate of interest per annum which, in the opinion of the Market Agent, would 
be necessary on and as of such day to remarket Bonds in a secondary market transaction at a price equal to the 
principal amount thereof. 

“Monthly Rate Period” means any period during which the Bonds bear interest at a Monthly Rate which 
period shall commence with the effective date of the Change in the Interest Rate Mode to a Monthly Rate and shall 
extend through the day immediately preceding the earlier of (a) the effective date of another Change in the Interest 
Rate Mode or (b) the Fixed Rate Conversion Date. 

“Moody’s” means Moody’s Investors Service Inc., a corporation organized and existing under the laws of 
the State of Delaware, its successors and assigns, and, if such corporation shall be dissolved or liquidated or shall no 
longer perform the functions of a securities rating agency, “Moody’s” shall be deemed to refer to any other 
nationally recognized securities rating agency designated by the Authority, by notice to the Trustee. 

“Opinion of Bond Counsel” means a written opinion of Bond Counsel. 

“Opinion of Counsel” means an opinion in writing signed by legal counsel acceptable to the Trustee and 
Guarantor and who may be an employee of or counsel to the Borrower or the Guarantor. 

“Option to Convert” means the Borrower’s right and option to convert the rate of interest payable on the 
Bonds from an Adjustable Rate to the Fixed Rate as provided in the Indenture. 

“Outstanding” means when used in reference to Bonds, as of a particular date, all Bonds authenticated and 
delivered under the Indenture except:  (i) any Bond canceled by the Trustee at or before such date; (ii) any Bond or 
portion thereof paid or deemed paid in accordance with the Indenture; and (iii) any Bond in lieu of or in substitution 
for which another Bond shall have been authenticated and delivered pursuant to the Indenture. 

“Par Call Date” means the date designated as such by the Borrower prior to any Change in the Interest 
Rate Mode to a LIBOR-Based Rate. 

“Permitted Investments” for investment of moneys held by the Trustee with respect to the Bonds, shall 
mean:

(a) Government Obligations and bonds or securities issued or guaranteed as to principal and 
interest by a commission, board or other instrumentality of the federal government, 

(b) short-term discount obligations of the Federal National Mortgage Association, 

(c) certificates of deposit or time deposits constituting direct obligations of any bank the full 
amount of which is insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, 

(d) time deposits in any credit union, bank, savings bank, trust company or savings and loan 
association which is authorized to transact business in the State if the time deposits mature in not more than three 
years,

(e) bonds or securities of any county, city, drainage district, technical college district, village, 
town or school district of the State, 

(f) any security which matures or which may be tendered for purchase at the option of the 
holder within not more than seven years of the date on which it is acquired, if that security has a rating which is the 
highest or second highest rating category assigned by S&P, Moody’s or other similar nationally recognized rating 
agency or if that security is senior to, or on a parity with, a security of the same issuer which has such a rating, 
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(g) securities of an open-end management investment company or investment trust if the 
investment company or investment trust does not charge a sales load, if the investment company or investment trust 
is registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940, 15 USC 80a-1 to 80a-64, and if the portfolio of the 
investment company or investment trust is limited to the following: (i) bonds and securities issued by the federal 
government or a commission, board or other instrumentality of the federal government, (ii) bonds that are 
guaranteed as to principal and interest by the federal government or a commission, board or other instrumentality of 
the federal government and (iii) repurchase agreements that are fully collateralized by bonds or securities described 
under (i) or (ii) and 

(h) any other obligation or security which constitutes a permitted investment for money of 
the Authority as a result of an amendment of the Act subsequent to April 1, 2008 if the prior written consent of the 
Authority is obtained. 

“Person” means an individual, a corporation, a partnership, an association, a joint stock company, a joint 
venture, a trust, any unincorporated organization, a limited liability company, a governmental body or a political 
subdivision, a municipality, a municipal authority or any other group or organization of individuals. 

“Principal Account” shall mean the account of that name created pursuant to the Indenture. 

“Project” means the health care facilities financed with the proceeds of the Bonds and located at 1221 
Whipple Street, Eau Claire, Wisconsin. 

“Quarterly Period Record Date” means, with respect to each Interest Payment Date during a Quarterly 
Period, the Business Day next preceding such Interest Payment Date. 

“Quarterly Rate” means with respect to the first day of each Calculation Period during a Quarterly Rate 
Period, a rate of interest equal to the rate of interest per annum established and certified to the Trustee (with a copy 
to the Authority and the Borrower) by the Market Agent no later than 4:00 p.m. (New York City time) on and as of 
the Determination Date as the minimum rate of interest per annum which, in the opinion of the Market Agent, would 
be necessary on and as of such day to remarket Bonds in a secondary market transaction at a price equal to the 
principal amount thereof. 

“Quarterly Rate Period” means any period during which the Bonds bear interest at a Quarterly Rate which 
period shall commence with the effective date of the Change in the Interest Rate Mode to a Quarterly Rate and shall 
extend through the day immediately preceding the earlier of (a) the effective date of another Change in the Interest 
Rate Mode or (b) the Fixed Rate Conversion Date. 

“Rating Agency” shall mean S&P, Moody’s or any other nationally-recognized securities rating agency 
which at the relevant time is maintaining a rating on the Bonds at the request of the Clinic, or if no such rating 
agency is at the relevant time maintaining a rating on the Bonds, any nationally recognized securities rating agency 
designated by the Clinic by written notice to the Trustee. 

“Rating Category” means one of the generic rating categories of a Rating Agency, without regard to any 
refinement or gradation of such rating category by a numerical modifier, plus or minus sign, or otherwise. 

“Record Date” means, at any time, each Money Market Municipal Period Record Date during a Money 
Market Municipal Rate Period, each ARS Period Record Date during an ARS Rate Period, each LIBOR-Based Rate 
Period Record Date during a LIBOR-Based Rate Period, each Daily Period Record Date during a Daily Rate Period, 
each Weekly Period Record Date during a Weekly Rate Period, each Monthly Period Record Date during a Monthly 
Rate Period, each Quarterly Period Record Date during a Quarterly Rate Period, each Semiannual Period Record 
Date during a Semiannual Rate Period, Term Period Record Date during a Term Rate Period and each Fixed Rate 
Record Date during the Fixed Rate Period. 

“Redemption Fund” means the fund so designated, created and established pursuant to the Indenture. 
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“Redemption Price” means when used with respect to a Bond, the principal amount of such Bond plus the 
applicable premium (including the premium component of the Spread Premium), if any, payable upon redemption 
thereof pursuant to the Indenture. 

“Redemption Terms Certificate” means a certificate delivered to the Authority, the Trustee and the 
Borrower by the Market Agent or another investment banking firm (selected by the Borrower and approved by the 
Authority) prior to and in connection with a conversion to any Term Rate Period or a Fixed Rate Period, which 
certificate shall establish, if at all, a no-call period for the Bonds being converted, and, if at all, a redemption 
premium or premiums for the Bonds being converted, all as certified by the Market Agent or such investment 
banking firm as being, based upon their experience, in their belief, industry standard at the time of such conversion 
for tax-exempt bonds of similar remaining maturity, security and ratings as the Bonds. 

“Remarketing Commitment” means a written agreement between the Guarantor and a firm or firms of 
investment bankers to remarket the applicable Bonds on such effective date, which agreement (A) may be subject to 
such reasonable terms and conditions which in the judgment of the Guarantor reflect the current market standards 
regarding investment banking risk and (B) must include a provision requiring payment of the Tender Price in 
same-day funds for the applicable Bonds tendered or deemed tendered. 

“Revenues” means all amounts paid or payable to the Authority or to the Trustee for the account of the 
Authority (excluding fees and expenses payable to the Authority and the Trustee and the rights to indemnification of 
the Authority and the Trustee) under and pursuant to the Loan Agreement. 

“Securities Act” means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and any successor thereto. 

“Securities Depository” means the securities depository designated as such in the Indenture and any 
successor thereto. 

“Securities Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. 

“Semiannual Period Record Date” means, with respect to each Interest Payment Date during a Semiannual 
Rate Period, the first day of the calendar month in which such Interest Payment Date occurs. 

“Semiannual Rate” means with respect to the first day of each Calculation Period during a Semiannual Rate 
Period, a rate of interest equal to the rate of interest per annum established and certified to the Trustee (with a copy 
to the Authority and the Borrower) by the Market Agent no later than 4:00 p.m. (New York City time) on and as of 
the Determination Date as the minimum rate of interest per annum which, in the opinion of the Market Agent, would 
be necessary on and as of such day to remarket Bonds in a secondary market transaction at a price equal to the 
principal amount thereof. 

“Semiannual Rate Period” means any period during which the Bonds bear interest at a Semiannual Rate, 
which period shall commence on the effective date of a Change in the Interest Rate Mode to a Semiannual Rate, and 
shall extend through the day immediately preceding the earlier of (a) the effective date of another Change in the 
Interest Rate Mode or (b) the Fixed Rate Conversion Date. 

“Spread Premium” means, for any LIBOR-Based Bond as of any redemption date or purchase date, the 
present value of the product of (a) the excess, if any, of (i) the per annum spread above the percentage of the Three-
Month LIBOR Rate at which such LIBOR-Based Bonds bear interest over (ii) 0.25% per annum, and (b) the 
principal amount of the LIBOR-Based Bonds to be redeemed or subject to mandatory tender for purchase, 
determined as if such product were payable quarterly from such redemption date or purchase date to the applicable 
Par Call Date but no such LIBOR-Based Bonds were otherwise redeemed prior to maturity, discounting to the 
redemption date or purchase date quarterly at a discount rate equal to (a) 67% (or such other spread or percentage 
established prior to any conversion) of the USD-ISDA-Swap Rate (for the designated maturity that is closest to the 
applicable Par Call Date) appearing on Reuters at 11:00 a.m., New York City time, two U.S. Government Securities 
Business Days prior to the first mailing of notice of such redemption, plus (b) 0.25% per annum. 
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“Standard & Poor’s” means Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services, a division of McGraw Hill, Inc., a 
corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of New York, its successors and assigns, and, if such 
corporation shall be dissolved or liquidated or shall no longer perform the functions of a securities rating agency, 
“Standard & Poor’s” shall be deemed to refer to any other nationally recognized securities rating agency designated 
by the Authority, by notice to the Trustee. 

“State” means the State of Wisconsin. 

“Tax Certificate” means the Borrower Tax Certificate delivered in connection with the issuance of the 
Bonds. 

“Tender Agent” means each person qualified under the Indenture to act as Tender Agent with respect to the 
Bonds other than ARS Bonds and so appointed by the Borrower and so acting from time to time, and its successors, 
including the Initial Tender Agent.   

“Tender Agent Agreement” means an agreement, as amended or supplemented from time to time, among 
the Borrower, a Market Agent and a Tender Agent whereby such Tender Agent undertakes to perform the duties of 
the Tender Agent under the Indenture with respect to the Bonds, including the Initial Tender Agent Agreement. 

“Tender Date” means the date on which Bonds are required to be purchased or are subject to purchase 
pursuant to the Indenture. 

“Tender Price” means the purchase price to be paid to the holders of Bonds purchased pursuant to the 
Indenture. 

“Term Period Record Date” means, with respect to each Interest Payment Date during a Term Rate Period, 
the fifteenth day of the month next preceding such Interest Payment Date. 

“Term Rate” means with respect to the first day of each Calculation Period during a Term Rate Period for a 
Bond, a rate of interest equal to the rate of interest per annum established and certified to the Trustee (with a copy to 
the Authority and the Borrower) by the Market Agent no later than 4:00 p.m. (New York City time) on and as of the 
Determination Date as the minimum rate of interest per annum which, in the opinion of the Market Agent, would be 
necessary on and as of such day to remarket such Bond in a secondary market transaction. 

“Term Rate Period” means any period during which the Bonds bear interest at a Term Rate which period 
shall commence with the effective date of the Change in the Interest Rate Mode to a Term Rate and shall extend 
through the day immediately preceding the earlier of (a) the effective date of another Change in the Interest Rate 
Mode, (b) the Fixed Rate Conversion Date or (c) the maturity date of the Bonds. 

“Three-Month LIBOR Rate” means, for each LIBOR-Based Accrual Period, which is the period from and 
including the date of the Change in the Interest Mode to a LIBOR-Based Rate or any Interest Payment Date (each, a 
“Period Start Date”) to but excluding the next such Interest Payment Date (each such period, a “LIBOR-Based 
Accrual Period”), the rate for deposits in U. S. Dollars with a three-month maturity that appears on Reuters Screen 
LIBOR01 (or such other page as may replace that page on that service, or such other service as may be nominated 
by the British Bankers’ Association, for the purpose of displaying London interbank offered rates for U.S. Dollar 
deposits) as of 11:00 a.m., London time, on the LIBOR-Based Rate Determination Date, except that, if such rate 
does not appear on such page on the LIBOR-Based Rate Determination Date, the “Three-Month LIBOR Rate” 
means a rate determined on the basis of the rates at which deposits in U.S. Dollars for a three-month maturity 
commencing on the related Period Start Date and in a principal amount of at least U.S. $1,000,000 are offered at 
approximately 11:00 a.m., London time, on the LIBOR-Based Rate Determination Date, to prime banks in the 
London interbank market by four major banks in the London interbank market (herein referred to as the “Reference 
Banks”) selected by the Calculation Agent. The Calculation Agent is to request the principal London office of each 
of such Reference Banks to provide a quotation of its rate. If at least two such quotations are provided, the Three-
Month LIBOR Rate will be the arithmetic mean of such quotations. If fewer than two quotations are provided, the 
Three-Month LIBOR Rate will be the arithmetic mean of the rates quoted by major banks in New York City, 
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selected by the Calculation Agent, at approximately 11:00 a.m., New York City time, on the related Period Start 
Date for loans in U.S. Dollars to leading European banks in a principal amount of at least U.S. $1,000,000 having a 
three-month maturity commencing on such Period Start Date. If none of the banks in New York City selected by the 
Calculation Agent are then quoting rates for such loans, then the “Three-Month LIBOR Rate” for the ensuing 
LIBOR-Based Accrual Period will mean the Three-Month LIBOR rate in effect in the immediately preceding 
LIBOR-Based Accrual Period.

“Trustee” means Wells Fargo Bank, National Association and its successor or successors and any other 
entity which may at any time be substituted in its place pursuant to the Indenture. 

“Trust Indenture Act” means the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended, and any successor thereto. 

“Undelivered Bond” means any Bond which constitutes an Undelivered Bond under the provisions of the 
Indenture. 

“USD-ISDA-Swap Rate” means, for a designated maturity and date, the rate for U.S. dollar swaps of such 
maturity, expressed as a percentage, which appears on the Reuters Money 3000 Service on the page designated 
ISDAFIX1 (or such other page as may replace that page on such service for the purpose of displaying comparable 
rates) at 11:00 a.m., New York City time, on the day which is two U.S. Government Securities Business Days prior 
to such date. If such rate does not appear on such page on such day, then “USD-ISDA-Swap Rate” for such maturity 
and date means the percentage determined on the basis of mid-market semi-annual swap rate quotations provided by 
five leading swap dealers (each, a “New York Reference Bank”) in the New York City interbank market (as selected 
by the Calculation Agent) or its successors and assigns and subject to the approval of the Borrower, which approval 
shall not be unreasonably withheld) at approximately such time on such day as the mean of the bid and offered rates 
for the semi-annual fixed leg, calculated on a 30/360 day count basis, of a fixed-for-floating U.S. Dollar interest rate 
swap transaction with an effective date of the relevant early termination date and a termination date equal to such 
maturity, in an amount that is representative for a single transaction in such market at such time, with an 
acknowledged dealer of good credit in such market, where the floating rate, calculated on the basis of a 360-day year 
for actual days elapsed, is equal to the London Interbank Offered Rate for loans with a three-month duration. The 
Calculation Agent will request the principal New York City office of each of the New York Reference Banks to 
provide a quotation of its rate. If at least three quotations are provided, the USD-ISDA-Swap Rate will be the 
arithmetic mean of the quotations, eliminating the highest quotation (or, in the event of equality, one of the highest) 
and the lowest quotation (or, in the event of equality, one of the lowest). 

“U.S. Government Securities Business Day” means any day except for a Saturday, a Sunday or a day on 
which the Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association recommends that the fixed income departments of 
its members be closed for the entire day for purposes of trading U.S. government securities. 

“Weekly Period Record Date” means, with respect to each Interest Payment Date during a Weekly Rate 
Period, the Business Day next preceding such Interest Payment Date. 

“Weekly Rate” means with respect to the first day of each Calculation Period during a Weekly Rate Period, 
a rate of interest equal to the rate of interest per annum established and certified to the Trustee (with a copy to the 
Authority and the Borrower) by the Market Agent no later than 4:00 p.m. (New York City time) on and as of the 
Determination Date as the minimum rate of interest per annum which, in the opinion of the Market Agent, would be 
necessary on and as of such day to remarket Bonds in a secondary market transaction at a price equal to the principal 
amount thereof plus accrued interest thereon. 

“Weekly Rate Period” means any period during which the Bonds bear interest at a Weekly Rate which 
period shall commence on the Closing Date and shall extend through the day immediately preceding the earlier of 
(a) the effective date of a Change in the Interest Rate Mode or (b) the Fixed Rate Conversion Date. 
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SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE GUARANTEE 

Guarantee of Payment 

The Clinic unconditionally guarantees to the Trustee (for the benefit of the Owners from time to time of the 
Bonds) the full and prompt payment of the Tender Price and principal of, premium, if any, and interest on, the 
Bonds when due, including without limitation any payment made by the Authority prior to or on the date of 
termination of the Guarantee subsequently recovered from any Owner of a Bond pursuant to a final judgment by a 
court of competent jurisdiction that such payment constitutes an avoidable preference to such Owner of a Bond 
within the meaning of any applicable bankruptcy law.  All payments by the Clinic shall be made to the Trustee in 
immediately available funds.  The Guarantee is a guarantee of payment and not of collection and constitutes a 
primary obligation of the Clinic. 

Obligations Absolute and Unconditional 

The obligations of the Clinic are absolute and unconditional and shall not be affected upon the happening 
from time to time of any event, including without limitation (a) the compromise, settlement, release or termination 
of any or all of the obligations, covenants or agreements of the Authority or the Borrower under the Indenture or the 
Loan Agreement, (b) the failure to give notice to the Clinic of the occurrence of an event of default under the 
Indenture, the Loan Agreement or the Guarantee, (c) the waiver of the payment, performance or observance by the 
Authority, the Trustee or the Clinic of any of the obligations, covenants or agreements contained in the Indenture or 
the Loan Agreement, (d) the extension of the time for payment of the Tender Price of, principal of, premium, if any, 
or interest on the Bonds, (e) the modification or amendment of any obligations, covenant or agreement set forth in 
the Indenture or the Loan Agreement, (f) any failure, omission or delay by the Authority, the Trustee, or any Owner 
of a Bond to enforce, assert or exercise any right, power or remedy, (g) an act of bankruptcy with respect to the 
Authority, the Borrower or the Clinic or (h) any determination of the invalidity of the Indenture or the Loan 
Agreement. 

Certain Covenants; Substitute Guarantee 

Controlled Affiliates.  The Clinic covenants and agrees to exercise all control or rights it may have with 
respect to its Controlled Affiliates to cause its Controlled Affiliates to pay, loan or otherwise transfer to the Clinic, 
such amounts as are necessary to duly and punctually pay the Tender Price, principal of, premium, if any, and 
interest on the Bonds when and as the same become due and payable, whether at maturity, upon redemption, by 
acceleration or otherwise. 

Negative Pledge.  The Clinic shall not permit any Lien other than Permitted Encumbrances to be placed 
upon any of its Property, nor shall it permit any of its Controlled Affiliates to permit any Lien other than Permitted 
Encumbrances to be placed upon any of such Controlled Affiliate’s Property, unless such Lien is also granted to 
secure either the Bonds or the Clinic’s obligations under the Guarantee. 

Effectiveness of the Guarantee 

The obligations of the Clinic under the Guarantee shall terminate on the earlier of (i) the date on which all 
of the Bonds secured thereby have been paid or are deemed paid under the provisions of the Indenture, or (ii) the 
date on which a Substitute Guarantee becomes effective as provided in the Indenture; provided, however, that any 
payment of Tender Price, principal of, premium, if any, or interest on, the Bonds made prior to or on such 
termination date and recovered from an Owner of a Bond after such termination date pursuant to a final judgment by 
a court of competent jurisdiction that such payment constitutes an avoidable preference to such Owner of a Bond 
within the meaning of any applicable bankruptcy law shall also be covered by the Guarantee. 
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SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE LOAN AGREEMENT 

General

The right, title and interest of the Authority, as applicable, in and to the Loan Agreement, and other 
amounts paid or payable by the Borrower, other than the Authority Unassigned Rights, have been assigned and 
pledged by the Authority to the Trustee to secure the payment of the Bonds.  All of the rights accruing to or vested 
in the Authority with respect to the Loan Agreement may be exercised, protected and enforced by the Trustee for or 
on behalf of the Owners of the Bonds. 

The Borrower will pay amounts necessary to pay the Tender Price and principal of and interest and any 
premium on the Bonds. 

The Borrower may prepay amounts due under the Loan Agreement in certain events at the time the Bonds 
are subject to optional or extraordinary redemption.   

The obligations of the Borrower to pay amounts due under the Loan Agreement and to perform and observe 
all agreements shall be absolute and unconditional. 

Covenants 

Corporate Existence; Merger; Transfer.  The Borrower will maintain its corporate existence and will not 
consolidate with or merge with or into any other entity or sell or convey all or substantially all of the property 
financed with the proceeds of the Bonds to another entity.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, (i) the Borrower may 
consolidate with or merge with or into another entity if either:  (A) after the consolidation or merger the Borrower 
will be the continuing entity, or (B) the continuing entity after the consolidation or merger will be under the ultimate 
control of the Clinic, and such continuing entity (the “Successor”) executes and delivers to the Trustee an 
appropriate instrument, satisfactory to the Trustee, containing the agreement of the Successor to become obligated 
under the Borrower Documents and thereby become subject to all of the provisions thereof pertaining to the 
Borrower, including the performance and observance of all covenants and obligations of the Borrower and payment 
of all amounts payable by the Borrower as and when due, and the Authority and the Trustee receive an Opinion of 
Counsel to the effect that the obligations of the Borrower under the Borrower Documents have been validly assumed 
by, are binding upon, and are enforceable against, the Successor; or (ii) the Borrower may sell or convey the 
property financed or refinanced with the proceeds of the Bonds to another entity.  No consolidation, merger, sale or 
conveyance described in the preceding sentence shall be consummated unless the Guarantee or the Substitute 
Guarantee, as applicable, will remain in full force and effect; and after consummation of the transaction, no Event of 
Default, and no event which, with the giving of notice or passage of time or both, would become an Event of 
Default, under the Loan Agreement will exist; and prior to consummation of the transaction the Trustee is presented 
with an opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that the transaction will not result in the interest on any of the Bonds 
being includable in gross income for federal income tax purposes. 

Exempt Status; Use of Property Financed by Bonds.  The Borrower agrees that it will do everything 
necessary to retain its status as an organization described in Section 501(c)(3) and exempt from federal income 
taxation under Section 501(a) of the Code or corresponding provisions of federal income tax laws from time to time 
in effect for so long as and to the extent necessary to preserve the validity of the Bonds and the exclusion of interest 
on the Bonds from gross income for purposes of federal income taxes.  The Borrower will neither take nor fail to 
take any action, which action or failure to act (i) is reasonably within its control, and (ii) would result in the interest 
on the Bonds becoming includable in gross income for purposes of federal income taxes.  The Borrower agrees that 
to the extent necessary to preserve the validity of the Bonds and the exclusion of the interest thereon from gross 
income for purposes of federal income taxation, it will not use any of the properties financed with the proceeds of 
the bonds, or any proceeds of disposition of such properties, or suffer or permit such properties or proceeds to be 
used, other than as a “project” or “hospital” within the meaning of the Act as in effect on the date of issue of the 
Bonds or to prepay the amounts payable under the Loan Agreement in any manner or to any extent that would 
adversely affect the exclusion from gross income of the interest on the Bonds for federal income tax purposes.  The 
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Borrower agrees to comply with the requirements of the Tax Certificate and Section 148 of the Code relating to the 
rebate of certain investment earnings to the United States. 

Indemnity 

The Borrower shall indemnify the Authority and each of the Authority’s officers, members, directors, 
agents and employees (collectively, the “Indemnified Parties”), and shall hold the Indemnified Parties harmless 
from, all liabilities, costs and other expenses (including without limitation administrative expenses and reasonable 
attorneys’ fees) of the Indemnified Parties suffered, incurred or paid at any time in connection with any actions, 
transactions or other matters contemplated by or taken pursuant (or relating in any manner whatsoever) to the 
Bonds, the Indenture, the Loan Agreement, the Project or any of the documents executed or delivered in connection 
with the issuance, marketing or remarketing of, or otherwise related to, the Bonds or the construction of the Project, 
or as may arise in connection with any of the foregoing (collectively, the “Indemnified Matters”), except to the 
extent that the liability, cost or other expense (including without limitation administrative expenses and attorneys’ 
fees) arises from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of an Indemnified Party.  

It is understood and agreed by the Borrower (i) that no covenant, provision or agreement contained in the 
Loan Agreement, in the Bonds, in the Indenture or in any other agreement, certificate or document executed or 
delivered in connection with the issuance of the Bonds or the construction of the Project, that no action taken or 
default by any party thereto or other person interested therein (including the qualification or marketing of Bonds and 
any distribution of official statements or other offering materials in connection therewith), and that no obligation 
imposed by the Loan Agreement or the Indenture upon the Authority (or any other party) or respecting the breach 
thereof shall give rise to a pecuniary liability of the Indemnified Parties or a charge against the Authority’s general 
credit or taxing powers; and (ii) that the Bonds shall be and constitute only a special and limited revenue obligation 
of the Authority, payable solely from the revenues pledged to the payment thereof pursuant to the Loan Agreement, 
and that the Bonds do not now and shall never constitute an indebtedness, a moral or general obligation or a loan of 
the credit of the Authority or a charge, lien or encumbrance, legal or equitable, against the Authority’s property, 
general credit or taxing powers.  The Borrower indemnifies the Indemnified Parties, and the Borrower agrees to hold 
the Indemnified Parties harmless against all expense, loss, claim, judgment, damage and any other liability 
respecting or arising out of the Indemnified Matters and the Borrower will reimburse the Indemnified Parties for all 
legal and other expenses incurred by the Indemnified Parties relating thereto except to the extent that the expense, 
loss, claim, judgment, damage or other liability arises from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of an 
Indemnified Party, and this covenant and the covenant in the preceding paragraph to indemnify, hold harmless and 
reimburse the Indemnified Parties shall survive delivery of and payment for the Bonds and the expiration or 
termination of the Loan Agreement.  In the event any such claim is made or action brought against any Indemnified 
Party, the Borrower will assume the defense of such action against such Indemnified Party based upon allegations of 
any such loss, claim, judgment, damage or other liability, including the retaining of counsel and payment of 
reasonable counsel fees and all other expenses relating to such defense; provided, however, that any Indemnified 
Party may retain separate counsel in any such action and may participate in the defense thereof at its own expense 
or, if specifically authorized by the Borrower, at the expense of the Borrower, and provided further that if the 
defendants in any such action include an Indemnified Party and any of the Borrower and the Indemnified Party shall 
have reasonably concluded that there may be legal defenses available to it and/or to other Indemnified Parties which 
are different from or additional to those available to the Borrower, the Indemnified Party shall have the right to 
select separate counsel to assert such legal defenses and otherwise to participate in the defense of such action on 
behalf of such Indemnified Party, at the expense of the Borrower (the fees and expenses of such separate counsel to 
be reasonable), and this indemnity will be in addition to any liability which the Borrower otherwise may have. 

Events of Default under the Loan Agreement 

Each of the following events constitute an “Event of Default”:

(a) If any payment under the Loan Agreement with respect to amounts payable on the Bonds 
is not paid as and when due; provided, however, that so long as the Guarantee is in effect, any such failure 
to pay shall be an Event of Default only if the Clinic has failed to pay when due in accordance with the 
Guarantee. 
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(b) Failure of the Borrower to observe or perform any covenant or agreement in the Loan 
Agreement, other than any referred to in any other subsection hereunder, for a period of 60 days after 
written notice to the Borrower from the Trustee.  If the failure is correctable but cannot be corrected within 
60 days, such failure shall not constitute an Event of Default if corrective action is instituted by the 
Borrower within such 60 day period and is diligently pursued to the satisfaction of the Trustee. 

(c) Any “Event of Default” as defined in the Indenture. 

Upon having actual notice of the existence of an Event of Default, the Trustee shall given written notice 
thereof to the Borrower, the Authority and the Clinic. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if by reason of acts of God; strikes, lockouts or other industrial 
disturbances; acts of public enemies; orders of any kind of the government of the United States or of the State of 
Wisconsin or of any department, agency, political subdivision, court or official of any of them or any civil or 
military authority; insurrections; riots; epidemics; landslides, lightning, earthquakes, volcanoes, fires, hurricanes, 
tornadoes, storms, floods, washouts, droughts other natural disaster; arrests; restraint of government and people; 
civil disturbances; explosions; breakage or accident to machinery; partial or entire failure of utilities; or any cause or 
event not reasonably within the control of the Borrower, the Borrower is unable in whole or in part to carry out any 
one or more of its agreements or obligations contained in the Indenture, other than its payment obligations under the 
Loan Agreement, the Borrower shall not be deemed in default under (b) hereinabove (nor shall any such Default 
become an Event of Default)  with respect thereto during the continuance of such inability.  The Borrower shall 
make reasonable efforts to remedy with all reasonable dispatch the cause or causes preventing it from carrying out 
its agreements; provided that the settlement of strikes, lockouts and other industrial disturbances shall be entirely 
within discretion of the Borrower. 

Remedies

Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of any Event of Default with respect to the Bonds, the 
Trustee may, and the Trustee shall, upon the direction of the Owners of a majority in principal amount of such 
Bonds Outstanding, take such action as it deems necessary or appropriate, including declaring all principal and 
accrued interest to be due and payable immediately, exercising any or all rights and remedies, and taking any action 
at law or in equity to collect the payments under the Loan Agreement, for damages or for specific performance or 
otherwise to enforce performance and observance of the agreements of the Borrower. 

Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of any Event of Default with respect to the Authority’s 
Unassigned Rights, the Authority may take such action as it deems necessary and may pursue remedies but may not 
declare all principal to be due and payable immediately. 

Discontinuance or Abandonment of Default Proceedings 

If any proceeding taken by the Trustee on account of any Event of Default shall have been discontinued or 
abandoned or shall have been determined adversely to the Trustee, then and in every case the Authority, the Trustee 
and the Borrower shall be restored to their former position and rights under the Loan Agreement, respectively, and 
all rights, remedies and powers of the Authority and the Trustee shall continue as though no such proceeding had 
taken place. 

Remedies Cumulative 

No remedy conferred upon or reserved to the Authority or the Trustee under the Loan Agreement or now or 
hereafter existing at law or in equity or by statute, shall be exclusive but shall be cumulative with all others.  Such 
remedies are not mutually exclusive and no election need be made among them, but any such remedy or any 
combination of such remedies may be pursued at the same time or from time to time so long as all amounts realized 
are properly applied and credited.  No delay or omission to exercise any right or power accruing upon any Event of 
Default shall impair any such right or power or shall be construed to be a waiver thereof, but any such right or power 
may be exercised from time to time and as often as may be deemed expedient by the Authority or the Trustee.  In the 
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event of any waiver of an Event of Default, the parties shall be restored to their former positions and rights, but no 
such waiver shall extend to any other or subsequent Event of Default or impair any right arising as a result thereof.  
In order to entitle the Trustee to exercise any remedy reserved to it, it shall not be necessary to give notice other than 
as expressly required in the Loan Agreement. 
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SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE INDENTURE 

The following is a summary of certain provisions of the Indenture.  This summary is qualified in its entirety 
by reference to the Indenture. 

General

The Indenture provides for the issuance of the Bonds, and grants to the Trustee, in trust for the benefit of 
the Owners of the Bonds, a security interest in the rights of the Authority under the Loan Agreement (other than the 
Authority’s Unassigned Rights), amounts on deposit in the funds and accounts created pursuant to the Indenture, and 
any other interests in property granted from time to time.  The Indenture does not provide for the issuance of 
additional bonds. 

Mutilated, Destroyed, Lost and Stolen Bonds 

In case any Bond shall become mutilated or be destroyed, lost or stolen, upon request, the Trustee shall 
authenticate and deliver a new Bond in exchange for the mutilated Bond or in lieu of and substitution for the Bond 
so destroyed, lost or stolen.  In every case of exchange or substitution, the applicant shall furnish to the Authority 
and to the Trustee such security or indemnity as may be required by them to save each of them harmless from all 
risks, however remote, and the applicant shall also furnish to the Authority and to the Trustee evidence to their 
satisfaction of the mutilation, destruction, loss or theft of the applicant’s Bond and of the ownership thereof.  The 
Trustee may authenticate any Bond issued upon such exchange or substitution and deliver the same upon the written 
request or authorization of an Authorized Officer of the Authority.  Upon the issuance of any Bond upon such 
exchange or substitution, the Authority and the Trustee may require the payment of a sum sufficient to cover any 
tax, fee or other governmental charge that may be imposed in relation thereto and any other expenses, including 
counsel fees and expenses, of the Authority or the Trustee.  In case any Bond which has matured or is about to 
mature shall become mutilated or be destroyed, lost or stolen, the Authority may, instead of issuing a Bond in 
exchange or substitution therefor, pay or authorize the payment of the same (without surrender thereof except in the 
case of a mutilated Bond) if the applicant for such payment shall furnish to the Authority and to the Trustee such 
security or indemnity as they may require to save them harmless, and evidence to the satisfaction of the Authority 
and the Trustee of the mutilation, destruction, loss or theft of such Bond and of the ownership thereof. 

Every Bond issued pursuant to the above-described provisions in exchange or substitution for any Bond 
which is destroyed, lost or stolen shall constitute a contractual obligation of the Authority, whether or not the 
destroyed, lost or stolen Bond shall be found at any time, or be enforceable by anyone, and shall be entitled to all the 
benefits of the Indenture equally and proportionately with any and all other Bonds duly issued under the Indenture.  
All Bonds shall be held and owned upon the express condition that the foregoing provisions are exclusive with 
respect to the replacement or payment of mutilated, destroyed, lost or stolen Bonds, and shall preclude any and all 
rights or remedies, notwithstanding any law or statute (to the extent permitted under such law or statute) existing or 
hereafter enacted to the contrary with respect to the replacement or payment of negotiable instruments or other 
securities without their surrender. 

Registration, Transfer and Exchange of Bonds 

The Bonds shall be registered as to both principal and interest. 

The Authority shall cause to be prepared books for registration of the Bonds, which registration books shall 
be kept by the Trustee which is designated as the registrar for the purpose of registering the Bonds.  The Trustee 
shall also act as transfer agent for the Bonds. 

So long as any of the Bonds shall remain Outstanding, the Trustee shall maintain and keep, at its designated 
corporate trust office, books for the registration and transfer of such Bonds; and, upon presentation thereof for such 
purpose at such office, the Trustee shall register or cause to be registered, and permit to be transferred, under such 
reasonable regulations as the Trustee may prescribe, any Bond entitled to registration or transfer.  So long as any of 
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the Bonds remain Outstanding, the Trustee shall make all necessary provisions to permit the exchange of such 
Bonds at its designated corporate trust office. 

Each Bond shall be transferable only upon the books of the Authority, which shall be kept for that purpose 
at the designated corporate trust office of the Trustee, at the written request of the Bondowner thereof or his or her 
attorney duly authorized in writing, upon surrender thereof at such office, together with a written instrument of 
transfer satisfactory to the Trustee and such other documents as shall be reasonably required by the Trustee duly 
executed by the Bondowner or his duly authorized attorney.  Upon the transfer of any such Bond or Bonds, the 
Trustee shall issue in the name of the transferee, in Authorized Denominations, a new Bond or Bonds, of the same 
aggregate principal amount, maturity and interest rate as the surrendered Bond or Bonds. 

The Authority and the Trustee may deem and treat the Bondowner of any Bond as the absolute owner of 
such Bond, whether such Bond shall be overdue or not, for the purpose of receiving payment of, or on account of, 
the principal of and premium, if any, and interest on such Bond and for all other purposes, and all such payments so 
made to any such owner or upon his order shall be valid and effectual to satisfy and discharge the liability upon such 
Bond to the extent of the sum or sums so paid, and neither the Authority nor the Trustee shall be affected by any 
notice to the contrary. 

In all cases in which the privilege of exchanging or transferring is exercised, the Trustee shall authenticate 
and deliver Bonds in accordance with the provisions of the Indenture.  All Bonds surrendered in any such exchanges 
or transfers shall forthwith be canceled by the Trustee.  For every such exchange or transfer of Bonds, whether 
temporary or definitive, the Authority or the Trustee may make a charge sufficient to reimburse it for any tax, fee or 
other governmental charge required to be paid with respect to such exchange or transfer, which sum or sums shall be 
paid by the person requesting such exchange or transfer as a condition precedent to the exercise of the privilege of 
making such exchange or transfer.  The Trustee shall not be obliged to make any such exchange or transfer of 
Bonds, during the period from each Record Date to the following Interest Payment Date or, in the case of a proposed 
redemption of Bonds if such Bonds are eligible to be selected or have been selected for redemption, during the 
period from and after receipt by the Trustee of notice of redemption from the Clinic or, in the case of mandatory 
redemption, forty-five (45) days next preceding the date fixed for such redemption. 

So long as the ownership of the ARS Bonds during an ARS Rate Period is maintained in book-entry form 
by DTC, a Beneficial Owner or an Existing Holder may sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of ARS Bonds only 
pursuant to the Auction Procedures. 

The foregoing provisions are subject to the book-entry provisions set forth in the Indenture while the Bonds 
are held in a book-entry system. 

Interest Mode 

 Interest on Bonds Other Than ARS. 

While the Bonds bear interest at a Money Market Municipal Rate, a LIBOR-Based Rate, Daily Rate, a 
Weekly Rate, a Monthly Rate, a Quarterly Rate or a Semiannual Rate, interest accrued on such Bonds shall be 
computed on the basis of a 365 or 366-day year, as applicable, for the number of days actually elapsed.  While the 
Bonds bear interest at a Term Rate or a Fixed Rate, interest accrued on such Bonds shall be computed on the basis of 
a 360-day year, consisting of twelve (12) thirty (30) day months.  While the Bonds bear interest at an Auction Period 
Rate, interest shall be computed (i) on the basis of the actual days over 360 if the Auction Period is 180 days or less, 
and (ii) on the basis of a 360 day year of twelve 30-day months if the Auction Period is greater than 180 days.  The 
Bonds as initially issued shall bear interest from the date of issuance thereof payable on each Interest Payment Date.  
The Bonds issued upon transfers or exchanges of Bonds shall bear interest from the Interest Payment Date next 
preceding their date of authentication, unless the date of authentication is an Interest Payment Date, in which case 
such Bonds shall bear interest from such date, or unless the date of authentication is after the Record Date next 
preceding the next succeeding Interest Payment Date, in which case such Bonds shall bear interest from such next 
succeeding Interest Payment Date. 
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The Bonds shall initially bear interest as described in the Reoffering Circular.  From and after any Change 
in the Interest Rate Mode, the Bonds shall bear interest determined in accordance with the provisions of the 
Indenture.  The Bonds shall bear interest for each Calculation Period or Auction Period, as the case may be, at the 
rate of interest per annum for such Calculation Period or Auction Period established in accordance with the 
Indenture.  From and after the Fixed Rate Conversion Date, the Bonds shall bear interest at the Fixed Rate until their 
stated maturity or earlier redemption.  Interest shall be payable on each Interest Payment Date by check mailed to 
the registered owner at his or her address as it appears on the registration books kept by the Trustee pursuant to the 
Indenture at the close of business on the applicable Record Date; provided, that (i) while DTC is the registered 
owner of the Bonds, all payments of principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds shall be paid to DTC or 
its nominee by wire transfer, (ii) prior to and including the Fixed Rate Conversion Date, interest on the Bonds shall 
be payable to any registered owner of at least one million dollars ($1,000,000) in aggregate principal amount of 
Bonds by wire transfer, upon written notice received by the Trustee at least five days prior to the applicable Record 
Date, from such registered owner containing the wire transfer address (which shall be in the continental United 
States) to which such registered owner wishes to have such wire directed and (iii) during a Money Market Municipal 
Rate Period, interest shall be payable on the Bonds only upon presentation and surrender thereof to the Trustee upon 
purchase thereof pursuant to the Indenture and if such presentation and surrender is made by 2:00 p.m. (New York 
City time) such payment shall be by wire transfer.  If and to the extent that there shall be a default in the payment of 
the interest due on any Interest Payment Date, such interest shall cease to be payable to the person in whose name 
each Bond was registered on such applicable Record Date and shall be payable, when and if paid to the person in 
whose name each Bond is registered at the close of business on the record date fixed therefor by the Trustee, which 
shall be the fifth Business Day next preceding the date of the proposed payment.  Except as provided above, 
payment of the principal of and premium, if any, on all Bonds shall be made upon the presentation and surrender of 
such Bonds at the designated office of the Trustee as the same shall become due and payable. 

By 11:00 a.m. (New York City time) on each Determination Date for Bonds to bear a Money Market 
Municipal Rate, by 10:00 a.m. (New York City time) on each Determination Date for Bonds to bear interest at a 
Daily Rate, by 11:00 a.m. (New York City time) on each Determination Date for Bonds to bear a LIBOR-Based 
Rate, by 4:00 p.m. (New York City time) on each Determination Date for Bonds to bear interest at a Weekly Rate, 
Monthly Rate, Quarterly Rate, Semiannual Rate, Term Rate, Fixed Rate, the Market Agent or the Calculation Agent, 
as the case may be, shall determine in accordance with the terms of the Indenture and make available to the 
Authority, the Trustee, the Borrower, or any registered owner of a Bond the interest rate or rates determined on such 
Determination Date. 

During any period in which the Market Agent fails for any reason to determine the interest rate for any 
Interest Period, other than a LIBOR-Based Rate Period or a Money Market Municipal Rate Period: (i) with respect 
to Bonds operating in a Daily Rate Period, the last interest rate so determined shall remain in effect for up to five 
successive Daily Rate Periods and, with respect to subsequent Daily Rate Periods for which the Daily Rate is not so 
determined, the Daily Rate shall be a rate per annum equal to 100% of the Municipal Swap Index rate most recently 
published by The Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association on or before the applicable Determination 
Date; (ii) with respect to Bonds operating in a Weekly Rate Period, the last interest rate so determined shall remain 
in effect for up to two successive Weekly Rate Periods and, with respect to subsequent Weekly Rate Periods for 
which the Weekly Rate is not so determined, the Weekly Rate shall be a rate per annum equal to 100% of the 
Municipal Swap Index rate most recently published by The Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association 
on or before the applicable Determination Date; (iii) with respect to Bonds operating in a Monthly Rate Period, the 
interest rate, with respect to Interest Periods for which the applicable interest rate is not so determined, shall be a 
rate per annum equal to 100% of the one-month rate included in the MIG1 Scale most recently published by 
Municipal Market Data on or before the applicable Determination Date; (iv) with respect to Bonds operating in a 
Quarterly Rate Period, the interest rate, with respect to Interest Periods for which the applicable interest rate is not 
determined, shall be a rate per annum equal to 100% of the three-month rate included in the MIG1 Scale most 
recently published by Municipal Market Data on or before the applicable Determination Date; (v) with respect to 
Bonds operating in a Semiannual Rate Period, the interest rate, with respect to Interest Periods for which the 
applicable interest rate is not determined, shall be a rate per annum equal to 100% of the six-month rate included in 
the MIG1 Scale most recently published by Municipal Market Data on or before the applicable Determination Date; 
and (vi) with respect to Bonds operating in a Term Rate Period, the interest rate, with respect to Interest Periods for 
which the applicable interest rate is not determined, shall be a rate per annum equal to 100% of the rate included in 
the AAA Scale most recently published by Municipal Market Data, for the closest corresponding period not greater 
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than the then unexpired duration of such Term Rate Period, on or before the applicable Determination Date; 
provided, that, with respect to any Determination Date, if the applicable rate is not published by the entity referred to 
in (i), (ii), (iii), (iv), (v) or (vi), the Clinic, after consultation with the Authority, shall select such other publicly 
available rate as it shall deem most nearly equivalent thereto.  During any period in which the Market Agent fails for 
any reason to determine a Money Market Municipal Rate or Money Market Municipal Rate Period, the succeeding 
Rate Period shall consist of a period of one week from and including the prior Interest Payment Date during which 
the Money Market Municipal Rate shall be deemed to equal to 100% of the SIFMA Index, after which period the 
Market Agent shall attempt to determine a Money Market Municipal Rate and Money Market Municipal Rate 
Period as otherwise hereinabove provided. 

The determination of any rate of interest by the Market Agent in accordance with the Indenture or by the 
Auction Agent in accordance with the Auction Procedures applicable to ARS Bonds during an ARS Rate Period or 
the establishment of Calculation Periods or Interest Periods by the Market Agent as provided in the Indenture shall 
be conclusive and binding upon the Authority, the Borrower, the Trustee, the Market Agent, the Auction Agent, all 
Broker-Dealers and the registered or beneficial owners of the Bonds.  Failure of the Market Agent, the Trustee, the 
Auction Agent or DTC or any DTC participant to give any of the notices described in the Indenture, or any defect 
therein, shall not affect the interest rate to be borne by any of the Bonds nor the applicable Calculation Period or 
Interest Period nor in any way change the rights of the registered owners of the Bonds to tender their Bonds for 
purchase or to have them redeemed in accordance with the Indenture. 

No transfer or exchange of Bonds shall be required to be made by the Trustee after a Record Date until the 
next succeeding Interest Payment Date. 

Except as otherwise provided in this paragraph, the Trustee shall calculate the amount of interest due and 
payable on each Interest Payment Date or date on which a Bond is subject to purchase by 11:00 a.m. on the Business 
Day next preceding such Interest Payment Date or date set for purchase, as the case may be.  In preparing such 
calculation the Trustee may rely on calculations or other services provided by the Auction Agent, the Calculation 
Agent, the Market Agent, the Borrower or any person or persons selected by the Trustee in its discretion.  During a 
Money Market Municipal Rate Period, the Market Agent shall notify the Trustee and the Borrower of the amount of 
interest due and payable on each Interest Payment Date by 10:00 a.m. on the Business Day next preceding such 
Interest Payment Date. 

Anything in the Indenture to the contrary notwithstanding, in no event shall the interest rate borne by any 
Bond exceed the Maximum Rate, except that the interest rate paid by the Borrower on Bank Bonds shall not exceed 
the amount permitted by the applicable Liquidity Facility. 

Notwithstanding anything in the Indenture to the contrary, the Bank Bonds shall bear interest at the Bank 
Bond Rate for the period commencing from the date that the Liquidity Provider shall have purchased such Bonds 
and continuing until the Liquidity Provider (or a purchaser from the Liquidity Provider other than a purchaser which 
purchased such Bonds through the Market Agent) shall no longer be the owner of such Bonds; and such interest 
shall accrue and be payable on any Interest Payment Date for Bank Bonds. 

During any Money Market Municipal Rate Period, at or prior to 11:00 a.m. (New York City time) on each 
Determination Date, the Market Agent shall establish Calculation Periods and related Money Market Municipal 
Rates.  In determining Calculation Periods, the Market Agent shall take the following factors into account: 
(i) existing short-term taxable and tax-exempt market rates and indices of such short-term rates, (ii) the existing 
market supply and demand for short-term tax-exempt securities, (iii) existing yield curves for short-term and long-
term tax-exempt securities or obligations having a credit rating that is comparable to the Bonds, (iv) general 
economic conditions, (v) economic and financial factors present in the securities industry that may affect or that may 
be relevant to the Bonds and (vi) any information available to the Market Agent pertaining to the Borrower 
regarding any events or anticipated events which could have a direct impact on the marketability of or interest rates 
on the Bonds.  The Market Agent shall select the Calculation Periods and the applicable Money Market Municipal 
Rates that, together with all other Calculation Periods and related Money Market Municipal Rates, in the sole 
judgment of the Market Agent, will result in the lowest overall borrowing cost on the Bonds or are otherwise in the 
best financial interests of the Borrower, as determined in consultation with the Borrower.  Any Calculation Period 
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established under the Indenture may not extend beyond the Fixed Rate Conversion Date or the day prior to the 
maturity date of the Bonds. 

The Borrower may place such limitations upon the establishment of Calculation Periods as may be set forth 
in a written direction, which direction must be received by the Trustee and the Market Agent prior to 10:00 a.m. 
(New York City time) on the day prior to any Determination Date to be effective on such date, but only if the 
Trustee receives an Opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that such action is authorized by the Indenture, is 
permitted under the Act and will not have an adverse effect on the exclusion of interest on the Bonds from gross 
income for federal income tax purposes. 

Conversion of Interest Rate Periods. 

Optional Conversion of Bonds to Adjustable Rate by Borrower 

Prior to the Fixed Rate Conversion Date for the Bonds, at the times specified below, the Bonds shall cease 
to bear interest at the Adjustable Rate then borne by such Bonds and shall bear interest at such different Adjustable 
Rate as shall be specified by the Guarantor, in a written notice delivered at least 30 days prior to the proposed 
effective date of the Change in the Interest Rate Mode to the Trustee, the Market Agent, any Rating Agency then 
rating the Bonds and the Authority (and to the Auction Agent and DTC if such Change in the Interest Rate Mode is 
to or from an ARS Rate Period).  A Change in the Interest Rate Mode may only be effected on the last Interest 
Payment Date for a Calculation Period or Auction Period, as the case may be; provided that a Change in the Interest 
Rate Mode during a Money Market Municipal Rate Period may only be effected on any Business Day upon 
purchase of the Bonds pursuant to the provisions of the Indenture at a price equal to the principal amount thereof, 
and provided that in the case of a conversion of a Term Rate Bond, a Change in the Interest Rate Mode may also be 
effected on a day on which the Bonds would otherwise be subject to optional redemption.  A notice of Change in the 
Interest Rate Mode shall be effective only if it is accompanied by the form of opinion that Bond Counsel expects to 
be able to give on the proposed effective date of such Change in the Interest Rate Mode to the effect that such 
Change in the Interest Rate Mode is authorized by the Indenture, is permitted under the Act and will not have an 
adverse effect on the exclusion of interest on such Bonds from gross income for federal income tax purposes. 

In the case of any Change in the Interest Rate Mode to a Term Rate, the notice required by this section shall 
specify the length of the Calculation Periods and, unless the Market Agent makes a change in the Calculation 
Periods in accordance with the Indenture, such Calculation Periods shall thereafter apply to the Bonds until the 
earliest to occur of (i) the Fixed Rate Conversion Date, or (ii) a Change in the Interest Rate Mode.  Any change in 
the Calculation Periods during a Term Rate Period shall be deemed an optional conversion and may not be made 
unless all the requirements of a conversion under the Indenture are met.  If the last day of a Calculation Period in a 
Term Rate Period is the day immediately prior to the final maturity date of the Bonds, then the Redemption Terms 
Certificate may provide for the Bonds to mature serially in the principal amounts scheduled for mandatory sinking 
fund redemption. 

In no event shall any Bonds be converted to an ARS Rate Period if such Bonds are not held under the book-
entry system. 

A Change in the Interest Rate Mode to an Adjustable Rate shall be effective only if, with respect to any 
Change in the Interest Rate Mode from an ARS Rate Period, the Trustee, and the Auction Agent shall receive: 

(a) a Remarketing Commitment and the Remarketing Agreement that is or will be in effect 
on or prior to such Change in the Interest Rate Mode; 

(b) by 11:00 a.m. (New York City time) on the second Business Day prior to the effective 
date of such Change in the Interest Rate Mode by telecopy or other similar means, a certificate from the 
Borrower (or the Guarantor) (y) authorizing the establishment of the new Adjustable Rate and 
(z) confirming that Bond Counsel expects to be able to give an opinion on the effective date of such 
Change in the Interest Rate Mode to the effect that such Change in the Interest Rate Mode is authorized by 



C-23

the Indenture, is permitted under the Act and will not have an adverse effect on the exclusion of interest on 
the applicable Bonds from gross income for federal income tax purposes; 

(c) by 4:00 p.m. (New York City time) on the effective date of such Change in the Interest 
Rate Mode, a certificate from the Tender Agent that all of the applicable Bonds tendered or deemed 
tendered have been purchased at a price equal to the principal amount thereof with funds provided from the 
remarketing of such Bonds in accordance with the Remarketing Commitment or derived from a draw under 
the Liquidity Facility, and that accrued and unpaid interest, if any, on the Bonds shall have been paid 
pursuant to the Indenture from funds deposited with the Trustee, and that the premium, if any, has been 
paid from funds deposited with the Trustee; and 

(d) provision of Liquidity Facility pursuant to the Indenture or satisfaction of the Loan 
Agreement with respect to Liquid Assets. 

With respect to any Change in the Interest Rate Mode other than from an ARS Rate Period, the Trustee 
(and the Auction Agent and the Market Agent (if applicable) in the case of any Change in the Interest Rate Mode to 
an ARS Rate Period), shall receive by 4:00 p.m., New York City time, on the effective date of such Change in the 
Interest Rate Mode, a certificate from the Tender Agent that all of the Bonds tendered or deemed tendered have been 
purchased at a price equal to the principal amount thereof plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, with funds 
provided from the remarketing of such Bonds, or from a draw under the Liquidity Facility or funds deposited with 
the Trustee, and any premium (including, if applicable, the Spread Premium), if any, has been paid from monies 
deposited with the Trustee. 

With respect to any Change in the Interest Rate Mode, the Trustee (and the Auction Agent and the Market 
Agent (if applicable) in the case of any Change in the Interest Rate Mode to or from an ARS Rate Period) shall 
receive, by 9:30 a.m. (New York City time) on the effective date of such Change in the Interest Rate Mode, an 
Opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that such Change in the Interest Rate Mode is authorized by the Indenture, is 
permitted under the Act and will not have an adverse effect on the exclusion of interest on such Bonds from gross 
income for federal income tax purposes. 

Optional Conversion of Bonds to a Fixed Rate by Borrower 

The Borrower (or the Guarantor) reserves the right to fix the rate of interest per annum which the Bonds 
will bear, in whole, for the balance of the term thereof.  In the event the Borrower (or Guarantor) as provided in the 
Indenture exercises its Option to Convert, the Bonds shall cease to bear interest at the Adjustable Rate then borne by 
the Bonds and from the Fixed Rate Conversion Date shall bear interest at the Fixed Rate until their stated maturity 
or earlier redemption, subject to the terms and conditions of the Indenture.  The Option to Convert may be exercised 
at any time through a written notice given by the Borrower (or the Guarantor) not less than 30 (not less than 15 days 
in the case of Bonds bearing interest at a Daily Rate or a Weekly Rate) nor more than 45 days prior to the proposed 
Fixed Rate Conversion Date to the Trustee, the Authority, the Market Agent (and the Auction Agent and DTC in the 
case of any change to a Fixed Rate from an ARS Rate Period).  The Fixed Rate Conversion Date may only be the 
last Interest Payment Date for a Calculation Period or Auction Period, as the case may be; provided that a Fixed 
Rate Conversion Date that immediately follows a Money Market Municipal Rate Period may be on any Business 
Day upon purchase of the Bonds pursuant to the Indenture at a price equal to the principal amount thereof.  A notice 
of conversion to a Fixed Rate shall be effective only if it is accompanied by the form of opinion that Bond Counsel 
expects to give on the Fixed Rate Conversion Date to the effect that the establishment of the Fixed Rate is 
authorized by the Indenture, is permitted under the Act and will not have an adverse effect on the exclusion of 
interest on such Bonds from gross income for federal income tax purposes.  The Trustee shall mail the notice 
received on or before the third Business Day after receipt thereof to the Holders. 

The Fixed Rate shall take effect only if 

with respect to a change to the Fixed Rate from an ARS Rate Period, the Trustee and the Auction 
Agent shall receive: 
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(a) by no later than the tenth day prior to the Fixed Rate Conversion Date, a Fixed Rate 
Commitment; and 

(b) by 11:00 a.m. (New York City time) on the second Business Day prior to the Fixed Rate 
Conversion Date, by telecopy or other similar means, a certificate from the Borrower (or, in the case of the 
Bonds, the Guarantor) (x) authorizing the establishment of the Fixed Rate, (y) setting forth the Fixed Rate 
and (z) providing a form of opinion of Bond Counsel expected to be delivered on the Fixed Rate 
Conversion Date to the effect that the change to the Fixed Rate is authorized by the Indenture, is permitted 
under the Act and will not have an adverse effect on the exclusion of interest on the Bonds from gross 
income for federal income tax purposes; and 

with respect to any change to a Fixed Rate the Trustee (and the Auction Agent  in the case of any 
change to the Fixed Rate from an ARS Rate Period) receives on the Fixed Rate Conversion Date: 

(a) by 9:30 a.m. (New York City time) an Opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that the 
conversion to the Fixed Rate is authorized by the Indenture, is permitted under the Act and will not have an 
adverse effect on the exclusion of interest on such Bonds from gross income for federal income tax 
purposes; and 

(b) by 4:00 p.m. (New York City time) a certificate from the Tender Agent that all of the 
Bonds tendered or deemed tendered have been purchased at a price equal to the principal amount thereof 
with funds provided from the remarketing of such Bonds in accordance with the Fixed Rate Commitment, 
and that accrued and unpaid interest, if any, has been or shall be paid in accordance with the Indenture from 
funds deposited with the Trustee, and that the premium (including, if applicable, the Spread Premium), if 
any, has been paid from monies deposited with the Trustee. 

Conversion Generally 

Upon any Change in the Interest Rate Mode to an ARS Rate Period, the Market Agent shall take all steps 
necessary to comply with any agreement entered into with DTC or its nominee with respect to such Change in the 
Interest Rate Mode, including, without limitation, the purchase and designation of sufficient CUSIP numbers to 
comply with the requirements of DTC following any such Change in the Interest Rate Mode. 

Notwithstanding anything in the Indenture to the contrary, during a Term Rate Period, the Borrower may 
not exercise its option to effect a Change in the Interest Rate Mode and the Borrower may not exercise its option to 
convert to a Fixed Rate if such action would require the payment of a premium (including, if applicable, the Spread 
Premium) upon purchase of Bonds unless there shall have been deposited the full amount of such premium in trust 
with the Trustee prior to any notification of a change. 

In the event that any condition to a Change in the Interest Rate Mode of the Bonds shall not have been 
satisfied as provided in the Indenture, then the Interest Rate Mode shall not be converted and the Bonds shall 
automatically convert to, or continue to bear interest at, the Weekly Rate, unless such Bonds were in an ARS Rate 
Period, in which case they will bear interest at the Maximum Rate for a Seven Day Auction Period, as defined in the 
Auction Procedures, each as in effect immediately prior to such proposed Change in the Interest Rate Mode, and 
such Bonds (except ARS) shall not be subject to mandatory tender for purchase on the date which would have been 
the effective date of the Change in the Interest Rate Mode.  After such ensuing Calculation Period, the interest rate 
on such Bonds shall be calculated in the manner otherwise provided in the Indenture for such Interest Rate Mode.  If 
any of the conditions for a Change in the Interest Rate Mode are not met, the Trustee shall, as soon as practicable, 
but in no event later than the next succeeding Business Day, give notice of the failed conversion by Electronic 
Means to the Authority, the Clinic, the Auction Agent (if applicable), the Broker-Dealer (if applicable) and the 
Holders. 
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Optional Tender 

During any Daily Rate Period or Weekly Rate Period, any Bond or portion thereof in a principal amount 
equal to an authorized denomination (so long as the principal amount not purchased is an authorized denomination) 
shall be purchased on the demand of the Holder thereof on any Business Day at a price equal to the principal amount 
thereof plus accrued interest, if any, to the date of purchase, upon delivery to the Tender Agent and the Market 
Agent at their respective principal offices, by the 4:00 p.m. on any Business Day of a Notice of Election to Tender; 
provided, however, that the substance of such Notice of Election to Tender must also be given telephonically to the 
Market Agent prior to or simultaneously with delivery of such written Notice of Election to Tender to the Market 
Agent.  The date on which such Bond shall be purchased shall, at the request of the Holder thereof (i) if the Bond 
then bears interest at a Daily Rate, be the date of delivery of such Notice of Election to Tender if such Notice of 
Election to Tender is delivered to the Tender Agent and the Market Agent by 11:00 a.m.(New York City time) on 
such date or may be any Business Day thereafter, or (ii) if the Bond then bears interest at a Weekly Rate, a Business 
Day at least seven days after the date of the delivery of such Notice of Election to Tender to the Tender Agent and 
the Market Agent. 

During any Monthly Rate Period, Quarterly Rate Period or Semiannual Rate Period on or prior to the Fixed 
Rate Conversion Date, any Bond or portion thereof in a principal amount equal to an authorized denomination (so 
long as the principal amount not purchased is an authorized denomination) shall be purchased on the demand of the 
Holder thereof on the first Business Day following each Calculation Period at a price equal to the principal amount 
thereof, upon delivery to the Tender Agent and the Market Agent, at their respective principal offices of a Notice of 
Election to Tender on or prior to a Business Day which is not less than 10 days, in the case of Bonds bearing interest 
at a Quarterly Rate or a Semiannual Rate, or seven days, in the case of Bonds bearing interest at a Monthly Rate, 
prior to the proposed date of purchase, provided, however, that the substance of such Notice of Election to Tender 
must also be given telephonically to the Market Agent prior to or simultaneously with delivery of such written 
Notice of Election to Tender to the Market Agent. 

Any Notice of Election to Tender shall be irrevocable.  If a Holder fails to deliver the Bonds referred to in 
such notice to the Trustee, such Bonds shall nevertheless be deemed to have been purchased on the date established 
for the purchase thereof, and, to the extent that there shall be on deposit in the Bond Purchase Account on such date 
an amount sufficient to pay the principal amount thereof, plus accrued interest, if any, no interest shall accrue on 
such Bonds from and after the date of purchase and such Holder shall have no rights under the Indenture thereafter 
as the owner of such Bonds except the right to receive the purchase price of such Bonds. 

The right of a Holder to tender a Bond to the Tender Agent shall terminate after the Fixed Rate Conversion 
Date.

Mandatory Tender for Purchase of Bonds 

Upon a Change in the Interest Rate Mode for the Bonds, such Bonds bearing a LIBOR-Based Rate, Daily 
Rate, Weekly Rate, Monthly Rate, Quarterly Rate, Semiannual Rate, Term Rate, Money Market Municipal Rate, or 
an Auction Rate during an ARS Rate Period shall be subject to mandatory tender for purchase in accordance with 
the terms hereof, on the effective date of such Change in the Interest Rate Mode at a price equal to the principal 
amount thereof plus accrued interest and premium, if any, in accordance with the Indenture (except as otherwise set 
forth hereinbelow). 

During any Term Rate Period or Money Market Municipal Rate Period, the Bonds shall be subject to 
mandatory tender for purchase in accordance with the terms hereof on the Business Day immediately following each 
Calculation Period (unless a Calculation Period for a Bond ends on the date immediately preceding the maturity date 
thereof), each at a price equal to the principal amount thereof plus accrued interest and premium, if any. 

The Bonds shall also be subject to mandatory tender for purchase in accordance with the terms of the 
Indenture on the Fixed Rate Conversion Date at a price equal to the principal amount thereof plus accrued interest 
and premium, if any (except that with respect to the LIBOR-Based Rate Bonds if the Fixed Rate Conversion Date is 
prior to the Par Call Date, such price shall be equal to the principal amount thereof, plus the Spread Premium, plus 
accrued interest, if any). 
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If at any time the Trustee gives notice that the Tender Price on the Bonds tendered for purchase shall, on 
the date specified in such notice, cease to be subject to purchase pursuant to the Liquidity Facility then in effect as a 
result of (i) the termination, replacement or expiration of the term, as extended, of that Liquidity Facility, including 
but not limited to termination at the option of the Clinic in accordance with the terms of such Liquidity Facility, or 
(ii) the occurrence of a Mandatory Standby Tender, then each such Bond shall be purchased or deemed purchased at 
the Tender Price.  Any purchase of such Bonds pursuant to this subsection (e) shall occur:  (1) on the fifth Business 
Day preceding any such termination or expiration of such Liquidity Facility or on the fifth Business Day preceding 
any termination thereof as a result of a Mandatory Standby Tender, and (2) on the date of the replacement of a 
Liquidity Facility, in any case where an Alternate Liquidity Facility has been delivered to the Tender Agent pursuant 
to the Indenture or the Clinic is obligated to pay the Tender Price of Bonds tendered for purchase but not 
remarketed.  In the case of any replacement, the Liquidity Facility being replaced will be drawn to pay the Tender 
Price, if necessary, rather than the Alternate Liquidity Facility.  No such mandatory tender will be effected upon the 
replacement of a Liquidity Facility in the case where the Liquidity Facility is failing to honor conforming draws. 

Payment of the Tender Price of any such Bonds shall be made in immediately available funds by 4:30 p.m. 
on the Tender Date upon delivery of such Bonds to the Tender Agent at its designated office for delivery of Bonds, 
accompanied by an instrument of transfer, in form satisfactory to the Tender Agent, executed in blank by the 
Bondholder with the signature of such Bondholder guaranteed by a commercial bank, trust company or member firm 
of the New York Stock Exchange, at or prior to 10:00 a.m. on the Tender Date.  If, as a result of any such 
Mandatory Standby Tender, expiration, termination with notice or replacement of such a Liquidity Facility, any 
Bonds are no longer subject to purchase pursuant to a Liquidity Facility, the Tender Agent (upon receipt from the 
Holder thereof in exchange for payment of the Tender Price thereof) shall present such Bonds to the Trustee for 
notation of such fact thereon. 

Notice of mandatory tender shall state (i) the purchase date, (ii) that the Bonds are subject to mandatory 
tender on  the purchase date at the applicable purchase price, (iii) that the Tender Price of any Bond subject to 
mandatory tender for purchase shall be payable only upon surrender of that Bond or Bonds to the Tender Agent at 
its principal office for delivery of Bonds, accompanied by an instrument of transfer, in form satisfactory to the 
Tender Agent, executed in blank by the Bondholder or its duly-authorized attorney, with such signature guaranteed 
by a commercial bank, trust company or member firm of the New York Stock Exchange; (iv) that, provided that 
moneys sufficient to effect such purchase shall have been provided through the remarketing of such Bonds by the 
Market Agent, through the Liquidity Facility or funds provided by the Borrower, all Bonds subject to mandatory 
tender for purchase shall be purchased on the mandatory Tender Date; and (v) that if any Holder of a Bond subject 
to mandatory tender for purchase does not surrender that Bond to the Tender Agent for purchase on the mandatory 
Tender Date, then that Bond shall be deemed to be an Undelivered Bond, that no interest shall accrue on that Bond 
on and after the mandatory Tender Date and that the holder of such Bond shall have no rights under the Indenture 
other than to receive payment of the Tender Price. 

Any such notice of mandatory tender for purchase required by the Indenture shall be given by the Trustee, 
in the name of the Authority (with copies thereof to be given to the Market Agent, the Borrower, and any Rating 
Agency then rating the Bonds and in the case of ARS Bonds during an ARS Rate Period, the Auction Agent, and, 
upon request, the Authority) by first-class mail to the Holders of the Bonds subject to purchase at their addresses 
shown on the books of registry. 

The purchase price of tendered Bonds shall include premium solely to the extent that (i) such Bonds bear 
interest at a Term Rate; (ii) the applicable redemption price therefor would include the premium specified in the 
Indenture if such Bonds were to be optionally redeemed on the date such Bonds are to be purchased; and (iii) the 
Bonds bear interest at a LIBOR-Based Rate and payment of the Spread Premium is required. 

The Bonds shall be subject to mandatory tender for purchase if at any time the Trustee gives notice that the 
Guarantee then in effect is to be terminated.  The Bonds shall be subject to mandatory tender for purchase on the 
fifth Business Day preceding any such termination, and each Bond shall be purchased or deemed purchased at the 
Tender Price.  The Bonds shall be subject to mandatory tender for purchase if at any time the Trustee gives notice 
that at the option of the Borrower, upon written consent of the Liquidity Facility Provider, if any, the Guarantee 
securing the Bonds is to be replaced with a Substitute Guarantee.  The Bonds shall be subject to mandatory tender 
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for purchase on the fifth Business Day preceding any such replacement, and each Bond shall be purchased or 
deemed purchased at the Tender Price. 

General Provisions Applicable to Mandatory and Optional Tenders for Purchase of Bonds 

If interest has been paid on the Bonds, or an amount sufficient to pay interest thereon has been deposited in 
the Interest Account of the Bond Fund, or an amount sufficient to pay accrued interest thereon, if any, has been set 
aside in the Bond Purchase Account, and the purchase price equal to the principal of, and premium, if any, on the 
Bonds shall be available in the Bond Purchase Account for purchase of Bonds subject to tender for purchase 
pursuant to the Indenture, and if any Holder fails to deliver or does not properly deliver the Bonds to the Tender 
Agent for which a Notice of Election to Tender has been properly filed or which are subject to mandatory tender for 
purchase on the purchase date therefor, such Bonds shall nevertheless be deemed tendered and purchased on the date 
established for the purchase thereof, no interest shall accrue on such Bonds from and after the date of purchase and 
such former Holders shall have no rights under the Indenture as the registered owners of such Bonds, except the 
right to receive the purchase price of, premium, if any, on and interest to the purchase date, if any, on such Bonds 
upon delivery thereof to the Tender Agent in accordance with the provisions of the Indenture.  The purchaser of any 
such Bonds remarketed by the Market Agent shall be treated as the registered owner thereof for all purposes of the 
Indenture.  If the ownership of the Bonds is no longer maintained in book-entry form by DTC the payment of Bonds 
pursuant to the Indenture shall be subject to delivery of such Bonds duly endorsed in blank for transfer or 
accompanied by an instrument of transfer thereof in form satisfactory to the Tender Agent executed in blank for 
transfer at the designated corporate trust office of the Tender Agent at or prior to 10:00 a.m. (11:30 a.m. for Bonds 
bearing interest at the Weekly Rate and 12:00 noon, for Bonds bearing interest at the Daily Rate) (New York City 
time), on a specified purchase date.  If the ownership of the Bonds is maintained in book-entry form by DTC, the 
payment of Bonds shall be subject to delivery of such Bonds versus payment no later than 2:30 p.m., in the case of 
Bonds bearing interest in a Daily Rate Period and no later than 11:30 a.m. in the case of Bonds bearing interest in a 
Weekly Rate Period.  The Tender Agent may refuse to make payment with respect to any Bonds tendered for 
purchase pursuant to the Indenture not endorsed in blank or for which an instrument of transfer satisfactory to the 
Tender Agent has not been provided. 

The purchase price of Bonds subject to tender for purchase in an aggregate principal amount of at least one 
million dollars ($1,000,000) shall be payable in immediately available funds or by wire transfer upon written notice 
from the Holder thereof containing the wire transfer address (which shall be in the continental United States) to 
which such Holder wishes to have such wire directed, if such written notice is received by the Tender Agent not less 
than five days prior to the related purchase date. 

Upon receipt of notice of the optional tender or mandatory tender of the Bonds pursuant to the Indenture, 
the Market Agent shall, subject to the provisions of the Remarketing Agreement, offer for sale and use its best 
efforts to find purchasers for all Bonds or portions thereof properly tendered.  The Market Agent shall cause the 
purchase price for such tendered Bonds to be paid to the Trustee in immediately available funds at or before 
2:00 p.m., New York City time, on the purchase date.  Not later than 12:00 noon, New York City time, on such 
purchase date (in the case of the Daily Rate Period) or 1:00 p.m. on the Business Day prior to the tender date (in the 
case of the Weekly Rate Period) the Market Agent shall determine the principal amount of tendered Bonds it has 
successfully remarketed and with respect to which it has received funds from the purchasers thereof, and the Market 
Agent not later than 12:00 noon, New York City time, on such purchase date shall notify the Tender Agent and the 
Borrower of such amount, as well as the principal amount of Bonds tendered or deemed tendered for purchase on 
such date which it has not remarketed or received funds from the purchasers thereof. 

In the event there is a deficiency between (i) the principal amount of the Bonds tendered or deemed 
tendered for purchase on any purchase date and (ii) the principal amount of such Bonds that have been successfully 
remarketed by the Market Agent and with respect to which the Market Agent has received funds from the purchasers 
thereof, or in the event that the Tender Agent has received no notice from the Market Agent as described 
hereinabove, the Tender Agent shall by 12:30 p.m., New York City time, on such purchase date make a request 
under the Liquidity Facility for the Bonds in accordance with its terms to receive immediately available funds on the 
Tender Date sufficient to pay the balance of the Tender Price.  The Tender Agent agrees to deposit the proceeds of 
such requests in the Liquidity Facility Purchase Account pending application of that money to the payment of the 
Tender Price.  In determining the amount of the Tender Price then due, the Tender Agent shall not take into 
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consideration any Bank Bonds or Bonds registered in the name of the Borrower.  No requests shall be made under a 
Liquidity Facility to pay the Tender Price of Bank Bonds or of Bonds which are registered in the name of the 
Borrower, the Authority, an affiliate of either, or, to the best knowledge of the Tender Agent, any nominees for (or 
any Person who owns such Bonds for the sole benefit of) any of the foregoing.  Bank Bonds and Bonds registered in 
the name of the Borrower may not be tendered for purchase at the option of the Liquidity Facility Provider or the 
Borrower, respectively. 

If all or a portion of the Bonds tendered for purchase cannot be remarketed and the applicable Liquidity 
Facility Provider fails to purchase all or any part of the unremarketed portion of such tendered Bonds in accordance 
with the Liquidity Facility on a Tender Date, the Tender Agent shall notify the Borrower of such deficiency by 2:30 
p.m. (except in the case of Bonds with respect to which no Liquidity Facility is in effect, in which case such 
notification shall be delivered no later than 12:30 p.m.), and the Borrower shall by 3:00 p.m. on such Tender Date 
transfer the amount of such deficiency by wire in immediately available funds to the Trustee so that the Trustee will 
have sufficient immediately available funds from the Borrower which, when added to the immediately available 
funds received by the Trustee by 2:00 p.m. on such purchase date from the Market Agent or by 4:30 p.m. on such 
purchase date from the Liquidity Facility Provider, shall be sufficient to pay in full the purchase price of all Bonds 
so tendered or deemed tendered for purchase on such purchase date. 

Bonds required to be purchased in accordance with the Indenture shall be purchased from the holders 
thereof, on the Tender Date and at the Tender Price.  Funds for the payment of the Tender Price shall be received by 
the Tender Agent from the following sources and used in the order of priority indicated: 

(a) proceeds of the sale of Bonds remarketed pursuant to the Indenture and the Remarketing 
Agreement and furnished to the Tender Agent by the Market Agent for deposit into the Remarketing Account 
established for such Bonds within the Bond Purchase Fund; 

(b) money furnished by the applicable Liquidity Facility Provider to the Tender Agent for 
deposit into the Liquidity Facility Purchase Account established for such Bonds within the Bond Purchase Account 
from draws on the applicable Liquidity Facility, if any (provided that moneys from draws on the Liquidity Facility 
shall not be used to purchase Bank Bonds or Bonds from the Borrower); and 

(c) money, if any, furnished by the Borrower at its option to the Tender Agent for deposit 
into the Borrower Purchase Account established for such Bonds within the Bond Purchase Account for the purchase 
of Bonds by the Borrower. 

Payment of the Tender Price of the Bonds shall be made in immediately available funds by 3:10 p.m. on the 
Tender Date upon delivery of such Bonds to the Tender Agent at its designated office for delivery of Bonds, 
accompanied by an instrument of transfer, in form satisfactory to the Tender Agent, executed in blank by the 
Bondholder with the signature of such Bondholder guaranteed by a commercial bank, trust company or member firm 
of the New York Stock Exchange. 

Bank Bonds shall not be delivered upon remarketing or any other sale by the Market Agent or the Tender 
Agent until the Liquidity Facility is automatically reinstated for the principal amount thereof and interest 
corresponding thereto in accordance with its terms or the Market Agent or Tender Agent has received written 
notification from the Liquidity Facility Provider that it has reinstated the Liquidity Facility for the required amount. 

Rebate Requirement 

The Indenture does not establish a rebate fund.  All amounts, if any, payable in accordance with the 
arbitrage “rebate” requirements of Section 148 of the Code shall be made directly by the Borrower.
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Revenues and Funds 

The following funds and separate accounts within funds are established, held and maintained by the Trustee 
pursuant to the Indenture, except for the Construction Fund which shall be held by the Authority: 

Construction Fund 
 Construction Account 

Cost of Issuance Account 
Bond Fund 

Interest Account 
Principal Account 

Bond Purchase Account 
  Remarketing Account 
  Borrower Purchase Account 
  Liquidity Facility Purchase Account 
Redemption Fund 

Revenues

The Trustee shall deposit the payments received under the Loan Agreement or other money set forth below 
in the Bond Fund and credit the accounts set forth below in the order set forth below: 

The Borrower shall deposit, or cause to be deposited, the following in immediately available funds with the 
Trustee as the payments become due under the Loan Agreement unless sufficient amounts are then available in such 
accounts to make the required payments therefrom: 

(a) By 12:00 noon, on the Business Day next preceding each Interest Payment Date, into the Bond 
Fund for credit to the Interest Account an aggregate amount of immediately available funds required for the payment 
of the interest payable on the Outstanding Bonds on such Interest Payment Date; 

(b) Into the Bond Fund for credit to the Principal Account an aggregate amount of immediately 
available funds required for the payment of the principal payable on the Outstanding Bonds on the stated maturity 
date; 

(c) Into the Bond Fund for credit to the Redemption Fund the amount required to pay principal of and 
premium, if any, and accrued and unpaid interest on any Bonds called for redemption. 

Each installment of payments under the Loan Agreement shall be increased as may be necessary to make 
up any previous deficiency in any of the required payments.  If other monies are received by the Trustee as advance 
payments of payments under the Loan Agreement to be applied to the redemption of all or a portion of the Bonds, 
such monies shall be deposited in the Redemption Fund. 

Notwithstanding any other provisions of the Indenture, moneys received by the Trustee as an optional 
prepayment pursuant to the Loan Agreement shall be deposited in the Redemption Fund if the Bonds are then 
subject to redemption, or otherwise in the Bond Fund for payment of the next due principal of or interest on the 
Bonds. 

Subject to the prior provisions, moneys paid or transferred to the Trustee shall on or before the next 
Business Day after receipt thereof (but in no event later than the date on which due) be applied as follows and in the 
following order of priority: 

FIRST:  To the Interest Account, the amount equal to all of the interest becoming due on the 
Outstanding Bonds on the next Interest Payment Date for the Bonds after taking into account any amounts 
on deposit therein available for the payment thereof; 
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SECOND:  To the Principal Account, the amount equal to all of the principal amount becoming 
due on the Bonds on their applicable stated maturity (other than pursuant to a tender), after taking into 
account any amounts on deposit therein available for the payment thereof; 

THIRD:  To the Bond Purchase Account, the amount, if any, necessary to make the amount on 
deposit therein equal to the purchase price of any Bonds tendered or deemed tendered for purchase; and 

FOURTH:  To the Authority, unless otherwise paid, such amounts as are payable to the Authority 
for:  (i) any expenditure of the Authority for insurance, fees and expenses of auditing, and fees and 
expenses of the Trustee, all as required by the Indenture and not otherwise paid or caused to be paid or 
provided for by the Borrower; (ii) all other expenditures reasonably and necessarily incurred by the 
Authority in connection with the loan to the Borrower and the issuance of the Bonds, including penalties 
for late payments and all expenses incurred by the Authority to compel full and punctual performance of all 
the provisions of the Loan Agreement in accordance with the terms thereof; (iii) the Authority’s Annual 
Fee; and (iv) any other amounts due and payable by the Borrower to the Authority pursuant to the Loan 
Agreement - but only upon receipt by the Trustee from the Authority of a certificate signed by an 
Authorized Officer of the Authority, stating in reasonable detail the amounts payable to the Authority 
pursuant to this paragraph FOURTH. 

After making the payments required by paragraphs FIRST, SECOND, THIRD and FOURTH above, any 
balance remaining shall be paid, as the Authority may direct, to the Bond Fund and credited against the next due 
payment of debt service from the Borrower (provided the amount in the Bond Fund may not exceed the amount of 
debt service due on the Bonds during the next twelve months) or to the Redemption Fund and applied by the Trustee 
to the purchase or redemption of Bonds. 

Bond Fund

The Trustee shall transfer moneys out of the Interest Account on each Interest Payment Date for the 
payment of interest then due on the Bonds.  The Trustee shall pay out of such Interest Account any amounts required 
for the payment of accrued interest upon any redemption or purchase of the Bonds. 

The Trustee shall transfer moneys out of the Principal Account on the applicable stated maturity for the 
payment of the principal amount of the Bonds then due. 

The Trustee shall transfer moneys out of the Bond Purchase Account on each date that the purchase price 
of Bonds tendered, deemed tendered or required to be tendered pursuant to the Indenture becomes due. 

Redemption Fund

Moneys in the Redemption Fund derived from optional prepayment of the loan pursuant to the Loan 
Agreement shall, at the direction of the Borrower, be applied to payment of the Redemption Price of Bonds, plus 
accrued interest, if any, thereon to the date set for redemption, in accordance with the Indenture.  

Subject to the provisions of the immediately preceding paragraph, moneys in the Redemption Fund may be 
applied to the purchase of Bonds at purchase prices not exceeding the Redemption Price applicable to the Bonds to 
be purchased plus accrued interest due, in such manner as the Authority may direct.  Bonds so purchased shall be 
canceled by the Trustee.  If forty-five (45) days prior to any Interest Payment Date on which Bonds are subject to 
optional redemption, moneys in excess of $5,000 shall then remain on deposit in such Redemption Fund, the Trustee 
shall apply such moneys to the redemption of such Bonds at the Redemption Prices specified in the Indenture. 

Bond Purchase Fund

Upon receipt of the proceeds of a remarketing of Bonds on a Tender Date, the Tender Agent shall deposit 
such proceeds in the Remarketing Account of the Bond Purchase Fund for application to the Tender Price of such 
Bonds and, if the Tender Agent is not a paying agent with respect to such Bonds, shall transmit such proceeds to the 
Trustee for such application.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, upon receipt of the proceeds of a remarketing of Bank 
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Bonds, the Tender Agent shall immediately pay such proceeds to the Liquidity Facility Provider.  In the event that 
the proceeds of a remarketing are in excess of the amount needed to pay the Tender Price of the Bonds, such 
amounts shall be transferred to the Bond Fund. 

Upon receipt from the Liquidity Facility Provider of the immediately available funds transferred to the 
Tender Agent pursuant to the Indenture, the Tender Agent shall deposit such money in the Liquidity Facility 
Purchase Account of the Bond Purchase Fund for application to the Tender Price of the Bonds required to be 
purchased on a Tender Date in accordance with the tender provisions of the Indenture to the extent that the money 
on deposit in the Remarketing Account of the Bond Purchase Fund shall not be sufficient.  Any amounts deposited 
in the Liquidity Facility Purchase Account and not needed with respect to any Tender Date for the payment of the 
Tender Price for any Bonds shall be immediately returned to the Liquidity Facility Provider. 

Upon receipt from the Borrower of any funds for the purchase of tendered Bonds, the Tender Agent shall 
deposit such money, if any, in the Borrower Purchase Account of the Bond Purchase Fund for application to the 
Tender Price of the Bonds required to be purchased on a Tender Date in accordance with the Indenture to the extent 
that the money on deposit in the Remarketing Account and the Liquidity Facility Purchase Account (if any) of the 
Bond Purchase Fund shall not be sufficient.  Any amounts deposited in the Borrower Purchase Account and not 
needed with respect to any Tender Date for the payment of the Tender Price for any Bonds shall be immediately 
returned to the Borrower.  The Trustee shall transfer moneys out of the Bond Purchase Fund on each date that the 
Tender Price of Bonds tendered, deemed tendered or required to be tendered pursuant to the Indenture becomes due.  
Funds on deposit in different Accounts within the Bond Purchase Fund shall not be commingled. 

Investment of Funds

Any moneys held in any of the funds or accounts established under the Indenture shall be invested by the 
Trustee, as directed by the Authority, in a written order signed by an Authorized Officer thereof, or by the Authority 
(in consultation with the Borrower if with respect to the Construction Fund), but only as follows: 

(a) moneys in the Bond Fund only in Permitted Investments maturing in such amounts and on such 
dates as may be necessary to provide moneys to meet the payments from such Fund; 

(b) Moneys in the Redemption Fund only in Permitted Investments, maturing or redeemable at the 
option of the owner not later than the next succeeding date on which the Bonds are subject to redemption; 

(c) Subject to the provisions of the Act, any moneys held by the Authority in the Construction Fund 
may be invested by an Authorized Officer of the Authority only in Permitted Investments. 

The Trustee is authorized, in making or disposing of any investment permitted by the Indenture, to deal 
with itself (in its individual capacity) or with any one or more of its affiliates, whether it or such affiliate is acting as 
an agent of the Trustee or for any third person or dealing as principal for its own account. 

Any securities or investments held by the Trustee shall be transferred by the Trustee, if requested in writing 
by an Authorized Officer of the Authority, from any of the funds or accounts mentioned in this Section to any other 
of the funds or accounts mentioned in this Section at the then current market value thereof without having to be sold 
and purchased or repurchased; provided, however, that after any such transfer or transfers the investments in each 
such fund or account shall be in accordance with the provisions as stated in this Section. 

Unless otherwise directed by the Authority, interest earned, profits realized and losses suffered by reason of 
any investment shall be credited or charged, as the case may be, to the Fund or Account for which such investment 
shall have been made. 

The Trustee and the Authority may sell or redeem any obligations in which moneys shall have been 
invested, to the extent necessary to provide cash in the respective funds or accounts, to make any payments required 
to be made therefrom, or to facilitate the transfers of moneys, securities or investments between various funds and 
accounts as may be required or permitted from time to time pursuant to the provisions of the Indenture. 
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Neither the Trustee nor the Authority shall be liable for any depreciation in the value of any obligations in 
which moneys of the funds or accounts shall be invested, as aforesaid, or for any loss arising from any investment 
permitted under the Indenture. 

Guarantee and Substitute Guarantee 

The Guarantee shall constitute additional security for the payment of the principal of, Tender Price and 
redemption price of and interest on, the Bonds and shall be the obligation of the Clinic to pay to the Trustee, in 
accordance with the terms of the Guarantee, such amounts as shall be specified therein and available to be drawn 
thereunder for the timely payment of the principal of, Tender Price and redemption price of, and interest on, the 
Bonds required to be made pursuant to, and in accordance with, the provisions of the Indenture.  In the event that the 
Bonds are subject to optional tender, if a Liquidity Facility is in place, the Guarantee need not cover the Tender 
Price of the Bonds, and references to draws upon the Guarantee for such Tender Price shall be deemed references to 
draws upon such Liquidity Facility.  The Trustee shall draw on the Guarantee in accordance with the terms thereof 
at such time and in such manner as necessary to make timely payments of all Tender Price or principal of, premium, 
if any, and interest on or redemption price of the Bonds, as and when due (or to provide for the payment of the same 
in accordance with the provisions of the Indenture); provided, however, that, anything in the Indenture to the 
contrary notwithstanding, (1) in no event shall the Trustee draw moneys under the Guarantee in order to make 
payments of Tender Price or principal of, premium, if any, or interest on, Bonds held of record by the Borrower or 
its affiliates or by the Trustee for the account of such parties and (2) in the case of payments of any Tender Price, the 
Trustee shall draw moneys under the Guarantee only to the extent that remarketing proceeds and the proceeds of any 
drawing under a Liquidity Facility (if applicable) are insufficient to pay such Tender Price. The Trustee shall apply 
any moneys received upon a draw of payment under the Guarantee in accordance with the Indenture and the 
Guarantee.  

The Guarantee provides that the Guarantee shall remain in effect until the earlier of (i) the date on which all 
of the Bonds have been paid or are deemed paid under the Indenture, or (ii) the date on which a Substitute Guarantee 
becomes effective.  The Borrower or the Clinic may, at any time, deliver to the Trustee a Substitute Guarantee.  The 
Trustee shall accept a Substitute Guarantee with a term not less than the term of the Bonds upon receiving (i) written 
confirmation from each Rating Agency to the effect that such rating agency has reviewed such Substitute Guarantee 
and that the substitution of such Substitute Guarantee will not, by itself, result in a reduction or withdrawal by such 
rating agency of its ratings of the Bonds, (ii) an opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that the substitution of the 
Substitute Guarantee will not adversely affect the exclusion from gross income of the Owners of interest on the 
Bonds for Federal income tax purposes, and that the substitution has been effected in compliance with the provisions 
of the Indenture, (iii) an Opinion of Counsel to the effect that the guarantee by the new guarantor and the release of 
the existing guarantor will not cause any of the Bonds to become subject to registration under the Securities Act of 
1933 (or that such registration, if required, has been made), (iv) evidence that the new guarantor, as the result of a 
corporate reorganization, is a new parent corporation which holds (directly or indirectly) the controlling interest in 
the existing guarantor and a certificate of an officer of the existing guarantor to the effect that (1) after the 
assumption by the new parent corporation and the release of the existing guarantor, no Event of Default shall exist 
under the Indenture or the Loan Agreement, (2) at the time of the assumption, the new parent corporation is the 
controlling member or controlling shareholder (directly or indirectly) for the existing guarantor and the same 
corporations for which the existing guarantor was a controlling member or controlling shareholder (directly or 
indirectly) immediately prior to the assumption, and (3) at the time of the assumption, the new parent corporation 
has the same power (directly or indirectly) as the existing guarantor had (directly or indirectly) to appoint and 
dismiss a majority of the members of the governing bodies of such corporations.  Upon the effectiveness of such 
Substitute Guarantee and the rating agency confirmation(s), the Trustee shall confirm to the Clinic the termination 
and release of the Guarantee (except for the continued applicability of the proviso clause thereof) and return the 
Guarantee to the Clinic.  

Upon the effectiveness of the Substitute Guarantee and the receipt of the items required by the immediately 
preceding paragraph, the Trustee shall confirm to the existing guarantor the termination and release of the original 
Guarantee except for the continued applicability of the proviso clause thereof.  From and after the effectiveness of 
the Substitute Guarantee and termination and release of the Guarantee which had been in effect, references in the 
Indenture to the Guarantee shall be deemed to be references to the Substitute Guarantee rather than the original 
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Guarantee, and references to the Clinic shall be deemed to be references to the provider of the Substitute Guarantee 
rather than to the provider of the prior Guarantee. 

Default and Remedies 

Events of Default.

Each of the following events is an “Event of Default” under the Indenture: 

(a) Payment of the principal of any of the Bonds, or a portion of the purchase price therefor 
corresponding to principal of the Bonds, shall not be made when the same shall become due and payable, 
either at maturity or by proceedings for redemption or upon tender or otherwise; or 

(b) Payment of an installment of interest on any Bonds, or a portion of the purchase rice therefor 
corresponding to interest on the Bonds, shall not be made when the same shall become due and payable; or 

(c) Any proceeding shall be instituted, with the consent or acquiescence of the Authority, for the 
purpose of effecting a composition between the Authority and its creditors or for the purpose of adjusting 
the claims of such creditors, pursuant to any federal or state statute now or hereafter enacted, if the claims 
of such creditors are under any circumstances payable from the Revenues; or 

(d) The Authority shall default in the due and punctual performance of any other of the covenants, 
conditions, agreements and provisions contained in the Bonds or in the Indenture on the part of the 
Authority to be performed and such default shall continue for thirty (30) days after written notice 
specifying such default and requiring same to be remedied shall have been given to the Authority by the 
Trustee, which may give such notice in its discretion and shall give such notice at the written request of the 
owners of not less than twenty five percent (25%) in principal amount of the Outstanding Bonds; 

(e) An Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing under the Loan Agreement. 

Acceleration.

Upon the happening of any Event of Default specified above, the Trustee may, and shall upon the written 
request of the owners of not less than a majority in principal amount of the Outstanding Bonds, declare an 
acceleration of the payment of principal on the Bonds.  All such declarations shall be by a notice in writing to the 
Authority and the Borrower, declaring the principal of all of the Outstanding Bonds to be due and payable 
immediately.  Upon the giving of notice of such declaration of acceleration such principal shall become and be 
immediately due and payable, and interest on the Bonds shall accrue until the principal of such Bonds shall be paid 
in full.  At any time after the principal of the Bonds shall have been so declared to be due and payable, and before 
the entry of final judgment or decree in any suit, action or proceeding instituted on account of such default, or before 
the completion of the enforcement of any other remedy under the Indenture, the Trustee may, with the written 
consent of the owners of not less than a majority in principal amount of the Bonds not then scheduled to be due by 
their terms and then Outstanding and by written notice to the Authority, annul such declaration and its consequences 
if:  (i) moneys shall have accumulated in the Bond Fund sufficient to pay all arrears of principal and interest, if any, 
upon all of the Outstanding Bonds (except the interest accrued on such Bonds since the last Interest Payment Date 
and the principal of such Bonds then due only because of a declaration under this Section); (ii) moneys shall have 
accumulated and be available sufficient to pay the charges, compensation, expenses, disbursements, advances and 
liabilities of the Trustee; (iii) all other amounts then payable by the Authority under the Indenture shall have been 
paid or a sum sufficient to pay the same shall have been deposited with the Trustee; and (iv) every other default 
known to the Trustee in the observance or performance of any covenant, condition or agreement contained in the 
Bonds or in the Indenture (other than a default in the payment of the principal of such Bonds then due only because 
of a declaration under this Section) shall have been remedied to the satisfaction of the Trustee or waived pursuant to 
the Indenture.  No such annulment shall extend to or affect any subsequent default or impair any right consequent 
thereon 
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Enforcement of Remedies.   

Upon the happening and continuance of any Event of Default specified above, then and in every such case, 
the Trustee may proceed, and upon the written request of the Owners of not less than a majority in principal amount 
of the Outstanding Bonds shall proceed (subject to the provisions of the Indenture), to protect and enforce its rights 
and the rights of the owners of the Bonds under the laws of the State of Wisconsin or under the Indenture, the Bonds 
or the Loan Agreement by such suits, actions or special proceedings in equity or at law, either for the specific 
performance of any covenant contained under the Indenture or in aid or execution of any power granted in the 
Indenture, or for the enforcement of the Loan Agreement, or for an accounting against the Authority as if the 
Authority were the trustee of an express trust, or for the enforcement of any proper legal or equitable remedy as the 
Trustee shall deem most effectual to protect and enforce such rights. 

In the enforcement of any remedy under the Indenture, the Trustee shall be entitled to sue for, enforce 
payment of, and receive any and all amounts then or during any default becoming, and at any time remaining, due 
from the Authority for principal or interest or otherwise under any of the provisions of the Indenture or of the Bonds, 
with interest on overdue payments at the rate or rates of interest specified in such Bonds, together with any and all 
costs and expenses of collection and of all proceedings under the Indenture and under such Bonds, without prejudice 
to any other right or remedy of the Trustee or of the Owners of such Bonds, and to recover and enforce any 
judgment or decree against the Authority but solely as provided in the Indenture and in such Bonds, for any portion 
of such amounts remaining unpaid, with interest, cost and expenses, and to collect in any manner provided by law, 
the moneys adjudged or decreed to be payable. 

Priority of Payments After Default.

If at any time the moneys held by the Trustee under the Indenture shall not be sufficient to pay the principal 
of and interest on the Bonds as the same become due and payable (either by their terms or by acceleration of 
maturity), such moneys together with any moneys then available or thereafter becoming available for such purpose, 
whether through exercise of remedies or otherwise, shall be applied (after payment of all amounts owing to the 
Trustee from moneys under the Indenture other than from moneys in any irrevocable trust or escrow fund 
established with respect to any defeased Bonds) as follows: 

Unless the principal of all the Bonds shall have become due and payable, all such moneys shall be applied: 

FIRST:  To the payment to the persons entitled thereto of all installments of interest on any of the Bonds 
then due, in the order of the maturity of the installments of such interest, and, if the amount available shall not be 
sufficient to pay in full any particular installment, then to the payment ratably, according to the amounts due on such 
installment, to the persons entitled thereto, without any discrimination or preference; 

SECOND:  To the payment to the persons entitled thereto of the unpaid principal of any of the Bonds 
which shall have become due (other than Bonds called for redemption or contracted to be purchased for the payment 
of which moneys are held pursuant to the provisions of the Indenture) with interest upon such Bonds from the 
respective dates upon which they shall have become due, in the order of their due dates, and, if the amount available 
shall not be sufficient to pay in full Bonds due on any particular due date, together with such interest, then to the 
payment ratably, according to the amount of principal due on such date, to the persons entitled thereto, without any 
discrimination or preference; 

THIRD:  To the payment of the interest on and the principal of the Bonds as the same become due and 
payable. 

If the principal of all the Bonds shall have become due and payable, either by their terms or by a 
declaration of acceleration, all such moneys shall be applied to the payment of the principal and interest then due 
and unpaid upon the Bonds, without preference or priority of principal over interest or of interest over principal, or 
of any installment of interest over any other installment of interest, or of any Bond over any other Bond, ratably, 
according to the amounts due respectively for principal and interest, to the persons entitled thereto, without any 
discrimination or preference. 
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Whenever moneys are to be applied by the Trustee pursuant to the provisions of this Section, such moneys 
shall be applied by the Trustee at such times, and from time to time, as the Trustee in its sole discretion shall 
determine, having due regard to the amount of such moneys available for application and the likelihood of additional 
moneys becoming available for such application in the future.  The setting aside of such moneys in trust for the 
proper purpose shall constitute proper application by the Trustee, and the Trustee shall incur no liability whatsoever 
to the Authority, to any Bondowner, or to any other person for any delay in applying any such moneys, so long as 
the Trustee acts with reasonable diligence, having due regard to the circumstances, and ultimately applies the same 
in accordance with such provisions of the Indenture as may be applicable at the time of application by the Trustee.  
Whenever the Trustee shall exercise such discretion in applying such moneys it shall fix the date (which shall be an 
Interest Payment Date unless the Trustee shall deem another date more suitable) upon which such application is to 
be made, and upon such date interest on the amounts of principal to be paid on such date shall cease to accrue.  The 
Trustee shall give such notice as it may deem appropriate of the fixing of any such date.  The Trustee shall not be 
required to make payment to the owner of any unpaid interest or any Bond unless such Bond shall be presented to 
the Trustee for appropriate endorsement. 

Effect of Discontinuance of Proceedings

In case any proceedings taken by the Trustee on account of any default in respect of Bonds shall have been 
discontinued or abandoned for any reason or shall have been determined adversely to the Trustee, then and in every 
such case the Authority, the Trustee and the Bondowners shall be restored to their former positions and rights under 
the Indenture, respectively, and all rights, remedies, powers and duties of the Trustee shall continue as though no 
such proceeding had been taken. 

Control of Proceedings

Anything in the Indenture to the contrary notwithstanding, the owners of a majority in principal amount of 
the Outstanding Bonds shall have the right, subject to the provisions of the Indenture, by an instrument in writing 
executed and delivered to the Trustee, to direct the method and place of conducting all remedial proceedings to be 
taken by the Trustee under the Indenture, provided such direction shall not be otherwise than in accordance with law 
and the provisions of the Indenture. 

Individual Bond Owner Action Restricted.

No Owner of any of the Bonds shall have any right to institute any suit, action or proceeding in equity or at 
law for the execution of any trust under the Indenture or for any other remedy thereunder unless such Owner 
previously shall have given to the Trustee written notice of the event of default on account of which such suit, action 
or proceeding is to be instituted, and unless also the owners of not less than a majority in principal amount of all 
Outstanding Bonds shall have made written request to the Trustee after the right to exercise such powers or right of 
action, as the case may be, shall have accrued, and shall have afforded the Trustee a reasonable opportunity either to 
proceed to exercise the powers granted by the Indenture or to institute such action, suit or proceeding in its or their 
name, and unless, also, there shall have been offered to the Trustee security and indemnity as required by the 
Indenture against the costs, expenses, and liabilities to be incurred therein or thereby, and the Trustee shall have 
refused or neglected to comply with such request within a reasonable time.  Such notification, request and offer of 
indemnity are declared in every such case, at the option of the Trustee, to be conditions precedent to the execution of 
the powers and trusts of the Indenture or for any other remedy thereunder.  It is understood and intended that no one 
or more Owners of the Bonds secured by the Indenture shall have any right in any manner whatever by his or their 
action to affect, disturb or prejudice the security of the Indenture or to enforce any right thereunder except in the 
manner provided in the Indenture, and that all proceedings at law or in equity shall be instituted, had and maintained 
in the manner provided in the Indenture and for the benefit of all Owners of the Outstanding Bonds. 

Actions by Trustee 

All rights of action under the Indenture or under any of the Bonds secured thereby, enforceable by the 
Trustee may be enforced by it without the possession of any of such Bonds or the production thereof at the trial or 
other proceeding relative thereto, and any such suit, action or proceeding instituted by the Trustee shall be brought 
in its name for the benefit of all the Owners of the Bonds, subject to the provisions of the Indenture. 
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Remedies not Exclusive 

No remedy conferred upon or reserved to the Trustee or to the Owners of the Bonds is intended to be 
exclusive of any other remedy or remedies, and each and every such remedy shall be cumulative and shall be in 
addition to every other remedy given under the Indenture or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity or by 
statute.

Waiver and Non-waiver. 

No delay or omission of the Trustee or of any Owner of the Bonds to exercise any right or power accruing 
upon any default shall impair any such right or power or shall be construed to be a waiver of any such default or an 
acquiescence therein.  Every power and remedy given by the Indenture to the Trustee and the Owners of the Bonds, 
respectively, may be exercised from time to time and as often as may be deemed expedient. 

The Trustee may, and upon written request of the Owners of not less than a majority of the principal 
amount of the Outstanding Bonds shall, waive any default with respect to the Bonds which in its opinion shall have 
been remedied before the entry of final judgment or decree in any suit, action or proceeding instituted by it under the 
provisions of the Indenture or before the completion of the enforcement of any other remedy under the Indenture, 
but no such waiver shall extend to or affect any other existing or any subsequent default or defaults or impair any 
rights or remedies consequent thereon.

Notice of Default.

The Trustee shall mail or cause to be mailed to all Bondowners written notice of the occurrence of any 
Event of Default set forth in clause (a) or (b) under “Events of Default” hereinabove promptly after any such Event 
of Default shall have occurred of which the Trustee has actual knowledge.  If in any Bond Year the total amount of 
deposits to the credit of the Bond Fund shall be less than the amounts required so to have been deposited under the 
provisions of the Indenture, the Trustee, on or before the thirtieth (30th) day of the next succeeding Bond Year, shall 
mail to all Bondowners a written notice of the failure to make such deposits.  The Trustee shall not, however, be 
subject to any liability to any such Bondowner by reason of its failure to mail or cause to be mailed any notice 
required by this Section. 

Other Provisions 

Removal and Resignation of the Trustee.

The Trustee, or any successor thereof, may at any time resign and be discharged of its duties and 
obligations under the Indenture by giving not less than thirty (30) days’ written notice to the Authority, the Borrower 
and the Bondowners, specifying the date when such resignation shall take effect, provided such resignation shall not 
take effect until a successor is appointed.  Such resignation shall take effect upon the date a successor shall have 
been appointed by the Authority or a court of competent jurisdiction as provided in the Indenture and shall have 
accepted such appointment. 

The Trustee, or any successor thereof, may be removed with or without cause at any time by the Authority, 
if no Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, or upon an Event of Default under the Indenture, by 
the owners of a majority in principal amount of Outstanding Bonds, excluding any Bonds held by or for the account 
of the Authority, by an instrument or concurrent instruments in writing signed and acknowledged by such 
Bondowners or by their attorneys in fact duly authorized and delivered to the Authority, provided that such removal 
shall not take effect until a successor is appointed.  Copies of each instrument providing for any such removal shall 
be delivered by the Authority to the Borrower and the Trustee and any successor thereof. 

Supplemental Indentures not Requiring the Consent of Bondholders 

The Authority and the Trustee may at any time or from time to time enter into a Supplemental Indenture 
supplementing the Indenture or any Supplemental Indenture so as to modify or amend such indentures, without the 
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consent of any Bondowners but with the consent of the Borrower and Clinic, for one or more of the following 
purposes: 

(a) To add to the covenants and agreements of the Authority contained in the Indenture or any 
Supplemental Indenture, other covenants and agreements thereafter to be observed relative to the 
acquisition, construction, reconstruction, renovation, equipment, operation, maintenance, development or 
administration of any project under the Act or relative to the application, custody, use and disposition of the 
proceeds of the Bonds; or 

(b) To confirm, as further assurance, any pledge under and the subjection to any lien on or pledge of 
the Revenues created or to be created by the Indenture or a Supplemental Indenture; or 

(c) To cure any ambiguity, supply any omission, or cure or correct any defect or inconsistent 
provision in the Indenture; or 

(d) To grant to or confer on the Trustee for the benefit of the Bondowners any additional rights, 
remedies, powers, authority, or security which may lawfully be granted or conferred and which are not 
contrary to or inconsistent with the Indenture as theretofore in effect, including, but not limited to, 
providing liquidity support or credit support or both for the Bonds; or 

(e) to make such other provisions in regard to matters or questions arising under the Indenture, in each 
case in such manner as shall not materially impair the security of the Indenture or materially adversely 
affect any Bondholder affected by such amendment. 

Supplemental Indentures with Consent of Bondowners 

(a) At any time or from time to time but subject to the conditions or restrictions contained in the 
Indenture and each Supplemental Indenture, a Supplemental Indenture may be entered into by the Authority and the 
Trustee amending or supplementing the Indenture, any Supplemental Indenture or any of the Bonds or releasing the 
Authority from any of the obligations, covenants, agreements, limitations, conditions or restrictions therein 
contained.  However, no such Supplemental Indenture shall be effective unless such Supplemental Indenture is 
approved or consented to by the Owners, obtained as provided herein, of at least a majority in aggregate principal 
amount of all Outstanding Bonds affected thereby.  In computing any such required percentage there shall be 
excluded from such consent, and from such Outstanding Bonds, any such Outstanding Bonds owned or held by or 
for the account of the Authority; 

(b) Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraph (a) of this Section, except as otherwise provided, no 
such modification changing any terms of redemption of Bonds, due date of principal of or interest on Bonds or 
making any reduction in principal or Redemption Price of and interest on any Bonds shall be made without the 
consent of the affected Bondowner; 

(c) Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Section, no Supplemental Indenture shall be entered 
into by the Authority and the Trustee, except as otherwise provided in the Indenture, reducing the percentage of 
consent of Bondowners required for any modification of the Indenture or any Supplemental Indenture or 
diminishing the pledge of the Revenues securing the Bonds; 

(d) The provisions of paragraph (a) of this Section shall not be applicable to Supplemental Indentures 
adopted in accordance with the provisions of “Supplemental Indentures not Requiring the Consent of Bondholders.” 

Supplemental Indentures by Unanimous Action 

Notwithstanding anything contained to the contrary in the Indenture, the rights and obligations of the 
Authority and of the owners of the Bonds and the terms and provisions of the Indenture, any Supplemental Indenture 
or the Bonds may be modified or amended in any respect upon the adoption of a Supplemental Indenture by the 
Authority with the consent of the owners of all the Outstanding Bonds affected by such modification or amendment, 
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such consent to be given as provided hereinabove, except that no notice to Bondowners by mailing shall be required; 
provided, however, that no such modification or amendment shall change or modify any of the rights or obligations 
of the Trustee without its written consent thereto in addition to the consent of the Bondowners so affected. 

Amendments to Loan Agreement and Guarantee not Requiring Consent of Bondowners 

The Trustee may, without the consent of or notice to any of the Owners, but with notice to the Market 
Agent and the Clinic, consent to and join with the Borrower in the execution and delivery of any amendment, 
change or modification of the Loan Agreement or the Guarantee for one or more of the purposes described 
hereinabove under “Supplemental Indentures not Requiring the Consent of Bondholders.” 

Amendments to Loan Agreement and Guarantee Requiring Consent of Bondowners 

Except for amendments, changes or modification to the Loan Agreement and the Guarantee referred to in 
the immediately preceding section and subject to the terms and provisions and limitations contained in the Indenture 
and not otherwise, the Trustee may consent to and join with the Borrower in the execution and delivery of any 
amendment, change or modification to the Loan Agreement or the Guarantee only upon the consent of not less than 
a majority in principal amount of Bonds then Outstanding, given as provided in this Section, provided, however, no 
such amendment, change or modification may affect the obligation of the Borrower to make payments under the 
Loan Agreement or of the Clinic to make payments under the Guarantee or reduce the amount of or extend the time 
for making such payments without the consent of the Owners of all Bonds then Outstanding. 

If the consent to and approval of the execution of such amendment, change or modification is given by the 
Owners of not less than the aggregate principal amount or number of Bonds specified in the immediately preceding 
paragraph within the time and in the manner provided under “Supplemental Indentures with Consent of 
Bondowners,” but not otherwise, such amendment, change or modification may be consented to, executed and 
delivered upon the terms and conditions and with like binding effect upon the Owners as provided hereinabove with 
respect to Supplements to the Indenture.

Defeasance 

(a) If the Authority shall pay or cause to be paid, or there shall be otherwise paid, to the owners of all 
or any of the Bonds then Outstanding, the principal or Redemption Price of and interest thereon, at the times and in 
the manner stipulated therein and in the Indenture and any Supplemental Indenture, and all fees and expenses of the 
Trustee and the Authority, then the pledge of any Revenues or other moneys and securities pledged by the Indenture 
to such Bonds and all other rights granted to such Bonds shall be discharged and satisfied.  In such event, the 
Trustee shall, upon the request of the Authority, execute and deliver to the Authority all such instruments as may be 
desirable to evidence such discharge and satisfaction and the Trustee or other fiduciary shall pay or deliver to the 
Authority all moneys or securities held by it pursuant to the Indenture and any Supplemental Indenture which are 
not required for the payment or redemption of Bonds not theretofore surrendered for such payment or redemption to 
be used by the Authority in any lawful manner including distribution to the Borrower. 

(b) Any Bonds for which moneys shall then be held by a trustee, which may be the Trustee (through 
deposit by the Authority or the Borrower of funds for such payment or redemption or otherwise), whether at or prior 
to the maturity or the redemption date of such Bonds, shall be deemed to have been paid within the meaning and 
with the effect expressed in this Section.  Any Outstanding Bonds shall prior to the maturity or redemption date 
thereof be deemed to have been paid within the meaning and with the effect expressed in subparagraph (a) of this 
Section if:  (i) in case any of such Bonds are to be redeemed on any date prior to their maturity, the Authority shall 
have given to the Trustee, in form satisfactory to the Trustee, irrevocable instructions to give notice of redemption 
on such date of such Bonds; (ii) there shall have been deposited with the Trustee either moneys in an amount which 
shall be sufficient, or Defeasance Obligations the principal of and the interest on which when due will provide 
moneys which, together with the moneys, if any, deposited with the Trustee at the same time, shall be sufficient, to 
pay when due the principal or Redemption Price, if applicable, and interest due and to become due on such Bonds 
on and prior to the redemption date or maturity date thereof, as the case may be; (iii) there shall have been filed with 
the Trustee and the Authority (x) a report of a firm of certified public accountants, acceptable to the Authority, 
confirming the arithmetical accuracy of the computations showing the cash or Defeasance Obligations, the principal 
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of and interest on which, together with cash, if any, deposited at the same time will be sufficient to pay when due, 
the principal or Redemption Price, if applicable, and interest due or to become due on such Bonds, on and prior to 
the redemption date or maturity date thereof, as the case may be and (y) an Opinion of Bond Counsel, acceptable to 
the Authority, to the effect that upon provision for the payment of the principal or Redemption Price, if applicable, 
of, and interest due or to become due on such Bonds, the pledge of Revenues and other moneys and securities under 
the Indenture and the grant of all rights to the Owners of such Bonds under the Indenture shall be discharged and 
satisfied; and (iv) in the event such Bonds are not by their terms subject to redemption within the next succeeding 
sixty (60) days, the Authority shall have given the Trustee, in form satisfactory to the Trustee, irrevocable 
instructions to mail, as soon as practicable, a notice to the owners of such Bonds that the deposit required by (ii) 
above has been made with the Trustee and that such Bonds are deemed to have been paid in accordance with this 
Section and stating such maturity or redemption date upon which moneys are to be available for the payment of the 
principal or Redemption Price, if applicable, on such Bonds.  Neither Defeasance Obligations deposited with the 
Trustee pursuant to this Section nor principal or interest payments on any such securities shall be withdrawn or used 
for any purpose other than the payment of the principal or Redemption Price, if applicable, and interest on such 
Bonds; provided that any cash received from such principal or interest payments on such Defeasance Obligations 
deposited with the Trustee, if not then needed for such purpose, may, to the extent practicable, be reinvested in 
Defeasance Obligations maturing at times and in amounts sufficient to pay when due the principal or Redemption 
Price, if applicable, and interest to become due on such Bonds on and prior to such redemption date or maturity date 
thereof, as the case may be, and interest earned from such reinvestment shall be paid over to the Authority to be used 
by it in any lawful manner including a distribution to the Borrower provided all amounts owing to the Authority and 
the Trustee have been satisfied, free and clear of any trust, lien or pledge.  Nothing in this paragraph (b) shall be, or 
be deemed to be, a restriction on the Authority’s ability to provide for Defeasance Obligation substitutions or 
restructuring provided that the Defeasance Obligations shall at all times be in compliance with clause (ii) above; and 
if the interest on Bonds which have been defeased pursuant to this paragraph (b) is excludable from gross income for 
federal income tax purposes, the Authority shall provide an Opinion of Bond Counsel that the substitution or 
restructuring will not adversely affect such exclusion.  Notwithstanding any provision of the Indenture, the Trustee 
shall have no right of set off against any moneys and securities deposited under this paragraph (b). 

(c) Anything in the Indenture to the contrary notwithstanding, any moneys held by the Trustee in trust 
for the payment and discharge of any of the Bonds which remain unclaimed for two (2) years after the date when all 
of the Bonds have become due and payable either at their stated maturity dates or by a call for earlier redemption, if 
such moneys were held by the Trustee at such date, or for two (2) years after the date of deposit of such moneys if 
deposited with the Trustee after such date when all of the Bonds become due and payable, shall, at the written 
request of the Authority, be repaid by the Trustee to the Authority as its absolute property and free from trust (to the 
extent permitted by law) to be used by the Authority in any lawful manner including a distribution to the Borrower, 
and the Authority and the Trustee shall thereupon be released and discharged of its obligations with respect to the 
Bonds; provided, however, that, before being required to make any such payment to the Authority, the Trustee shall 
mail to the Bondowners a notice that such moneys remain unclaimed and that, after a date named in such notice, 
which date shall be not less than forty (40) nor more than ninety (90) days after the date of mailing of such notice, 
the balance of such moneys then unclaimed shall be returned to the Authority to be used by the Authority in any 
lawful manner including a distribution to the Borrower. 

Payments under Guarantee

In the event that the principal and/or interest due on the Bonds shall be paid by the Clinic pursuant to the 
Guarantee, the Bonds shall remain Outstanding for all purposes, not be considered defeased or otherwise satisfied 
and not be considered paid by the Authority or the Borrower, and the assignment and pledge of the trust estate 
created by the Indenture and all covenants, agreements and other obligations of the Authority to the Owner shall 
continue to exist and, other than covenants, agreements or other obligations which run to the Trustee which shall 
continue to run to the Trustee, shall run to the benefit of the Clinic, and the Clinic shall be subrogated to the rights of 
such Owners. 
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April 10, 2008 

Re: Wisconsin Health and Educational Facilities Authority 
$90,000,000 Health Care Facilities Revenue Bonds, Series 2008 (Luther Hospital) 

Ladies and Gentlemen: 

We have acted as Bond Counsel in connection with the authorization, issuance and sale by the 
Wisconsin Health and Educational Facilities Authority (the “Issuer”), of its Health Care Facilities 
Revenue Bonds, Series 2008 (Luther Hospital) in the aggregate principal amount of $90,000,000 (the 
“Bonds”), dated as of the date of this opinion.  For the purpose of rendering this opinion, we have 
examined:  (1) a Loan Agreement dated as of April 1, 2008 (the “Loan Agreement”), between the Issuer 
and Luther Hospital, a Wisconsin nonprofit corporation (the “Hospital”); (2) a Trust Indenture dated as of 
April 1, 2008 (the “Indenture”), between the Issuer and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as 
trustee (the “Trustee”); (3) a Guarantee dated as of April 1, 2008 (the “Guarantee”) executed by Mayo 
Clinic, a Minnesota nonprofit corporation (the “Clinic”), in favor of the Trustee; (4) certified copies of 
resolutions of the governing body of the Issuer and certain other governmental units approving and 
authorizing the execution and delivery of the Bonds, the Loan Agreement and the Indenture; and (5) such 
other documents as we consider necessary in order to render this opinion.  As to questions of fact material 
to our opinion, we have assumed the authenticity of and relied upon certified proceedings, affidavits and 
certificates furnished to us without undertaking to verify the same by independent investigation. 

From such examination, assuming the authenticity of the documents examined by us, the 
genuineness of the signatures thereon and the accuracy of the facts stated therein, and based upon federal, 
Wisconsin and Minnesota laws, regulations, rulings and decisions in effect on the date hereof, it is our 
opinion that: 

1.  The Issuer is a public body corporate and politic of the State of Wisconsin and has full power 
and authority under the Constitution and laws of the State of Wisconsin, including Wisconsin Statutes, 
Chapter 231, to issue the Bonds and to execute, deliver, and perform its obligations under the Bonds, the 
Indenture and the Loan Agreement. 

2.  The Indenture and the Loan Agreement have been duly and validly authorized, executed and 
delivered by the Issuer and, assuming the due and valid authorization, execution and delivery thereof by 
the other party or parties thereto, are valid instruments binding on the Issuer and enforceable in 
accordance with their respective terms. 

3.  The Guarantee has been duly authorized, executed and delivered on behalf of the Clinic and is 
a legal, valid and binding obligation of the Clinic, enforceable against the Clinic in accordance with its 
terms.  In giving the foregoing opinion relating to the enforceability of the Guarantee, we have assumed 
that any party seeking to enforce the Guarantee has complied with Minnesota Statutes, Section 290.371, 
to the extent applicable to such party. 

4.  The Bonds have been duly and validly authorized, executed and delivered by the Issuer and 
are special, limited obligations of the Issuer enforceable in accordance with their terms and equally and 
ratably secured by and entitled to the benefits provided by the Indenture.  The Bonds are not a general 
obligation or indebtedness of the Issuer within the meaning of any constitutional or statutory limitation 
and do not constitute or give rise to a pecuniary liability of the Issuer, or a charge against its general 
credit, but are payable solely from revenues derived under the Loan Agreement and payments by the 
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Clinic under the Guarantee.  By the Indenture, the Issuer has validly granted to the Trustee a security 
interest in all of the Issuer’s right, title and interest in and to the Loan Agreement (except certain rights to 
receive notices, payment of administrative costs, and indemnification), including payments which are 
required to be made thereunder by the Hospital in amounts scheduled to be sufficient to pay the principal 
of, premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds as the same become due and payable. 

5.  The Bonds are “private activity bonds” within the meaning of Section 141(a) of the Internal 
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), but bear interest not includable in gross income for 
federal income tax purposes.  Interest on the Bonds is not excluded from State of Wisconsin income.  
Interest on the Bonds is not an item of tax preference required to be included in the computation of 
alternative minimum taxable income for purposes of the federal alternative minimum taxes but is 
includable in adjusted current earnings in determining the alternative minimum taxable income of 
corporations for purposes of the federal alternative minimum taxes.   

The Code establishes certain requirements (the “Federal Tax Requirements”) that must be met 
subsequent to the issuance of the Bonds in order that, for federal income tax purposes, interest on the 
Bonds not be included in gross income pursuant to Section 103 of the Code.  The Federal Tax 
Requirements include, but are not limited to, requirements relating to the expenditure of Bond proceeds 
and the nature of the facilities financed thereby, restrictions on the investment of Bond proceeds prior to 
expenditure, and the requirement that certain earnings on the “gross proceeds” of the Bonds be paid to the 
federal government.  Noncompliance with the Federal Tax Requirements may cause interest on the Bonds 
to become subject to federal income taxation retroactive to their date of issue, irrespective of the date on 
which such noncompliance occurs or is ascertained.  The Loan Agreement contains provisions which, if 
complied with, will satisfy the Federal Tax Requirements.  In expressing the opinion in paragraph 5, we 
have assumed compliance by the Hospital with the provisions of the Loan Agreement. 

Except as expressly stated in paragraph 5, we express no opinion as to any federal or state tax 
consequences of the ownership of, receipt of interest on, or disposition of, the Bonds.  Investors should 
consult their tax advisors with respect to such matters. 

Upon their issuance, the Bonds bear interest at Term Rates (as defined in the Indenture).  The 
Indenture provides that the interest rate on the Bonds may be converted to other interest rate modes upon 
compliance with the terms and conditions of the Indenture, including delivery to the Trustee of a 
Favorable Opinion of Bond Counsel (as defined in the Indenture) to the effect that such conversion will 
not adversely affect the exclusion from gross income of the interest on such Bonds for federal income tax 
purposes.  No opinion is expressed herein as to the effect of any such conversion on the exclusion from 
gross income for federal income tax purposes of the interest on the Bonds. 

It is to be understood that the rights of the owners of the Bonds and the enforceability of the 
Bonds, the Indenture, the Loan Agreement and the Guarantee may be subject to (i) state and federal laws, 
rulings, decisions and principles of equity affecting remedies, (ii) bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, 
moratorium, fraudulent conveyance and other similar laws affecting creditors’ rights heretofore or 
hereafter enacted to the extent constitutionally applicable, and (iii) the exercise of judicial discretion in 
appropriate cases. 
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In rendering this opinion we have relied upon the opinion dated the date hereof of the Legal 
Department of Mayo Clinic, counsel to the Hospital and the Clinic, as to the organization, existence and 
good standing of the Hospital and the Clinic, as to the status of the Hospital and the Clinic as 
organizations described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Code and exempt from taxation under Section 501(a) 
thereof, as to the characterization of the Hospital’s activities in connection with the properties financed 
with proceeds of the Bonds as activities that do not constitute an unrelated trade or business under Section 
513(a) of the Code, as to the due and valid authorization, execution and delivery of the Loan Agreement 
by the Hospital and as to the validity and enforceability of the Loan Agreement against the Hospital.  We 
have also relied upon certifications made by officers of the Hospital and the Clinic as to the use of the 
proceeds of the Bonds, the nature of the facilities financed thereby, and other matters material to the tax-
exempt status of the interest borne by the Bonds. 

Very truly yours, 
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